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of a contract for continuing care is required;
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government agency or representative to ensure accuracy or completeness of
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DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

OAK CREEK APARTMENTS

ORGANIZATION INTRODUCTION AND INFORMATION

National HealthCare Corporation (NFHC) is a long- term care company that has been
providing the best in senior care for over 52 years. NHC’s founder, Dr. Carl Adams, was
a physician that had a vision in 1971 to provide higher quality healthcare services for
seniors, His dream was to create a campus concept that offered in-house services for
residents as they age with different needs much like the continuing care retirement
community of today.

At NHC, we believe that care should respect the individual, promote recovery, well being
and independence. We believe in celebrating life every day with our patients and residents.
Our goal has always been to provide a full range of extended care services, designed to
maximize the wellbeing and independence of patients of all ages. We are dedicated to
meeting patient needs through an interdisciplinary approach combining compassionate N

NHC through its qualifying subsidiary companies, develop and manage its own facilities,
and/or manages facilities for third party operators. We are an organization of 13,000
employees, with net operating revenue of more than $1.1 Billion dollars. NHC currently
operates for themselves and third parties 65 skilled nursing facilities with 8,421 beds, NHC
affiliates also operate 24 assisted living communities with 1,365 units, five independent
living communities with 475 units, three behavioral health hospitals, 34 homecare
agencies, and 30 hospice agencies. NHC’s other services include Alzheimer’s and memory
care units, pharmacy services, a rehabilitation services company, and providing
management and accounting services to third party post-acute operators. NHC is a
publicly traded for-profit corporation.

NHC’s goal is to deliver the highest quality services to our residents at the lowest possible
cost. Our Apartment Managers are trained as cooperative supportive problem solvers and
our full-time corporate staff has daily exposure to the intricacies involved in translating the
concept of quality health care into the actual delivery of health services.

Through the following methods NHC HealthCare/Burlington, LLC and its parent
company, National HealthCare Corporation will achieve their objectives:

L. Maximize the utilization of manpower and professional skills to recruit qualified
personnel to staff the facility.

2. Provide overall administration and direction including financial systems
implementation and review, and professional analysis of the several indices of the
facility’s progress.

3. Assist in the development of short- and long-range communications, media, and
public relations programs to increase the visibility of the facility’s activities and to
promote the committee education; evaluate the continuing development of the
facility’s program and resident care policies.

4, Provide ongoing responsive management to ensure quality cost-effective operation
and the constant sensitivity to changing community needs.



Use of bulk buying power to obtain the best service and buys from vendors,

Provide attractive working conditions and effective recruitment policies in order to
msure a stable, high caliber level of employee.

Provide a high degree of expertise by being able to call on other communities
within the organization wherein individuals have attained excellence in specific

arcas.

Assure top quality care, a good reputation, and a successful financial operation.



1I.

FACILITY INTRODUCTION AND INFORMATION

Oak Creek combines beauty, dignity, and security to create a remarkably attractive
atmosphere. There are fifty-four one- and two-bedroom apartments, carefully planned to
provide convenience, safety, and privacy that make up Oak Creek.

In the kitchen, you’ll find all those extras you’ve come to expect — refrigerator, dishwasher,
disposal, stove, and oven, Spend afternoons relaxing on your porch in the company of
friends or in undisturbed privacy. Located in each apartment are emergency call systems
connected to the nurses’ station in the adjacent White Oak Manor — Burlington nursing
center. In addition, centrally located are a dining area and lounge.

The White Oak Manor — Burlington nursing center is a licensed 160-bed Medicare and
Medicaid certified nursing facility staffed 24-hours a day with health professionals.

Physical, speech and occupational therapists are available to apartment residents. Activities
at Qak Creek are planned to meet the needs and desires of the individual resident. They
vary from arts and crafts to luaus to evenings at the Fine Arts Center. Excursions and tours
will satisfy everyone’s taste. You’'re not bound by a schedule but are free to set your own
pace,

NHC HealthCare/Burlington, LLC is a for profit North Carolina Limited Liability
Company. The 4.0-acre site includes 54 apartments, all with ground floor entrance, and a
160-bed nursing facility.

Directions to Oak Creek from Greensboro Airport - Take I-40 East to [-85 East, Take [-85
Fast to Exit 143 (Highway 62N). Follow 62 North until it joins Hwy. 70 East. Follow Hwy.
70 East (aka Church Street) to Vaughn Road. Turn left at Vaughn Road, Turn left again at
Baldwin Road. Turn right at Qak Creek sign. From the Raleigh/Durham/Chapel Hill area
take I-40 West or -85 West to Exit #143. Follow directions above.

As of May 29, 2024 there were 60 residents at Oak Creek occupying 53 apartments.
Our nursing facility is recognized by the following affiliated groups:

Licensed by State Health Department

Certified by Medicare, Medicaid, and VA

Member of North Carolina Health Care Facilities Assoc.
Member of American Health Care Assoc.

BNV R

The day-to-day operating manager of Qak Creek Apartments is Kelly Rivers, Apartment
Coordinator, Please sec biography on next page.



APARTMENT COORDINATOR’S BIOGRAPHY
Kelly Rivers

Kelly Rivers joined the Oak Creek Retirement Center in 2011. Duties include apartment
supervision and “sales” with primary focus on motivating and maintaining community atmosphere
(strong emphasis on resident retention and social activity).
EDUCATION:
1985 High School Graduate
WORK EXPERIENCE:
Twin Lakes (CCRC — Private/ non-profit) 1992-2000
Mariner (for Profit) 2000-2002
White Oak Manor 2002 — present
CURRENT CONTACT INFORMATION:

OAK CREEK APARTMENTS

343 Baldwin Road (27217-2775)

P O Box 3426

Burlington, NC 272]5-0426

Phone; 336-226-5739



Corporate Staff

The operator of Oak Creek Apartments is an affiliate and subsidiary of National HealthCare
Corporation. NHC HealthCare/Burlington, LLC is owned 100% by NHC/OP, LP which is
owned 99% by National HealthCare Corporation and 1% by NHC/Delaware, Inc, a wholly
owned subsidiary of National HealthCare Corporation.

The Manager of NHC HealthCare/Burlington, LLC is as follows:
R. Michael Ussery

In addition, the Regional Director overseeing the North Carolina operations will be Greg Forsey,
prior Director of Operations for White Qak.

NHC Corporate Staff:

Stephan F, Flatt
Chief Executive Officer
Years with NHC: 19
Years as CEO: 7

Stephen F. Flatt was appointed to the Board and named Chief Executive Officer effective
January 1, 2017, He joined NHC in June 2005 as Senior Vice President-Development. On
January 1, 2009, Mr, Flatt became NHC’s President. He served as the President of
Lipscomb University from 1997 through June 2005 and, prior to that, President of Ezell
Harding Christian School in Nashville and Vice President of Financial Affairs and
Institutional Planning at Lipscomb.

R, Michael Ussery
President and Chief Operating Officer

Years with NHC: 44
Years as COO: 15
Years as President: 7

R. Michae] Ussery has been with NHC since 1980. On January 1, 2009, Mr. Ussery was
appointed Chief Operating Officer and on January 1, 2017 he was appointed President of
NHC. During his tenure with NHC he has served as Senior Vice President-Operations,
Senior Vice President-Central Region, Regional Vice President, and Administrator in
multiple locations.

Vicki L. Dodson

Senior Vice President, Patient Services
Years with NHC: 40

Years as SVP: 5

Vicki L. Dodson was named Senior Vice President, Patient Services on June 1, 2019, She
joined NHC in 1984 and previously held the title of Assistant Vice President, Patient



Services since 2017, and, prior to that, served as Electronic Health Record (EHR) Director
and Comprehensive Patient Care Software (CPCS) User Analyst. She began her career with
NHC as a Home Care staff nurse and then served as a Director of Nursing and Regional
Nurse.

B. Anderson Flatt, Sr,
Senior Vice President,
Chief Information Officer
Years with NHC: 7
Years as SVP; 7

B. Anderson Flatt, Sr. brought more than 32 years of experience in health care technology
when he joined NHC in 2017, including roles as Senior-Vice President and Chief
Information Officer at Corizon Health from 2014-2017, Senior Vice-President and Chief
Information Officer at Cigna-Health Spring from 2006-2014, and prior to that, at AIM
HealthCare (now a division of Optum).

Brian F, Kidd
Senior Vice President

Chief Financial Officer
Years with NHC: 16
Years as CFO: 1

Years as Controlier
and Principal
Accounting Officer; 7

Brian F. Kidd joined NHC in 2008. Prior to being promoted to Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer in May 2023, Mr. Kidd served as Senior Vice President, Controller
and Principal Accounting Officer since 2017.

Josh A. McCreary
Senior Vice President, General Counsel,
and Secretary

Years with NHC: 5
Years as SVP
Secretary and
General Counsel: 5

Josh A, McCreary joined NHC as Senior Vice President, General Counsel & Sectetary in
2019. Prior to joining NHC, Mr. McCreary practiced law for 20 years at Hudson, Reed &
MeCreary, PLLC. In private practice, he regularly counseled and represented businesses,
governments, and individuals in a wide variety of transactional, compliance, and litigation
matters,

NHC’s Corporate Staff can be reached at:
100 E. Vine Street
Murfreesboro, TN 37130



CORPORATE STRUCTURE

NHC HealthCare/Burlington, LLC is wholly owned by NHC/OP, LP. which is an affiliate and
subsidiary of NHC. NIHC HealthCare/Burlington, LLC has two operating divisions: White Oak
Manor - Burlington (160-bed Nursing) and Oak Creek Apartments (54 Continuing Care
Retitement Apartments). NHC HealthCare/Burlington, LLC also owns 100% of the real estate
and related fixed equipment.

NHC is financially responsible for all indebtedness including all financial and contract obligations
entered into by any of its’ subsidiaries, including NHC HealthCare/Burlington, LLC.

NHC HealthCare/Tryon, LLC is owned 100% by NHC/OP, L.P. and does not have any Board of
Directors.

National HealthCare Corporation owns 99% of NHC/OP, L.P with the 1% owner being
NHC/Delaware, Inc, NHC’s Board of Directors are listed below:

Board Members:

J. Paul Abernathy, M.D. | Director
1523 Mirabella Way
Murfreesboro, TN 37130

J. Paul Abernathy, M.D. (Independent Director) joined the Board in 2003 and is a retired
board-certified general surgeon. He was in private practice at Murfreesboro Medical Clinic
from 1971 unti! retirement in 1995,

Robert G. Adams Chairman of
2217 Battleground Drive the Board
Murfreesboro, TN 37129

Robert G. Adams (Chairman & Independent Director) has served NHC for 50 years - 20
years as Senior Vice President, 11 years as Chief Operating Officer, 5 years as President,
12 years as CEO and 31 years on the Board, He became Chairman of the Board on
January 1, 2009 and served as Chief Executive Officer from November 1, 2004 until
December 31, 2016, Mr. Adams retired from his position as CEO effective December 31,
2016 but remains non-executive Chairman of the Board. He is the brother of W, Andrew
Adams

W. Andrew Adams Director
801 Mooreland Lane
Murfreesboro, TN 37128

W. Andrew Adams (Independent Director) served NHC as a full-time employee and
director for 32 years and served as its President and CEO until he resigned those positions
in 2004, remaining as Chairman of the Board through 2008. He is the brother of Robert
Adams



Ernest G. Burgess 111 Director
7097 Franklin Road
Murfreesboro, TN 37128

Ernest G. Burgess, III (Independent Director) served as NHC’s Senior Vice President of
Operations for 20 years before retiring in 1994, In his past role as Senior Vice President of
Operations, he gained significant operational expetience in the long-term care business as
well as experience with financial and accounting matters.

Stephen F, Flatt Director &
100 Vine St, Ste 1400 CEO
Murfreesboro, TN 37130

Please see qualifications above.

Emil E. Hassan Director
8400 Heirloom Blvd
College Grove, TN 37046

Emil E. Hassan (Independent Director) joined the Board in April 2004. In 2004, he retired
from the position of Senior Vice President of manufacturing, purchasing, quality and
logistics for Nissan North America, Inc. while also serving as Chairman and CEO of
Distribution and Auto Services ("DAS™), a Nissan affiliate company. Prior to joining
Nissan, he was with Ford Motor Co. for twelve years, where he held various management
positions in engineering and manufacturing,

Richard F. LaRoche Director
2103 Shannon Dr.
Murfreesboro, TN 37129

Richard F. LaRoche (Independent Director) served NHC for 27 years as Secretary and
General Counsel and 14 years as Senior Vice President, retiring from these positions in
May 2002. He has served as an NHC Board member since 2002.

Sandra Y. Trail Director
1011 Houston Dr.,
Murfreesboro, TN 37130

Sandra Y. Trail (Independent Director) joined the Board in 2022. Ms, Trail has been a
licensed practicing attorney for over 35 years as a sole proprietor and since 2018 as a
principal in the firm of Trail, Coleman and Stearns, PLLC located in Murfreesboro,
Tennessee.

None of the Board Members listed above own 5% or more ownership in National HealthCare
Corporation.




RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION STATEMENT

With one exception, which is explained below, there is no person, association, trust, partnership,
or corporation which has an ownership interest in NHC HealthCare/Burlington, LLC or National
HealthCare Corporation which also has an ownership interest in a service firm, association, trust
partnership or corporation which provides goods, leases, or services to the facility. Furthermore,
there are no plans for other such arrangements to be developed in the next 12 months.

The one exception is an NHC affiliate, Network Pharmacy WO, LLC (“Network Pharmacy™).
Upon closing, Network Pharmacy will continue to supply prescription drugs, medical and nursing
supplies to White Oak Manor — Burlington nursing facility. The value of the goods purchased by
Why Qak Manor — Burlington varies from year to year. For the year ending 9/30/23, the total value
was approximately $677,948.

The sole member (100% owner) of Network Pharmacy, is Nutritional Support Services ("NSS”),
an affiliate of NIIC, Please see attached Organizational Chart.

Please See Corporate Structure above, for a listing of officers and Board of Directors for NHC.

AFFILIATION STATEMENT

NHC HealthCare/Burlington, LLC , NHC/OP, L.P. and National HealthCare Corporation are not
affiliated with a religious, charitable, or other nonprofit organization; therefore, NHC
HealthCare/Burlington, LLC is responsible for all financial and contract obligations and NHC
HealthCare/Burlington, LLC is not a tax-exempt organization.
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CRIMINAL VIOLATION STATEMENT

There are no directors, officers, agents, or managing employees of NHC HealthCare/Burlington,
LIC, or National HealthCare Corporation that have ever been convicted of a felony or pleaded
nolo contendere to a felony charge, or been held liable or enjoined in a civil action by final
judgment that involved fraud, embezzlement, fraudulent conversion, or misappropriation of
property; or (ii) is subject to a currently effective injunctive or restrictive court order, or within the
past five years, had any State or Federal license or permit suspended or revoked as a result of an
action brought by a governmental agency or departmert, for any reason.
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111.

POLICIES
ADMISSION
Health Criteria — Prospective residents must be ambulatory and be able to function

independently in the activities of daily living. Also, please refer to Section 1 (i) — (iii) of
the Apartment Rental Agreement.

Financial and Insurance Critetia — Prior to admission, the resident must pay the Retention
Deposit, if applicable, and the first month’s rent. We do not require, but recommend, the
resident maintain adequate renter’s insurance covering the personal contents of their
apartment.

Age Requirement — Admissions are limited to those individuals who are 65 years of age or
older.

Changes of Condition Prior to Occupancy — At the time of occupancy, each resident must
meet the health criteria outlined above.

Cancellation/ Termination — In accordance with Section 1 of the Apartment Rental
Agreement, the following describes our cancellation and termination policy:

“The term of this Agreement shall begin on the first day of occupancy, and end
upon the first of the following to occur:

(a) The last day of the month following the Resident’s death, or at such time
thereafter as the Resident’s belongings have been removed from the
premises; or

(b) Resident’s default as hereinafter defined; or

(c) Oak Creek having determined, and having given written notification
thereof, that the Resident:

{1 is socially incompatible with the Oak Creek employees, other
residents or guests,

(i)  has demonstrated possible emotional instability.

(iii)  poses arisk to the life and well-being of himself or others;

(iv)  has destroyed, or attempted to destroy, property belonging to Oak
Creek, himself or others; or

(v) fails to fully comply with all terms and provisions contained in this
Agreement; or '

(vi)  has acted in any other unreasonable fashion or poses for Oak Creek
its employees, residents or guests, any other unreasonable risks; or

(d) The last day of any month prior to which the Resident has given to Oak
Creek:

12



(e)

(i) In the event the Resident is to be transferred, based upon written
medical certification, to a hospital or to White Oak
Manor- Burlington Nursing Center, at least ten (10) days prior
written notice or

(il)  In the event the Resident is to be transferred based upon written
medical certification, anywhere else, at least thirty (30) days prior
written notice; or

(iii) *  Inthe event the Resident is to be transferred anywhere else, without
written medical certification, at least (60) sixty days prior written
notice; or

At such time as, if ever, the apartment is destroyed by fire or other calamity,
or if the apartment, or a substantial portion of the complex, is acquired
through condemnation proceedings, making it such, under the
circumstances, that the apartment is no longer reasonably fit for its intended
use.

In the event the Resident is transferred as provided in Paragraph (i) above,
to a hospital, he shall have sixty (60) days from date of transfer to return to
his apartment, and to have the within Agreement remain in full force and
effect, so long as all terms, covenants and conditions here in contained,
including those pertaining to rental payments, have been (and are then
being) fully complied with.

In the event the Resident is transferred, as provided in Paragraph (i) above,
to White Oak Manor — Burlington Nursing Center, the Resident shall have
thirty (30) days from date of transfer to return to his apartment, and to have
the within Agreement remain in full force and effect, so long as all terms,
covenants and conditions herein contained, including those pertaining to
rental payments, have been (and are then being) fully complied with.

In the event that the Resident, upon being transferred elsewhere as provided
above, wishes to again become a tenant of Oak Creek, after the within
Agreement has terminated, and is certified, in writing, by a qualified
physician, as being again able to reside in the apartment complex, Oak
Creek agrees to give the Resident, to the extent reasonably possible, a
priority as far as the next available apartment, with Retention Deposits and
rental rates to be those then in effect, and a new Apartment Rental
Agreement to be entered into.

In the situations described in Paragraphs (i) and (ii) above, Oak Creek may,
but shall have no legal duty to, waive the requirement regarding written
notification based upon terms and conditions mutually agreeable to both
Oak Creek and Resident.

13




Apartment Rental Agreement (With Retention Schedule Included)

Retention Schedule is as follows:

LENGTH OF OCCUPANCY AMOUNT RETAINED AMOUNT REFUNDED
Upon Occupancy 20% ' 80%

| year (prorated daily) 20% 60%

2 years (prorated daily) 20% 40%

3 years (prorated daily) 20% 20%

4 years (prorated daily) 20% 0%

The purpose of paying the Retention Deposit is to reduce the monthly rent when compared to the
Straight Rental payment plan.

Upon a resident’s death, the unearned portion of the Retention Deposit becomes the facility’s
property. In the event of a death of a spouse where the remaining spouse continues to live at Oak
Creek, the Retention Deposit continues to be earned by the facility based on the original Apartment
Agreement. When the remaining spouse dies, the unearned portion becomes the facility’s property.

Upon termination of the Apartment Rental Agreement (with Retention Schedule Included) for any
reason other than resident’s death, the resident or his legal representative shall be entitled to a
refund of the unearned portion of the Retention Deposit. Refunds of this nature will be prompily
made to the Resident or his legal representative but under no circumstances later than 30 days after
the termination date of the agreement.

If an executed contract is rescinded or cancelled under the terms of this contract, all unearned fees
and deposits will be fully refundable to the Resident or their Legal Representative within 30 days
following the later of the execution of the contract or the receipt of a disclosure statement and
Resident will not be required to move into apartment during recession period.

Transfers

A transfer fee may apply if you request a transfer from your current apartment to another. After 10
years of residency in the same apartment, a transfer fee may be waived. A 50% transfer fee will
apply if transfer occurs within 5-10 years of residency. If request is made prior to 5 years, 100%
of the transfer fee will apply. An exception to the transfer fee may apply if a prearranged agreement
signed by both parties stipulates a desire to transfer to another specific apartment within one year.
The transfer fee is not a preset cost but is based on cost to refurbish the vacated apartment.

Marriages

If a current resident(s) of Oak Creek becomes married, the rent will increase based on the rent
schedules in effect at that time for two persons, No additional deposit is required and the balance
outstanding on any deposit(s) will continue to amortize in accordance with each Resident’s original
Rental Agreement. A new Rental Agreement will be negotiated between Oak Creek and the
husband and wife as Residents. Other than for medical reasons there are no qualifying
requirements for a spouse to meet as a condition for entry. In the event the spouse does not
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medically qualify for admission, the agreement will terminate and alternate placement will be
required.

Rent/ Default

If an existing resident is unable to meet their monthly obligation to the facility, the Apartment
Rental Agreement provides the following under Section(s) 16 (No Initial Deposit Agreement) 17
(With Retention Schedule Agreement) “Default™

“This Apartment Rental Agreement is made upon the condition that the Resident shall
faithfully perform all of the terms, covenants and conditions herein contained by him to be
performed as herein set forth or in other agreements heretofore or hereafter entered into
between Oak Creek and the Resident, and Resident shall be in default if:

(a) Any rental payment due hereunder shall at any time be in arrears and unpaid
for fifteen (15) days after receipt by Resident of written notice making
demand therefore; or

(b) Resident shall fail to observe or perform any of the covenants, agreements,
or conditions set forth herein and said failure shall continue for a period of
fifteen (15) days after receipt by Resident of written notice of such failure
from Qak Creek.

(c) Owner’s having determined, and having given written notification thereof,
that the resident:

(i) is socially incompatible with the Owner’s employees, other
residents, or guests;

(ii)  has demonstrated possible emotional instability;
(iii)  poses a risk to the life and well-being of himself or others;

(iv)  has destroyed, or attempted to destroy, property belonging to the
Ownet, himself, or others; or ‘

(v)  has acted in any other unreasonable fashion or poses for the
Owner, its employees, residents or guests, any other unreasonable
risks.

In the event of a default, Oak Creek may at its option, declare the term of this Agreement
ended and repossess the Apartment, and shall further be entitled to all other rights and
remedies set forth herein. A waiver of any default by Owner shall not constitute a waiver
of any other or subsequent default. The Owner shall be entitled to be fully reimbursed for
all costs and expenses incurred in enforcing its rights hereunder, including a reasonable
attorney’s fee, and shall be entitled to have accrued monthly interest, af the maximum rate
allowed by law, as to any payments due and owing hereunder.

15



IV.

SERVICES

The following services are available at no extra charge to residents:

(a)

(b)
(©

(d)

(e)

®

(g)

(h)

()

(k)

M

(m)

Meals. Owner will provide Resident with one meal per day, the meal to be
determined by Owner, and to be served in the common dining area.

Guest Meals. Are available at $10.00 per meal.

Utilities. All utilities will be paid for by Qak Creek. However, the cost of
installation and monthly telephone service shall be paid by Resident.

Janitorial Services. Oak Creek will provide services in all service areas, halls and
community areas.

Maid Service. Oak Creek will provide maid service twice a month, on a regularly
scheduled basis, to clean Resident’s apartment if so desired by Resident.

Laundry. Twice each week, Resident’s flat laundry will be picked up outside the
door of Resident’s apartment, cleaned, and then returned,

Laundromat. Laundry facilities are available free of charge at the apartment
complex for Resident’s use (Resident must provide detergent).

Transportation, Transportation will be available at certain scheduled times, to be
determined by Oak Creek in view of the needs of the Resident and the other
occupants of apartments.

Nursing Center. A bed in the adjoining nursing center will be made available, on a
priotity basis, whenever Resident’s health, as determined by Resident’s physician,
SO requires,

Nurse Call System. Is located in the master bedroom and bath of each apartment
and is connected to the nurse’s station at the adjacent nursing facility. If activated,
a trained member of the Nursing Department will respond to the apartment.

Health Services Available. Skilled Nursing Care (Medicare and Medicaid
Certified).

Storage Facilities. Oak Creek shall provide, at Resident’s sole risk, reasonable
storage space for Resident’s belongings other than furniture and other household
furnishings.

Recreational Facilities. Recreational facilities are available for Resident’s use on
first come/first served basis.

16



(n)

(0)

Basic Cable TV. Basic Cable TV service is provided by the Owner, Additional
{(expanded) services can be purchased by the Resident.

Personal Services. The following services are available at the Resident’s expense:

Beauty/ Barber Shop

Accommodations for overnight guests

Dry cleaning pick-up and delivery

Daily delivery of local and national newspapers

17



FEES/ RENT

Application/ Registration Fee — a $500 deposit is required to be on the waiting list. This
fee is refundable within 30 days from receipt of such a request.

RETENTION & MONTHLY RENTAL FEES

Although

Apartment Retention Monthly Rental Fee
Type Deposit 15t Person 21 Person
One Bedroom $25,000 $1,180 $1,465
Two Bedrooms $30,000 $1,360 $1,660

The purpose of the Retention Deposit is to reduce the monthly rent
when compared to the Straight Rental Plan

STRAIGHT RENTAL PLAN
Apartment Retention Monthly Rental Fee
Type Deposit 1% Person 2% Person
One Bedroom N/A $1,700 $1,990
Two Bedrooms N/A $1,885 $2,180

QOak Creek will attempt to keep rental increases to a minimum, during any

calendar year following the first full calendar year of this Agreement, Oak Creek may, due
to an increase in the cost of operation, or for any other reason, upon thirty (30) days prior
written notice to the Resident, increase the monthly rental payable hereunder so long as the
sum of the increases in monthly rental during any calendar year does not exceed the greater

of:

@

Six (6%) percent of the average monthly rental during the preceding
calendar year; or

(i)  An amount equal to the average monthly rental during the preceding

calendar year multiplied by the percentage increase in the “Consumer Price
Index” figures for January and December of the preceding calendar year,
the Consumer Price Index being the “Consumer Price Index — U.S, City
Average — All Items Figures for Urban Wage Earners and Clerical Workets
(Including Single Workers), which index is currently published in the
“Monthly Labor Review” of the Bureau of Labor Statistics of the United
States Department of Labor, or its successor index.

18
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OAK CREER APARTMENTS

Peopla $30,000 S$1,660

Bedroom

Person $25,000 31,180
People $25,000 $1,465

430,000 $1,660 530,000 $1,660 830,000 §1,580

$25,000 $1,180 $25,000 $1,180 $25,000 $1,125
425,000 $1,465 525,000 81,465 $25,000 $1,395

STRAIGHT RENTAL PLAN

SCHEDULE OF FEE CHANGES FOR THE LAST FIVE YEARS
RETENTION DEPOSIT PLAN
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
Deposit Rent Deposit Rent Deposit Rent Deposit Rent Deposgit Rent
Bedrooms \
Perscn $30,000 $1,360 $30,000 §$1,360 $30,000 $1,360 $30,000 §1,295 $30,000 $1,295%

530,000 $1,580

525,000 $1,125
$25,000 51,395
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2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
Depoait Rent Deposit Rent Deposit Rent Deposgit Rent Deposit Rent

Bedrooms

Person N/A 31,885 N/A 41,885 N/A 31,885 N/A 81,798 N/A £1,795
People N/A $2,180 N/A $2,180 N/A $2,180 N/A 52,075 N/A $2,075
Bedroom

Person N/A 41,700 N/A 81,700 N/A $1,700 N/A $1,620 N/A $1,620
paople N/A 51,990 N/A 51,930 N/A $1,9%0 N/A $1,895 N/A 51,895



QAK CREEK
FREQUENCY AND AVERAGE DOLLAR CHANGE (RETENTION DEPOSIT PLAN) -

RENT

2023 2022 2021 20290 2019
2 Bedrooms
1 Person N/C N/C +65 N/C +59
2 People N/C N/c +80 N/C +76
1l Bedroom
1 Person N/C N/C +55 N/C +54
2 DPeople N/C N/C +70 N/C +66

FREQUENCY AND AVERAGE DOLLAR CHANGE (STRAIGHT RENTAL PLAN} -~ RENT

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2 Bedrooms
1 Person N/ N/C +90 N/C +85
2 People N/C N/C +105 N/C +97
1l Bedroom
1 Person n/C N/C +80 N/C +75
2 People N/C N/C +95 N/C +92

FREQUENCY AND AVERAGE DOLLAR CHANGE (RETENTION DEPOSIT PLAN) -

DEPOSIT

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2 Bedrooms
1 DPerscn N/C N/C N/C N/C N/C
2 people N/ N/C N/C N/cC N/C
1 Bedroom
1 Person N/C N/C N/C N/C N/C
2 People N/C N/C N/C N/C N/C

FREQUENCY AND AVERAGE DOLLAR CHANGE (STRAIGHT RENTAL PLAN)} - DEPOSIT

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2 Bedrooms
1 Person N/A N/A N/A N/B N/A
2 People N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
1 Bedroom
1 Person N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
2 People N/A N/A N/B N/A N/A

20



VI.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The NHC parent company 10K will be presented in the disclosure statements until such
time as the newly formed provider entities have a complete annual audited financial
statement to present,

1. Audited Financial Statement — Please refer to Attachment L.
2. Five Year Projection Statement — Please refer to Attachment [
3. Current Interim Financial Statement — Please refer to Attachment II1.
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VII. PROJECTED VS, ACTUAL FORECAST COMPARISON

The following pages include:
1, White Oak Manor — Burlington and Oak Creek, Inc.

a. Comparison — Year Ended September 30, 2023
Forecasted Balance Sheet

b. Comparison — Year Ended September 30, 2023
Forecasted Income Statement

c. Comparison — Year Ended September 30, 2023
Forecasted Statements of Cash Flows

d. Schedules Exhibit A — Assets Limited to Use — Operating Reserve /
Consolidating Balance Sheet
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White Oak Manor-Burlington and Oak Creek, Inc.
Comparlson - Year Ended September 30, 2023
Forecasted Balance Sheets

2023 2023
Actual Forecast Variance % Variance
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 401462 $ 400,000 3 1,462 0%
Accounts Receivable, Net 1,833,102 2,371,404 (638,302) “23% A
Estimated Third-Parly Payor Setllements B 0%
Other Current Assets 50,917 58,785 (7,868) -13%
Total Current Assets 2,285,481 2,830,189
ASSETS LIMITED AS TQO USE - OPERATING RESERVE 307,174 284,000 13,174 4%
MOVEABLE EQUPMENT 2,015,890 2,128,820 {112,830) -5%
Less: Accumulated Depreciation 1,678,042 1,772,713 (94,671) -5%
Construction in Progress - . B
Moveabie Equipment, Net 337,848 356,107
Total Assels $ 2,930,503 $ 3,480,296
Actual Forecast Varlance % Varlance
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY (DEFICIT)
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable $ 198,880 $ 399,558 § (200,588) -50% B
Accrued Wages and Other Liabllities 422,222 439,514 (17,292} 4%
Intercompany Accounts - 480,083 (490,083) -100% c
Medicare Advance Paymenis - - - 0%
Asset Retirement Obllgation 79,034 79,034
Total Current Liabilities 700,246 1,408,189
DEFERRED CREDITS
Unearned Deposit Revenue - Nonrefundable 144 570 131,534 13,036 10%
Uneamed Deposlt Revenue - Refundable - - - 0%
Deposits on Apariments 13,500 10,000 3,500 35%
Total Deferred Credite 158,070 141,534
LONG-TERM DEBT -
Tota! Liabilities 858,316 1,549,723
SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY {DEFICIT)
Common Stock, par value $1 per share; 350,000 shares
authorized, 309,490 shares issued and outstanding 309,480 309,480
Retained Earnings {Deficit) 1,762,697 1,621,083
Other Comprehensive Loss - - 0%
Total Shareholder's Equity (Deficit) 2,072,187 1,930,573
Total Liabllitles and Shareholder's Equity (Deficit} $ 2,930,503 $ 3,480,206

Out of balance check :

i

Materiality Threshold - variance s greater than 10% and $100,000

A) In 2022 VA changed their billing system and wers unable to process claims. Claims started being paid 12/22 decreasing receivables in
2023,

B) The decrease is attributed to the reduced usage of contract nursing services. Also there was a $48,000 credit in payables to reduce
management fees in 2023,

C) NCDOI requested the intercompany balance be closed out to retained earnings after the forecast was submitted. The forecast was setup
to accumulate an intercompany balance due to activity. We continue to work through improving the model to more accurately refiect the new
procedure.



REVENUES
Net Patient Service Revenus
Apartment Rents
Depesit Amortization
Investment Income
Other Revenue - Provider Ralief Funds
Other Revenue
Total Revenues

EXPENSES
Nursing Services
Anclliaries
Dietary Expenses
Sacial Services
Aclivities
Medical Records
Laundry and Linen
Housekeeping
Facllity Operations and Maintenance
Depteciation
Interest Expense
Taxes and Insurance
Employee Benefits
COVID-19 Expenses
General and Administrative

Total Expenses

OPERATING LOSS

NONGPERATING GAIN (LOSS)

Change in Unrealized Losses on [nvestments

Other Nonoperating Gain
Total Nonoperating Loss
Net Loss

White Oak Manor-Burlington and Oak Creek, Inc,
Comparison - Year Ended September 30, 2023
Forecasted income Statement

2023 2023
Actual Forecast Variance Variance
$ 12,332,384 $ 13,461,840 $ (1,129,448) 8%
1,011,237 963,660 47,637 5%
79,833 50,000 19,833 33%
(5,476) 18,314 (23,790} -130%
- - 0%
8,624 600
13,428,812 14,504,354
8,677,517 7,132,500 (454,083)
1,352,508 1,274,640 77,866
1,162,031 1,113,720 48 311
179,565 171,600 7,855
111,828 138,000 (26,171}
62,604 58,260 4,434
169,375 184,320 (14,945)
401,808 435,240 (33,332)
698,036 £92,400 5636
85,997 95,797 {9,800)
3972 - 3,972
221,985 236,700 {14,715)
697,070 982,500 (285,430)
2,042,880 2,163,996
13,867,355 14,679,673
(440,743) {175,318}
82,775 -
314,262 -
407,037 -
(33,708) (175,319)

Materlallty Threshold - variance is greater than 10% and $100,000

D) Group insurance expense decreased $137,000, fewer employess than expected took advantage of plans. Workers Compensation also

decreased by $28,000,




White Oak Manor-Burlington and Oak Creek, inc.
Comparison - Year Ended September 30, 2023
Forecasted Statements of Cash Flows

2023 2023
Actual Forecast Variance % Variance

CASH FLLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss) $ (33.701) 3 (175319
Ad]ustments to Reconcile Net Income to Net Cash
Provided (Used} by Operating Actlivities:

Depreciation 85,897 95,797 {8,800} ~10%

Deposit Amortization (79,833} {60,000) (19,833) 33%

Deposit Recelpts 106,500 70,200 36,300 52%
Increase in Current Assets:

Accounts Receivable 198,627 {338,676) 538,303 -159% E

PY Audit Adjustments - 0%

Other Current Assets §,248 (1,712) 7,980 -A55%
Increase in Current Liabilities:

Accounts Payable (149,331) 51,238 (200,568) -391% F

Intercompany Accounts - 490,083 {490,083) -100% G

Accrued Wages and Other Liabfiities 232985 39,328 193,658 452%, H

Medicare Advance Payments (210,893) - {210,893) 0%

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 167,610 170,839

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of Property and Equipment (59,360) (87,418} 28,058 -32%
Net Change in Assets Limited as to Use - Operaling Reserve (98,250) {84,983)

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (157,810) {172,401}

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Distributions to Shareholder . R
Net Cash Usead in Financing Actlvities " -

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - (1,462)
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of Year 401,462 401,462
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR § 401462 § 400,000

Materiality Threshold - variance Is greater than 10% and $100,000
E) In 2022 VA changed their billlng system and were unable to process claims. Claims started being paid 12/22 decreasing receivables in

2023,

F) The decrease is atfributed to the reduced usage of contract nursing services, Alsc there was a $48,000 oredit in payables to reduce
management fees in 2023,

G} NCDOI requested the intercompany bajance be closed out to retained earnings after the forecast was submitted. The forecast was setup
to accumulate an intercompany balance due to activity. We continue fo work through impreving the model to mere aceurately reflect the new
procedure.

H) Accrued wages were lower than forecasted due to timing of pay dates. September 2023 was a three payroll month.



Exhibit A — Assets Limited to Use — Operating Reserve / Consolidating Balance Sheet

. Reserve Calctilation for 2024. - -
Total Projected Operating Expenses: Tryon |- “Chariotte
Projected SNF Expense; A B,310,875 12,901,416 45,771,128
Projected Aparimen! Expense{ B 1,911,603 1,000,972 708,630
C A+B 10,222,478 13,802,388 16,479,758
Total Projected Depreciation Expense:
Projected SNF Depreciation| D 70,066 65,579 78,846
Projected Apartment Depreciation| E 98,767 29,188 24,626
F D+E 168,833 94,767 103,472
% of SNF Patient Days Attribuiable to Apartment Residents| G 2.68% 0.37% 0.18%
% of SNF Days Attributable to SNF only Residents| H 97.32% 99.63% 88.82%
Calculation of Excluded Expenses | H*A §,088,144 12,853,681 15,742,740
Calculation of Included Expenses| J G*A 222,731 47 735 28,388
Calcutation of Included Depreciation] K D*G 1,878 243 142
Expenses Subject to DOI Approved Operating Reserve| L B+J-E-K 2 (33,688 1,018,278 712,250
Operating Reserve Percentage| M 25.00% 25.00% 25,00%
7. Pprojected Reserve Req| <N | L*M oosos422 | 0 o2se819) 0 178,063
QOver/{Short) 7,570 52,355 39,383
Total operating expenses 10,222 478 13,902,388 16,479,758
Pringcipal payment on any long-terr: debt + 0 0 0
Depreciation expense - 98,767 29,188 24,626
Amottization expense - 0 0 0
Exfracrdinary items as approved by the Commissioner - 8,090,022 12,853,824 15,742,882
Debt service Portion - 0 0 ¢
Teotal operating Costs = 2,033,689 1,019,276 712,250
Qccupancy Factor X 25.00% 25.00% 25.00%
Operating Reserve Requirement = 508 422 254 818 178,063
2,033,689 | 1,019,276 | 712,250 |




VIII. RESERVES, ESCROW AND TRUSTS

IX.

Sufficient reserves are maintained at all times to pay the residents the total outstanding
initial deposit liability. The amount available at September 30, 2023 was $307,174.

The amount anticipated to meet the operating reserve requirement effective at September
30,2023 is $254,819.

There are no material differences between (i) the forecast statements of revenues and
expenses and cash flows or other forecast financial data filed pursuant to N.C.G.S. §58-64-
20 as a part of the disclosure statement recorded most immediately subsequent to the start
of the provider’s most recently completed fiscal year and (ii) the actual results of operations
during that fiscal vear, together with the revised forecast statements of revenues and
expenses and cash flows or other forecast financial data being filed as a part of the revised
disclosure statement. Based on the terms of the resident agreement, initial deposits are not
required to be in an Escrow or Trust Account. '

FACILITY DEVELOPMENT/ EXPANSION

During the year, extensive remodeling of the community dining room was completed.
Additionally, an elevator located in the community building was installed allowing
residents  befter  access to  community dining and  social  events.

OTHER MATERIAL INFORMATION, AS APPLICABLE

N/A as there is no past or current litigation, bankruptey filing, receivership, liquidation,
impending actions or perils against NHC HealthCare/Burlington, LLC or this retirement
community.

RESIDENT’S AGREEMENT/ CONTRACT

Please refer to Attachment IV,
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ATTACHMENT |

NHC’s 2023 Audited Financial Statements
and

First Quarter 2024 10-Q

The NHC parent company 10K will be presented in the disclosure
statements until such time as the newly formed provider entities
have a complete annual audited financial statement to present.
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20545

FORM 10-K
(Mark One)
X ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE S BCURITIES AND EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended Decerber 31, 2023

OR
] TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period fiom to

Commission File No, 001-13489

(Bxact name of registrant as specified in its Corporate Charter)

Delaware 52-2057472
(State of Incorporation) (LR.S. Enployer Identification No.)

100 E Vine Street
Murfreesboro, Tenncssee 37130
(Address ofprincipal exeoutive offices)
Telephone Nunber: 615-890-2020

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act,

Title of Each Class Trading MNarme of Each Exchange on which Registered
Synbol(s)
Shares of Commen Stock NHC NYSE-American

Seeurities registered pursuant o Section 12(g) of the Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 ofthe Securities Act, Yes [ No X

Tndicatc by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Seetion 13 or Scction 15{d) ofthe Act. Yes OO No X

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed ali reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Fxchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12
months (or for such shorter pericd that the registrant was required to file such reperts), and (2) has been subject to such [ling requircments for the past 90 days: Yes X No ]

Indicate by cheek mark whether the registrant has submitied clectronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation ST {§232.405 of
this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes X No [

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant Is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non—accelerated filer, a smaller reporting conpany, or an crerging growth company.
See the definitions of "large accelerated filer,” "accelerated filer,” "stmller reporting cotwpany,” and "emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Fachange Act. Large
accelerated filer X Accelerated filer O Non-accelerated filer O Sraller reporting company £ Emerging growth cormpany [

Tfan emerging growth company, indicate by checkmark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial
accounting standards provided pursuant te Section 13{a) of the Exchange Act. O

Indicate by cheek mark whether the registrant has filod a report on and aftestation te its managenent's assessment of the elfectiveness of its intemal congrol over financial
reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (13 US.C +262(0)) by the registered public accounting fimthat prepared or issued its audif report, X

If securities are registered pursuant fo Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check rmark whether the financial statements of the registrant ineluded in the filing reflect the correction
of an error to previously issued financial statements, [

Indicate by check mark whether any of those error comections are restatenments that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based conpensation received by any of the
registrant's executive officers during the relevant recovery period pursuynt to {§240.10D-1(b). O

Indicate by check watk whether the registrant is a shell conpany {as defitied in Rule 12b-2 of the Fschange Act). Yes (0 Ne X

The aggregate market value of Conmon Stock held by non—affiliates on June 30, 2023 (based on the closing price of such shares on the NYSE American) was approximately
$546.0 miltion, For pwposes of the foregoing calculation only, all directors, named excoutive officers and persons known to the Registrant to be holders of 5% or more of the
Registrant’s Comon Steck have been deemed affiliates of the Registrant.
The number of shares of Common Stock outstanding as of February 14, 2024 was 15,349,980,

Documents Incorporated by Reference
The following docurents are incorporated by reference into Part 11, lemns 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14 of this Form 10-1C
The Registrant’s definitive proxy statement for its 2024 sharcholder’s meeting,
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING S TATEMENTS

Statements in this annual filing that are not historical facts are forward-looking statements. NHC cautions investors that any forward-looking statements made fvolve
risks and uncertainties and are not guarantees of future perfornmnce, Investors should also refer to the risks identified in "Pazt 1. Trem 1A, Risk Factors” for a diseussion of various
risk factors of the Company and that are inherent in the health care industry, Given these risks and uncertainties, we can give no assurance that these forward-looking statements
will, in fact, transpire and, therefore, caution investors not to place undue refiance on them. The risks included here arc not exhaustive. Al forward-looking statements represent
NHC's best judgment as of the date of this filing,

PART 1

ITEM1. BUSINESS

National HealthCare Corporation, which we also refer to as NHC or the Company, began business in 1971, Our principal business is the operation of skilled nursing
facilities, assisted living facilitics, independent living facilities, homecare and hospice agencies, and behaviorat health hospitals. Our business activities include providing sub-
acute and post—acute skilled nursing care, intermediate nursing cate, rehabilitative care, memory and Aldeimer’s care, senior Living services, home health care services, hospice
services, and behavioral health services. In addition, we provide wanagement services, accounting and financial services, as well as insurance services to third party operators of
health care faciliies. We also own the real estate of 10 healtheare propertios and lease thesc properties to third party operators. We cperate in 8 statos and our operations are
primarily located in the Southeaster and Midwestarn parts of the United States,

Description of the Business

The following table summarizes our operations by ownership status as of Decomber 31, 2023:

Owned Leased Managed Total
Skilled Narsing Facilities
Number of facilities 28 2 8 68
Percentage of total 41.2% 47.0% 11.8% : 100.0%
Licensed beds 3,526 4,227 979 8,732
Percentage of total 40.4% 48.4% 11.2% 0.0%
Assisted Living Facilities
Nurber of facilitics 17 7 2 26
Percentage aftotal . 63,4% 26.9% 77% 100.0%
Units 1,253 174 34 1,561
Percentage of total 86.1% 11.6% 2.3% 100.0%
Independent Living Facilities
Number of facilities 1 3 1 5
Percenttage of total 20,0% 60.0% 20.0% 100.0%
Retirement apartments 93 245 137 475
Percentage of tofal 19.6% 51.6% 28.8% 100.0%
Behavioral Health Hospitals
Nunber of facilities 3 - - 3
7 Percentage of total 100.0% - — 100.0%
Licensed beds 95 - - 9
Percentage of total 100.0% — - 100.0%
Homecare Agencies 35 - - 35
Hospice Agencies 30 — - 30
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Net Patient Revenues. The services we provide include a conyprehensive range of health carc services. In fiscal 2023, 95.3% of cur net operating reventes were derived
fromsuch health care services, Highlights of health care services activities during 2023 were as follows:

. Skilled Nursing Facilities, The most significant portion of our business and the base for our other health care services is the operation of our skilled nursing
facilities ("SNF's™). In our facilities, experienced medicat professionals provide medical services prescribed by physicians, Registered nurses, licensed practical
avtses, and certified nursing assistants provide comprehiensive, individualized nursing cate 24 hours a day. In addition, our facilities provide licensed therapy
services, quality nutrition services, social services, activities, and housekeeping and laundry services. Revenues from the 60 facilities we own or lease are
teported as net patient revenues in our financial statements, Managenent fec incomne is recorded as other revenues from the eight facilities that we manage, We
generally charge 6% of favility net operating revenues for our nenagement services.

The following table shows the occupaney percentages for our owned and leased skilled nursing facilities. We define occupancy percentage as the ratio of actual
patient days during any measurement period to the number of operational beds it a facility. The number of beds that are operational nwy be less

than the licensed bed capasity. The reduction of operational beds compared to licensed beds ocours fora variety ofreasons, some of which include confortming
to govemuent requirerents, inproving operationat efficiencies, or enhancing the patient oxperience. We believe reporting occupancy based on operational
beds is consistent with industry practice and provides a mors meaningful measure of performance.

Year IFnded December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Overall census 87.9% 83.8% 80,6%
. Rehabilitative Services. Qur licensed therapists provide physical, speech, respiratory and cccupational therapy for patients recovering from strokes, heart

attacks, orthopedic conditions, neurclogical ilinesses, or other ilinesses, injuries, ot disabilities. We maintained a rehabilitation staff of over 1,200 highly trained,
professional therapists in 2023, Most of our rehabilitative services are for patients in our owned, leased and managed skiled nwising facilities, However, we also
provide setvices to 41 additional health care providers, Cur rates for these setvices are commpetitive with other market rates.

. Medical Specialty Units, All our skilled nursing facilitics participate in the Medicare progtam, and we have expanded cur range of offerings by the creation of
facility—specific medical specialty units such as our memory care units and sub-acute nursing units. Our trained stafl provides care for Alzheimer’s patients in
garly, middle and advanced stages of the disease. We provide specialized care and programs for persons with Alzheimer's ar related digorders in dedioatod units
within many of our skilled nursing facilifies. Our specialized rehabilitation programs are designed to shorten or eliminate hospital stays and help to reduce the
cost of quality health care, We develop individualized pationt ¢are plans to target appropriate medical and functional planning objectives with a primary goal
where feasible for a return to honw or 4 similar envivonient,

. Assisted Living Facilitics. Our assisted living facilities provide personal care services and assistance with general activities of daily living such as dressing,
bathing, meal preparation and medication management. We perform resident assessments to determing what services are desired or required and our qualified
staff encouruges residents lo participate in a range of activities. In 2023, the rate of occupancy wes 78.5% conpared to 71.6% in 2022, Certificates of Need
{"CONs"} are not required to build these projects in most states, and we believe overbuilding has occurred in some of our markets.

. Independent Living Facilities, Our independent lving facilities offer specially designed residential units for the active and ambulatory clderly and provide
various ancillary services for our residents, inciuding restaurants, activity roons and social arcas, Charges for services are paid from private sources without
assistance from govemnental programs. Independent living facilities mmy be licensed and regulated in some states, but do not require the issuance ofa CON
such as is required for skilled nursing fhcilities. We have, in several cases, developed independent living facilities adjacent to our nussing facilities, These ynits
are rented by the month; thus, these facilities offer an expansion of our continuum of care. We believe these independent living units offer a positive marketing
aspeot to all our senior care offerings and services. In 2023 and 2022, the rate of ocoupancy was 89.0%.

We have one independent Hving facility which is a "continuing care comnminity™, where the resident pays a substantial entrance fee and a monthly maintenance
foe. The resident then receives a full range of services, including skilled nursing and home heelth, without additional charge,

. Behavioral Health Hospitals, Our comprehensive continuum of care includes behavioral health sérvices to both adults and gerfatric patients with psychiatric,
emotional, and addictive disorders. Currently, we operate three behavioral hespitals for adult and geriatric patients whe require inpatient hospialization due to
mental disordess, including cognitive fllnesses. We also offer intensive outpatient programs with individualized treatment plans based on the patient's clinical
needs.
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Homecare Agencies. Our home health agencies ("homecares™) assist those who wish to stay at home or in assisted living residences but still require some
degree of medical care or assistance with daily activities. Registered and licensed practical nurses and therapy professionals provide skilled services such as
infusion therapy, wound care and physical, occupational and speech therapies. Home health aides may assist with daily activities such as assistance with
walldng and getting in and out of bed, personal hygiene, medication assistance, light housekeeping and neintaining & safe environment, Under the Medicare
reimbursement payment system, we receive a prospectively detenuined amount per patient per 30-day period of care. Under our tanaged care contracts, we may
receive a period of eare payment or be paid by a per-visit payment model. In 2023, we served an average census 0f3,321 patients and provided 309,929 visits.

Hospice Agencies. We provide hospice care through Caris Healthears, LP. ("Caris™), a wholly owned subsidiary of NHC, Caris specializes in providing hospice
and palliative care to over 1,268 patients per day in 30 locations in Ceorgia, Missour, South Carolina, Tennessee, and Virginia, Under the Medicare
reimbursement payment system, Medicare pays a daily rate to cover the costs for providing services included in the patient care plan. Medicare makes daily
payuents based on 1 of 4 levels of hospice care. All hospice care and services offered to patients and their families must follow an individualized written plan of
care that meets the patient’s needs.

Pharmacy Operations, At December 31, 2023, we operated four regietal phanvacy lecations (twe locations in Tennessee and one location cach in South Carolina
and MissourD). These phamucies primarily service our patients that atc in an inpatient setting using a central location to deliver phanmaceutical supplies, Our
regional phanracies bill Medicare Part D Prescription Diug Plans (FDEs) electronically and directly for inpatients who have selected a PDP.

Tnstitutional Special Needs Plan {"I-SNP”). Our [-SNP, which is called NHC Advantage, is a managed carc insurance company that restricts cureliment to
Medicare Advantage cligible individuals who, for 90 days or longet, have had or are expected to need the level of services provided in a skilled nursing facility.
We belicve the LSNP benefits our patients by providing nurse practitioncrs and care-coordination teams that ontinue to enhance the patient-contered
experience and our quality of patient care, The I-SNP receives a per tmenber, per month premivin from Medicare which covers the members same health care
benefits as original Medicare, as well as additional benefits including proventive screenings and routine vision coverage, At Decerber 31, 2023, the [-SNP
operated in the states of Tennessee, Missouri, and South Carolina with approxmately 1,200 members enrolled in the plan.

Other Revenues, We geterate revenues from management, accounting and financial services to third paty operators of healthvare facilities, from insurance services to

our managed healtheare facilities, and {romrental income, In fiscal 2023, 4.7% of our net cperating revenues were defived fromsuch sources. The significant sources of our other

revenues are described as follows:

Management, Accounting and Financial Services, We provide managerent services to skilled nuzsing facilities, assisted Lving facilities and independent living
facilities operated by third party operators. We typically charge 6% of the managed centers’ net operating revenues as a fee for these services. Additionally, we
provide accounting and financial services to other healthcare operators, As of Decerrber 31, 2023, we perform management services for eleven healthoare
facilities and accounting and financial services for 16 healtheare facilities.

Tusurance Services, NHC owns a Tennessee domiciled insursnce company that provides workers’ compensation coverage (o substantially all of NHC's owned,
leased and managed healthcare facilities. A second whelly owned insurance subsidiary is licensed in the Cayman [slands and provides general and professional
Liability coverage in substantially all of NHC's owned, Jeased and nanaged healthcare facilities,

Rentat Income. The healthcare properties currently owned and leased to third party operatos inchide nine skilled nursing facilities and one assisted living
conmnunities.

Government Stimulus Income, We recelved government stimulus funds as part of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Feonomic Security Act (the "CARES ACT), The

CARES Act provi

ded $2.2 trillion of economy-wide financial stimulos in the formof financial aid 1o individuals, businesses, nenprofits, states and municipalities. The CARES Act

appropriated $178 billion to the Public Health and Social Services Emergency Fund, which is referred to as the Provider Relief Fund ("PRF"). The Conpany recorded $0, $11,457,000
and $63,360,000 of govemment stinmius income from the PRF for the years ended Decenber 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

Non-—Operating Income, We generate non—operating income from equity in eamings of unconsolidated investments, dividends and realized gains and losses on
nmrketable securities, interest income, and other miscellanecus non—operating income,
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Quality of Patient Care

CMS introduced the Five-Star Quality Rating System to help consumers, their families and caregivers conpars skilled nursing facilities more easily, The Five-Star Quality
Rating System gives each skilied mursing operation a rating ranging between ene and five stars in various categories (five stars being the best). The Conpany has always strived

for patient-centered care and quality ouicomes as precursors to outstanding financial performance,

Tn July 2022, CMS launched s enhanced Five-Star Quality Rating System which integrates weekend staffing rates for murses and information on annual tumover among
nurses and administrators. The tables below s ymmarize NHC's overall performance in these Five-Star ratings versus the skilled nursing industry as of December 31, 2023:

Industry
NHC Ratings Ratings
Total number of skilled nursing facilities, end of period 68
Nurber of 4 and 5-star rated skilled nursing facilities 40
Percentage of 4 and S-starmted skilled nursing facilities 59% 36%
Average rating for all skilled nursing facilities, end of period 36 29
Development and Growth

We are undertaking to expand our post-acute and senior heallh care operations while protecting our existing operations and markets, The following table lists our recent
construction and purchase activities.

Type of Cperation Description Size Location Placed in Service
Hospice Acquisition 28 agencies Various Tune 2021
Homecare New Agency 1 agency Anderson, SC January 2022
: Hospice New Agency lagency Tullahoma, TN March 2022
Behavioral Health Hospital New Facility 64 beds Knoxyille, TN Aptil 2022
Behavioral Health Hospital =~ ' New Facifity 15beds 8t, Louis, MO Tune 2022
~ Hospice ) New Agency 1 agency Cedar Bluff, VA March 2023
Skilled Nursing ~° . Acquisition 66 beds Nashville, TN May 2023
Homecare New Agency 1 agency Tallahassee, FL May 2023
Assisted Living Facility New Operations 135 units Vero Beach, FL Tuly 2023
Assisted Living Facility New Operations 95 nnits Merritt Island, FL July 2023
*Assisted Living Facility New Operations 100 units Stuart, FL July 2023

Business Segments

The Conpany has two reportable operating segments: (1) inpatient services, which includes the operation of skilled nursing facilities, assisted and independent living
facilities, and behaviorai lieaith hospitals and (2) homecare and hospice services, The Company also reports an "all other” category that includes revenues fram rental income,
management and accounting services fees, surance services, and costs of the corporate office. See Note 6 in the notes to the consolidated financla} statements for further
disclesure ofthe Company’s operating segments.

Customers and Sources of Revenues

No individual custorer, or related group of customers, accounts for a significant portion of our revenues. We do not expect the loss of a single customer or group of
related customers would have a material adverse ctfect.
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Certain groups of patients receive funds to pay the cost of their care froma cormmon source. The foliowing table sets forth sources of net patient revenues for the periods
ndicated:

Year Fnded Decenber 31,
_ Source 2023 2022 2021
Medicare ' o 34% %% 36%
Managed Care 10% 0% 11%
Medicaid ) : 30% 28% 29%
Private Pay and Other 26% 25% 24%
Total = o S 100% 100% 100%

We attelrpt to attract an increased percentage of Medicare and private pay patients by providing rehabilitative and other post-acute care services, These services are
designed to speed the patient's recovery and allow the patient to return home as soon as it is practical.

Medicare is 2 health insurance program for the aged and eentain other chronically disabled individuals operated by the federn! government. Medicare covers skilled
nursing services for beneficiaries who tequire nursing care and/or rehabilitation services following a discharge fiom an acute care hospital. For each eligible day a Medicare
beneficiary is in a skilled nursing facility, Medicare pays the facility a daily payent, subject Lo adjustment for certain factors such as a wage index in the geographic area. The
payment covers all services provided by the skilled nursing facifity for the beneficiary that day, including room and board, nursing, therapy and drugs, as well as an estimate of
capital-related costs te deliver those services.

_ Medicaid is a medical assistance program for the indigent, operated by individual states with the financial participation of the federal government, The states in which we
operate primarily Use a cost—based reimbursement system. Under cost-—based reimbursement systems, the skilled musing facility is reimbursed for the reasonable direct and
indirect allowable costs it incurred in a base year in providing routine resident care services as defined by the program Seniors who enter skilled nursing facilities as private pay
patients can becoms eligible far Medicait once they have substantially depleted their assets. Medicaid is gonerally the Iargest source of finding for most skilled nursing facilities.

Private pay, managed care, and other payment sonrces include conmercial nsuranee, individual patient funds, managed care plans and the Veterans Adwministration.
Although payment rates vary ameng these sources, market forces and costs fargely determine these rates. Private paying patients, private insurance camiers and the Veterans
Administration generally pay based on the center’s charges or specifically negotiated contracts.

We centract with managed care organizations ("MCO's") and insurance carriers for the pravision of heaftheare services by our owned, leased and nenaged healthcare’
facilities.

Government Regulation
General

Health care s an area of extensive regulatory oversight and frequent regulatory change. The foderal govemment and the states in which we operate regulate various
aspects of our business. These regulatory bodics, among other things, require us anmually to license our skilled musing facilitios and other health care busiesses. To operate
skilled nursing facilities and provide health care services we st comply with federal, state and local laws relating to the delivery and adequacy of medical care, distribution of
pharmaceuticals, equipment, personnel, operating policies, fire prevention, rate—sctting, building codes and environmental protection. Changes in the laws or new interprotations
of existing laws as applied to the skilled nursing facilities, home health and hospice, or other corponents of our health care businesses, may have a significant impact on our
operations.

Governmental and other authorities periodically inspect our healthcare facilities and hete health and hospice agencics to assure that we continue to comply with their
various standards. We rmust pass these inspections to continue our licensing under state lawy, o obtain certification under the Medicare and Medicaid programs, and to continue
our patticipation in the Veterans Administration program. We can only patticipate in other third—party prograirs if our facilities pass these inspections,

From time to time, we, like others in the health care industry, may receive notices from federal and state regulatory agencies alleging that we failed to conply with
applicable standards, These nolices may require us to take comective action and rmy impese civil money penalties and/or other operating restrictions, If our healtheare
cperations fail to comply with these directives or otherwise fail to comply substantially with licensure and certification laws, rules and regulations, we could lose our certification as
a Medicate and Medicaid provider and/or lose our licenses.

Local and state health and social service agencies and other regulatory authorities specific to their location regulate, to varyitg degrees, our assisted Hving facilities.
Although regulations and licensing requirements vary significantly from state to state, they typically address, emong other things, personnel education, training and records;
facility services, including adminisiration of medication, assistance with supervision of medication management and limited nursing services; physical plant specifications;
famishing of resident wnits; food and housckeeping services; emergency evacuation plans; ang resident rights and responsibilities, If assisted living facilities fail to comply with
licensing requiremrents, these facilities could lose their licenses. Most states also subject assisted living facilities to state or local building codes, fire codes and food service
Heensure or certification requirements. i addition, the manner and extent to which the ussisted living industry is regulated at federal and state levels are evolving,
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In =l states in which wo operate, before a skilled nursing facility can make & capital expenditure exceeding certain specificd amounts or constiet any new skilled health
cate beds, approval of the state health care regulatary agency or agencies must be obtained, and a Certificate of Need issued, The appropriate state health planning agency must
review the Certificate of Noed according to state specific guidelings before a Certificate of Need can be issued. A Certificate of Need is generally issued for a specific naximam
amount of expenditure and the project nmst be completed within a specific time period, There is no advance assurance that we will be able to obtain 1 Certificate of Need in any
instance. In some states, approval is also necessary in order to purchase existing health care beds, although the purchaser is normally pemmitted to avoid a full-scale Certificate of
Need application procedure by giving advance written notice of the scquisition and giving written assurance to the state regulatory agency that the change of ownership wili not
result in a change in the number of beds, services offered and, in sone cases, reimbursement rates at the facility.

While there are cutrently no significant legisktive proposals te eliminate Certificates of Need pertaining to skifled nursing care in the states in which we do business,
dercgulation in the Certificate of Need area would likely result in increased competition and could adversely affect cecupancy rates and the supply of licensed and certified
personnel.

A significant goal of the federal health care system is to transform the delivery of health care by holding providers accountable for the cost and quality of care
provided. Medicare and reny comivercial third-party payors ate implementing Accountable Care Organization ("ACO™ models in which groups of providers share in the benefit
and risk of providing care to an assigned group of mdividuals, Other reimbursement wethodology refors in which we are participating or cxpect to participate in include value—
based purchasing, in which a portien of provider reimbursement is redistributed based on relative perfornance on designated econemie, clinical quality, and patient satisfaction
Imetrics. Also, CMS is inplementing prograis to bundle acute care and post—acutc care reinbursement to hold providers accountable for costs across a broader continuumof carc.
These refmbursenent methodologios and similar prograns are likely te contimue and expand, both in public and commercial health plans, Providers whe respond successfully to
these trends and can deliver quality care at lower costs ate likely to benefit financially,

Patient Confidentiality

We are also subject to laws and regulations enacted to protect the confidentiality of patient heakth information. The 11,8, Departnent of Health and Human Services
("HHS") has issued rules that govern our use and disclosure of protected health information, We have established pelicies and proceduses to comply with HIPAA ptivacy and
gecutity requirements, We roaintain a corpany-wide HIPAA cotmpliance plan, that we believe complies with the HIPA A privacy and security regulations, The IIPAA privacy and
security regulations have and will continue to impose significant costs to the Conpany in order to comply with these standards, Our operations are also subject to.any federal o
state privacy-telated laws that are more restrictive than the privacy regulations issued under HIPAA, These laws vary and could impose additional penalties for privacy and
security breaches,

Medicare and Medicald Participation

All skilled nursing facilities, owned, leased or managed by us are centified to participate in Medicare. Allbut eight (seven owned and one nunaged) of cur affiliated skilled
nursing facilities participate n Medicaid, All our homeeare and hospice agencies participale in the Medicare and Medicaid programs, with Medicare comprising the majority of their
revenue. Our behavioral health hospitals also participate in the Medicare and Medicaid program.

During the fiscal years presented, we received payments from Medicare and, if participating, from Medicaid. We record as receivables the amounts we ultimately expect to
receive under the Medicare and Medicaid programs and record into profit or loss any differences in ameunts received at the time of interim or final settlements. There have not
been anty adjustments that have had a nateriai adverse effect on the Conpany within the last three years,

Medicare Legislation and Regulations
Skilled Nursing Facilities

Medicare is uniform nationwide and reimburses skilled nursing facilities under a fixed paymwent methodelogy called the Skilled Nursing Facility Prospective Payment
System ("SNF PPS". The SNF PPS includes a case-mix model called the Patient-Driven Payment Model {"PDPM™), which focuses ana resident’s condition and care needs, rather
than the amount of care provided to determine reirmbursement levels, PDPM utilizes clinically relevant factors for determining Medicare paywent by using 1CD-10 diagnosis codes
and other patient characteristios as the basis for patient classification. PDPM utilizes five case-mrix adjusted payment components: physical therapy ("PT"), occupational therapy
("OT"), speech language pathology ("SLP”), nurssing and social services and non-therapy ancillary services ("NTA™), Tt alse uses a sith non-case mix conponent to cover
utilization of skilled nursing facility (*SNF") resources that do not vary depending on resident characteristics.
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In July 2023, CMS released its final nile outlining fiscal year 2024 Medicare paymont rates and policy changes for skilled nursing facilities, which began on Qcteber 1,
20723, The fiscal year 2024 mle equates to a net increase of 4.0%, or approximately $1.4 billion, in Medicare Part A payments to SNFs in fiscal year 2024 conpared to 2023 levels. The
ruls includes a 3.0% market basket rate increase, a 3.6% nurket basket forecast ervor adjustment, less a 0.2% productivity adjustiment, as well as a negative 2.3%, or approximately
$789 million, decrease in 2024 SNF Paynent Prospective Systens rates as a result of the second phase of the Patient Driven Payment Model patity adjustment recalibration.

The Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Feonomic Secutily Act (the "CARES” Act) and other subsequent Congressional actions tenporarily suspended Medicare sequestration
beginning May 1, 2020 through March 31, 2022, The Medicare sequestration policy reduces fec-for-service Medicare payments by 2 percent. Effective April 1, 2022, sequestration
was reinstated but only 1% was reduced from Medicare payments from April 1, 2022 through June 30, 2022, Beginning July 1, 2022, sequestration was increased back to the 2%
reduction of Medicare payments for the remainder 0£2022. The CARES Act extended the sequestration palioy throngh 2030 in exchange for the temporary suspension,

Homecares

Medicare is uniform nationwide and reimburses homecare agencies under a Pationt-Driven CGronpings Model ("PDGM™). Under PDGM, Medicare provides homecare
agencics with payments for cach 30-day period of care provided to beneficiaries. [fa beneficiary is still eligible for care after the cnd of the first 30-day paywent period, a second 30-
day payment period can begin, There are no limits to the nuirher of perieds of carc a beneficiary who termaing eligibic for the home health benefit can receive, While payment for
cach 30-day period of care is adjusted to reflect the beneficiary’s health condition and needs, a special outlier provision exists to ensure appropriate paynent for those
beneficiarics that have the nost expensive care needs. The payment under the Medicare programis also adjusted for certain variables.

In November 2023, CMS released its final mle outlining fiscal year 2024 Medicare payment rates. CMS projects payments to hoire heglth agencies in fiscal year 2024 will
increasc in aggregate by 0.8%, or $140 million. The increase is the result of 2 3.3% market basket update, reduced by a 0.3% productivity adjustment, The Increasc is affset by a
behavioral adjustment that will cut payments by a net 2.6%. The behavioral adjustment was designed to achiove budget-neutral implementation of the PDPM, Finally, CMS also
adjusted the fixed-dollar Toss ratio for outlier payments, which will increasc payments by 0.4%.
Hospice

Medicare payment rates are caloulated as daily rates for each of four levels of care we deliver. Rates are set based on specific levels of care, are adjusted by a wage index

to reflect healthcare labor costs across the country and are established annually thiough federal legislation. The following are the four levels of care provided under the hospice
benefit:

. Routine Home Care. Care that is not classified under any of the other levels of care, such as the work of nurses, social workers or home health aides.

. General Inpatient Care. Pain control or acute or chronic synptom nmnagement that cannot be nanaged in a setting other than an inpatient Medicare-certified
facility, such as a hospital, skifled nursing facility or hospice inpatient facility,

. Continuous Home Care. Care for patients experiencing a medical orisis that requires nursing services to achieve palliation and symptom control if the agency
provides a minimum of eight hours of care within a 24-hour perlod.

. Tnpatient Respite Care. Short-term, inpationt care to give temporary relief to the caregiver who regularly provides care Lo the patient.

Medicare payments arc subject te twe fised annual eaps, which are asscssed on a provider number basis, and are broken into an inpatient cap arount and an overall
payment cap. These cap amounts are calculated and published by the Modicare fiscal intermediary on an annual basis.

Tn July 2023, CMS released its final rule outlining fiscal year 2024 Medicare payment rales. CMS issued 2 rate increase of 3.1%, or $780 million, effective October 1, 2023,
This increase is the result afa 3,3% nurket basket increase reduced by a 0.2% productivity adjustment, The FY2024 hospice paynent update alse includes an update to the
statutory aggregate cap amount, which limits the overall payments per patient that are made annually. The cap amount for FY2024 is $33,494.
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Medicaid Legislation and Regulations
Skilled Nursing Facilities

State Medicaid plans subject to budget constraints arc of particular concem to us. Changes in federal funding coupled with state budget problems and Medicaid
expansion under the Affordable Care Act have produced an uncertain environment. Some states will not keep pace with post-acute healtheare inflation. States are currently under
pressure to pursue other alternatives to skilled nursing care such as community and home—based services.

Medicaid programs zre funded jointly by the federal govemnment and the states and are adninistered by states under approved plans, Most state Medicaid payments are
made under a prespective payment systemor under prograns which negotiate payment levels with individual providers. Some states use, or have applied te use, waivers granted
by CMS to fmplement expansion, inpose different eligibility or enroliment restrictions, or otherwise iplement programs that vary from federal standards.

Effective July 1, 2023 and for the fiscal year 2024, the state of Tenncsses implemented specific individual nursing facility increases. We cstimate the resulting increase in
revenue for the 2024 fiscal year will be approximately $15,000,000 annually, or $3,750,000 per quarter.

Effective Getober 1, 2023 and for the fiscal year 2024, the state of South Carolina implemented specific individual nursing facility inereases. We estimate the resulting
increase i Tevenue for the 2024 fiscal year will be approximately $9,000,000 annually, or $2,250,000 per quarter.

Effective July 1, 2023 and for the fiscal year 2024, the state of Missowi inplemented specific individual nursing facility increascs. We estimate the resulting increase in
revenue for the 2024 fiscal yoar will be apptoxitrately $5,000,000 annually, or §1,250,000 per quarter.

We have alsc seecived from many of the states in which we operate a supplemental Mediczid paytment to help mitigate the inflationary labor and medical supplies costs
resulting from the pandemic, For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, we have recorded $20,214,000, 519,442,000 and $20,482,000, respectively, due to these
supplemental Medicaid payments, We have recorded these payments in net patient revenues in our consolidated statements of operations,

Competition

I most of the communities in which we operate health care facilities, we compete with other health cave facilities in the area. There are hundreds of operators of post-acute
healtheare services in cach of these states and ho single operalor, inefuding us, dominates any of the markets, except for some small rural markets which might have limited
competition. Tn competing for patients and staff] we depend upon referrals from acute care hospitals, physicians, residential care facilities, church groups and other community
service organizations, The reputation in the community and the physical appearance of our facilities are important in obtaining patients since members of the patient’s family
generally paiticipate to a greater extent in selecting skilled nursing facilities than in selecting an acute care hospital, We believe that by providing and emphas izing rehabilitative, as
well as patient-centered healthcare services, we can broaden our patient base and to diffarentiate our operations fromcompeting operations,

As we continue to expand into all areas of senior health care, we monitor proposed or existing competing operations, Our development goal is (o link our skifled nursing
facilities with our senior [iving commmnitics, home health and hospice operations, and behavioral health hospitals; therefore, obtaining a competitive advantage for our aperations.

Human Capital
Employees

As of Decenber 31, 2023, we had 13,123 full-thre and part-time enployees ("partners™) through our Adninistrative Services Contmctor (National Health Corporation).
Note of our partners were represented by e collective bargaining agreement, We believe relations with cur partners are good, Our partners are guided by NHC's Code of Conduct,
and they take pride in their work. The Conpany's partners appreciate different perspectives and erbrace the opportunity to work with those of diverse backgrounds.

Total Rewards

To attact and retain top talent, we believe we muist offer and meintain conpetitive total rewards for our partners, These rewards include not only wages and salaries, but
also health, welfare, and retirement benefits. Qur partners acorue eamed time off ("ETO") with the flexibility to use this time at their discretion. We offor cenprehensive health
insurance coverage to all cligible parmers as well as a partner and fawmily sick time program which allows partners to accrue paid sick time based on hours worked and to use that
time for themselves or family menbers in need of care. We offer a 401(k) plan which inclades matching company contributions. Also, to foster a stronger sense of cwnership, we
offer an Fmployee Stock Purchase Plan whete pattners may purchase coimpany stock through payroll deduction,
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We face competition in enploying and retaining nurses, technicians, aides, and other high-quality professional and non—prefessional enployees. To enhance our
conpetitive position, we offer a robust educational tuition reinbursement program, an Anerican Distetic Association approved internship prograny, specialty designed nurse aide
training classes, and therc is financial scholarship aid available for various health care vocation pregrams.

We also conduct an "Adminisirator in Training” eourse, which is 24 months in duration, for the professional training of skilled nusing facility administrators. Presently,
we have six (four male and two female) full—time individuals in this program All six of our regional vice prosidents and 52 of our 68 health care center administrators are graduates
of this program

We regularly utilize third-party consultants to conduct anonymeus surveys to seek feedback fom our partners on a variety of topics, inchuding but not limited to,
confidence in conmpany leadership, conpetitiveness of our conpensation and benefits package, career growth opportunities and improvements on how we can centinue to make
our conpany an civployer of choice. The results are shared with our partners and reviewed by senior leadership, who analyze areas of progress or deterioration and prioritize
actions and activities in response to this feedback to drive meaningfi! improvements in partner cngagement.

Health and Safety

The health and safety of our pariners is our highest priority. We focus on safety training in order to maintain a safe work environent and minimize work-related injury.
When the pandemic began, we ensured and continue to ensure that our partmers have access to masks, thermometers, poteetive gloves, sanitizing supplics, and 21l personal
protective cquipment needed in order to protect themselves, We closely followed the recommmondations of the World Health Organization, the U.S. Centers for Discasc Control and
local governments, and we took action to ensure our partners were safe.

Community

We have a long and proud history of investing in the comenunities where we live and work. Through the National Health Foundation (the "Foundation™) and The
Foundation for Geriatric Education ("TFGE") we give back by providing grants to nonprofits and providing tuition reimbursement to pattnors to further their education in the field
of geriatrics, We also have a Cowpassion Fund which is used to help support partuers i times of need, Many of cur partners nmke a positive pact in the cormmunities in which
they live by donating their time and talent by volunteering and serving on boards of charitable organizations.

Environmental Sustainability

We are working diligently to minimize our effect on the envitonment by consetving.energy and protesticg our natural resonrces. We are focusing on being more encrgy
efficient and reducing our water use and wastewater discharges while continuing te provide a healthy environment for our patients, pariners and visitors, We are committed to
adhering to applicable federal, state and local environmental regulations. Our goalis to minimize environmental risks to ourpatients and in the communities which we operate.

Through recycling programs, we are working to reduce the amount of waste sent to landfills, Our electronic waste is recycled through a zero-landfill recycling company.
Awailable Information

The Company's Anaual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Carrent Reports on Forn 8-IC, and amendments to those reports filed or fumished
pursuant to Section 13{a} or 15{d) of the Securities Brchange Act of 1934, are available fiee of charge at wwwnhccare.com, as soon as Teasonably practicable after the reports are
clectronically filed or fumished with the U.S. Securities and Fxchange Conmnission {"SEC"). The SEC maintains a website that contains these reports as well as proxy statements

and ather information regarding issuers that file electronically. The SECs website is at wwwisec.gov. NHC's website and &5 confent ate not deemed incorporated by reference into
this report.
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ITEM 1A, RISKFACTORS

You should carefully consider the risk factors set forth below, as well as the other infornation contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-IC These risk factors should
be considered in connection with evaluating the forward—looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Fonn 10-K, because these factors could cause the agtual resuks
end conditions {o differ materially from those projected in forward-looking statements. The risks described below are not the only risks facing us, Additional risks and
uncertainties that are not eurreatly known to us or that we currently deem to be tnmaterial may also materially and adverscly affect our business operations. Any of the following
risks could materally adversely affect our business, financial conditien or results af operations and cash flows,

Risks Relating to Our Operations

COVIILTY and other pandentcs, epidendcs, or owthreaks of a contagions ilfness may adversely affect anr operating results, cush flows and financial condition, The
COVID-19 pandemic had a negative impact on our business and results of operations, COVID-19 and cther pandermics, epidemics, or outbreaks of a contagious illness, and similar
events, may cause harmto us, our partners (employees), our patients, our vendors und supply chain pariners, and financial institutions, which could have a rmterial adverse effect
on our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows, The impacts may include, but would not be limited to:

+  Dismuption to operations due to the unavailsbility of parmers due to illncss, quarantings, tisk of illness, travel restrietions or factors that linit our existing or potential
workforcs,

e Increased costs and staffing requirenents related to additional CDC protocols, federal and state workforce protection and related isolation procedures, including
obligations to test patients and staff.

s  Decreased availability and increased cost of supplies due to increased demand around essential personal protective equipnent ("PPE"), sanitizers and cleaning supplies
including disinfecting agents, and food and food-elated products due to increased global demand and disruptions along the global supply chains of these manufactures
and distributors.

e Decreased census across all our operations, which could negatively inpact our operating cash flows and financial cendition.

e Flevated parmer tumover which may increase payroll expense, increase third party agency nurse staffing, and recruiting-related expenses.

e Increased risk of litigation and related labilities arfsing in connection with patient or partner illness, hospitalization and/or death.

&  Significant disruption of the global financial markets, which could have a negative impact on our ability to access capital in the future.

The futther spread of COVID-19, and the measures taken by federal and state governments and local health autherities intended to Limit the spread of the virus, could
inypact the resources required to camry out our business as usual and may have a material adverse cffect on our results of operations, financial condilion and cash flows. The extent
to which the COVID-19 pandemic will impact our business and our financial results will depend on future developmments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted. Such
developments may include the ongoing geographic spread of the virus, the timing, availability and effectiveness of medical treatnents and vaccines (including additional doscs of
vaccines), the impact of any mutations of the virus, and the type, duration and efficacy of actions that may be taken by various govemmental authorities to contain the virus or
treat its jinpact, among others. Any of these developrents, individually or in aggregate, could materially impact our business and our financial resuits and condition.

We depend on reimbursement from Medicare, Medicaid and ather third-party payers, and reimbusement rates from sich payors may be reduced, We derive a
substantial portion of our revenue from third—party payors, inciuding the Medicare and Medicaid programs, Third—patty payor programs are highly regulated and are subject {0
frequent and substantial changes. Changes in the refmbursement rate or methods of payrent from third—party payors, including the Medicare and Medicaid prograns, or the
implementation of other measures to reduce reinfbursements for our services has in the past, and could in the fsture, result in a substantial reduction n our revenues and operating
nergins. For example, the Budget Control Aot 0f 2011 requires autonmtic spending reductions to reduce the federal deficit, imposing Medicare spending reductions ofup to 2% per
fiscal year, with a uniform percentage across ali Medicare programs. CMS began imposing a 2% reduction on Medicare claims in 2013, and these reductions have been extended
through 2030. The CARES Aot and related logislation tenporarily suspended this 2% reduction through March 31, 2022, and reduced the sequesttation adjusument from 2% to 1%
fomAprit 1 through June 30, 2022, The full 2% reduction took effect July 1,2022,
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Net revenue realizable under third—party payor agreements can change after cxamiination and retroactive adjustment by payors during the claims settlenont processes or
as a result of post—payment audits, Payors may disallow requests for reizbursement based on deferminations that certain costs are net reimbursable or reasonablo because
additional docwmentation is necessary or because certain services were not covered or were not reasonable and nedically necessary.

Our hospice agencies are subject to two payment caps that limit Medicare reimbursement each federal fiscal year, an inpatient eap and an aggregate cap. The inpatient cap
limits the number of days of mpatient care to no more than 20% of total patient care days. The aggregate cap limits the total Medicars reimbursement that a hospice may receive
based on an annual per-beneficiary cap anmount and the nunber of Medicare patients served. If payments received by any one of cur haspice provider nwmbers exeeds the
inpatient or aggregate caps, we are required to reimburse Medicare for payments received in sxcess ofthe caps, which could have a materlal adversc cffect on our business.

We cannot assure you that adequate reiimbursement levels will continue to be available for the services provided by us. Further linits on the scope of services refmbursed
and on refmbursenent rates could have a material adverse effect on our fiquidity, financial condition and resulls of operations. It is possible that the effects of further refinements
to payment systens that result in lower paynents to us or cuts in state Medicaid funding could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, See Teem 1, "Business —
Govemmnent Regulation” and "Business - Medicare Legislation and Regulations™”.

The industry trend toward value-based prrchasing may negatively {mpeact our revenues. There continues to be a growing trend i the healtheare industty among both
govemment and conmercial payors toward value-based purchasing of healthoare services. Vatue-based purchasing prograns emphasize quality and efficiency of services, rather
than volme of services. For exanple, (M3 reimburses SNF providers using the PDPM, a payment nethodelogy that classifies patients inte payment groups based on clinical
factors using diagnosis codes rather than by volume of services. In additien, CMS requires SNFs, hone health agencies and hospices to report quality data in order to receive full
reimburserment, Failure to report quality data or poor porformance may negatively impact the amount of reimbursement received. OMS publishes quality measure data online
through its Care Compare website, to allow the public to search and compare data for Medicare-certified providers,

Under the SNF Vilue-Based Purchasing Program, CMS reduces SNF Medicare payiments by 2 percentage points and redistributes the majority of these funds as incentive
payments based on SNF quality measure perfomance. It January 2022, CMS began implementing 2 nationwide expansion of the Herme Health Value-Based Purchasing ("HHVBP)
Model. Under the model, hone health agencies will receive increases or decreases to their Medicare fee-for-service payments of up fo 5%, based on perfomuance against spegific
quality measures relative to the performance of other previders. Data collected in sach perforance year will inpact Medicare payments two years fater, Calendar year 2023 is the
first perfornence year under the expanded HHVBP Model that will affect payments.

Other initiativos aimed at improving the cost of care include alternative payment models, such as ACOs and bundled payment arangements. Medigare and many
commercial third-party payors are implementing ACOmodels, in which groups of providers share in the benefit and risk of providing cate to an assigned group of individuals at a
lower cost. In addition, CMS is implementing prograns to bundie acute care and post-acute care reimbursement to hold providers accountable for costs across a broader
continuum of care, In October 2021, the CMS Innovation Center released an outline of its stratogy for the next decade, noting the need to accelorate the movenent to valuc-based
care and drive broader system transformation. By 2030, the CMS Innovation Center afns to have all fee-for-sorvice Medicare beneficiaries and the vast majority of Medicaid
beneficiaries in an accountable care relationship with providers who arc responsible for quality and total medical costs. The CMS Innovation Center signaled its intent to
stroarline its payment models and to increase provider participation through jmplementation of iore mandatory models.

These relmburseirent methodologies and other vakhie-based care initiatives are likely to continue and oxpand, at both the federal and state levels and in public and
commercial health plans. It is unclear whether altemative payment models will successfully coordinate care and reduce costs or whether they will decrease overall reimbursement.
As 4 result, it is difficult to predict how the trend toward value-based purchasing will ultimately affect our business, If we f4il to meet or cxceed quality perfonmance standerds
under any applicable value-based purchasing pregram, perform at a lovel below the outcomes demonstrated by our competitors, or otherwise fall to cffeetively provide or
coordinate the efficient delivery of quality health care services, our reputation in the industry may be negatively impacted, we may receive reduced reimbursement amounts, and we
may owe repayments to payors, causing our revenues 10 decline. Failure to respond successfully to value-based purchasing trends could negatively impact our business, resulis
of'operations and/or financial condition.

By undertaking to provide management services, advisory services, and/or financial services to other entities, we become af leust partially responsible for meeting
the regulatory requirements of those entities. We provide management and/or financial services to skilled nursing facilities, assisting living facilities and independent living
facilities owned by third parties, The "Risk Factors" contained herein as applying to us may in mary instances apply equally to these other entities for which we provide services.
We have in the past and may in the future be subject fo clains fromthe entities to which we provide nanagenent, advisory or financial services, ot to the claims of third parties to
those entities. Any advese dstermination in any legal proceeding regarding such clains could have a material adverse effect on our business, our results of operation, our
financial condition and cash flows.

We provide management services to skilled masing fucilities and other healthcare Jacilities under terns whereby the payments for our services are subject fo
subordination to other expenditures of the healthcare facility. Fuithermore, there are certain third parties with whomwe have contracted to provide services and which we have
determined, based on insufficient historical collections and the lack of expected future collections, that the service revenue realimtion is uncertain, We nay, therefore, e
expenditures related to the provision of services for which we are not paid.
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The cost to replace or retain qualified nurses, health care professionals and other key personnel may adversely affect our financial performance, and we may net be
able to comply with certain states’ staffing reqrirements, We could experience significant increases in our operating costs due to shortages in qualified nurses, health care
professionals and other key personnel. The murket for these key personnelis highly conpetitive. We, like other health care providers, have experienced difficulties in attracting and
reteining qualified personnel, especially facility administrators, nurses, certified nurses' aides and other inportant health care providers. There is cumently a shortage of nurses, and
trends indicate this shortage will continue er worsen in the future, The diffioulty our skilled nursing facilities are experiencing in hiring and retaining quatified personnel has
increased our average wage rafe. We may continue to experience increases in our labor costs due to higher wages and greater benefits required to attract and retain qualified health
care personnel, Our ability to control labor costs will significantly affect our future operating rosults. Additionally, if we fail to attract and retain qualified and skilled personnel, our
abifity to conduct our business operations effectively could be hamed,

Certain states in which we operate skilled nursing facilities have adopted minimunstaffing standards and additional states may also establish similar requirements in the
firture. Qur ability to satisfy these requirerrents will depend upon our ability to aftract and retain qualified nurses, cortified nurses' assistants, and other staff. Failure to comply with
these requirements may result in the inyposition of fines or other sanctions. If states do not appropriate sufficient additional funds (through Medicaid program appropriations or
otherwisc) to pay for any additional operating costs resulting fromninimumstaifing requirements, our profitability may be adversely affected.

The staffing level required to receive a 5-star rating in the CMS Nursing Home Five Star Quality Rating Sysiem is deternined based on analysis of the relationship
between staffing levels and measurcs of nutsing home quality, CMS places a strong cnphasis on registered nurse {"RN") staffing, CMS posts infornation on nursing home
staffing measures on the Care Compare wobsiie including stail tumeover rates and weekend staffing levels, This tew data has been incorporated into the Mursing Home Five Star
Quality Rating System

Although we cutrently have no collective bargaining agreements with unions at cur facilities, there is no assurance this will continue to be the case, If any of our facilities
enter into collective bargaining agreoments with unions, we could experience or incur additional administrative expenses associated with union representation of our employees,

Our senior management team has extensive experience in the healtheare industry. We believe they have been instrumental in guiding our business, instituting valuable
performance and quality monitoring, and driving innovation. Accordingly, our future perfornmnce is substantially dependent upon the continued services of our senjor
managerent team The logs of the services of any of these persons could have a material adverse effect upon us.

Disasters and similar events, which may increase as a reswlt of climate change, may seriously harn ovr business. Natural and man—made disasters and similar events,
including terrerist attacks and acts of nature such as huricanes, tomadoes, carthquakes and wildfires, may cause darage or disruption to us, our employees and our facilities,
which could have an adverse impact on our patients and our business, In order te provide carc for our paticnts, we are dependent on consistent and reliable delivery of food,
pharmaceuticals, utilities and other goods to our facilities, and the availability of employces to provide services at our facilitics, If the delivery of goods or the ability of employecs
to reach our facilities were intorrupted in any material respect due to a natural disaster oz other reasons, it would have a significant impact on our facilities and our business,
Purthemmore, the frpact, or impending threat, of a natural disaster has in the past and may in the future require that we cvacuate one or more facilities, which would be costly and
would involve risks, including potentially fatal risks, for the patients. The impact of disasters and similar events is inherently uncertain. Such events could harm our patients and
employees, severcly damage or destroy ene or more of our faglities, harm our business, reputation and financial performance, or otherwise cause our buginess to suffer in ways
that we cumrently cannot predict,

Significant changes in the climate may oceur in arcas where our facilities are Tocated and we may experience tmore frequent extreme weather events which may result in
physical damage to or a decrease in demand for cur facilides located in these areas or affected by these conditions. In addition, changes in federal and state legislation and
regulation on climate change could result in increased capital expenditures to inprove the energy efficiency of our facilities without a corresponditig increase in revenue. Climate
change may also have indirect effests on our business by increasing the cost of {or making unavailable) property msurance on lerns we find acceptable, Should the impact of
climate change be material in nature, Incliding destruction of our facilities, or ocour for lengthy periads of time, our financial condition or results of cperations may be adversely
affected.

Future acquisitions or new developments may be difficalt o coniplete, use significunt resources, or be umsuceessfil and condd expose us to unforeseen Habilities. We
may selectively pursuc acquisitions or new developments in our target rarkets. Acquisitions and new developments fmay involve significant cash expenditures, dobt incurrence,
capital expenditures, additjonal operating losses, amortization of the intangible assets of acquired companies, dilutive issuances of equity securities and other expenses that could
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. Acquisitions also nvelve numerous other risks, including difficulties integrating acquircd
operations, personne! and information systems, diversion of management’s time from cisting operations, potential losses of key employees ot customers of acquired companies,
assumptions of significant Liabilities, exposure to unforeseen labilities of acquired companics and increases in our indebtedness.
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We cannot assure that we will succeed in obtaining financing for any acquisitions at a reasonable cost or that any financing will not contain restrictive covenants that
lintt our operating flexibility, We aiso may be unable to operate acquired Facilities profitably or succeed in achieving improverrents in their financial performance.

We also nay face competition i acquiting any facilities. Our competitors mmy acquire or seek to acquire many of the facilities that would be suitable acquisition
candidates forus. This could limit our ability to grow by acquisitions or increase the cost of our acquisitions.

Tn addition, federal and state regulation tmay adversely impact our ability to complete acquisitions or pursue new developments. For exarple, 2 Medicare regulation known
as the "36 Month Rule” prohibits the buyer of a Medicare-certified home health agency from assuming the Medicare billing privileges of an acquired agency if the acquired agency
either enrclled in Medicare or underwent a change in majority ownership fewer than 36 months prior to the acquisition, subject fo certain exceptions. Instead, the buyer must enroll
the acquired home health agency as a new provider with Medicare. The 36 Month Rule may increase coripetition for acquisition targets that are not subject to the e and may
cause significant Medicare billing delays for purchases of home health agencies that are subject to the rule, Tn addition, our ability to expand operstions in a state depends on our
ability to obtain necessary state licenses 1o operate and, where required, cettificate of nced approval. States may limit the number of licenses they issue. The failure to obtain any
required license or certificate of need could ipair our ability to operate or expand our business.

Upkeep of healthcare properties is capital intensive, requiring s to continually direct financial resevrces to the maintenance and enhancement of vur physical plarnt
and equipment. As of December 31, 2023, we leased or owned 60 skilled mursing facilities, 24 assisted living facilities, 3 behavicral health hospitals, end four independent living
facilities. Qur ability to maintain and enhance our physical plant and equiptreat in a suitable condition to meet regulatory standards, operate efficiently and remain competitive in
our markets requires us to comrmit a substantial pertion of cur free cash flow te continued investment in our physica plant and equipment. Certain of our competitors may operate
centers that are not as ald as our centers, or may appear more modemized than our centers, and therefore may be more attractive to prospective custemers. In addition, the cost te
replace our existing centers through acquisition of construction is substantially higher than the canying value of our centers, We are undertaking a process to allocate more
aggressive capital spending within our owned and leased facilitles in an effort to address issues that arise in connection with an aging physical plant.

Iffactots, inchiding factors indicated in these "Risk Factors” and other factors beyond our control render us unable to diroct the necessary financial and human resources
to the mmintenance, upgrade and modemization of our physical plant and equiprent, our business, 1esulis of eperations, financial condition and cash flow could be adversely
impacted.

We are defendants in significant legel actions, which are commonplace in our industey, and which could subject us to increased operating costs and substantial
univsured liabilities, which would materially and adversely affect owr liguidity and financial condition, As is typical in the heaith care industry, we are subject to claims that
our services have tesulted in resident injury or other adverse effects. We, like our industry peers, have experienced an increasing trend in the freguency and severity of
professionat liability and workers’ conpensation claims and litigation asserted against us. In some states in which we have significant operations, insurance coverage for the rsk
of punitive danmges arising fiom professional liability claims and/or litigation nay not, in certain cases, be available due to state law prohibitions or limitations of availability. We
cannot assure you that we will not be liable for punitive damage awards that are either not covered or arc in excess of our insurance palicy imits. We also believe that there have
been, and will continue to be, govemnnental investigations of long—term care providers, perticularly in the area of Medicare/Medicaid false claims, as well as an increase in
enforcement actions resulting fiom these investigations, Insurance is not available to cover such losses, Any adverse deternination in a legal proceeding or govermmental
investigation, whether currently asserted or arising in the future, could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition.

.

Due to the rising cost and lhmited availability of professional liability and workers* compensation insurance, we are largely self-insured on all of these prograns and as a
result, there is no limit on the maximum number of claims or amount for which we or our insurance subsidiaries can be Liable in any policy period. Although we base cur loys
estinates on independent actuarial analyses using the nformation. we have to date, the amount ef the losses could exceed our estinmtes, In the event our actual lizbility exceeds
our estimates for any given period, our results of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely impacted. In addition, our insurance coverage might not coverall
claims made against us. If we are unable to maintain our current insurance coverage, if judgments are obtained in oxess of the coverage we nuintain, if we are required to pay
uninsured punitive damages, or if the number of claims seftied within the self-insured retention cumrently in place significantly increases, we could be exposed to substantial
additional lisbilities. We cannot assure you that the claims we pay under our self-insurance prograirs will not exceed the rescrves we have set aside to pay claims, The nber of
claims within the self-insured retention may increase.
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Ifwe fail to compete effectively with other health care providers, anr revenues and profitability may decline. The health care services mdustry is highly competitive.
Our skilled nursing facilities, assisted living facilities, independent living facilities, hospices, home care services and other operations compete on a local and regional basis with
pther nursing centers, health care providers, and senijor living service providers that provide services similar to those we offer. Seme of our competitors' facilities are located in
newer buildings and nay offer services not provided by us or are operated by entitiss having greater financial and other resources than us. Certain of our competitors are operated
by not-for-profit, non-taxpaying or govemmental agencios that can finance capital expenditures on 2 tax-exenpt basis and that receive funds and charitable contributions
unavailable:l(: us. Consolidations of not-for-profit entities may intensify this competitive pressure. Many competing general acute care hospitals ate lacger and mote established
than our facilities,

There is also increasing consolidation in the third-party payer industry, including vertical integration efforts among third-party payets and healthcars providers,
Healthcare industry participants are increasingly inplementing physician alignment strategies, such as employing physicians, acquiting physician practice groups and
patticipating in ACOs or other clinical integration models, Other industry participants, such as large employer groups and their sffiliates, may intensify competitive pressure and
affect the industry in ways that are difficult to predict, Trends toward clinical transparency and value-based purchasing may impact our competitive position and patient volumes,

Qur facilities compete based on factors such as our reputation for quality care; the conmitnent and expertise of our stafft the quality and conprehensiveness of our
treatment programs; the physical appearance, location and condition of our facilities and to a limited extent, the charges for services. In addition, we conmete with other health care
providers for customer referrals from hospitals and ether providers. As a result, a faflure to conpete effectively with respect to refermls may have an adverse impact on our
business. We cannot assure that increased competition in the future will not adversely affect our financial condition and results of cperations.

Possible changes in the case wix of patients and payor mix nuy significantly affect our profitability. The sources and amounts of our patient revenues will be
determined by a number of factors, including loensed bed capacity and occupancy mtes of our facilitics, the mix of patients and the rates of reinbursement among payors.
Chatiges in the case mix of the patients as well as payor mix among private pay, Medicare and Medicaid will significantly atfect our profitability, Patticularly, any significant
increase in our Medicaid population could have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations and cash flow, especially if states operating these
programs continue to limit, or more aggressively seek limits on, reimbursemrent rates or service levels.

Private third—party payors contine to tvy to rednce health care costs. Private third—party payors are continuing thelr efforts to control health care costs through direct
contracts with health care providers, increased utilization review and greater enrollment in managed carc programs and prefered provider organtzations, among other strategies.
These private payors increasingly are demending discounted fee structures and the asswmption by health care providers of all or a portion of the financial risk. The ability of
private payors to control healthcare costs may be enhanced by the increasing consolidation of insurance companies and the vertical integration of health insurers with healthcare
providers, We could be adversely affected by the continuing efforts of private {hird—party payors to Limit the apount of reimbursement we receive for health carc services, We
cannot assura you that reimburseient under private third-party payor programs will remain at levels comparable ta present levels or will be sufficient to cover the costs allocable
to patients eligible for reirbursement pursuant to such programs. Future changes in the reimbursement rates or methods of private or third—party payors or the implemetitation of
other measures o reduce reimbursement for our services ceuld result in a substantial reduction in our net operating revenues, As a result of competitive pressures, our ability to
maintain operating mergins through price increases to private patients is lirnited.

Tn addition, the failure to obtain, renew, or retain payor agreements with favorable contract terms may negatively impact cur esults of operations and/or revenue, Cur
ability to contract with payors depends en our quality of service and reputation, as well as other factors of which we may have little or no cenirol, such as state appropriations and
changes in provider eligibility requirerrents.

We are permitted te incur substantially more debt, which could further exacerbate the risks described above, We and our subsidiaries may be able to incur substantial
indebtedness in the future. I debt is added, the related risks that we new face could intensity.

Risks Related to Government Regulation

We conduct business in a heavily regulated industry, and changes in, or violations of regulations may result in increased costs or sanctions that reduce our revente
and profitability. In the ordinary course of our buginess, we are regularly subject to inquiries, investigations and eudits by federal and state agencies to determine whether we are
in compliance with regulations goveming the operation of, and refmbursement for, skilled tursing facilities and nursing horres, assisted living and independent living facilities,
hospice, home health agencies, behavioral health hospitals, and our other operating areas. These regulations include those relating to licensure, certification and enrollment with
govemment programs, conduct of operations, ownership of facilities, construction of new and additions to existing facilitics, allowable costs, adequacy and quality of services,
qualifications and training of personnel, communications with patients and consurrers, billing and coding for services, adequacy end manner of documentation for services
provided, minimum direct care spending ratios, services and prices for services, and pharmaceuticals and contrelled substances. Various laws, including federal and state anti-
kickback and anti-fraud statutes, prohibit cestain business practices and relationships that might affect the provision and cost of heallh care setvices reimbursable under federal
and/or state health care programs such as Medicare and Medicaid, including the payment or receipt of teruneration for the referral of patients whose care will be paid by federal
govemmental programs or fee-splitting arrangements between health care providers that are designed to induce the referral of patients Lo a provider for medical products and
services, Furthemore, many states prohibit business corporations from providing or helding themselves out as a previder of medical eare.
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In addition, the Stark Law broadly defincs the scope of prohibited physician referrals under federal health care programs to providers with which they have ownership or
other financial arrangements, Many states have adopted, or are considering, logislative proposals similar to these laws, sone of which extend beyond federal health care prograns,
to prohibit the payment or receipt of renmneration for the referral af patients and physician refemals regardless of the source of the payment for the care.

We also are subject to potential lawsuits under a federa] whistle-blower statute designed to combat fraud and abuse in the health care industry, known as the federal False
Claims Act. These lawsuits can involve significant monefary awards to private plaintiffs who suceessfully bring these suits. When a private party brings a qui tamaction under the
False Claims Agt, it files the complaint with the court under scal, and the defendant will generally not be aware of the lawsnit until the govemment makes a detenuination whether it
will intervene and take a lead in the ftigation,

These laws and regulations are complex and limited judicial or regulatory nterpretation ewists. We cannot assure you that govermmental officials charged with
respons bility for enforcing the provisions of these laws and regulations will not assert that one or wore of our amangenents are in violation of the provisions of such laws and
tegulations,

The regulatory environment sumrounding the post-acute and long—term care industry has intensified, particularly for larger for-profit, mutti-facility providers bke us. The
federal govormnent has imposed cxtensive enforcement policies resulting in a significant increase in the number of inspeetions, citations of regulatory deficiencies and other
regylatory sanctions, including terminations fiom the Medicare and Medicaid programs, denials of payment for new Medicare and Medicaid admissions and civil monetary
penalties,

Ifwe fail to obtain or renew required regulatory approvals or licenses or fail to comply, or are perceived as failing to comply, with other catensive laws and regulations
applicable to our busincss, we could have our licenses suspended or revoked, become ineligible to Teceive govomment program reimburserrent, be required to refund amounts
received from Medicare, Medicaid or private payors, suffer civil or criminal penalties, suffor damage to our reputation in various markets or bo required to nuke significant changes
to our operations. Any of these sanctions could have a material adverse effect on our operations and financial condition. Farthermore, should we lose licenses or certifications for
many of our facilities as a result of regulatory action or otherwise, we could be deemed in gefault under some of our agreements, including agreenwnts governing cutstanding
indebtedness.

We have established policles and procedures that we believe are sufficient to ensure that we will operate in substantial compliance with these anti-fraud and abuse
requirements, From time to time, we may seek guidance as fo the interprefation of these taws; howover, there can be no assurance that such laws will ultimately be interpreted in a
manner consistent with cur practices. In addition, we could be forced 1o expend considerable resources responding to an investigation or other enforgement action under these
laws ot regulations. While we believe that our business practices are congistent with Medicare and Medicaid criteria, those criteria are often vague and subject to change and
interpretation, We are unable to predict the future course of federal, state and local regulation or legislztion, including Medicare and Medicaid statutes and regulations, or the
intensity of federal and state cnforcement actions. Aggressive anti-fraud actions have had ard could have an adverse effect on cur financial position, results of operations and
cash flows. See Iters 1, "Business — Government Regulation”,
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We face uncertainty related fo the COVID-I9 public health emergency’s ("PHE') expiration and wind-lown, which could have a materlal adverse qffect on our
busiviess, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows, The cxtent to which the COVID-19 FHFs termination will affect our operations will depend on future
developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, There remmins uncertainty as to what changes will be made to the Health and Hunuan Service'’s emergency
response requirements for our skilled nursing facilities and senior living facilitles in order to better respond to the issues experienced during the COVID-19 PHE. To the extent
COVID-19 is endenvic in nature, we may face continued chaflenges fromengoing infection controland emergency preparedness requiremenis made part of state laws or regulations.
Additionally, the long-term effects of the QOVID-19 pandemmic may include long-termdecline in denand for care in skilled nursing facilities and senior living facilities.

Our business may be impacted by healtheare reform effores. In recent years, the U.S, Congress and cortain state legislatures have considered and passed a large number
of laws intended to result in significant changes to the healthcate industry, including the ACA, The ACA affects how healthcare services are delivered and reiimbursed through the
expansion of public and private health insurance coverage, reduction of growth in Medicars and Medicaid spending, and the establishment and expansion of prograns thut tie
reimbursement to quality and integration. The ACA has been subject to legislative and regulatory changes and court challenges. Although the cument presidential administration
has indicated that it generally intends to protect and strengthen the ACA, it is possible that there may be continued changes to the ACA, its inplementation or its interpretation.
Changes by Congress or government agencies could eliminate or alter provisions beneficial to us, while Jeaving in place provisions reducing our refmbursement or otherwise
negatively impacting our business.

There is alse uncertainty regarding whether, when and what other health reform measures will be adepted, and the inpact of such efforts on providers as well as other
healthcare industry participants, Some members of Congress have proposed expanding govemueai-funded coverage, including proposals to expand coverage of federally-funded
insurance prograns as an altemative to private insurance or to establish a single payor system {such reforms are often referred to as "Medicare for AI), and some states have
inplemented or proposed public health msurance options.

Tn addition, CM$ aduinistrators may weke changes to Mediceid payment models or grant additional flexibilities to states in the administration of state Medicaid prograns,
including by expanding the scope of waivers under which states niy implerment Medicaid expansion provisions, impose different eligibility or enrollment restrictions, or otherwise
implement programs that vary from federal standards, Other industry participants, such as private payors, mey also introduce financial or delivery systemreforns. We are unable te
predict the nature and success of such iitiatives, Healthcare reform initiatives may have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and operating results,

We are required to comply with laws governing the transmission and privacy and secirity of health information. The Health Tnsurance Portability and Accountability
Act of 1996, or {" HIPAA"}, requires the use of uniform electronic data transmission standards for healthcare claims and payment transactions submitted or received electronically.
In addition, as tequired by FIIPAA, the HIIS has issued privacy and security rogulations that extensively tegulate the use and disclosure of individually identifiable health
information (known as Protected Tealth Infommtion, or PHY) and require covered entities, inchuding healthcars providers and health plans, and vendors known as "business
associates,” to implenent adnmnistrative, physical and technical safeguards to protect the security of PHI Covered entities must report breaches of unsecured PHI without
unreasonable delay to affected dividuals, HHS and, in the ease of larger breaches, the media. The privacy, security and breath notification regulations have imposed, and will
continue to impose, significant compliance costs on our operations,
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There are numerous other laws and legislative and regulatory iitiatives at the federal and state levels addressing privacy and security concems. These laws vary and may
impose additional obligations or penalties. For exumple, additionat federal and state obligations may apply to behavioral, addictive disorder and other types of sensitive
information. Further, various state laws and regulations may require us to notify affected individuals in the event of a data breach invelving individually identifiable infornation
{even iFna health-related information is nvolved), Tn addition, the Federal Trade Commission uses its consumer protection authority to initiate enforcement actions in response to
data breaches. To the extent we fail to conply with one or note federal and/or state privacy and security requizements or if we are found fo be responsible for the non-conpliance
of our vendors, we could be subject to substantial fines or penalties, as well as third-party claims, and suffer harmito our reputation, which could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial position, resuits of operations and lquidity.

In addition, health care providers and industry participants are also subject to a growing number of requirements intended to promote the interoperability and exchange of
patient heafth information. For example, most health care providers and cerlain other entities are subject to Information blocking restrictions pursuant to the 21st Century Cures Act
that probibit practices that are likely to interfere with the access, exchange or use of electronic health information, except as required by law or specified by HHS as a reasonable
and necessary activity.

e are subject to ewployment-related lows and regulations which could increase our cost af doing business and subject us to sigrificant back pay awards, fines and
Twwsuits, Our operations are subject to a variety of federal, state and local employnent-related laws and regulations, including, but not limited to, the U.S. Fair Labor Standards
Act, which govems such matters as minimum wages, the Family Medical Leave Act, overtine pay, compensable time, reeard keeping and other working conditions, Title VIl of the
Civil Rights Act, the Erployee Retirenent Income Seourily Act, the Americans with Disabilities Act, the National Labor Relations Act, regulations of the Equal Froployment
Opportunity Cormission, regulations of the Office of Civil Rights, regulations of the Department of Labor (DOL), federal and state wage and hour laws, and a variety of similar laws
enacted by the federal and state govemntrents that govem these and other employment-related matters, Because labor represents such a large portion of our operating costs,
compliance with these evolving federal and state laws and regulations could substantially increase our cost of doing business while failure to do so could subject us to significant
back pay awards, fines and lawsuits. In addition, federal proposals to introduce a system of nandated health insurance and flexible work time and other similar initiatives could, if
implemented, adversely affect our operations. Our failure to cotply with federal and state enployment-related laws and regulations could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial position, results of operations and Liquidity.

Our busintess is subject to a vaviety of federnl, state and local envivonmental laws and regulations. As a healthcare provider, we face regulatory requitements in areas of
atr and water quality control, medical and low—level radioactive waste management and disposal, asbestos managewent, response to mold and lead—based paint in our facilitics and
erployec safety.

As an operator of healthcare facilities, we also nay be required to investigate and remediate hazardous substances that are located on and/er under the property,
including any such substances that may have migrated off, or 1my have been discharged or transported from the property. Part of our operations involves the handling, usc,
storage, ttansportation, disposal and discharge of medical, biological, infactious, toxi, fiammable, and other hazardous materials, wastes, pollutants, or contarinants. In addition,
we are somctitmes unable to determine with corlainty whether prior uses of our facilities and propertios or surreunding propertics tmay have produced continuing environmental
contamination or noncempliance, particularly whete the timing or cost of malking such deteniinations is not deemed cost effective, These activities, as welt as the possible
presence of such mmterials in, on and under our propertics, nay result in damage to individuals, property, or the environment; may interript operations or increase costs; may
result in legal liability, damages, injunctions or fines; may resull in investigations, administrative proceedings, penaltics or other govemmental agency actions; and may not be
covered by Msurance.

We belieye that we are in material compliance with applicable environmental and occupational health and safety requirements. However, we cannot assure you that we will
ot encounter envirotimental Habilities in the future, and such liabilities may resull in material adverse consequences to our operations or financial condition,

We are subject to federal and state income texes, Changes in fax laws and regtilations or the interpretation of such laws could adversely affect omr position on
income taxes and estimated income liabifities. Uncertain tax positions may arise where tax laws may allow for altemative interpretations or where the timing of recognition of
incone is subject to judgment, We helieve we have adequate provisions for unrecognized tax benefits related to uncertain tax positions, Although we belicve we have accurately
estimatod our tax liabilitles, uncertainty of interpretation by various tax anthorities and the possibility that therc are issues that have not been recognized by management could
result i additional tax liability. We belicve that cur liabilities reflect the anticipated outcome of known uncertain tax positions in conformity with ASC Topic 740 Income Taxes.

We are also subiect to regular reviews, examinations, and audils by the Intemal Revenue Service and other taxing authorities with respect to cur taxes. There are
uncertainties and anbiguities in the application of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 ("TaxAct"} and it is possible that the [RS could issue subsequent guidance or take positions
on audit that differ frem our interpretations and assunyptions. Although we believe our tax estimates are reasonable, i a taxing authority disagrees with the positions we have
taken, we couid face additional tax liability, including interest and penalties. Our effective tax rate could be adversely affected by changes in the mix of samings in states with
different statutory taxtates, changes in the valuation of deferred taxassets and liabilitics, change in tax laws and regulations, changes in our interpretations of tax laws, including
the TaxAct. Unanticipated changes in our tax rates or exposure to additional income tax tiabilities could affect our prefitabilicy. There can be no assurance that payment of such
additional amounts upon final adjudication ofany disputes will not have a material ipact on our results of operations and financial position.
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Risks Related to Our Structure and Public Company Compliance

Fuilure to mairtain effective internal controls in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes—Oxley Act comld reswit in a vestutement of our financial statemnents,
cause investors 1o lose confidence in onr financial statesments and our company and have a material adverse effect on our busiress and stock price, We produce our
consolidated financial statements in accordance with the requirements of U.S. GAAP. Eifective infemal controls are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports to help
mitigate the risk of fraud and to operate successfully as a publicly traded company. As a public company, we are required to document and test our intemal control procedures in
order to satisfy the requirsments of Section 404 of the Sarbanes—Oxley Act of 2002, or Section 404, which requires annual nanagement assessments of the effectiveness of our
intemal controls ever financial reporting,

Testing and maintaining intemal cantrols can divert cur management's attention fom other matters {hat are important to our bus iness. We may not be able to conclude on
an ongoing basis that we have effective intemal controls over financial reporting in accordance with Section 404 or our independent registered public accounting fim may not be
able to issue an unqualified report if we conclude that our internal controls over financial reporting are not effective, If either we are unable to conclude that we have effective
intenal controls over fnancial reporting or our independent registered public accounting fimm is unable to provide us with an unqualified report as required by Scotion 404,
investors could lese confidence in our teported financial infornetion and our company, which could result in a decline in the market price of our commen stock, and causc us to fail
to meet our reporting obligations in the future, which in tum could inpact our ability to raise additional financing ifneeded in the future,

Increasing costs of being publicly ewned are likely to impact our futswe consolidated fivancial position ard results of operations. Tn connection with the Sarbancs—
Oxley Act of 2002, we are subject to rules requiring our management to report on the effectiveness of our intemal control over financial reporting, If we fail to have effective intemal
controls and procedures for financial reporting in place, we could be unable to provide timely and reliable financial informetion which could, in turn, have an adverse effect on our
business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

1

Significant regulatory changes, including the Sarbanes—Oxley Act and rules and regulations pronulgated as a result of the Sarbanes—Oxley Act, have increased, and in
the future, are Fkely to further increase general and administrative costs. In order to comply with the Satbanes—Qxioy Act 0f 2002, the listing standards of the NYSE exchange, and
rules implenented by the SEC, we have had to hire additional personnel and utilize additional outside legal, accounting and advisory services, and may continue to require such
additional resources. Moreover, in the rapidly changing regulatory envirenment in which we operate, there i significant uncertainty as to what wil! be required to comply with
many of the regulations. As a resulf, we may be required to spend substantially more than we curtently estimate, and may need to divert resources from other activities, as we
develop our conpliance plans.

Provision for losses in onr financial statentents may ot be adequate. Loss provisions in our financial statements for sclf-insured programs arc made on an
undiscounted basis i the relevant period, These provisions are based on interal and external evaluations of the merits of individual claims, analysis of claims history and
independent actuarially determined cstinates, Our mamagerment reviews the methods of deternining these estimates and establishing the resulting eccrued liabilities fiequently,
with any material adjustments resulting from being reflocted in current eamings. Although we believe that our provisions for self-insured losses in our financial statements are
adequate, the ultimate Hability may be in excess of the amounts recorded. Tn the event the provisions for losses reflected in our financial statements are nadequate, our financial
condition and results of aperations may be materally affected.

Implementation of new information technology could canse business interrigitions and negatively affect owr profitability and cash flows. We continue to refine and
implement our information techrology to inmprove customer service, enhance op erating etficlenciss and provide more effective management of business operations, Irplementation
of information technology carries risks such as cost ovenuns, project delays and business interruptions and delays, if we experience a material business mterruption as a result of
the implementation of our existing or future information technology infrastruture or are unable to obtain the projected benefits of this new infrastructure, it could adversely affect
us and could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

We depend on the proper fimction and availability of our information systems, We are dependent on the proper fiinetion and availability of our infornation systens.
Though we have taken steps to prolect the safety and security of our information systers and the data maintained within those syslens, thero can be no assurance that our safety
and security measures and disaster recovery plan will prevent damage or interruption of our systems and operations, and we may be vulnerable to losses associated with the
improper functioning, security breach or unavailability of our information systems. Failure te maintain proper function and availability of our information systens could have a
aterial adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of operations and liquidity.
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In addition, certain software supporting our business and infonmation systens are licensed to us by independent software developers. Our inability or the inability ot
these developers, to conticue to naintain and upgrade our information systents and software could disrupt or reduce the efficiency of our operations. In addition, costs and
potential problens and interuptions associated with the inplementation of new or upgraded systens and technology or with nmintenance or adequate support of existing systems
also could distupt or reduce the efficiency of our operations and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of operations and liquidity,

Cybersecurity visks could harm our ability to operate effectively, Cybemsecurity refers to the conbination of technologies, processes and procedures established to
protect information technology systems and data from unauthorized access, sitack, or danmge. We rely on our information systens to provide sceurity for processing,
transmission and storage of confidential patient, resident, employee, other censumer information, such as personally identifisble information, including information relating to
health protected by HIPAA, Although we have taken steps te protect the security of our information systems, medical devices that store sensitive data, and the data maintained in
those systems and devices, it is possible that cur safety and secyrity measures will not prevent improper functioning or (he improper access or disclosure of personally identifiable
information such as in the event of cyber-attacks, We may be at increased risk because we outsource certain services or functions to, or have systerms that interface with, third
parties, Some of these third parties may store or have access to our data and may not have effoctive controls, processes, or practices to protect our information from attack,
damage, or unauthorized access. A breach or attack, including those caused by updates and other releases, affecting any of these third partics could harmour business.

If personally identifishic information of our patients or cthers is improperly accessed, tampered with or distributed, we may ineur significant costs to remediate poasible
injury to the affected patients, and we mmay be subject to sanctions and civil or criminal penalties if we are found to be in vielation of the privacy or security rules under HIPAA or
other sinilar federal or state laws protecting confidential personally identifizble information.

Security breaches, inchuding physical or electrotic break—ins, conputer viruses, attacks by hackers and similar breaches can create system disraptions or shutdewns or
the unauthorized disclosure of confidential mformation. Additionally, healthcare businesses are increasingly targets of eyberattacks, whereby hackers distupt business operations
or obtain protected health information, often denending large ransens. As cyber threats continue to evolve, we may be required to expend significant additional resources to
continue to modify or enhance our protective measures or to investigate and remediate any cybersecutity vulnerabilities. The occuirence of any of these events could result in
harm to patients; business inferruptions or delays; the loss, misappropratien, cortuption, or unauthorized access of data; litigation and potential liability under privacy, security
and consumer protection laws or other applicable Iaws; reputational damage; or federal and state governmenial inguiries. Any failure to maintain proper functionality and gecurity
of our information systems could have a naterial adverse effect on ourbasiness, finangial condition, and results of operations.

We muty not be able to meet all our capital needs, We cannot assure you that our business will generate cash flow from operations that anticipated revenue growth and
improvement of operating efficiencies will be realized or that future borrowings will be available to us in un amount sufficient Lo enable us to service any future indebtedness or to
fund our other liquidily needs. We may need to incur indebtedness, sell assets, or make certain diseretionary capital expenditures,

The performances of our fixed-income and our equity investient portfslios are subject te a vavlety of investment risks. Our investment portfolios are comprised
vrincipally of fixed—income securities and common equities. Our fixed—income portfolio is actively managed by an investment group and inclndes shori—termm investments and
fived—maturity securitios, The performunces of our fixed—income and our equity portfolios are subject to a number of risks, including:

o Interest rate risk— the risk of adverse changes in the value of fixed—ncone securities as a result of increases in rarket interest rates.

e Investment credit risk — the risk that the value of certain investments may deerease in value due to the deterioration in financial condition of, or the liquidity available to,
ome or mote issuers of those securities o, in the case of asset-backed securities, due to the deterioration of the loans or other assets that underlie the securities, which,
cach case, also includes the risk of permanent loss.

s  Concentration fisk— the risk that the pertfolio may be too heavily cuncentrated in the secutities of National Health Investors "NHI," or certain sectors or industries, which
could result in a significant decrease in the value of the portfolio in the event ofa deteriaration of the financial condition, perfortemee, or outlook of NHI, or those eertain
sectors or industries.

e Liquidity risk— the risk that we will not be able to convert investments into cash on favarable terms and on a timely basis or that we will not be able to sell themat all,
when we desire to do so. Disruptions i the financial markets or a lack of buyers for the specific seeurities that we are trying to sell, could prevent us from liquidating

securities or cause a reduction in prices to levels that are not acceptable to us.
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In addition, the success of our investment strategies and asset aliocations in the fied—income porifolio may vary depending on the market environment, The fixed—
incone portfolio's performance also may be adversely impacted if, among other factors: there is a lack of transparency regarding the underlying businesses of the issuers of the
securities that we purchase; credit ratings assigned to such securities by nationally recognized credit rating agencies are based on incomplete information or prove unwarranted; or
our risk mitigation strategies are ineffective for the applicable market conditions.

The commen equity portfolio is subject to general movenents in the values of equity markets and to the changes in the prices of the securities we hold. Equity markets,
sectors, industries, and individual securities may be subject to high volatility and te long periods of depressed ar declining vakations,

If the fixed—incone or equity portfolios, or both, were to suffer a decrease in value due to market, sector, or issuer-specific conditions to a substantial degree, our
liquidity, financial position, and financial resulis could be materially adversely affected.

Our stock price Is volatile and fluetations in our operating results, quarterly earnings and other factors may result in declines in the price of our connmon stock.
Fquily markets are prone to, and in the last fow years have experienced, exdreme price and volume fluctuations. Volatility over the past few years has had a significant impact on the
market price of securities issued by many compantes, including us and other conpanies in the healtheare industry. If we are unable to cperate our businesses as profitably as we
have in the past or as our stockholders expect us to i the furare, the market price of our conmon stack will likely decline as stockholders could sell shares of our convon stock
when it becomes apparent that the market expectations may rot be realiznd, In addition to our eperating results, nuny econonte and other factors beyond our control could have
an adverse effect on the price of our commien stock including:

e gcneral economic conditions;
e developments generally affecting the healtheare industry;
« strategic actions, such as acquisitions or restructurings, ot the introduction of new scrvices by us or our competitors;

new Iaws orregulations or new interpretations of existing laws orregulations applicable 1o our business;

s litization and governnental investigations;

» changes in accounting standards, policies, guidance, interpretations or principies;
o investor perceptions of us and our business;

e actions by institutional or other large stockholders;

+  quarterly variations in aperating resulfs;

¢ changes in financial estimates and recommendations by securities analyats;

s press releases ornegative publicity relating to our cormpetitars orus or relating to trends in health care;
® sales of stock by insiders;

e natural disasters, terrorist attacks and pandemics; and

« additions or departures of key personnel,

We miay not be able ta pay or maintain dividends and the failure to do so would adversely affect onr stock price. We curmently pay a quarterly dividend on our
common stock and our Board intends o continve to pay a quarterly dividend, However, our ability te pay and maintain cash dividends is based on many factors, including cur
financial condition, funds from operations, the level of our capital expenditures and fiture business prospeets, our ability to make and finance acquisitions, anticipated operating
cost levels, the level of demand for our beds, the rates we charge and actual results that may vary substantially fiom sstimates. Some of the factors are beyond out control and a
change in any such facter could affect our ability to pay cr maintain dividends. The faifute to pay or maintain dividends could adversely affect our stoek price.

ITEM 1B, UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None,
ITEM1C, CYBERSECURITY

The Conpany’s Board of Directors takes seriously both the tesponsibility to guard against cybersecurity threats and its coupliance with the SEC Cybersecurity
regulations adopted on July 26, 2023. The Board of Directors receives an annual cybersecurity update from the Chief Information Officer (C10) and Chief Information Security
Officer (CISC) at every Noverber Board meeting and, accordingly, received its customary detailed briefing fromthe CIO and CISOat Its MNovenber 2, 2023 meeting. The Board alsc
received an extensive separate briefing this year on cybersceurity threats and regulations presented by the CIO and outside expert censultants at its August 3, 2023 neefing,

The CIO reports relevant information regarding cybersecurity threats and ris ks to the Certification Conmittee, which is chaired by the Chaimman of the Audit Committeo,
The Chaimen of the Audit Committes will then elevate any ratters of significance, as wananted, to the full Audit Cormuitiee. The Audit Committee can then further elevate nntters
to the full Board of Directars, as necessary or required.

The Company has adopted processes to identify, assess, and panage raterial tisks from cybersceurity threats. It has also adopted prooesses to evaluate material effects,
or reascnably likely material effects, of risks from cybersceurity threats and previous cybersecurity incidents. The Corpany has adopied processes to assess and evaluate the
necessity of any material disclosures required on Form 8-K.

The Company's CI0 has more than 40 years of experience in information technelogy and cyber matters in healthcare. The Conpany’s CISO has 26 years in cybersceitrity
natters and has served as the Conpany’s CISO for 6 years. The Company has an Incident Responze Planning Comuittee who will meet, as necessary, to address, identify, and
manage any material cybersecurity threats. The Conpany also has a crisis team consisting of the Conpliance Officer, General Counsel, Chief Financial Officer, Human Resources
Officer, Facilities Management Administrator, and the Network Systens Administrater, which will he engaged if an event poses u significant tisk to the Company.

The Conpany and the Board of Directors are committed to remoining updated on evolving eybersecurity regulations and best practices, as well as the development and
arendment of processes to moet these changing denends.
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TTEM 2, PROPERTIES

Skilled Nursing Facllitles

Licensed
State City Center Name Affiliation Beds

Algbama -+ - Anniston NHEC HealthCare, Anniston Leased(1) 151
Moulton NHC HealthCare, Moulton Teased(1) 136

Georgla ) Fort Oglethorpe NHC HealthCare, Fort Oglethoipe Owned 135
- Rossville NHC HealthCare, Rossville Owned 112
Kentucky Glasgow NHC HealthCare, Glasgow Leased(t) 194
Missoun Desloge NHC HealthCure, Desloge Leased(!) 120
Tndependence The Villages of Jackson Creek Leased 120

Independence The Villages of Jackson Creek Memory Care Leased 70

Joplin NHC HeglthCare, Joplin Leased(l) 126

Kennett NHC HealthCare, Kennett Leased(1} 170

Macon Macon Health Care Center Owned 120

QOsage Beach Osage Beach Rehabilitation and Health Care Center Owned 94

St, Charles NHC HealthCare, St, Charles Teased(l) 120

St. Louis NHC HealthCare, Maryland Heights Leased(1) 220

S8t, Peters Villages of St. Peters Leased 130

Springfield Springfield Rehabilitation and Health Care Center Leased 146

West Plains NHC HealthCare, West Plains Owmed 114

South Carolina Anderson WNHC HealthCare, Anderson Leased(l) 250
Biuffton NHC HealthCare, Blufiton Owned 120

Charleston NHC HealthCare, Charleston Cramed 132

Clinton NHC HealthCare, Clinton Owned 131

Coluinbia NHC HealthCare, Parklane Owned 180

Creenwood NHC HealthCare, Cresnwood Leased(l) 152

Creenville NIC HealthCare, Greenville Owned 176

Laurens NHC HealthCare, Laurens Leased(l) 176

Lexington NHC HealthCare, }exington Owned 170

Mauldin NHC HealthCare, Mauldin Owned 180

Murrells Inlet NHC HealthCare, Garden City Owned 4R

North Augusta NHC HealthCare, North Augusta Owned 192

Summter NHC HealthCare, Sumter Managed 138

Tennessee Athens WHC HealthCare, Athens Leased(1) 86
Chattanocoge NHC HealthCare, Chattanocga Teased(i) 200

Colunibia NHC HealthCare, Columbia Owned 106

Colurrbia NHC-Maury Regional Transitional Care Center Owned 112

Cookeville NHC HealthCare, Cookeville Managed 104

Dickson NHC HealthCare, Dickson Leased(L} 191

Dunlap NHC HealthCare, Sequatchie Leased(1} 10

Farragut NHC HealthCare, Fatragut Owned 106

Franklin NHC Place, Cool Springs Qwned 180

Franklin NHC HealthCare, Franklin Leased(1) 80

Gallatin NEIC Place, Sumner Owmed 92

Hendersonville NHC HealthCare, Hendersonville Teased(1) 122

Johngon City NHC HealthCare, Johnson City Leased(1) 167

Kingsport NHC HealthCare, Kingsport Owned 90

Knoxvilie NHC HealthCare, Fort Sanders Ovmed 166

Knoxville Holston Health & Rehabilitation Center QOwned 94

Knoxville NHC HenlthCare, Knoxville Owned 127

Lawrenceburg NHC HealthCare, Lawrenceburg Managed 96

Lawrenceburg NHC HealthCare, Scott Leased(l) 50

Lewisburg NHC HealthCare, Lewisburg Leased(1) 100

Lewisburg NHC HealthCare, Oakwood Leased(1) 60

MecMinnville NHC HealthCare, McMinnville Leaged(1) 115

Milan NHC HealthCare, Milan Leased(l} 117

Murfieesboro AdansPlace Owned 9%

Murfreesboro NHC HealthCare, Murfreesboro Managed 181

Nashville Takeshore, Heartland Qwned 66

Nashville Lakeshore, The Meadows Managed 113

Nashville The Health Center of Rickland Place Managed 107

Nashville NHC Place at The Trace Owned 2]

Nashville ‘West Meade Place Managed 120

Qak Ridge NHC HealthCare, Cak Ridge Managed 120

Pulaski NHC HealthCarte, Pulasid Leaged(1) 102

Sinithville WHC HealthCare, Spithville Leased(1) 114

Semerville NHC HealthCare, Somerville Teased(!) 72

Sparta NHC HealthCare, Sparta Leased(h) 9%

Springfield NHC HealthCare, Springfiekd Owned 107

Tullahoma NHC HealthCarg, Tullahoma Owned 90

Virginia Bristol NHC HealthCare, Bristol Leased(D) 120
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Behavioral Health Hospitals

Ticensed
_ State City Center Name Affiliation Beds

Missouri - " “Maryland Heights Maryland Heights Center for Behavioral Health Owned 6
Osage Beach Osage Beach Center for Cogaitive Disorders Qwned 16

Tennessee Knowille Knoxvilte Center for Behavioral Medicine Owned(2) 64

Assisted Living Units

State City Cenfer Name Affiliation Units

Alabama Anniston WNHC Place/Anniston Owned 67

Kentucky S Glasgow NHC HealthCare, Glasgow Leased() 12

Florida Megitt Island Sodalis Senior Living Morritt Island Owned 95
Stuart Sedalis Scnior Living Stuart Owned 96
Vero Beach Sodalis Senior Living Vero Beach Qwaed 129

Missouri St, Charles " Lake St, Charles Retirerment Centet Leased(]} 26
Independence The Villages of Jackson Creek Leased 52
St. Peters S Willages of St Peters Leased 52
St. Peters Villages of St. Peters Memory Care Owned 60

South Carolina Bluffton T_‘Ee Paimettos of Bluffton Owned 78
Charleston The Palmettos of Charleston Owned 60
Colurmbia The Palmettos of Parklane Owned 75
Greenvilke The Palrrettos of Mauldin QOvmed 45
Murrells Inlet The Palmettos of Garden City Owmned 20

Tennessee Dicksen NHC HealthCare, Dickson Leased(l) 20
Faragut NHC Place, Fartugut Owned 34
Farragut NHC Place, Cavetts Hill Owmed 4]
Franklin NHC Place, Cool Springs Ownoed 89
Gallatin NHC Place, Summer Owned 20
Murfieesbore AdauxPlace Qwned 106
Nashville Lakeshore Heartland Qumed 9
Mashville Lakeshore, The Meadows Managed 10
Nashville Richland Place Managed 24
Nashville The Place at the Trace Owned 80
Smithyilie NHC HealthCare, Smithvilie Leased(1) 6
Somerville NHC HealthCare, Sonxrville Leased(1) 6
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Retirement Apartments
State City Retirement Apartments Affiliation Units
Missouri ‘8t, Charles - - Lake St. Charles Retirement Apts. Teased()) 152
Tennessee " ‘Chattanooga Parkwood Retirement Apartments Leased{1) 30
Johnsor City Colonial Hill Retirement Apartments Leased{l) 63
Murfieesboro 7 AdamsPlace L " Owned 93
Mashville Richlang Place Retivenent Apts. Managed 137
Homecare Agencies
State City Homeecare Agencies
Florida Chipley NHC HomeCare of Chipley
Crawfordville NHC HomeCare of Crawfordvilic
Merritt Island NHC HomeCare of Merritt Island
Paname City NHC HomeCare of Panama. City
Port St. Joe MNHC HotmeCare of Port St. Joe
Quincy NHC HotreCare of Quincy
‘Tallahassee NHC HoneCare of Tallahassee
Vero Beach NHC HomeCarg of Vero Beach
South Carolina Aiken NHC HotmeCare of Atken
= ‘Anderson NHC HomeCate of Anderson
Greenville NHC HomeCare of Greenville
S Greenwood NHC HoeCare of Greenwood
{aurens NHC HoneCare of Laurens
Murreils Inlet NHC HomeCare of Murrells Inlet
Summerville NHC HomeCare of Low Country
‘West Columbia NHC HoneCare of Midlands
Tennessee Athens NHC HomeCare of Athens
Chattanooga NHC HomeCare of Chattanooga
Colunbia NHC HoneCare of Colonbia
Cockeville NHC HomeCate of Cookeville
Dickson NHC HomeClare of Dickson
Franklin NHC HoweCare of Franklin

Hendersonville
Johnsoen City
Knoxville
Lawrenceburg
Lewisburg
McMinnville
Milan
Murfteesboro
Mashville
Pulaski
Somerville
Sparta

" Springfield

NHC HomeCare of Hendersonville
NHC HomeCare of Jehnson City
NHC HomeCare of Knoxville

NHC HonmeCare of Lawrenceburg
NHC HomeCare of Lewisburg
NHC HomeCare of McMinnville
NHC HomeCare of Milan

NHC HomeCare of Murfreesboto

- Ascension at Hone St, Thonms (3}

NHC HomeCare of Pulasld
NHC HomeCare of Somerville
NHC HomeCare of Sparta
NHC HomeCare of Springfield
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Hospice Agencies

Stafe

Hospice Agencies

Georgia
Missouri

South Carolina

Tennessee

Virginia

Rossville

-8t. Louis

‘Anderson
Blufiton
Charfeston
Colundia
Greenville
Greenwood
Myrtle Beach
Sunrer

Athens

‘Chattanocga

Columbia

- Cookeville

Crossville

+ Dickson

Grecneville

~Johnson City

Knoxville
Lenoir City
Milan
Murfreesboro
Nashville
Sevierville
Somerville
Springfield
Tullahorma

Big Stone Cap
Bristal
Cedar Bluft

Hesltheare Facilities Leased to Others

city

Caris Healthcare — Rossville
Caris Healthcare — 8¢ Lovis

Caris Healthcare — Anderson
Caris Healthcare — Bluffton
Caris Healthcare — Charleston
Caris Healthcare — Cohninbia
Caris Healthcare — Greenville
Caris Healthcare — Greenwood
Caris Healthcare — Myttle Beach
Caris Healthcare — Sumter

Caris Healthcars — Athens

Caris Healthcare — Chattanooga
Caris Healthcare - Coluibia
Caris Healthcare — Cookeville
Caris Healtheare — Crossville
Caris Healthcare — Dickson
Caris Healthcare — Greeneville
Caris Healtheare — Jolmson City
Caris Healthcare — Knoxville
Caris Healtheare — Lenoir City
Caris Healthcare — Milan

Caris Healthare — Murfreesbhore
Caris Healthcare — Nashville
Caris Healthcare — Sevierville
Caris Healthcare — Sonerville
Caris Healthcare — Springfield
Caris Healthcare — Tullahorma

Caris Healtheare — Big Stone Gap
Caris Healthcare — Bristo!
Caris Healthcars — Cedar Bluff’

The following table meludes certain information regarding healtheare facilities which are owned by us and feased to others:

Name of Facility Location Mo, of Beds
Skilled Nursing Facilities
Solaris HealthCare North Naples Naples, F1. 60
Solaris HealthCare Coconut Creek Coconut Creek, FL 120
Sclars HealthCare Daytona Daytona Beach, FL. 73
Solaris HealthCare Trperial Naples, FL. 113
Solaris HealthCare Windermere Orfando, FL. 120
Solaris HealthCare Charlotte Harbor Port Charlotte, FL 180
The Health Center at Standifer Place Chattanooga, TN 444
Solaris HealthCare Lake City Lake City, FL 120
Solaris HealthCare Pensacola Pensacola, FL 180
Assisted Living No. of Units
Standifer Place Assisted Living Chattanooga, TN 74

{DLeased fromNHL

(2) Knoxville Center for Behavioral Medicine is owned by separate limited lizbility companies. The Company owns

entity.

65% of the operations entity and owns 8%% of the real estate

)Ascension af Home St. Thenns is owned by a separate limited liability company. The Conpany owns 50% of the lintted lability company.
y asep T p Y ¥
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TTEM 3, LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
General and Professional Einbility Insvwrance and Lawsnits

The senior care industry has experienced increases in both the number of personal injury/wrongfil death clains and in the severity of awards based upon alleged
negligence by musing facilities and their enployees in providing care to residents. The Conpany has been, and continues to be, subject to claims and legal actions that arise in the
ordinary course of business, including potential claims related to patient care and treatment, The defense of these lawsuilts may result in significant legal costs, regardless of the
outcone, and can result in large settlement amounts or danege awards,

As a tesult of the terms of our insurance policies and our use of a wholly-owned insurance company, we have reteined significant self-insured risk with respect fo general
and professionat liability. Additional insurance is purchased through third party providers that serve to supplement the coverage provided through our wholly-owned caplive
insurance company. We use independent actuaries to assist management in cstinmting our exposures for claims obligations (for both asserted and unasserted clains) related to
exposures in cxeess of caverage limits, and we maintain reserves for these obligations. I is possible that claims against us could exceed our coverage limits and our rescrves, which
wauld have a material adversc cffect on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

General Litigation
Qui Tam Litigation

United States of dmerica, ex rel, Jennifer Cook and Sally Gaither v, Integrated Behavioral Health. Inc., NHC HealthCare/Moulton, LLC, el al. Case No, 2:20-C¥-
00877-AMM (N.D _Ala) This is a qui tamcase originally filed under seal on June 22, 2020. The United States declined intervention on March 1, 2021, Thercafter, the Plaintiffs filed
an anended Complaint against D Sanja Malkotra, Integrated Behavioral Health, Inc, and other entitics that Dr. Malhotra was alleged 1o own or in which he allegedly had a
financial interest. The Conplaint also named multiple skilled nursing facilities as Defendants, including NHC Healthcare/Moulton, LLC, an affiliate of Nalional HealthCare
Corporation. The Complaint alleged that nurse practitioners affiliated with Dr. Malhotra provided free servicss to the facilities in exchange for reforrals to entities owned by ot in
which Dr, Malhotta had a financial interest in violation of the False Clains Act and Anti-Kickback Statute. NHC Healtheare/Moulton, LLC denied the allogations and filed 2 motion
to dismiss on Novendber 4, 2021, On January 28, 2022, the district court stayed this matter and administratively terminated the motion to dismiss pending the 1.8, Supreme Court's
review of a petition for certiorari filed in an unrelated matter byt involving onc of the legal argunents raised in the rotion to dismiss, Thereafler, the U.S, Supreme Court denied the
petition for certiorari in the untelated fmtter. As a result, NHC Healthcare/Moulton, LLC renewed its motion to dismiss. The District Court granted NHC Healthcare/Moulon’s
Motion to Dismiss, along with other pending Motions to Dismiss, and enteted an Order of Dismissel on Match 23, 2023 and an Amended Order of Dismissal on April 4, 2023, which
dismissed the case in its entirety with prejudice with respect to the claims asserted by the Plaintiffs. The Plaintiffs filed a Notice of Appeal on April 20, 2023 to appeal the dismissal
to the United States Court of Appeals for the Hleventh Circuit, On December 21, 2023, the Fleventh Circuit entercd an Order affirming the District Court’s dismissal of the claims.
The Plaintiffs have 90 days from the entry of the dismissal Order to file 4 Petition for 2 Wit of Certiorari with the United States Supreme Court requesting a review; otherwise, the
Order affirming dismissal issued by the Bleventh Cirenit will be final.

ITEM 4, MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PARTII

ITEMS, MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS, AND ISSUFR PURCHASES OF IQUITY 8 ECURTITES

Market Information

Our conmon stock is listed and traded on the NYSE-Anerican exchange under the symbol "NHC” On Decenber 31, 2023, NHC had approxinately 13,250 stockholders,
conprised of approximately 1,950 stockholders of record end an additional 11,300 stockholders indicated by security position listings.

Dividend Policy

We do not have a formal dividend pelicy, but we currently intend te continue to pay regular quarterty dividends to the holders of our common stock, The Company has

paid a consnon dividend sinoce 2004, although there can be no assurances that our quarterly dividends will be deciared, paid or increased in the future,

Stock Repurchase Programs

In 2023, the Company purchased 44,349 shares of its cormmon stock for a total cost of $2,482,000. The shares were funded from cash on hand and were cancelled and

returned to the status of authorized but unissued.

Eguity Compensation Plans

The following table sets forth information regarding our equity compensation plans:

Nuomber of securities to be
issued upon exercise of
outstanding options,

Weighted average
exercise price of
outstanding options,

Number of sccurities
remaining available for
firture issuance under
equity compensation
plans (excluding
securities reflected in

Plan Category wartants and rights warrants ang tights column (a))
{a) {b) (©
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 588534 % 61.3¢ 1,751,461
Equity conpensation plans not approved by secunity holders - - -
Total : 588534 % 61,30 1,751,461
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The fellowing graph and chart conpare the cunmilative total stockholder retum for the period from January 1, 2019 through December 31, 2023 on an inves

tment of $100 in

(i} NHCs conmon stack, (if} the Standard & Poor’s 500 Stock Index ("S&P 500 Index") and (ii}) the Standard & Poor’s Health Care Index ("8&P Health Care Index"), Cunuilative
total stockholder return assumes the reinvestment of al dividends. Stock price performances shown in the graph are not necessarily indicative of future price perfonmmnces.
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ITEM6.  [RESERVED]

ITEM 7, MANAGEMENT'S DIS CUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCEAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Owerview

National HealthCare Corporation, which we also refer to as NHC or the Corrpany, is a leading provider of post—acute care and senior health care services. At December 31,
2023, we operatc or manage 68 skilled nursing facilities with 8732 licensed beds, 26 assisted living facilities with 1,501 units, five independent living facilities, three behavioral
health hospitals, 35 homecare agencies, and 30 hospice agencies located in 8 states. In addition, we provide management services, accounting and financial services, and insurance
services to third pariy operators of healthcare properties, We also own the rcal estate of 10 healthcare properties and lease these properties to third party operators.

Legislation and Gavernment Stimulus Due to COVID-1%

The US. govemment enacted several laws beginning in March 2020 designed to help the nation respond te the COVID-19 pandentic. The new laws impacted healthcare
providers in a varicty of ways, but the largest legislation from a monetary relfief perspective was the CARES Act. Through the CARES Act, as well as the PPPCHE, the federal
government allocated $178 billion to the Public Health and Social Services Emergency Fund, which is teferred to as the Provider Relief Fund, The Provider Relief Fund is
administered through grants and other mechanisis to skilled nursing providers, home health providers, hospitals, and other Medicare and Medicaid enrolled providers to cover
unreirbursed health care related cxpenses or lost revenue attributable to the public health emorgency resulting fom COVID-19,

The Provider Relief Fund grants come with terms and condition certifications in which all providers are required to submit documents to ensure the funds are used for
healthcare-related cxpenses or lost revenue attributable to COVID-19, The Compatry recorded $0, $11,457,000 and $63,360,000 of govemment stinnlus income from the Provider
Relief Funds for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively, The grant inconc was determined on a systemic basis in line with the recognition of specific
expenses and lost rovenues for which the grants are intended to conpensate. The Company’s assessment of whether the ternms and conditions for amounts received have been met
for income recognition ang the Company’s related incone caleulation considered all frequently as ked questions and other interpretive guidance issued to date by HHS.
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Executive Summary
Earnings

To monitor cur eamings, we have developed budgets and munagenent reports to moniter labor, census, and the conposition of revenues, During certain flationary
times, ournet patient revenues and govemment reimbursenent may not keep pace with inflationary increases in our expenses, which may cause net eamings to decline.

Cecupancy

A ptimary area of management focus continves to be the rates of occupancy within our skilled nursing facilities. The overall census (based on operational beds) in owned
and leased skilled nursing facilities for 2023 was 87.9% conpared to 83.8% in 2022 and 80.6% in 2021,

The pandemic caused an ncreased strain on America's healthcare workforce, which has created the challenge of maintaining desirable paticnt census levels. Management
has undertaken a number of steps i order to best position our current and future operations. This includes working internally to cxamine and fwprove systens to be most
responsive to referral sources and payers, as well as find creative initiatives to retain and attract qualificd healthcare professionals. Additionally, NHC is in various stages of
partnerships with hospital systems, payors, and other posi-acute alliances to better pasition outselves so we are an active participant in the delivery of post-acute healthcare
services.

Quality of Patient Care
CMS introduced the Five-Star Quality Rating Systemto help consuters, their familics and caregivers compare skilled nursing facilities more easily. The Five-Star Quality
Rating System gives each skilled nursing operation a rating ranging between ono and five stars in various categories (five stars being the best), The Company has always strived

for patient-centered care and quality outcomes as precursers to cutstanding financial performance.

Tn July 2022, CMS launched its enhanced Five-Star Quality Rating System which integrates weekend staffing rates for nurses and information on annual tumever among
nurses and administrators, The tables below summarize NEHCs overall performance in these Five-Star ratings versus the skilled nursing indusiry as of December 31, 202%

NHC Ratings Industry Ratings
Total number of skilled nursing facilities, end of period ' 08
Nunber of 4 and S-star rated skilied nursing faciliies 40
Percentage of 4 and S-star rated skilled nursing facilities 59% 36%
Average rating for all skilled nursing facflities, end of period 36 29

Devwelopment and Growth

We are undertaking to expand our post—acute and senior health care opetations while protecting cur existing operations and markets. The following table lists our recent
construction and purchase activities.

Type cf Operation Description Sizg Location Placed in Service

Hospice: Acquisition 28 agenoies Varlous June 2021

Homecare New Agency 1 agency Anderson, SC January 2022

Hospice  New Agency | agency Tullahonm, TN March 2022
Behavioral Health Hospital New Facility 64 beds Knoxville, TN April 2022
Behavioral Health Hospital New Facility 16beds St. Louis, MO June 2022

Hospice New Agency 1 agency Cedar Bluff, VA March 2023
Skilled Nursing " Acquisition 66 beds Naghville, TN May 2023
Homecato New Agency 1 agency Tallahassee, FL. May 2023
Assisted Living Facility New Operations 135 units Vero Beach, FL July 2023
Assisted Living Facility New Operations 95 units Meritt Island, FL July 2023
Assisted Living Facility New Opetations 100 units Stuart, FL. July 2023

Acerred Risk Reserves

Our accrued professional liability and workers® compensation reserves totaled 103,259,000 and $102,469.000 at Decenber 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and are a
primary area of managenent focus, We have sct aside restricted cash and restricted marketable scourities to fund our professional linbility and workers® compensation rescrves,

As ta exposure for professional liability clabs, we have developed performance measures to bring focus o the patient care issues most likely to produce professional
liability exposure, including in-house acquired pressute uloers, significant weight loss and nunibers of falls, These programs for certitication, which we regularly modify and
improve, have produced measurable improvements in reducing these ineidents, Our experience is that achieving goals in these patient care arcas improves both patient and
employee satisfaction.
Segment Reporting .

The Cormpany has two reportzble operating segments: {1) inpatient services, which includes the operation of skilled nursing facilities, assisted and independent living
facilities, and behavioral health hospitals; and (2) homecare and hospice setvices, These reportable operating segments are consistent with information used by the Company's
Chief Bxecutive Officer; as chicf operating decision maker ("CODM”), to assess performance and allocate resourees. The Company zlso reports an "all othe™ category that
includes revenues fromrental income, management and accounting services fees, insurance services, and costs of the corporate effice.

The Conmpany’s CODM evaluates performance and allocates capital resources to cach segment based on an operating mode! that is designed to nprove the quality of
patient care and profitability of the Company, while erhancing long-term sharcholder value, The CODM does not review assets by segment in his resource allocation and
thercfore, assets by segment are not disclosed below.
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The following tables sct forth the Company’s consolidated statements of aperations by business segnent (in thousands):

Revenues:
Net patient revenues
Other fevenies
Net operating revenues

Costs and Bxpenses;
Salaries, wages and benefits -
Other operating
CFaollity rent G
Depreciation and amortization
Interest R
Total costs and expenses

Income (loss) before non-operating income
Non-operating incone
Uniealized gains on narketable equity securities

Income belhre income taxes

Revenues:
Net patient reventics
Cther revenues
Governmen stinulus income
Net operating revenues and grant income

Costs and Bxpenses:
Salaries, wages and benefits
Other operating
Facility rent
Depreciation and amotiization
Intetest
Recovery of assets
Total costs and expenses

Income before non-operating income

Non-cperating incone
Unrealized losses on narketable equity securities

Inconic (loss) befare income taxcs
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Year Fnded Decenber 31, 2023

Inpatient Homecare
Services and Hospice All Cther Total
b3 956,077 % 131,537 % - 8 1,087,614
: 1,141 - 52,789 53,930
957,218 131,537 52,780 1,141,544
589,279 80,610 42,455 712,344
254,559 23,529 16,095 288,183
33,787 2,172 5,566 41,525
38,172 786 3,076 42,034
324 = - T34
916,121 107,097 61,192 1,084,410
41,097 24,440 (8,043) 57,134
- - 16,660 16,560
— - 14,944 14,944
g 41,097 § 24440 % 23,200 % 88,738
Year Ended Decenber 31, 2022
Inpatient Homecare
Services and Hospice All Other Total
$ 900,231 § 128,854 % - 4 1,029,085
136 - 45,060 45,196
11,457 - - 11,487
911,824 128,854 45,060 1,085,738
580,707 77,688 27,774 686,169
251,355 26,319 11,698 289,372
32,956 2,327 5,694 40,977
36,522 691 3,276 40,489
563 - - 563
- - (3,728) (3.728)
002,103 107,025 44,714 1,053,842
9,721 21,829 346 31,896
- - 11,141 11,141
— — (15,806 {15,806)
$ 9721 § 21,829 § 4319 3 27231
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Year Ended Decenber 31,2021

Inpaticnt Homecare
] Services and Hospice All Other Total
Revenues: B R S -
Nel patient revenues B 3 868,687 8 96,855 % - 3 965,542
Cther revenues v o 386 - 45,014 45,400
Govemment stimulus income 63,360 - - 63,360
Net operating revenues and grant incorme 932433 96,855 45,014 1,074,302
Costs and Expenses:
Salaries, wages and benefits 557,604 59,226 49,233 666,063
Other operating 238,354 16,083 12,347 266,754
Facility rent ] 32,819 2,064 5,935 40,818
Depreciation and amortization 36,890 443 3,339 40,672
Interest 845 - - 845
Iinpairment of assets 4497 - 3,728 8,225
Total costs and expenses 871,009 77,786 74,582 1,023,377
Incone (loss) before non-operating income 61,424 19,069 {29,568) 50,925
Noh-operating income - . - -~ 17,774 17,774
Gain on acquisition of cquity method investment - - 95,202 95,202
Unrealized losses on marketable equity securities - - - - (13,863) (13,863)
Income before income taxes e S h $ 61424 8 15069 S 89,545 8 150,038

Non-GAAP Financial Presentation

The Company is providing certain non-GAAP financial measures as the Company belicves thal these figures are helpful in allowing mvestors to more accurately assess
the engoing nature of the Cormpany's opetations and measure the Cormpany s performance more consistently across periods, Theretore, the Company believes this information is
mesningful in addition to the information contained in the GAAP presentation of financial information. The presentation of this additional non-GAAF financial infonmation is not
intended to be considered in isolation or as a substirute for the financial information propared and presented in accordance with GAAP,

Specifically, the Corpany believes the presealation of non-GAAP financial information should exclude the following iterms: the unrealized gams or losses on our
marketable equity secutities, operating results for start-up healtheare operations nat at tull capacity, any gains on the acquisition of equity nethod investments, gains on the sale
of property and equipment, stock-based compensation expense, and impairments or recoveries of long-lived assets and notes receivable,

The operating results for the start-up operations not al fuli capacily include the fallowing: for the year ended December 31, 2023, included are operations that began from
2021 to 2023, which is two behavioral healtk hospitals, two homeeare agencies, and two hospice agencies. For the year ended December 31, 2022, included are facilities that began
operations from 2020 to 2022, which is two behavioral health hospitals, one hospice agency, and one homecare agency. For the year ended Decenber 31, 2021, included are
facilities that began operations from 2019 to 2021, which is two behavioral health hespitals and one memory care facility.
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The table below provides reconciliations of GAAT to non-GAAP itens (doilars in thousands, except per share data).

Year Ended Decetber 31,

2023 2022 2021
Net incone atfributable to National HealthCare Corporation 13 66,798 § 22445 % 138,590
Non-GAAP adjustments:
Unrealized (gains} losses on marketable equity securities (14.544) 15,806 13,863
Gain on sale of property and equipment (6,230) - -
* Ghin on acquisition of equity method investment - - (95,202)
Stock-based compensation cxpense 2,782 2,612 2,620
“Operating results for newly-opened operations not at full capacity 2,359 5416 022
Impainrent (recovery) of assets ) - (3,728) 8,225
Tncome fax expense (benefit) on non-GAAP adjustments =~~~ 7 R ’ 4,169 (5228) 6,373
Non-GAAP Net Income 3 54934  § 37,323 % 62,645
GAAP diluted eamings per share £ 434 8 145 % 8.99
Non-GAAP adjustments: )
Unrealized {gains) losses on marketable equity securities ©.72) 076 0.67
Gain on sale of property and equipment ) {0.30) - -
Gain on aequisition of equity methed investment - - 6.16)
Stock-based compensation expense 0.13 0.13 0,13
Operating results for newly-opened operations not at full capacity .10 0.26 0.04
Impairment (recovery) of assets ] - (0.18) 0.3%
Non-GAAF dilited eamings per share $ 355 % 242 % 406

Results of Operations

The following table and discussion set forth ftens from the consolidated statements of operations as a percentage of net operating revenues and grant income for the
years ended Decerber 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021,

Percentage of Net Operating Revenues

Year Ended Decerdber 31,
2023 2022 2021

Revenues: :

Net patient revenucs 95.3% 94.8% 89.9%

Other revenues 47 42 42

Government stimukis incone - 1.0 59

Net operating revenues and grant income 100.0 100.0 100.0

Costs and Fxpenses:

Salaries, wages and benefits 624 63.2 62.0

Other operating 252 26.6 24.8

Facility rent 3.6 38 38

Depreciation and amortization 37 37 38

Interest ' 0.1 0.1 0l

Impairment {recovery) of assets — 0.3) 0.8

Total costs and expenses 95.0 97.1 953
Income from operations 50 29 4.7
Non—operating income 1.5 1.0 17
Chin on acquisition of equity nethod nvestment ) - - 88
Unrealized gains (losses) on marketable equity securities : 1.3 {1.4) (1.3
Inconx: before income taxes o ) 78 2.5 13.9
Income taxprovision 2.0 ()] (1.0)
Net incorme ) 57 18 129
Net loss atiributable to noncontrolling interest 0.2 0.3 00
3.9% 2.1% 12.9%

Net inceme attributable to common stockholders of NHC
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The following fable sets forth the increase or {decrease) in cortain ftens from the consoelidated statements of operations as compared to the prior periad (dellars in
thowsands).

Period to Period Increase (Decrease)

2023 vs, 2022 2022 vs. 2021
Amount Percent Armouynt Percent
Revenues; )
~ Net patient revenues 3 58,529 57% $ 63,543 6.6%
Otherrevenues =~ ° 8,734 19.3 {204) (0.4)
Govemmnent stimmlus ncome {11,457) (160.0) {51,903} (81.9)
“Net operating revenues and grant income 55,806 5.1 11,436 1.1
Costs and Expenses;
Salaries, wages and benefits 26,175 38 0,106 30
Other operating (1,189} 0.4) 22,618 85
Facility rent 548 13 139 04
Depreciation and amortization 1,545 kR {183) ©.4)
Interest (239 (42.5) (282) (33.4)
~ Impaitment (recovery) ofassets 3,728 100.0 {11,953) {145.3)
Total costs and expenses 30,568 2.9 0465 10
Income fromoperations 25,238 79.1 (19,029) (374}
Non—operating incore 5,519 45,5 (6,633) (37.3)
Cain on acquisition of equity method investment — — (95,202} (100.0)
Utrealized gains (losses) on marketable equity securities 30,750 194.5 (1,943) (14.0)
Income before income taxes 61,507 2259 (122,807 (81.9)
Incone fax provision {16,156) (2233 3,697 33.8
Net incone 45,311 226.8 (119,110) (85.6)
Net (income) loss atfributable to noncontrolling interest (958) {38.8) 2,965 596.6
Net incone attributable to cormon stockholders of NHC 3 44,353 197.6% $ (116,145 (&8
2023 Compared to 2022

Results for the year ended Decerber 31, 2023 compared to 2022 include 2 5.1% increase in net operating revenues and grant income. The net operating revenues increase
was pritmarily driven by the continued occupancy increase in our skilled nursing facilities, as well as increases in skifled nursing per dierms from some of our governimental payors,
Excluding the government stimulus incotne and the seven skilled nursing facilities in Massachusetts and New Hatrpehire in which we ceased eperations in Septomber 2022, saime-
facility net operating revenues increased 11.3% as compared to the same period a year agoe.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, GAAP net income attributable to NHC was $66,798.000 compared te net income of $22,445,000 for the same period in 2022,
Exoluding the unrealized gains and losses in our marketable equity secusitics portfolio and other non-GA AP adjustments, adjusted net income was $54,934,000 for the year ended
Decerber 31, 2023 compared to §37,323,000 for the same period a year ago. The increase n non-CAAP earnings for the year ended December 31, 2023 cotnpared to the same period
in the prior year was prinarily due to the continued occupancy inerease in our skilled nursing facilities, skilled nutsing per diemincreases fromsome of our government payors, and
the contirued reduction of nurse agency staffing expense within our operations,

Nel operafing revenues and grant income

Net patient revenues totaled $1,087,614,000 an increase of $58,529,000, or 5,7%, corpared to the prior year. Included in net patient revenues for the years ended December
31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, is $20,214,000 and $19,442,000 of supplemental Medicaid payments that were received to help mitigate the inflationary labor and medical supplies
costs caused by the pandernic.

The overall average census in owned and leased skilled nursing facilities for 2023 was 875% compared to 83.8% in 2022. The composite skilled nursing facility per diem
increased 6.7% in 2023 compared to 2022, Medicare and managed care per diem rates increased 3.3% and 5.9%, respectively, in 2023 compared to 2022, Medicaid and private pay
per diemmates increased 9.4% and 5.5%, respectively, in 2023 compared te 2022,

New operations, which include one skilled numsing facility acquired May 1, 2023, three assisted living facilities that we began operating on July 1, 2023, twe behavioral
health hospitals, two hospice agencies and two hemecare agencics, have atiributed to an increase of $25,821,000 in net patient revenues for the year ended Decenber 31, 2023
compared to the same period last year In Sepfember 2022, the Company transferred the operations of seven skilled nursing facilities located in Massachusetts and New
Hampshire, which resulted in net patient revenues decreasing 348,820,000 for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the same period last year.
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Other revenues in 2023 were $53,930,000, an increase of $8,734,000, or 19,3%, as further detailed in Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements. In 2023, we contributed
Jand to a newly-formed lingted Bability company resulting in an equity interest i the new entity. The fair vahue of the land contributed to the entity was 38,000,000 and the related
cost basis in the land was $1,770,000, which resulted in a gain of $6,230,000,

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, we recorded 30 and $11,457,000 in govemment stinulus income related to funds received fromthe CARES
Act Provider Relief Fund.

Total costs and expenses
Total costs and cxpenses for 2023 increased $30,568,000, or 2.9%, to §1,084,410,000 from $1,053,842,000 in 2022,

Salaries, wages, and bencfits increased $26,175,000, or 3.8%, to $712,344,000 from $686,169,000. Salaties, wages, and benefits as a percentage of net operating revenues
and grant incone was 62.4% compared to 63.2% for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. We continue to face waortkforce and labor shortages within all of our
operations, The Tabor and workforce shortages have resulted in us contmeting with agency nurse staffing companics. The agency nuse staffing companies charge inflated hourly
rates: thercfore, we are working ditigently to find solutions to reduce and eliminate the agency nusse staffing within our healthcare operatiens. For the year ended Decernber 31,
2023 our agency nursc staffing expenses decreased $30,682,000, or approximately 44.5%, compared te the same period a ycar ago.

Noew operations, which Include one skilied nursing facility acquired May 1, 2023, three assisted living facilities that we began operating on July 1, 2023, two behavioral
health hospitals, two hospice agencies and two homecare agencics, have atiributed {o an increasc in salaries, wages, and benefits of $13,565,000 for the year ended December 31,
2073 compared to the same pericd last year, Jn Septenber 2022, the Company transforred the operations of seven skilled nussing facilities located in Massachusetts and New
Hampshire, which rosulted in salaries, wages, and benefits decreasing $31,920,000 for the year ended Decembor 31, 2023 compared to the same period last year.

Other operating expenses decreased $1,189,000, or 0.4%, to $288,183,000 for the year ended December 31, 2023 compated to $289,372,000 for the prior year. Other
operating expenses as a percentage of net operating revenues and grant income was 25.2% and 26,7% for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The ten new
operations listed above attributed to an increase in other operating expenses of $9,082,0000 for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the satw period last year, The
transfer of the cperations of the seven skilled nursing facilities located in Massachuseits and New Harmpshire, as noted above, resulted in other operating expenses decreasing
$15,025,000 for the year ended December 31, 2023 conpared to the prior yoar, We continue to face inflationary pressurcs in certain categoties within other operaling expenses as
well, such as food/dietary supplies and drugs/pharmaceutical supplies.

Facility rent expense increased $548,000, or 1.3%, to $41,525,000. Depreciation and amertization increased 3.8% to $42,034,000, Interest expense decreased $239,000 to
$324,000 in 2023 fiom $563,000 in 2022. At Decerrber 31, 2023, we have no outstanding Jong-term debt,

Other income
Non—operating income increased by 33,519,000, or 49.5% to $16,660,000 compared to (he prioryear, as further detalled in Note 5 to our consolidated financial statenents.

We recorded unrealized gains in the amount of $14,944,000 for the increase in fair vatue of our mmarketable equity securities pottfolio for the year ended December 31, 2023,
The marketable equity securities portfolio consists mmirly ef publicly-traded healthcare REITs and other blue~chip public conpanies held within our nsurance compaties.

Income taxes
The incone tax provision for 2023 is $23,450,000 (an effective income tax rate of 264%).
2022 Compared to 2021

Results for the year ended Decenber 31, 2022 conmpared to 2021 include a 1.1% increase in net operating revenues and grant income. The net operating revenues and grant
income increase is primarily driven by the June 2021 acquisitior. of Caris hospice and the continued occupancy increase in our skilled nursing facilities. These increases were offvet
by the reduction i1 govemment stinmlus ncome of $51.9 million for the year ended Decenber 31, 2022 compared to 2021,

For the year ended December 31, 2022, GAAP net income attributable to NHC was $22.445,000 conpared to net income of $138,590,000 for the same period in 2021, The
large decrease in our reported GA AP net incone for 2022 was primarily due to the §95.2 milion gain recorded in 2021 from the acquisition of Caris. Bxcluding the gain on the Caris
acquisition, as well as the unrealized lossos in our marketable equity scourities portfolio and the other non-GAAP adjustments, non-GAAP net income for the year ended Deceriber
31, 2022 was $37,323,000 compared to $62,645,000 for the year ended December 31, 2021 The decrease in adjusted net inconx for the year ended Decenber 31, 2022 compared to
2021 js primarily due to the $31.9 million less government stinulus incone recorded during the 2022 period, We also continue to incur inflationary wage pressutes within all areas of
ouy operations.

Net operating reveniues and grant income

Net patient revenues totaled $1,029,085,000, an increasc of $63,543,000, or 6.6%, compared fo the prior year. Included in noet patient revenues for the year ended Decenber
31, 2022 and 2021, respoctively, is $19,442,000 and $20,482,000 of supplemental Medicaid payments that were received to help mitigate the incremental costs in fighting the
pandemic,

The overall average census in owned and leased skilled nursing facilities for 2022 was 83.8% compared to 80.6% in 2021, The composite skilled nursing facility per diem
increased 2.3% in 2022 compared to 2021, Medicare and nunaged care per diem rates increased 2.3% and 6.0%, respectively, in 2022 conpared to 2021. Medicaid and private pay
per diemrates increased 3.0% and 4.7%, respectively, in 2022 compared to 2021,

In June 2021, the Company accuired the remaining ownership interest in Caris, which resulted in net patient revenues increasing $31,566,000 for the year ended December
31, 2022 compared to the prior year. In September 2022, the Company transferred the operations of seven skilled nursing facilities located in Massachusetts and New Hampshire
resulting in net patient revenues decreasing 318,732,000 fot the year ended December 31, 2022 conpared to the prior year.
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Other revenues in 2022 were $45,196,000, a decrease of $204,000, or (:4%, as further detailed in Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements.

For the years ended Decerrber 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, we tocorded $11,457,000 and $63,360,000 in gevernment stirmulus income related to funds received fromthe
CARES Act Provider Relief Fund.

Total casts and expenses
Total costs and expenses for 2022 increased $30,465,000, or 3.0%, to $1,053,242,000 from §1,023,377,000 in 2021,

Salaries, wages, and bencfits increased $20,106,000, or 3.0%, to $686,169,000 from $666,063,000. Salaties, wages, and benefits as a percentage of net operating revenues
and grant income was 63.2% conpared to 62.0% for the years ended Decenber 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Our Caris acquisition in June 2021 increased salaries, wages, and
benefits $19,040,000 for the year ended Decemrber 31, 2022 compared to 2021, We continue to face workferee and labor shortages within all of our operations, which increases wage
pressure in regards o retaining and attracting qualified healtheare partners (employecs). The labor and workforce challenges have resulted in us contracting with agency nurse
staffing companies. The agency nurse staffing conpanies charge inflated hourly rates; therefore, we are wotking diligently 1o find solutions to reduce and elininate the agency
nurse staffing within our healtheare operations. For the yeer ended Decerrber 31, 2022, our agency nurse staffing expenses were $6%,875,000 compared to $36,391,000 for the 2021
year Tn September 2022, the Company transferred the operations of soven skilled nursing facilities located in Massachusetts and New Haurpshire resulting in salaries, wages, and
benefits decreasing $18,053,000 for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to the prior year,

Other operating expenscs increased $22,618,000, or 8.5%, 1o $289,372,000 for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to $266,754,000 for the prior year. Other
operating expenses as 4 percentage of net operating revenues and grant income was 26.7% and 24.8% for the years ended Decerber 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, Our Caris
acquisition increased other operating expenses $10,190,000 for the year ended Decebor 31, 2022 compared to the prior year The transfer of the operations of the soven skilled
nursing facilities located in Massachusetts and New Hampshire, as noted above, resulted in other operating expenses decteasing $6,859,000 for the year ended Decerber 31, 2022
comparcd to the prior yoar. We incurred increased expensos fromour professional liability actuarial zeport in the fourth quarter of 2022 corpared to the prior year of $3,284,000. We
also continue to face inflationary pressures in certain categories within other operating expenses as well, such as food/dietary supplies and drugs/phanmaceutical supplies.

Facility rent expense increased $159,000, or 04%, to $40,977.000. Depreciation and amortization decreased 04% to $40,489,000. Interest exponse decreased $282,000 to
$363,000 in 2022 from $845,000 in 2021. At December 31, 2022, we have no outstanding long-termdebt.

During 2022, we had a note receivable recovery of $3,728,000.
Other income

Non-operating mcome decreased by $6,633,000, or 37.3% to $11,141,000 compared to the prior year, as further detailed iIn Note 5 to our consolidated financial staterments,
The decrease in our non-operating income is due te the June 202! sequisition of Caris. Prior to the June 2021 acquisition date, Caris was our mpst significant equity method
investment with a 75.1% non-contralling ownership interest. From the respective acquisition date, Caris” financial information is now included in the Company's consolidated
finaneia! statements and is no longer accounted for as an equity nethod investnent,

Tn June 2021, a gain of §05,202,000 was recorded on the acquisition of the remaining ownership interest of Caris. Wo previcusly held a noncontrolling interest n the
partmership, Upon acquiring the renmining ownership interest in Caris, we valued the business and our previously held equily position (75.1%) based wpon Caris’ farr value at the

acquisition date.

We recorded unrealized losses in the amount of $15,806,000 for the decrease in fair value of our narketable equity securities portfolio for the year ended December 31,
2072, The nurketable equity sccurities portfolio ecnsists nainly of publicly-traded healtheare REIT’s and other blue-chip public compunies held within our msurance conpanies,

Income taxes
The income tax provisien for 2022 i $7,254,000 {an effective income taxrate of 26.6%).
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Liquidity, Capital Resources and Financial Condition

Sozirces and Uses of Funds

Our primary sources of cash inclide revenues from the operations of cur healtheare operations, wenagenent and accounting services, rental income, and nvestment
income, Our primary uses of cash include salaries, wages and ather operating costs of our healthcare operations, the cost of additions te and acquisitions of real property, facility
rent expenses, and dividend distributions. These sources and uses of cash are reflected in our interim condensed consolidated statements of cash flows and are discussed in

further detail below.

The following is a sunmary of our sources and uses of cash flows {dollars in thousands):

Year Fnded One Year Change Year Fnded One Year Change
12/31/23 12/31/22 b % 12/31/22 12731721 $ %
Cash, cash equivalents, restricted ) ‘ T
cash, and restricted cash
gquivalents at beginning of
period o $ - T4B6S 3 119743 % (44,878) (375 $ 119743 § 158,502 (38,759) {24.5)
Cash provided by operating . o o '
activities ) 11216 8,142 102474 11722 8,742 62,394 {53,652) (86.0)
Cash used in investing activities ’ (17,568) (5.978) (11,590 (193.9) (5,978 (65,389) 59,911 90.9
Cash used in financing activities (42,545) ' 47,642) 5,097 10,7 (47,642) (35,264) (12,378) (35.1)
Cash, cash equivalents, restricted
cash, and restrcted cash
equivalenis at end ofperiod $ 125968 § 74865 51,103 633 § 74865 % 119,743 (44878) (37.5)
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Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended Decenber 31, 2023 was $111,216,000 as cormpared fo $8,742,000 and §62,394,000 for the years ended Decenber
31, 2922 and 2021, respectively. Cash provided by operating activities consisted of net income of $65,288,000 and adjustrents for non—cash iters of $33,625,000. There was cash
provided by working capital in the amount of $17,396,0(f) for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to cash used for working capital needs in the amount of $73,697,000 in
2022,

Included in the adiustoonts for non-cash iters are depreciation expense, equity in eamings of unconsolidated investments, unrealized losses on our marketable equity
securities, Tecovery of assets, defermed taxes, and stock compensation.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities totaled §17,568,000 for the year ended Decenber 31, 2023, as compared to $5,978,000 and $65,389,000 for the vears ended December
31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Cash used for property and equipment additions was $27,901,000, $30,200,000, and $39,399,000 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and
2021, respectively. On May 1, 2023, we acquired the assets of a 66-bed skilled nursing facility in Nashville, Termessce for approximately $2,700,000. In 2023, the Compaty had
investirents in unconsolidated companies of $4,661,000, of which the primary investment is a mlti-fanly development in Franklin, Tennessee. Proceeds from the sale of marketable
securities, het of purchases, resulted in eash proceeds of $17,895,000 and $16,168,000 in 2023 and 2022, respectively, For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company collected
notes receivable of $3,879,000 and received proceeds fromthe sale of property and equipment of $4,175,000.

Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities totaled $42,545,000, $47,642,000, and $35,264,000 for the years ended Decenber 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. Principal
payments made under finance Jeasc obligations was $4,985,000, $4,695,000, and $4,423,000 for the yoars ended Docember 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, res pectively. Dividends paid to
cormmon stockholders was $35,560,000, $34,604,000, and $32,030,000 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Proceeds from the issnance of common
stock totaled $313,000, $2,114,000, and §3,441,000 for 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. We repurchased cormon shares outstanding in the amount of $2,482,000, $9,903,000, and
$836,000 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively,

Shori—term liquidity

We expect o meet our short—term liquidity requirements primarily from our cash flows from operuting activities. In addition to cash flews from operations, we have current
cash on hand of $107,076,00C and unrestricted marketable equity and debt securities of $116,544,000. We also have ymencunbered real estate, as well the benowing capacity on our
%50 million credit facility, that can be used to meet our contractual obligations and growth and developirent plans in the next twelve months,

Long~tern liguidity

We cxpect to meet our long—term liquidity requiretrents prinarily fom our cash flows from operating activities, our current cash on hand of $167,076,000, our unrestricted
marketable equity and debt securities of $116,544,000, and our borrowing capacity on the $30 million credit facility, We also have substantial value in our unencumbered real estate
assets which could potentially be used as collateral in fiture borrowing opportunities, At Decermber 31, 2023, we do not have any long-termdebt.

Our ability to obtain long-term debt to mest our lon g—term contractual obligations and to fimance our operating requirements, growth and developiment plans will depend
upon our futare performence, which wilt be alfected by business, cconomic, financial and other factors, including potential changes in state and federal govemment payment rates
for health care, customer denand, success of our marketing efforts, pressures fromcompetitors, and the state of the cconony, including the state of financial and credit rarkets, as
well as many unforeseen factors.
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Contingencies

See Note 17 to the consolidated financial staterents for additional information on pending litigation and other contingencies.

Guarantees
At December 31, 2023, we have no agreements to guarantee the debt obligations of other parties.

We have no cutstending letters of credit. We may or may not in the fiature elect to use financial derivative instruments to hedge mterest rate exposure in the future, At
December 31, 2023, we did not participate in any such financial instraments.,

New Accounting Pronouncements
The Conpany did not adept any new accounting standards during 2023,
Application of Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in confounity with accounting principles generally acoepted in the United States of America requires us to muke estimates and
assummptions that affect the reported anounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of cantingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statenents and the reporied
amounts of revenues and cxpenses during the reporting period. Actualresults could differ fromthose estitates and cause our reported net income to vary significantly fomperiod
to potiod.

Qur critical accounting policies that are both imporant to the portrayal of our financial condition and results and require our most difficult, subjective or conplex
judgments ate as follows:

Net Patient Revenues and Accounts Receivable

Net patient revenues are derived from services rendered to patients for skilled and intermediate nursing, rehabilitation therapy, assisted living and independent living,
home health care services, hospice services and behavioral health services, Net patient revenue is reporied at the amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company
expects to be eatitled in exchange for providing patient services. These armounts ate due fiom pationts, govemmental programs, and other thitd-party payors, and include variable
comsideration for retroactive revenue adjustments dus to settlement of audits, reviews, and nvestigations.

The Cormpany recognizes revenue as its performance obligations are completed. Routine services are treated as a single performence obligation satisfied over time as
services are rendered, These routing services represent a bundle of services that are not capable of being distinct. The performance obligations arc satisfied over time as the
patient sinultanecusly receives and consunes the benefits of the healtheare services provided, Additionally, there may be ancillary services which are not included in the daily
rates for toutine services, but instead are treated as separate perfomunce obligations satisfied at a point in {ime when those services are rendered. Contract liabilities are recorded
for payments the Company recsives in which perfornance obligations have not been conpleted.

The Company detemines the transaction price based on established billing rates reduced by explicit price concessions provided to third party peyors. BExplicit price
concessions are based on contractual agrecments and historical experience, The Cormpany considers the patient's ability and intent to pay the smount of consideration upon
admission. Credit losses are recorded as bad debt expense, which is included as a component of other operating expenses consolidated statements of operations

Revenue Recogrition — Third Party Payers

Medicare and Medicaid program revenues, as woll as certain Managed Care program revenues, are subject to audHl and retroactive adjustment by government
representatives or their agents. Settlements with third-party payers for refroactive adjustnents due to audits, reviews or investigations are considered variable consideration and
are included in the determination of the estimated transaction price for providing patient care. These settlerents are estimated based on the terms of the payment agreement with
the payor, corespondence from the payor and the Company’s historlcal settlerrent activity, inchuding an assessment to ensure that it is probable that a significant reversal in the
amount of cunalative revenue recognized will not oceur when the uncertainty associated with the retroactive adjustment is subsequently resolved.

Tn our opinicn, adequate pravision has been made for any adjustoents that may result fom these reviews, Any differonces between our original estimates of
reimbursements and subsequent revisions are reflected in operations in the period in which the revisions are made oficnt due to final deternination or the period of payment no

longer being subjeet to audit or reviow.
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Accrued Risk Reserves

We are self-msured for risks related to workers’ conpensation and general and professional lability insurance. We have two wholly—cwned limited purpose insurance
companies that insure risks related to workers’ compensation and geneml and professional liability insuratice claims. The accrued risk reserves include e lability for reported clains
and estimates for incumed but unreported elaims. Our policy is to engage an external, independent actuary to assist in estimating our exposure for clains obligations (for both
asserted and unasserted claims), We reassess our accrued risk reserves on a quarterly basis.

Professional ligbTlity remmains an area of particular concem to us. The long-term care industry hias seen an increase in personal injury/wrongfiul death claims based on
alleged negligence by skilled nursing facilities and their employees in providing care to residents. The Conpany has been, and continues to be, subject to clais and legal actions
that arise in the ordinary course of business, including potential claims related to patient care and treatment. A significant increase in the number of these claitws, or an increase in
the amounts due as a result of these chairs could have a naterial adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows. It is also possible that
fiture events could cause us to nuks significant adjustments or revisions to these reserve estimates and cause our reporied net lcome to vary significantly from period to peried.

We are principally selfinsured for neidents occurring in all centers owned or keased by us. The coverages inchzde both primary policies and excess policies. In all years,
settlements, ifany, in excess of available insurance policy fimits and our own reserves would be expensed by us.

ITEM7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSTURE ABOUT MARKET RISK.

Market risk ropresents the potential econoiric loss arising from adverse changes in the fair value of financial instruments. Cumrently, our cxposure to market risk relates
primarily to our fixed—income and equity portfolios. These investment portiolios are exposcd primarily to, but not limited to, interest rate risk, credit risk, equity price risk, and
concontration risk. We alse have exposure to narket risk that includes our cash and cash equivalents. The Cormpany's senlor management has established conprehensive tisk
management policies and procedures to manage these market risks,

Interest Rate Risk

The fair values of our fixed—-income investments fluctuate in response to changes in market interest rates. Increases and decreases in prevailing interest rates generally
translate into decreases and increases, rospectively, in the fair values of those instruments, Additionally, the fair values of interest rate sensitive instruments may be affected by
the creditworthiness of the issuer, prepayment options, the liquidity of the instrument and other general market conditions. At Decenber 31, 2023, we have available for sale
matketable debt securities in the amount of $127.727,000. The fied income portfolin is comprised of investments with primarily short—tern and intermediate-torm maturities. The
porifolic composition allows flexibility in reacting to fluctuations of interest rates. The fied income portfolio allows owr insurance company subsidiaties to achieve an adeguate
tisk-adjusted retum while maintaining sufficient liquidity to meet obligations.

Our cash and cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with a maturity of less than three months when purchased. As a result of the short—term nature of cur
cash instrumments, a hypothetical 1% change in interest rates would have minima¥ impact on our firture earnings and cash flows related to these instruments,

We do not currently use any derivetive instruments to hedge our interest rate exposure. We have not used derivative instruments for trading purposes and the use of
such instruments in the future woald be subject to approvals by the Investment Committee of the Board of Directors.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is managed by diversifying the fixed incomm portfolio to avoid concentrations in any single industry group or issuer and by lmiting investments in securities
with lower credit ratings, Corporate debt securilies and asset-backed securities comprise approxinately 60% of the fair value of the fixed income portfolio. At Decenber 31, 2023,
the credit quality ratings for our fixed mcome portfolio consisted ofthe following investrment and non-investment grades (as a percent of fair valuc): 7% AAA mated, 425 AA rated,
38% A rated, 12% BBB rated, and 1% BB mated.

Equity Price and Concentration Risk

Our marketable equity securities are recerded at their fair market value based on quoted market prices. Thus, there is exposure to equily price risk, which is the potentiel
change in fair value due to 2 change in quoted nurket prices. At Decenber 31,2023, the fair value of our mazketable equity securities is approximately $137,896,000, Our investrent
in NHI comerises approximately $61,071,000, or 66.0%, of the total fair value of our marketabls equity securities, We manage our exposure to NHI by closely monitering the financial
condition, perfonmance, and outlook of the company. Hypothetically, a 10% change in quoted market prices would result in a related increasc or decrease in the fair value of our
equity investments of approximately $13,750,000, At December 31, 2023, our cquity securities had net unrealized gains of $83,586,600 Of the total unrealized gains in our marketable
equity securitics, approxmately $66,337,000 is related to our investment in NHL
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

REPORT OF INDFPENDENT REGIS TERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of National HealthCare Corporation
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of National HealthCare Corporation (the Conpany) as of Decermber 31, 2023 and 2022, the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive incorre, equity and cash flows for each ofthe three years in the period ended Decowber 31, 2023, and the related notes and
financial statement schedule listed in the Index at ltem 15(a) (collectively referred to as the "consolidated financial statements™). In ous opinion, the consolideted financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at Decenber 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Conpany Accounting Oversight Board {(United States) {PCAOB), the Cotmany's intemnal contro!
over financial reporting as of Decenber 31, 2023, based on criteria esteblished in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organimtions of
the Treadway Cormmission (2013 framework), and out report dated February 16, 2024 oxpressed an unqualified opinion thereon,

Basis for Opinion

These financial statetnents are the respensibility of the Company’s management, Our respensibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based
on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Conrmssion and the PCACR,

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standerds of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to eror or fraud, Cur gudits mcluded performing procedures to assess the risks of muterial
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing progedures that respond to those risks, Such procedures included exanining, on a test
basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits aleo included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by menagement, as well as evaluating the overall presentation ofthe financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion,
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Critical Audit Matter

The eritical audit matier communicated bolow is a matter arising from the curent period audit of the conselidated financial statements that was cermunicated or required
to be cotmmumicated to the audit conittee and that: (1) relates 1o accounts or disclosures that are material to the fimancial statements and (2} involved our especially challenging,
subjective or complex judgnients, The commumnication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion or. the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole,
and we aze not, by comumunicating the critical audit natter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit natter o on the aceounts or disclosures to which i relates.

Description of the Matter

How We Addressed the
Matter in Our Audit

Estimation of Professional Liability Clains Resetves

The Company’s accrued tisk reserves totaled $103,259,000 as of Decerber 31, 2013, As described in Note 17 to the congolidated financial
statements, the accnied risk reserves include professional liability claims reserves for unpaid reported professional liability claims and estimates for
incured but unreported claims, The Company’s policy with respect to the professional liability claims reserves is to use an actuary to assist
management in estinating the cxposure for clains obligations (for both asserted and unasserled claims).

Auditing management’s professional fability claims reserves was complex and highly judgmental due to the significant estimation required in
determining the reserves, particularly the assumptions of the severity of asserted claims and the quantity and severity of unknown claims.

We obtained 2n understanding, evaluated the design and tested the eflectivencss of controls over the Company’s professional Lability claims
reserve determination, including controls over management’s review of the significant assumptions described above. For example, we tested
controls over management’s review of the actuarial analysis, the significant actuarial assumptions and the data inputs provided to the actuary.

To test the professional liability clains reserves, our audit procedures inchided, among others, testing the completencss and accuracy of the
underlying ciaims data provided to the Company’s actuarial specialist, oblaining legal confinmation letters to evaluate inclusion of significant
litigated matters in the claims data, and reviewing the Company's insurance contracts by policy year to assess the Conpany's selfinsured
retentions, deductibles, and coverage limits, In addition, we invalved our actuarial specialists to assist in cur evaluation of the methedologics
applied by management's specialist and assessing the accumcy of the Company’s reserves. We also compared the reserves recorded to a range
developed by aur actuarial specialists based on indspendently selected assumptions

{s/ Emst & Young LLP

We have served as the Corpany's auditer since 2009,

Nashville, Tennessee

February 16, 2024
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NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
Consolidated S tatements of Operations
(in thousands, except share and per share ainounts)

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Revenues:
Net patient revenues § 1,087,614  § 1,026,085 % 965,542
Other revenues 53,930 45,196 45,400
Govermrent stirmlus incone - 11,457 (3,360
Net operating revenues and grant income 1,141,544 1,085,738 1,074,302
Costs and expenses: )
Salaries, wages and benefils 712,344 680,165 666,063
QOther operating 288,183 289,372 266,754
Facility rent 41,525 40,977 40,818
Depreciation and amertization ) 42,034 40,489 40,672
Interest o 324 563 845
Trpaitment (recovery) of assets - - {3,728) 8,225
Total costs and expenses ) 1,084,410 1,053,842 1,023,377
Incone from operations ) 57,134 31,896 50,925
.Dthcr Income:; ]
Non-operating income : 16,660 11,141 17,774
Gain on acquisition of equity nethod investment - - 95,202
Unrealized gains (losses) on smarketable equity securities 14,944 (15,806) (13,863)
Incoire before mconx: taxes 88,738 27,231 150,038
Incone tax provision (23,450 (7,254) (10,951)
Net income 65,288 19,977 139,087
Net (incone) loss attributable to noncontrolling interest 1,510 2,463 {497
Net income attributable to National HealthCare Corporation 3 66798 % 445 8 138,590
Eamings per share attributable to National HealthCaie Corporation stockhelders:
Basic $ 436 § 146§ 9.03
Diluted N 434 % 145 § 899
Weighted average comnion shares outsanding:
"'Basic B e : 15,310,142 15,410,222 15,347,129
Diluted ) _ 15,377,343 15,447,211 15,416,716
Dividends declared per conmmon share $ 234 % 226 ¢ 2.1

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral pari of these consolidated statements.
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NATIONAL HFALTHCARE CORPORATION
Consolidated S tatements of Comprehensive Income

(in thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Net income $ 65288 % 19977 § 139,087
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Unrealized gains (Josses) on investments in marketable debt seeurities 3,434 {12.946) 171

Reclassification adjustment for realized losses (gains) on sale of marketable debt securities 17 (129) (214)

Incom tax (expense) benefi related to ftems of other comprehensive incone (loss) (523) 1,938 933
Other conprehensive income (loss), net oftax 2,928 (11,137 (3452)
Net (incone} loss attributable to noncontrolling interest 1510 2,468 @9
Conprehensive income attributable to National HealthCare Corporation 3 69,726 § 1R 3 135,138

The gecompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are en integral part of these consolidated statemenls,
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NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
Consolidated Balance Sheets
fin thousands)

December 31,
2023 2022
Assets
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents ' $ 107,076 $ 58,667
Restricted cash and cash equivalents, current portion 17,725 15,121
Marketable equity securities 111,117 100,786
Marketable debt securities 5427 23,136
Restricted marketable equity securities 26,179 22,358
Restricted marketable debt secutities, current portion 12,822 16,244
Accounts receivable 108,543 99,986
inventories 7,386 7,088
Prepaid expenses and other assets 8,855 10,244
Notes recefvable ) 503 302
© Total current assets v Co 406,235 C 353932
Property and Equipiment:
Property and equipnent, at cost ) 1,101,681 - 1081219
Accummlated depreciation and amortization S (608,352) (574,687)
Net property and equiprment 493,329 506,532
Other Asscts:
Restricted cash and cash equivalents, less current postion 1,167 1,077
Restricted marketable debt securities, less ourrent portion 109,478 103,257
Deposits and other assets 14,786 12,728
Operating lease — right-ofusc assets 94,201 120,521
Goodwill ' 168,295 168,295
Intangible assets ) 7,038 7,038
Investments in unconsolidated conpanies 16,267 2,060
Total other assets 411,232 414,986
Totzl assets 3 1,310,796 § 1,275,450

The accompanying nates fo consolidated financial stateinents are an integral part of these consalidated statements.
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NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
Consclidated Balance Sheets
(in theusands, except share and per shave amounts)

Decenber 31,
2023 2022
Liabilities and Equity
Current Liabilities:
Trade accounts payable 3 19,194 & 16,958
Finance leasc obligations, current portion 860 4,985
Operating lease libilities, current portion 29,352 29.075
Accrued payroll 84,110 72,510
Ampunts due to third party payors 18,369 16,631
Accrued risk reserves, curent portion 30,549 31,365
Other current liabilitics 22,991 17,615
Dividends payable 9,051 8,748
" “"Total current liabilities 214,476 197,887
Finance lease obligations, less current portion - 860
Operating lease liabilities, less cument portion 63,175 91,016
Accrued sk reserves, less current portion 72,710 71,104
Refundable entrance fees 6,376 6,207
Defetted income taxes ' 17,200 10,509
Other noncurrent liabilities ) 26,379 19,953
“Total Habilitles = ' 400,316 397936
Bquitys: 5 .
Conmnon stock, 301 par value; 45,000,000 shares authorized; 15,350,661 and 15,357,746 shares, respectively, issued and
outstanding 153 153
Capital in excess of par value 227,604 226,991
Retained camings 687,599 656,064
‘Accumulated other comprehensive loss (6,604) 9,532
Totzl National HealthCare Corporation stockholders’ equity 908,752 874,276
Noncontrolling mterest 1,728 3,238
Total equity 910,430 877,514
"Fotal Habilities and equity $ 1310.79% § 1,275,450

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated statements,
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NATIONAT, HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
Cons olidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Year Fnded Decenber 31,
2023 2021
Cash Mows From Operating Activities:
Met income 5 (5,288 19977 % 135,087
Adjustments to reconcile net incore o net cash provided by operating activities:

) Depreciation and amortization 42,034 40,489 40,672
Fquity in eatnings of ynconselidated investments * - 2,015) 4T 5D
Distributions fromunconsolidated invesiments 470 439 6,314
Unrealized (gains) losseés ‘on marketable equity securities (14,944 15,806 13,863
(Gains) losses on sale of marketable scourities 667 1,326 {1,042
Gain on acquisition of equity method investment - - (95,202}
Cain on sale of property and equipment (6,230} — -
Impainment (recovery) of assets - (3,728) 8225
Deferred income taxes 5,768 5,995 {6,294
Stock-based conpensation 2,782 2,612 2,620
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Agcounts receivable (8,559 (3.862) 4,090
Inventories (298) 1,494 199
Prepaid expenses and other assets (669) (15,111 (3,298
Operating lease obligations (1,244) (430) -
Trade accounts payable 2,236 {5,530) (2,083)
Accrued payroll 11,600 (34,138) 17,292
“ Amcunss due 1o third party payors 1,738 (964) 649
Accrued risk reserves 790 4421 {1,489)
Provider relief funds - (9,443) {6,625)
Contract Jiabilities - (15,022) (36,231)
Other current lisbilities 5376 {2,444) (1,380
Qther noncurrent liabilities 6,420 3382 {11,462)
Net cash provided by aperating activities 111,216 8,742 62,394
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
Purchases of property and equipment (27,901} (30,200% (39,399)
Proceeds fromthe sale of property and equipiment - 4,175 -
Acquisition of sidlled nursing facility (2,700) - -
Investments in unconsolidated companies (4,661) - (350)
Acquisition of equity method investment - - {28,713)
(Investrents in) collections ofnotes receivable (201) 3879 8,840
Purchases of marketable securities {29,501} (33,793} (108,187)
Sale of marketsble secutities 47,396 45,961 101,920
Net cash used in investing activities (17,568) (5.978) (65,889)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
‘Pringipal payments under finance lease obligations (4,985) (4,695) (4.423)
Dividends paid to cormmon stockhalders (35,560} (34,604) (32,030
Issuance of common shares 313 2,114 3441
Repurchase of common shares (2,482) {9,903) (836)
Noncontrolling interest contributions (distributions} - 250 569
Enttance fee doposits (refinds) 169 (804} (452)
"""Net cash used in financing activitles (42,543) (47,642) (35,264)
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash, Cash Equivalents, Res tricted Cash, and Res tricted Cash
Fruivalents 51,109 (44,878) (38,759)
Cash, Cash Equivalents, Restricted Cash, and Restricted Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Period 74,865 119,743 158,502
Cash, Cash Equivalents, Restricted Cash, and Restricted Cash Equivalents, End of Period 3 125,968 74865 3 119,743
Balance Sheet Classifications:
Cash and cash equivalents 3 107,076 58,667 $ 107,607
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 18,852 16,198 12,136
$ 125,968 74,865 % 119,743

Total Cash, Cash Equivalents, Restricted Cash, and Restricted Cash Fguivalents
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NATIONAL HEALTHCART. CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(continued, in thousands)

Year Fnded Decenber 31,

2023 2022 2021
Supplemental Information:
Cash payments for interest b %0 3 493§ 845
Cash payments for income taxes 14,571 8,765 22,881
Non-cash activities include:
Noncontrolling interest contribution of land - - 2,840

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements ave an integral part of these consolidated statemen!s.
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Balance at January 1,2021

MNet inceme

“interest i

Other conprehensive loss

Stock-based compensation

Shates sold — options exercised

Repurchase of common shares

Dividends declared to cormumon stockholders
{$2.11 pershare)

. Contributions atfributable to noncontrolling -«

Balance at January 1, 2022 -

Net income

Contributions attributable to nonconttolling
interest

Other comprehensive loss

Stock-based compensation

Shares sold —options cxercised

Repurchase of common shares

Dividends declared 1o common stockholders
($2.26 per share)

Halance at Japuary 1,2023 71

Net income

QOther conprehensive income

Stock-based compensation

Shares soid — options exercised

Repurchase of cormmon shares

Dividends declared to common stockholders
($2.34 per share) )

Balance at December 31, 2023

NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION

Consolidated Statements of Equity

(in thousands, except for share and per share mpounts)

Accunulated
Capital in Other Non-
Corron Stock Excess of Retained Comprehensive controlling Tetal
Shares Adrount Par Value Farnings Income (Loss) Interest Equity
15,369,745 § 153 % 226943 & 563,024 & 5057 % 3083 0§ 798,260
- - - 138,590 - 497 139,087
= - - - - 1,876 1,876
- - -~ (3,452) - (3,452)
- - 2,620 - - - 2,620
50,725 i 3440 - - - 3441
(8437) - (836) - - - (836)
- — - {32,536} - - {32,536)
15452033 & 34 § 232167 § 66907 § 1605 § 545 §  S08460
- - 22445 - (2,468) 19,977
- - - - - 250 250
- - (11,137 - (11,137
- - 2,612 - — - 2,612
54,260 - 2114 — - 2,114
(148,547) {1) {9,502) - - - (5,903)
— - (34,859) - — {34,859)
15357,746 153§ 226991 § 650,664 3 9,532) 3 3238 % 877,514
- - - 60,798 - 1,510} 65,288
- - - - 2,928 - 2,928
— _ 2782 - - - 2,782
37,264 - 313 - - - 313
(44,34%) - (2,482 - - - (2,487
- - (35,863) - - (35,863)
15,350,661 & 153 3 227604 3 687,59 § 6,604y $ 1728 % 910,480

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated stalements,
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Notes to Consolidated Finaneial Statements

Note [ — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Nature af Operations

Naticnal HealthCare Corporation ("NHC" or "the Company") operaies, manages or provides services to skilled nursing facilities, assisted living facilities, independent
living facilities, homo health care agencies, hospice agencies, and behavioral health hospitals located in 8 Southeastem and Midwestern states in the United States, The most
significant part of our business rclates to skilled and intermediate numing care seftings in which we also provide assisted living and retirenent services, rehabilitative thempy
services, memory and Alzheimers care services, home health and hosplce scrvices, and behavioral health scrvices. In addition, we provide insurance services, management and
accounting services, and we lease propertics to operators of skilled nursing and assisted living facilities. The health care envitonment has continually undergone changes with
regard to federal and state reimburscment prograns and other payor sources, compliance regulations, gotpetition among other health care providers and patient care fitigation
issues, We continually monitor these industry developments as welt as other factors that affect our business,

Principles of Consolidation und Basis of Presentation

The censolidated financial statements, which are prepated in accordance with U.S, generally accepted accounting principles {("GAAP™, include our wholly owned and
controlled subsidiaries and affliates, Al significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation, The Company presents noncontrolling interest
within the equity section of its consolidated balance sheets. The Company presents the amount of consolidated net income that is attributable to NHC and the noncontrolling
interest in i3 consalidated statements of operations,

Variable interest entities (" ViFs™) in which we have an interest have been consclidated when we have been identified as the primary beneficiary, Investments in ventures
in which we have the ability to cxercise significant influence but do not have control over are accounted for using the equity method. Equity method investments are initially
recorded at cost and subsequently are adjusted for our share of the venture’s earnings or losses and cash distributions. Investments in entities in which we lack the ability to
exgreise significant influence are incleded in the consolidated financial statements at cost unless there has been a decline in the market valie of our investment that is deemed to be
other than temporary.

Lie of Esthnates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with US. GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions thet affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabsfities and disclosure of contingent assets and Fabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the repotting period.
Actual resukts could differ fromthose estimates and could cause our reported net income to vary significantly from period to period.

Nei Patient Revenues and Accounts Receivable

Net patient revenues are derived from services rendered to patients for skilled and intermediate nursing, rehabifitation therapy, assisted living and independent living,
home health cate services, hospice services, and behavioral health services. Net patient revenue is reported at the amount that reflects the consideration fo which the Conmpany
expects to be entitled in exchange for providing patient services, These amounts are due from patients, governmental programs, und other third-party payors, end include varable
consideration for retroactive revenue adjustments due to settlement of audits, reviews, and vestigations.

The Company recognizes revenue as its performance obligations are completed. Routine services are treated as a single performance obligation satisfied over time as
scrvices are Tondered. These routine services represent a bundle of services that arenot capable of being distinet. The perforirance obligations arc satisfied over time as the
paticnt sirmiltancously receives and consuires the benefits of the healtheare services provided. Additionally, there may be ancillary services which are not included in the daily
rates for routine services, but instead are treated as separate perfornmnce obligations satisficd at a point in tine when these services arc rendered. Contract lisbilities are recorded
for payments the Cormpany receives in which performance obligations have not been completed,

The Company determines the transaction price based on cstablished billing rates reduced by explict price concessions provided to third party payors. Explicit price
concessions are based on contractual agreements and historical experience. The Company considers the patieat's ability and intent to pay the amount of consideration upon
adrission, Credit Iosses are recorded as bad debt ¢xpense, which is included as a corponent of other operating expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. Bad debt
expense was $7,424,000, $4,711,000, and $3,886,000 for years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. As of December 31,2023, and 2022, the Company has recorded
allowance for doubtful accounts of $8,054,000 and $6,246,000, respectively, as our best estimate of probable losses inherent in the accounts receivable balance.
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Other Revenues

Other revenues include revenues fom the provision of insurance services, management and accounting services to other long—term care providers, and rental income,
Our insurance revenues consist of premiums that are generally paid in advance and then amortized into income over the pelicy period. We charge for management services based
on a pereentage of net revenues. We charge for accounting services bascd on a monthly foe or a fived fee per bed of the healthcare center under contract, We record other
revenues as the performance obligations arc satisfied based on the terts of our contractual arrangenents,

Wo recognize rental income based on the ters of our operating leases, Under certain of our leases, we receive variable rent, which is based on the increase in revenues of
a lessee over a base year. We recognize varizblc rent annually or monfhly, as applicable, when the actual revenue of the lessee is carned.

Government Grants

We account for govemtront grants in accordance with Iiternational Accounting Standard ("TAS™) 20, Accounting - for Govermmment Grants and Disclosure of Government
Assistance, and as such, we recognize grant income on a systemmtic basis in line with the recognition of specific exponses and Jost revenues for which the grants are intended to
cempensate,

Segmeit Reporting

In accordance with the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification (" ASC") 280, Segment Reporting, the Company is required to report financial and descriptive
information about its toportable operating segments. The Company has two reportable operating segments: (1) inpatient services, which includes the operation of skilled nursing
facilities, assisted and independent living faciiities, and behavioral health hospitals, and (2) hemecare and hospiee services, The Company also repotts an "afl other” categoty that
includes revenues from rental income, managenent and accounting services foes, insurance services, and costs of the corporate office. See Note 6 for further disclosure of the
Conpany’s operating segments.

Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses include the costs of care and services that we provide to the residents of our facilities and the costs of naintaining our facilities. Our primary
patient eare costs include drugs, medical supplics, purchased professional services, food, and professional Hability insurance and licensing fees. The primary facility costs include
utilities and property insurance.

General and Administrative Costs

With the Company being a healthcare provider, the mejority of cur expenses are "cost ofrevenue” items. Casts that could be classified as "general and administrative” by
the Company would include its corparate office costs, excluding stock-based compensation, which were $21,412,000, $20,651,000, and $20,160,000 for the years ended December 31,
2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents include highly fquid investiments with an criginal maturity of three months or less when purchased.
Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Marketable Securiiles

Restricted cash and cash equivalents and restricted matketable securitics represent assets that are primarily held by our wholly owned lindfed purpose insurance
companies for workers' commpensation and professional Lability claims.

Investments in Marketable Securities and Restricted Markefable Sectrities

Our investiments in merketable equity securitics are carried at fair value with the changes in unrealized gains and losses recognized in our results of operations at sach
scasurement date, Our investments in marketable debt scourities are classified as available for sale securitics and carticd at fair value with the unrcalized gains and losses
recegnized through accunmlated other comprehensive incofme/loss at each measuroment date. For available for sale debt scourities i an unrealized loss position, we first assess
whether wo intend to sell, or it is more likely than not that we will be required to sell the security before recovery ofthe amortized cost basis, If either of the criteria regarding intent
or requirernent to sell is met, the scourity’s cost basis is wiitten dowa to fair value through our results of operations. For debt scourities that do not meet the aforerrentioned
criteria, we evaluate whether the decfing in fair value has resulted from credit losses or other factors. If a credit loss exists, the present value of cash flows expected to be collected
fromthe security are compared to the cost basis of the secusity. If the present value of cash flows expected to be collected Is less than the amortized cost basis, & credit loss exists
and an allowance for credit losses is recorded for the credit loss, limited by the amount that the fair value is less than the amortized cost basis. Realized gains and logses from
sceurities ate recognized in results of operations upon disposition of the secutities using the specific identification method on a frade date bagis,
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Inventories

Inventories consist generally of food and supplies and are valued at the lower of cost or market, with cost determined on & first—in, fist—out (FTFO) basis.
Mortgage and Other Notes Receivable

In accordance with ASC Topic 310, Receivables, NHC evaluates the carrying values of its mortgage and other notes recefvable on an instrument-by-instrument basis. On
a quarterly basis, NHC reviews its notes receivable for recoverability when events or circumstances, inchding the non-receipt of contractual principal and interest payments,
significant deteriorations of the financial condition of the barmrower and significant adverse changes I general ceonomic conditicns, indicate that the canying ameunt of the note
reccivable mey not be recoversble. If necessary, impaitment is measured as the ampunt by which the carrying amount exceeds the discounted cash flows expected to be received
under the note teceivable or, if forcelosure is probable, the fair value of the collateral securing the note reccivable,

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recorded a recovery of a note reesivable of $3,728,000 dus to the botrower paying off the note. For the year ended
December 31, 2021, the Company recorded a credit loss provision for this same note receivable of $3,728,00 due to the financial instability of the borrower. The recovery and credit
loss provision of the note receivable Is recorded in the consolidated statements of operations under the line item "impairment {recovery) ofassets”.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost, Deprociation is provided by the stiaight—line method over the expected useful lives of the assets estimated as follows:
buildings and improverents, 2040 years and cquipment and fumiture, 3-15 years, Leasehold improvements are ametlized over perieds that do not exceed the non-cancelabie
tespective lease ters using the straight—line method.

Bwpenditures for repalts and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred. Betterments, which significantly extend the useful life, are capitalized. We remove the gosts
and related allowances for accurmlated depreciation or amortization from the accounts for properties sold or retired, and any resulting gains or losses ate included in income.

In accordance with ASC Topic 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment, we evalaate the recoverab ility of the camying values of pur properties on a property-by-property
basis, We review our properties for recoverability when events or circunmtances, including significant physical changes in the property, significant adverse changes i general
econonic conditions, and significant deteriorations of the underlying cash flows of the property, indicate that the carrying amount of the property may not be recoverable, The
need to recognize impairment is based an estimated future undisceunted cash flows from a property over the remeining usefirl life conpared to the canying vafue of that property,
Ifrecognition of impainent is necessary, it is measured as the amount by which the canying amount of the property exceeds the estinated fair value ofthe property. Managemont
has evaluated long-lived assets and determined there were inpairment charges of 80, 30, and $4,497,000 during the years ended Decerber 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.
The 2021 impainvent charges were recorded in the consolidated statements of operations under the line item "inpaimnent of assets” and were due to the August 2022 exit of the
seven skilled nursing facifitics it Massachusetts and New Hanpshire,

Business Combinations

We account for acquisitions using the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with ASC 805, Business Combinations. Acquisitions are accounted for as
purchases and ate included in our consolidated financial staterents from their respective acquisition dares, Assets acquired and liabilities assumed, if any, are measured at fair
value on the acquisition date using the appropriate valuation method. Goodwill generated fromacquisitions is recognized for the excess of the purchase price over the fair vaue of
tangible and identifisble intangible assets acquired and abilities agsumed. In determining the fair value of identifiable assets, we use various valuation techniques. These
velnation methods require us to make estimates and assumptions surounding projected revenues and costs, firture growth, and discount rates.

Lang-Term Leases

The Company’s lease portfolio primarily consists of finance and operating real estate leases for certain skilled nursing faclities, assisted and independent living facilities,
homecare and hospice offices, and pharmacy warehouses. The orjginal terms of the leases typically range fomtwo to fiftecn years, Several of the real estate leascs inchide renewal
options which vary ja length and may not include specific rent renewal anpunts. We determine if an amangement is a lease at inception of a contract. We detenmine the lease term
by assuming excreise of rencwal options that are reasonably certain.

The Company records right-of-use assets and Jiabilities for non-cancelable real estate operating leases with original or remaining lease terms in exeess of one year. Leases
with a lease term of 12 months or less at inception are not recorded and are expensed on a straight-line bagis over the leasc torm We recognize lease components and non-iease

components together and not as separatc parts of a lease for real cstate leascs,
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Operating lease right-of-use assets and fiabilities are recorded at the present value of the lease payients over the lease term. The present vahic of the lease payments are
discounted using the ineremental borrowing rate associated with each: lease. The variable components of the lease paytent that flactuate with the operations ofa health facility are
not included in detersining the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. Rather, these variable corrponents are expensed as incurred,

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the Zair value of identifiable net assets acquired in business combinations, Goodwill is not amortized bul is
subject to an annual impairment test, We perform our annual goodwill mpaimment assossment on the first day of the fourth quarter. Tosts are performed rore fequently if events
occut, of circunstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of the reporting unit below its carrying amount.

The Corpany’s indefinite-lived intangible assets consist of trade names and certificates of need and licenses. The Company reviews indefinite-lived intangible assets for
impainnent en an anmual basis or more frequently ifevents or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the intangible asset imay not be recoverable,

Acerued Risk Reserves

We are self-insured for risks related to workers' compensation and gencral and professional liability insurance. We have two wholly—owned limited purpose insurance
companies that insure these risks. Acorued risk reserves represent the accrual for risks asseciated with workers’ compensation and professional liability clains. The acerued risk
reserves include a Hability for unpaid reported claims and estimates for incurred but unreported claims. Our policy with respect to a significant portion of our workers’
compensatien and professional and genera) liability claims is to use an actuary to assist menagement in estimating cur exposure for claims obligation {for both asserted ang
unasserted clins), We reessess our acomed risk reserves on a quarterly basts, with changes in estimated losses being recorded In the consalidated statements of operations in
the period first identified.

Other Current Liabilities
Other current liabilities primarily represent accruals for cument federal and state income taxes, real estate taxes and other current liabilities.
Continuing Care Contracts and Refundable Entrance Fees

We have one continuing care retirement center (" CCRC”) within our operations. Residents at this retirement center may enter info continuing care contracts with us. The
contract provides that 10% of the resident entry fee becowres non—refundable upon occupancy, and the renmining refindable portion of the entry fee is caleulated using the lessor
of the price at which the apartment is re-assigned or 90% of'the original entry fee, plus 40% of atry appreciation if the apartent exceeds the criginal resident’s entry fee,

Nonsefiundable fees are included as a component of the transaction price and are amortized into revenue over the actuarially determined remaining life of the resident,
which is the expected period of accupancy by the resident, We pay the refundable portion of our entry fees to residents when they relocate from our comminity and the apartment
is re-ocoupied. Refundable entrance fees are not included as part of the transaction price and are classified as refundable entrance fees in the Conpany's consotidated balance
sheets. The balances of refundable entrance fees as of December 31, 2023 and Decerber 31, 2022 were $6,376,000 and $6,207,000, respectively.

We annually estinuate the present value of the net cost of future setvices and the nse of facilities to be provided to the current CCRC residents and compare that amount
with the balance of non—refundable deferred revenue from entrance fees received, If the present value of the net cost of figture services exceeds the related anticipated revenucs, a
Hability is recorded (obligation to provide fiture services) with a corresponding charge to income, The obligation to provide future services is included in other nongurrent
liabilities in the Company’s consclidated balance sheets. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, we have recorded a future service obligation in the amounts of $1,606,000 and $2,218,000,
respectively.

Other Noncurrent Liabilities
Other noncurrent lisbilities include reserves primarily related to various uncertain income tax positions, deferred revenue, and obligations to provide services to our CCRC
residents. Deforred tevenue mchides the deferred gain on the sale of assets {o National Health Corporation ("National”) and the non-refundable portion of OCRC entrance fees

being amoertized over the remaining life expectancies of the residents,

53




Table of Contents
Tcome Taxes

We utilizz ASC Topic 740, income Taxes, which requires an asset and liability approach for financial accounting and reporting for income taxes, Under this guidance,
deferred tax assets and Habilities are detenmined based upon differences between financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities and are measured using the cnacted tax
Jaws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse, The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in fax rates is recognized mnincome in the period
that includes the enactment date. See Note 13 for further discussion of our accounting for income taxes.

Also, under ASC Topic 740, fitcome Taxes, tax positions are evaluated for recognition using a more-likcly—than—not thresheld, and those tax positions requiring
tecognition are measured at the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settiement with a fexing autherity that has fall
knowledge of all relevant information. Liabilities for Income tax matters include amounts for income taxss, applicable penalties, and intcrest thereon and are the result of the
potential aiternative interpretations of tax laws and the judgmental nature of the thring ofrecognition of taxable income.

Nencontrolling Interest

The noncontrolling interest in a subsidiaty is presented within total equity in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. The Company presents the nonconirolling
interest and the amount of consolidated net incotne atiributable to NHC in its consolidated statements of operations, The Company's eamings per share is caiculated based on net
ncome attributable to NHC’s stackholders. The catrying amount of the noncontrolling interest is adjusted based on an allocation of subsidiary ¢amings based on cwnetship
interest.

Stock—Based Compensation

Stock—based awards granted include stock options, restricted stock units, and stock purchased under our enployee stock purchase plan. Stock-based compensation cost
is measured at the grant date, based on the fair value of the awards, and is recognized as expense over the requisite service period only for those equity awards expected to vest,

The fair value of the restricted stock units is determined based en the stock price on the date of grant. We estimated the fair valie of stock options and stock purchased
under our employee stock purchase plan vsing the Blacl—Scholes model. This model utilizes the estimated fairvalue of commen stock and requires that, at the date of grant, we use
the expected term of the grant, the expected volatility of the price of our conmun stock, risk—fiec interest rates and expected dividend yiold of cur conmon stock, The fair value is
anottized on a straight—fine basis over the requisite service periods of the awards,

!

Comprehensive Income

ASC Tepic 220, Comprehensive Ficome, tequires that changes in the amounts of certain itens, including unrealized gains and losses on marketable debt securities, be
shown in the consolidated Fnancial statements as comprehensive income, We report comprehensive income in the consolidated statements of comprehensive incone and also in
the consolidated statements of stockholders” equity.

Coticemration of Credit Risks

Our credit risks prinarily relate to cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash cquivalents, accounts teceivable, marketable securities, restricted marketable
securities and notes receivable. Cash and cash equivalents are primarily held in bank accounts and ovemight investments. Restricted cash and cash equivalents are primarily
invested in commercial paper and certificates of deposit with financial institutions and other interest-bearing accounts. Accotnts receivable consist prinarily of amounts due from
patients (funded through Medicare, Medicaid, other contractual programs and through private payors) and from other health care conpanies for managenent, accounting and
other services. We perform continnal credit evaluations of our clients and maintain appropiate allowances for doubtful accounts on any accounts receivable proving uncolicetible,
and continually monitor and adjust these allowances as necessary. Marketable socutities and restricted merketable securitics are held primarily in accounts with brokerage
institutions, Notcs receivable relate primarily to secured loans with health care faclities,

At any point in time we have finds i our eperating accounts and restricted cash accounts that are with third party financial institutions. These balances in the U.S, may
exceed the Federal Deposit Tnsurance Corporation {"FDIC”) insuzance limits. While we monitor the cash balances it our eperating accounts, these cash and restricted cash
halances could be impacted if the underlying financial institations fail er could be subject to other adverse conditions in the financial markets,

Qur financial instruments, prineipally our notes recoivable, are subject to the possibility of loss of the camying values as a result of the failurc of other parties to porform
aceording to their contractual obligations, We obtain varfous collateral and other protective rights, and continually monitor these rights in order to reduce such possibilities of
credit loss, We cvaluate the need to provide reserves for potential credit losses on our financial instruments based on management's petiodic review of the portfolio on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.
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Accounting Guidance Not Yet Adopted

In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board {"FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU”) No. 2023-07, " Segment Reporting (Topic 280):
Improvement to Reportable Segment Disclosures” The ASU fproves reportable segment disclosure requirements, primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant
segment cxpenses. In addition, the arendments enhance interim disclosure requirements, clarify circumstances in which an entity can disclose multiple segment measures of profit
and loss, and contain other disclosure requirerents, This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after Decenber 15, 2023 and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after
Docendser 15, 2024., Barly adoption is pemitted, We are currently evaluating the fmpact this standard willhave on our disclosures.

Note 2 — Coronavirus Pandemic (M"COVID-19")

In early March 2020, COVID-19, a discase caused by the novel strain of the coronavirus, was cheracterized as a pandermic by the Wotld Fealth Organization, The U.S,
govemment enacted several laws beginning in March 2020 designed to help the nation respond to the COVID-19 pandemic, The laws impacted healthcare providers in a variety of
ways, but the largest legislation froma monetary relief perspective was the Coronavims Aid, Relief, and Econonzic Security Act (the "CARES Act”}), Throngh the CARES Act, as
well as the Paycheck Protection Program and Health Care Enhancerrent Act ("PPPCHE"), the federal government allocated $178 billion to the Public Health and Social Services
Energency Fund, which is referred to as the Provider Relief Fund, The Provider Relief Fund is administered through grants and other mechanisms to skilled nuwsing providers,
hone health providers, hespitals, and other Medicare and Medicaid enrolled providers to cover unreimbursed health care related expenses or lost revenue atiributable to the public
health energency resulting from COVID-15.

The Provider Relief Fund grants come with terns and condition certifications in which all providers are required to submit documents to ensure the funds are used for
healthcare-telated expenses or lost revenue attributable to COVID-19, The Company recorded $0, $11,457,000 and $63,360,000 of govemnment stimukis income from the Provider
Relief Funds for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respestively. The grant income was determined on a systentc basis in line with the recognition of specilic
expenses and los{ revenues for which the grants are intended to conpensate. The Company’s assessment of whether the terms and conditions for ameunts received have been met
for income recognition and the Company’s related income caleulation considered ali Eequently asked questions and other interpretive guidance ssued to date by the U.S,
Department of Health and Hunan Services {"HHS™).

We have also received supplemental Medicuid payments from many of the states in which we operate to help mitigate the incremental labar and medical supply costs

resulting fromthe public health emergency, We have recorded $20,214,000, $19,442,000 and $20,482,000 in net patient revenues for these supplemental Medicaid payments for the
years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Note 3 — Net Patient Reventes
The Company disaggregates revenue from contracts with custetners by service type and by payor.
Revenue by Service Tipe

The Company’s net patient services can generally be classified into the following two categories: {1} inpatient services, which includes the operation of skilled nursing
facilities, assisted and mdependent living facilities, and behavioral health hospitals, and (2) homecare and hospice services (in thousands),

Year Ended Decerber 31,
2023 2022 2021
Inpatient services $ 936,077 § 900,231 § 868,687
Hemecare and hospice services 131,537 128,854 96,855
Total net patient revemes 3 1087614 3 1029085 § 965,542
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. For inpatient and hospice services, revenue is recognized on a daily basis ag each day represents a separate contract and performance abligation. For homecare, revenue
is rec.ogmzed when services are provided based on the number of days of service rendered in the period of care or on a per-visit basis. Typically, patients and third-party payors
are billed monthly after services are performed or the patient js discharged, and payments are due based on contract tems,

As our performance obligations relate fe contracts with a duration of one year or less, the Company is not required to disclose the aggregate amount of the transaction
price allocaled to performance obligations that are unsatisfied or partially unsatisficd at the end of the reporting peried. The Cotrpany has minimal unsatisfied perfornance
obligations at the and of the reporting periad as our patients are typically underno obligation to remain adiriticd in our facilities or under our care. As the period between the time
ofservice and tire of payment is typically one year or less, the Company did not adjust for the effects of a significant financing component.

Reventie by Payor

Certain groups of patients receive fands to pay the cost of their care from a common source. The following table sets forth sources of net patient revenues for the
periods indicated:

Year Bnded Decenber 31,
Source 2023 2022 2021
Medicare - 34% 37% 36%
Managed Care ) 1% 10% 11%
Medicaid o 30% 8% 29%
Private Pay and Other 26% 25% 24%
Total 100% 100% 100%

Medicare covers skilled nursing services for beneficiaries who require nursing care and/or rehabilitation services following a hospitafization of at least three consecutive
days, For each cligihle day a Medicare beneficiary is in a skilled nursing facility, Medicare pays the facility a daily payment, subject to adjustment for certain factors such as a wage
index in the geographic area. The payment covers all services provided by the skilled nursing facility for the beneticiary that day, including reomand board, nursing, therapy and
drugs, as well as an estimate of capitab-related costs to deliver those services,

For homecare services, Medicate pays based on the acuity level of the patient and based on perieds of carc. A period of care is defined as a length of care up to 30 days
with nuitiple continucus periods allowed. The services coversd by the payment include all disciplines of care, in addition fo medical supplies, within the scope ef the home health
benefit.

For hospice services, Medicare pays a dafly rate to cover the hospice's costs for providing services included in the patient care plan, Medicare makes daily payments
based on t of 4 levels of hospice care, All hospice carc and services offered to patients and their fantlies rust follow an individualized written plan of care that mects the patient’s
needs,

Our hospice service revenue is subject to cortain limitations on payments from Medicare, We are subject to an inpatient cap limit and an overall Medicare payment cap for
each provider number. We monitor these caps on a pravider-by-provider basis and estinute amounts due back to Medicare if we estimate a cap has been exceeded, Happlicable,
we record these cap adjustments as a reduction to revenue.

Medicaid is operated by individual states with the financial participation of the foderal govemment. The states in which we aperate currently use prospective cost-based
reimbursement systens, Under cost—based reimbursement systems, the skilled numsing facility is reimbursed for the reasonable direct and indirect allowable costs it incumed in a
base year in providing routine resident care services as defined by the program

Private pay, managed care, and other payment sources inclide commercial insurnce, mdividual patient funds, managed care plans and the Yeterans Administration.
Private paying patients, private insurance carriers and the Veterans Administration generally pay based on the heaitheare center’s charges or specifically negotiated contracts. For
ptivate pay patients in skilled nursing, assistod living and independent living facilities, the Company bills for reom and board ¢harges, with the remittance being due on receipt of
the statement and generally by the 10th day of the month the services are performed.

Cettain managed care payors for homecare services pay on a per-visit basis. This revenue is recorded on an accrual basis based upon the date of services at amounts
equal to its established or estineted per-visit rates.
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Third Party Payors

Laws and regulations goveming the Medicare and Medicaid programs are complex and subject to interpretation. Nonconypliance with such laws and regulations can be
subject to regulatory actions including fines, penaltics, and exclusion from the Medicare and Medicaid prograts, We belicve that we arc following all applicable laws and
regulations.

Medicare and Medicaid program revenucs, as well as certain Managed Care program revenues, are subject to audit and retroactive adjustment by govemnment
representatives or their agents. Settlements with third-party payors for retroactive adjustments due to audits, reviews or investigations arc considered variable consideration and
are included in the determination of the estimated transaction price for providing patient care. These seftlements are estinmted based on the terns of the payment agreement with
the payor, correspondence from the payor and tho Company’s historical settlement activity, ineluding an asscssment to ensure that it is probable that a significant revorsal in the
amount of curmilative rovenue recognized will not cccur when the uncertainty asscciated with the retroactive adjustment is subsccuently rosolved. Estimated settloments are
adjusted in future periods as adjustments beeone known, or as years are settled or arg no longer subject to such audits, reviews, and investigations, We believe that any
difforences between the net revenucs recorded, and final determination will not naterially affect the consolidated financial statoments, We have made provisions of approxmately
$18,369,000 and $16,631,000 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, for various Medicare, Medicaid, and Managed Care claims reviews and current and prior year cost
reperts.

Note 4 — Other Revenues

Other revenues are outlined in the table below, Reventics from rental incone include health care real estate properties owned by us and leased to third paity operators,
Revenues from nanagement and accounting services include fees provided to nmanage and provide accounting services to other healthcare operators, Revenues from msurance
services include premimme for workers’ compensation and professional liability insurance policies that our wholly owned insurance subsidiaries have written for certaln healthcare
operators to which we provide management or accounting services, "Other" revenues include miscellaneous healih care related eamings (i thousands).

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Rental income ' . 5 23926 % 23450 8 2,717
Management and accounting scrvice feey ' 18,54 16,160 R
Insurance services 3,857 4,766 5,019
Other 1373 819 525
Gain on sale of property and equipment 6,230 - -

Total other revenues § 53930 8§ 45,195 % 45400

Rental Income

The Corpany leases real estate assets consisting of skilled nursing facilities and assisted living facilities to third party operators. Additionally, we sublease four Florida
skilled nursing facilities included in our lease from National Health Investors ("NHI" as noted in Note 7 — Long Term Leases, Rental income reflected in the consolidated
stalements of operations consisted of the following (in fiousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Operating lease paynents o ' $ 2928 $ 23019 § 22,609
Variable lease payments 998 412 108
Totalrental incoime ) b 23926 § 23451 % 22,717
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Variable lease payments are based on revenue increases as compared to a base year.

The following table sets forth the undiscounted cash flows for future mininum lease payments receivable for leases in effect at December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

2024 - SR $ 22,933
225 ) 22,824
2026 ) 20,314
2027 73
Thereafter —_—
Total future minimim lease payments ' . $ 66,150

Maragement Fees from National
We have managed skilled nursing faeilities for National since 1988, and we currently manage five facilities. See Note 18 regarding our relationship with National,

During 2023, 2022 and 2021, we recognized approximately $5,200,000, $4,332,000, and $3,915,000, respectively, of nmnagenent fees and interest on management fees.
Unrecognized and unpaid management fees and interest on ranagement fees fromNational total $19,046,060 and $18,843,000 at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The unpaid foes from these five facilities, because cellostion of substantially all of the contract consideration was not probable when the perfonmance obligation was
satistied, will be recognized as revenues only in the period in which the amounts are received, Under the terms of cur managenent agreement with National, the payment of these
fees to us may be subordinated to other expenditures of the five skilled nursing facifities, We continue to manage thess faellities so that we may be able to cellect our fees i the
future and becanse the incremental savings from discontinuing services to & facility may be small conpared to the potential benefit. We may receive payrent for the unrecognized
management fees n whole or in part in the future only if cash fows fromthe operating and investing activities of centers or proveeds fiomthe sale of the centers are sufficient to
pay the fees. There can be no assurance that such future improved cash flows will oceur,

Maragement Fees and Financial and Accounting Services for Other Healtheare Centers

We provide management services and financial and accounting services to certain healtheare facilities (in addition to the five National centers) operated by third party
owners, For the years ended Decerber 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, we recognized management fees and financial and accounting fees of $13,344,000, $11,828,000, and $13,224,000 from
these centers, respectively.
Tnsurance Services

For workers' compensation insurance services, the premium. revenues reflected in the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022
and 2021 were $2,611,000, $2,689,000, and $2,974,000, respectively. Associated losses and expenses ere reflected in the consolidated statements of operations as " Salaties, wages
and benefits."

For professional liability insurance services, the premiymrevenues reflected in the conselidated staterents of operations for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and
2021 were $1,246,000, $2,077,000, and $2,045,000, respectively. Associated losses and expenses including those for self-insurance are incladed in the consolidated statements of
operatiens as "Other opefating costs and expenses”,

Gain on Sale of Property and Equipment

Tn 2023, wo contributed land to a newly-formed limited liablity corpany resulting in an equity interest in the new entity. The fair value of the Jand contributed to the new
entity was $8,000,000, The related cost basis ofthe contributed land was $1,770,000, which resulted in a gain of $6,230,000,

Note 5 — Non-Operating Income

Non—operating incore includes equity in eamings of unconsolidated ivestments, dividends and other realized gains and losses on marketable securities, and interest
incone {in thousands).

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Bguity in camnings ofunconsolidated investments $ 2015 8 477 % 5,111
Dividends and net realized gains or losses on the sak of securities 6,262 5,530 7,59%
Interest income 8,383 5,134 4,565
Total non-operating incomme $ 16660 § 11,141 § 17,774
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Caris HealthCare, LP. (" Caris”)

On June 11, 2071, the Conpany acquired the renzining 24.5% cquity interest in Carls HealthCare, LP. ("Caris™). Prior to the June 11, 202! acquisition date, Caris was our
most significant equity method mvestment with 2 75.1% non-contrelling ownership interest. Fromthe respective acquisition date, Caris' finaneial infonmation is now included in the

Company’s consolidated financial statements and is no longer accounted for as an equity method investment.

Note 6 — Business Segments

The Corpany has two reportable opetating segments: (1) inpatient services, which includes the operation of skilled nursing facilities, agsisted and independent living
facilities, and behavioral health hospitals; and (2) homecare and hospice services, These reportable opemting segments are consistent with information used by the Company’s
Chief Executive Officer, as chief operating decision maker ("CODM™), to assess performance and allocate resources, The Company also reports an "all other” category that
includes revenues from rental income, management and accounting services fees, msurance services, and costs of the corporate office.

The Company’s CODM evaluates performance and allocates capital resources to each sepment based on an eperating model that is designed to improve the quality of
patient care and profitability of the Conpany while enhancing long-term shareholder value, The CODM does nat review assets by segment in his resource allocation and therefore,

assets by segment ate not disclosed below.

The following tables set forth the Conpany’s consolidated statenents of operations by business segent (in thousandsy:

Year Bnded Decenber 31, 2023

Inpatient Homecare
Services and Hospice All Other Total
Revenues: : - .
Net patient revenues _ ' % 956077 $ 131,537 - 3 1,087,614
Otherrevenues * -~ ol - : B 1,141 - 52,789 53,930
Net operating revenues 957213 131,537 52,789 1,141,544
Costs and Expenses:
Salaries, wages and benefits 589,279 80,610 42 455 712,344
Other operating 254,559 23,529 10,053 288,183
Facility rent ) 33,7187 2,172 5,566 41,525
Depreciation and amortization 38,172 786 3,076 42,034
Interest ; 324 ~ - 324
Total costs and expenses 916,121 107,007 61,192 1,084,410
Income (loss) before non-operating income 41,097 24440 (8,043) 57,134
Non-operating incoime - - 16,660 16,660
Unrealized gains on marketable equity securities - - 14,944 14,944
Income before income taxes $ 41,097 3 24440 23201 § 88,738
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Year Ended Decenber 31, 2022

Inpatient Homecare
Services and Hospice All Other Total
Revenues:
Net patient revenues $ 900231 § 128854 % - 3 1,029,085
Other revenucs : 136 - 45,060 45,196
Govemment stinmlus income 11,457 ~ — 11,457
Net operating revenues and grant income ) 911,824 128,854 45,060 1,085,738
Costs and Fxpenses: ER : -
Salaries, wages and benefits 580,707 77,688 27,774 686,169
Otheroperating =~ 0t ) 251,355 26,319 11,698 289,372
Facility rent 32,956 2,327 5,694 40,977
Depreciation and amortization : 36,522 691 3,276 40,489
~ Inferest ' 563 - - 563
Recovery of assets ’ - — (3,728) (3,728}
Totalcosts and cxpenses 902,103 107,025 44,714 1,053,842
Income before non-operating income 8721 21,829 346 31,896
Non-operating income e - - 11,141 11,141
Unrealized losses on marketable equity securities - - {15,806) (15,806)
Ingore {Joss) before income taxes 3 9721 § 21829 % @39 § 27,231
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Year Ended Decenber 31, 2021

[npatient Homecare
Services and Hospice All Other Total

Revenues:

Net pationt rovenues $ 868,687 $ 96,855 $ - 3 665,542

Other revenues RN 386 - 45,014 45,400

Government stinulus incoms 63,360 - — 63,360

Net opemting revenues and grant income - ) 932,433 06,855 45,014 1,074,302

Costs and Expenses:

Salaries, wages and benefits 557,604 59,226 49,233 666,063

Other operating 238,354 16,053 12,347 266,754

Facility rent 32,819 2,064 5,935 40,818

Depreciation and amoriization 36,890 443 3,339 40,672

Interest 845 - - 845

Inpairment of assets 4497 - 3,728 8,225

Total costs and expenses o . 871,009 17,786 74,582 1,023,377

Income (loss) before non-operating income 61,424 15,069 (25,568) 50,925
Non-operating incotre ) - - 17,74 17,774
Guin on acquisition of equity method investment - - 95,202 95,202
Unrealized losses on marketable equity securities - - (13,863) (13,863}
Tncowe before income taxes 3 61424 % 19068 3 69,545 % 150,038

Note 7 — Long—Term Leases
Operating Leases

At December 31, 2023, we lease from NHI the real property of 28 skilled nursing fucilities, five assisted Yiving centers and three independent living centers under ong
mester lease agreement, As part of the lease agrecment, we sublease four Florida skiiled nursing facilities to a third-party operator, The lease includes base rent plus 4 percentage
rent.

The annual base rent was $34.075,000 in 2023, The annual base rent is $32,625,000 in 2024, $32,225,000 in 2025, and $31.975,000 in 2026 with the lease torm expiring at
Decermiver 31, 2026, The percentage rent is based on a quartesly caleulation of revenue increases and is payable on a quarterly basls, Percentage rent exponse under the NHI lease
agreements for 2023, 2022, and 2021 was 55,549,000, $3,887,000 and 3,721,000, respectively.

We have a right of first refusal with NHI to purchase any of the properties should NAI receive an offer from an unrelated party during the term of the lease or up to 130
days after tormination of the related lease,

Finance Leases

Effective March 1, 2014, NHC began leasing and operating three senior healtheare facilities in the state of Missouri under thiee separate lease agreements. Two of the
healtheare facilities are skilled nursing facilities thal also include assisted living facilities and the third healthcare facility is a memory cate facility. Each of the leases is 2 ten-year
lease with two five—year renewal options. Under the terms of the leases, base rent totals $5.200,000 annually with rent thereatter escalating by 4% of the increase in facility revenue
over the 2014 base year, With the ten-year fease term ending on March I, 2024, we have chosen not to renew or extend the leases and will be exiting these thrce healthcare
operations at that time,

Fixed assets recorded under the finance leases, which are included in property and equipment in the consolidated balance sheets, are as follows (in thousaids);

Decenber 31,
2023 2022
Buildings and personal property $ 39,001 % 39,011
Accurmulated amortization (38,359) (34,482)
3 647§ 4,529
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Lease Classification

The Company recorded the following on the consolidated balance sheets {in thousands):

December 31,
Right-of-Use Assets Ralance Sheet Classification 2023 2022
Finance kease assets Net propetty and equipment 647 8 4,529
Operating lease right-of use assets Operating lease right-of-use assets 94,201 120,521
Tatal o ' 04,848 3 125,050
Decenber 31,
I easc Liabilities Balance Sheet Classification 2023 2022
Current;
Finance lease liabilities Finance lease obligations, current portion 80 3 4,985
Operating lease liabilities Operating lease liabilities, current portion 29,352 29,075
Noncurrent:
Finance lease Lizbilities Finance lease obfigations, less current portion - 360
Operating lease liabilitics Opetating lease Liabilities, less cument portion 63,175 91,016
Total B 53387 8§ 125,936
Weighted-average remmining lease terms and discount rates wore as follows:
Decerber 31,
_ _ 003 2022
Weighted-average reaining lease terms {in years)
Finance 0.2 12
Operating 3.0 4.0
Weighted-average discount rate
Finance 6.0% 6.0%
Operating 6.6% 6.6%
Lease Costs
Lease costs recorded in the consolidated statement of operations are as follows (in thonsands):
Decenber 31,
2023 2022 2021
Finance lease costs:
Depreciation of leased assets 5 1882 % 3878 § 3,505
Interest of lease Liabilities 215 534 807
Total finance kase costs 4,007 4412 4,712
Operating lease costs:
Operating lease costs 34,953 36,051 36,079
Variable lease costs 5,549 3,887 3,721
Short-termlease costs 1,023 1,039 1,018
Total operating lc_ase costs 41,525 40,977 40,818
Total lease costs $ 45622 % 45389 8 45,530
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Mininunt Lease Paviments

The following table summarizes the maturity of cur finance and operating leasc liabilities as of Decerber 31, 2023 (in thousands).

Finance Operating
- ) ) Lcases Leases
2024 - o $ 867§ 442
2025 - 33,645
26 T - 32,955
2027 — 496
2028 Sl - 198
Thereafier o - 32
Total minimum lease payments PR Lo : L $ 867 § 101,768
Less; amounts representing interest (7 {9,241)
Present value of future minimuimlease payments -7 ' 860 92,527
Less: current portion (860) (29,352)
Noncurvent leage liabilities $ - § 63,175
Other
Supplerental cash flow data were as follows (in thousands):
December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:

Operating cash flows for operating leases $ 36,198 § 36051 3% 36,079

Operating cash flows for finance leases 215 534 807

Financing cash flows for finance leases 4985 4,695 4,423

Note 8 — Earning Per Share

The following table summarizes the earnigs and the weighted average number of coromen shares used in the caleulation of basic and diluted eamings per share (in
thousands, except share and per share amounts}:

Year Bnded December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Basic: .
Weighted average common shares outstanding 15,314,142 15,410,222 15,347,129
Net incone attributable to cormon stockhoelders of National Healihcare Cosporation $ 66798 8§ 22445 % 138,590
Eatmings per common share, basic 3 436 8 146§ 903
Dilted: "~ _
Waighted average common shares outstanding 15,310,142 15410,222 15,347,129
Dilutive effect of stock options 67,201 36,985 60,587
Assumed average common shares cutstanding 15,377,343 15,447,211 15416716
Net incone attributable fo cormmon stockholders of National Healthcare Corporation $ 66,798  § 22445 8 138,590
Eamnings per common share, dituted § 434 % 145 % 8.99

Tn the above table, ogtions to purchase 588,534, 375,638, and 291,946 shares of our common stock have been excluded for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and
2021, respoctively, due to their anfi-dilutive impact.
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Note 9 — Investients in Marketable Sccurities

Marketable securities consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Amportized Fair Amortized Fair
Cost Value Cost Value

Investments available for sale: :
Marketable equity securities ) $ 30,176 3 1,117 3 30,176 § 100,786
Comporate debt securities ’ K 2,497 2441 14,317 13,885
Assef-backed secunities - - 500 494
11,8, Treasury securities ' IR . : 2,990 2,986 9,009 8,757

Restricted investments available for sale:

Markatable equity securities Gt T - 24,134 26,779 24,326 22,358
Corperate debt securities 59,586 57,731 54,412 51,009
Asset-backed securities ’ . 19,388 17,659 24,605 22,437
U.S. Treasury securities 46,771 42,863 45,989 41,294
State and municipal securities 4106 4,047 4,877 4771
5 189,648 265623 § 208211 % 265,791

Included in the matkotable equity sccurities available for sale are the following (in thousands, except share amounts):

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Fair ) Fair
Shares Cost Vale Shares Cost Value
NHI Cornmon Stock 1,630,642 $ 24734 3 91,071 1,630,642 3§ 24734 % 85,152

The amortized cost and estimated fair value of debt securities classifled as available for sale, by contractual matutity, are as follows (i thousands):

Decentber 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Fair Fair
Cost Value Cost Value

Maturities:
Within 1 year § 19664 % 19328 % 33662 % 33,037
1to Syears 81,517 77,118 81,500 76,394
6to 10 years 33,515 30,802 38,547 33,216
Over 10 years 642 479 — -

3 135338 § 123,721 % 153,709  § 142,647

Gross unrealized gains related to marketable equity sceurities are $84,514,000 and 371,869,000 as of Decexrber 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Gross unrealized losses
related to marketable cquily securitis are $928,000 and $3,227,000 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, For the year ended Decermber 31, 2023, the Company recognized
net unreatized gains of 14,944,000, For the years endled 2022, and 2021 the Company recognized net unreafizmd losses of $15,806,000, and $13,863,000, respectively, in the
consolidated statenments of operations.

Gross unrealized gains related to available for sale marketable debt securitics are $326,000 and $9,000 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, Gross unrealized
losses related to available for sale marketable debt securities are $7,937,000 and $11,071,000 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The Company’s unrealized losses in our available for sale marketable debt securities were determined to be non-credit related. The Company has nat recognizod any credit
related impaiments for the years ended Decerber 31,2023 and 2022,
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For the marketable debt securities in gross unrealized loss positions, (a) it is more Bkely than not that the Conpany will not be required to scll the investnent securities

before recovery of the unrealized losses nor does the Conpary have the intent to sell before recovery of unrealized losses, and (b) the Company expeots that the contractual
principal and interest will be received on the investment securities.

Proceeds fromthe sale of available for sale marketablo scourities during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 were $47,396,000, $49,961,000, and $101,520,000,

respectively. Net investmont losses of $667,000 and $1,326,000 and et Investment gains of $1,042,000 were rcalized on these sales during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022,
and 2021, respectively.

Note 10 — Fair Value Measurements

The accounting standard for fair value measurements provides a framework for measuring fair value and requires expanded disclosures regarding fair value measurements.
Fair valuc is defined as the price that would be received for an asset or the exit price that would be paid to transfer a Hability in the principal or most advantageous market in an
orderly transaction between market partigipants on the measurement date, This accounting standard establishes a fair value hierarchy, which requires an entity 1o meximize the vse
of observable inputs, where available, The following summarizes the three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:

Level | —The vakiation is bused on qaoted prices in active markets for identical instruments.

Level 2— The valuation is based an observable inputs such as quoted prices for similar instruments in active nurkets, quoted prices for identical or simlar ins truwents in
markets that are not active, znd model-based valuation techniques for which all significant assumptions are cbsetvable in the markst,

Level 3— The vakiation is based on unobservable inputs that are supported by minkmal or no warket aetivity and that are significant to the fair value of the instrument.
Lovel 3 valuations are typically performed using pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies, or similar techniques that incorporate penagement’s own estinates
of assunptions that market participants would use in pricing the instrument, or vahations that require significant management judgment or estimation.

A financial instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement,

The Company's non-financial agsets, which inclydes goodwill, intangible assets, property and equipnent and right-of-use assets, are not required to be measured at fair
value an a recurring basis. However, on a periodic basis, or whenever events or shanges in circumstances indicate that their canying value may not be recoverable, the Conipany
assesses its long-fived assets for impairment. When impaiment has occmrred, sueh long-lived assets are written down to fair value.

Valuation of Marketable Securities

The Corpany determines fair value for marketable securitios with Level 1 inputs through quoted market prices. The Company determines fir value for marketable
securitics with Level 2 inputs through broker or dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources with reasonable levels of price transparency, Our Level 2 murketable scourities have
been initially valued at the transaction price and subsequently valued, at the end of each month, typically utilizing third party pricing services or other market observable data. The
pricing services utilize industry standard valuation models, including both inceme and nerket-based approaches and observable market inputs to deterine value, These
observable market inputs inchude reportable trades, benchmerk yields, credit spreads, broker/dealer quotes, bids, offers, and other industry and econeme events.

We validated the prices provided by our broker by reviewing their pricing wethods, obtaining market values from other pricing sources, analyzing pricing data in certain
instances and confinming that the relevant markets are active. After completing our val idation procedurcs, we did not adjust or override any fair value measurements provided by
our broker as of December 31, 2023 or 2022,

Other

The camying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and accounts payable approximate fair value due to their
chort_termnature. The estimated fair value of notes receivable approximates the camrying value based principally on their underlying interest rates and tems, maturities, collateral
and credit status of the tooeivables. At Decenber 31, 2023 and 2022, there were no materal differences between the carrying amounts and fair values of NHC's financial
instrutrents,
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The following table summarizes fair value measurements by level at December 31, 2023 and Decesvber 31, 2022 for assets and labilities measwred at fair value on a recurring

basis (/n thousands):

Fair Value Measurcments Using

Quoted

Prices in

Active Signiticant

Markets Other Significant

For Identical Observable Unobservable
Fair Assets Inputs Inputs
December 31, 2023 Value (Level 1) {Level 2) (Level 3)

Cash and cash equivalents -7~ ' $ 107,076 % 107,076 § - % -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 18,892 18,892 - -
Marketable equity securities ’ 137,896 137,896 - -
Cerporate debt securities 60,171 42,860 17,311 -
Asset-backed securitias 17,659 - 17,210 449
U.S. Treasury securities 45,850 45,850 - -
State and municipal securities 4,047 - 4047 —
Total financial assets $ 391,581 §

352,574 % 38568 § 449

Fair Value Meagurements Using

Cuoted
Prices in
Active Significant
Markets Other Significant
For Identical QObservable Unaobservable
Fair Assets Inputs Inputs
December 31, 2022 Value {Lovel 1) (Level 2) (Level3)
Cash and cash equivalents 5 58,667 § 58667 $ - § -
Restricted cash and cash cquivalents 16,198 16,198 - -
Maiketable equity securities 123,144 123,144 - -
Compoerate debt securities £4,894 48,525 16,369 -
Asset-backed securifies 22931 - 22,931 -
U.S. Treasury secutities 50,051 50,051 - -
State and nunicipal securities 4,771 1,337 3434 -
Tetal financial assets 3 340,656 § 297922 § 42734 8§ —
Note 11 — Property and Equipment
Property and equipment, at cost, consists of the following (i thousands):
Decerrber 31,
2023 2022
Lend 3 65519 § 67,165
Leaschold inprovements 129,801 125,142
Buildings and improvements 700,044 688,433
Fumiture and equipment 195,159 187,743
Constructior in progress 11,098 12,736
Property and equipment, at cost 1,101,681 1,081,219
Less: Accunuilated depreciation (608,352) (574,687)
3 493320 § 506,532

Net property and equipment
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Note 12 — Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

As of December 31, 2023, we cvaluated potential triggering events that might be indicators that our goodwill and indefinite lived intangibles were impaired. The Commpany
performs its goodwill impairment analysis for each reporting unit that constitutes a component for which (1) discrete financial information is availzble and (2) segment managerent
regularly reviews the operating results of that component, in accordance with the provisiens of ASC Topic 380, Iatangibles - Goodwill and Other. No goodwill or intangible asset
inpairments were recorded during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021

The following table represents activity in goodwill by segirent as of and for the year ended December 31, 2003 (in thousands).

Year Ended Decendber 31, 2023

Tnpatient Horceare and
Scrvices Hosgice Ali Othter Total
January 1,2022 3,741 164,554 - 168,295
Additions = - - -
December 31, 2022 o 3,741 164,534 - 168,295
Additions - - - -
Decerber 31 ,2023 $ 3141 8 164,554 % - 3 168,295

As part of the Caris acquisition in June 2021, we also recorded indefinite-lived intangible assets that consisted of the trade name ($4,340,000) and cortificates of need and
licenses ($2,698,000).

MNote 13 — Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes is comprised of the following components (in thousands).

Year Pnded Decomber 31,
2023 2022 2021

Current tax provigion ‘
Federal $ 14520 % 717§ 15,072
State 3,137 251 1,164
Total cutrent tax provision 17,657 968 16,236

Deferred tax provision

Federal 4,142 4,565 (3,866)
State ) 1,651 1,691 (1,419)
Total deferred tax provision 5,793 6,286 {5,285)
Tncotie mpmisim; " 3 23450 § 7254 § 10,951
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The deferred tax assets and liabilities, consisting of temporary differences taxcffected at the respective incone taxrates, are as follows (in thonsands):

December 31,
2023 2022
Deferred tax assels:
Accrued risk rescrves § 1,898 § 2,206
Accrued expenses 7,346 6,441
. Financial reporting depreciation: in excess of tax depreciation 5,653 5,503
- Stock based compensation : 931 742
Deferred revenue 4987 3,393
Operating lease liabilities 23,658 30,558
Other 567 1,711
Total gross defemred taxassets ’ 45,040 50,559
Less: valuation allowance {394) (978)
Deferred tax assets less valuation allowance 5 446§ 49,581
Deferred tax liabilities: R
Unrealized gains on narketable securities b {19971) $ (15,396)
Deferred gain on sale of assets, het (2,035) (2,045)
Book basis in excess of taxbasis of intangible assets (3,387 {3,063)
Book basis in excess of taxbasis of securities {3,393) (3,164}
Long-terminvestments (8,753 (6,155}
Operating lease assets (24,087) (30,667)
Total deferred tax liabilities $ (61.646) § (60,490)
Net deferred tax Hability b (17200) $ (10,509)

A reconciliation of ncore tax expense and the amount computed by applying the statutory federal ineome tax rate to income before income taxes is as follows (i
thousands): -

Year Fnded Decentber 31,

2023 2022 2021
Tax provision al federal statutory rate 3 18635 $ 5718 % 31,508
Incredse (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:

State, net of federal benefit 4,600 1,034 1,113
“Nontaxable revaluation gain - - {19,758)
Unrecognized taxbenefits 1,227 730 (158)
Expiration of statute of limitations ' (1,491) {1,032) {1,901)
Tax{expense) benetit of noncontroling interest 317 518 {104)

Other ' 162 285 251
Totalincreascs {(decreascs) 4815 1,535 (20,557)

Fffective ncome tax expense 3 83450 8 7254 3 16,951

Our deferred tax assets have been evaluated for realization based on historical taxable income, tax planning strategies, the expected timing of reversals of existing
temporary differences and future taxable income anticipated. Our deferred tax assets, with the exception of certain state tax net operating losses and certain deferred tax assets
associated with unrealized losses on marketable securities, are more likely than not to be realized in full due to the existence of sulficient taxable income of the appropriate character

under the taxlaw. As such, the only valuation allowance relates (o state net operating lossos and unrealized losscs on nurketable securities.

Uncerlain fax positions may arise where tax laws may allow for altemative interpretations or where the timng of recognition of income is subject to judgment, Under ASC
Topic 740, tax positions are evaluated for recognition using a nwrelikely—than-not threshold, and those tax positions oquiring recognition are meastired at the largest armount of
taxbenefit that is greater than 50 percent Hkely of being realized upon ultiate settlement with a taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information.

Tn accordance with current guidance, the Company has established a liability for unreco gnized tax benefits, which are differencos between a lax position taken or expected
to be taken in a tax return and the benefit recognized and measured, Generally, 2 liability is created for an unrecognized lax bencfit because it represents a company’s potential
future obligation to a taxing authority for a tax position that was not recognized per above. We believe that our liabilities refiect the anticipated outcoms of known uncertain tax
positions in conformity with ASC Topic 740 frcame Taxes, Our Tiabilities for unrecognized tax benefits are presented in the consolidated balance sheets within other noncurrent
Habilities.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending anount of unrecognized taxbenefils is as follows (in thousands):

Liability
For
Deferred Liability For Interest
Tax Unrecognized and Liability

) Asset Tax Benefits Penalties Tolal
Balance, January §, 2021 $ 5666 % 9,853 % 2614 % 12,507
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year 665 665 - 663
Additions (reductions) for tax positions of prior vears {441y (187 543 356
Reductions for statute of limitation expirations (435) {1,469} (867 (2,336)
Balance, Decenber 31, 2021 5455 8502 2,250 11,192
Additions based on taxpositions related to the curtent year 636 636 - 636
Additions (reductions) for tax positions of prior years (1,097 (273 900 627
Reductions for statute of limitation expirations (240) (760} (512) {1,272}
Balance, December 31, 2022 . 4,754 8,505 2,678 11,183
Additions based on taxpositions related to the current year 1454 1,454 - 1,434
Additions (reductions) for tax positions of prior years {198) 324 1,583 1,807
Reductions for statute of limitation expirations (361) {1,030) (823) (1,853)
Balance, December 31, 2023 3 5649 % 10253 % 3438 % 12,691

Unrecognized tax benefits of $4,149,000, net of federal benefit at December 31, 2023, attributable to permanent differences, would favorably impact our eftective tax rate if
recognized. We do not expect significant increases or decreases in unrecognized tax benefits for the 2024 year, except for the effect of decreases related to the lapse of statute of
lirnitations estimated at $1,102,000.

Interest and penalties expense telated to 1.8, federal and state income tax returns are inchided within income tax expense. The Company is no longer subject to US.
federal and state examinations by taxauthorities for years betore 2020 (with few state exceplions},

Note 14 — Stock Repurchases

During 2023, the Company purchased 44,349 shares ofits comon stock for a totat cost of $2,482,000, The shares were finded fromcash on hand and were cancelled and
returned to the status of authorized but unissued. .

Note 15 — Stock—Based Compens ation

NHC recognizes stock-based compensation for all stock options and restricted stock granted over the requisite service peried using the fair value for these grants as
estimated at the date of grant either using the Black-Scholes pricing mode! for stock options or the quoted nurket prive for restricted stock,

The Comrpensation Committee of the Board of Directors ("the Committec"} has the authority to select the participants to be granted options; to designate whether the
option granted is an incentive stock option ("ISO"), a non—qualificd option, or a stock appreciation right; 1o establish the number of shares of common stock that may be issued
upon exercise of the eption; to establish the vesting provision for any award; and to establish the termany awatd may be outstanding. The exercise price of any 130’ granted will
not be less than 100% of the fair market value of the shares of commen stock on the date granted and the termof an ISO may not be any more than ten yeats. The exercise price of
any non—qualitied options granted will not be less than 100% ofthe fair market value of the sharcs of common stock on the date granted unless so determined by the Comittce,
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In May 2020, our stockholders approved the 2020 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the "2020 Equity Incentive Plan”) pursuant to which 2,500,000 shares of our comnon
stock were available to grant for restricted stock, stock appreciation rights, stock options, and enployee stock purchase plans. At Decerrber 31, 2023, 1,751,461 shares were
available for future grants under the 2020 Equity Tacentive Plan.

Additionalty, we have an employce stock purchase plan that allows errployees to purchase our shares of stock through payroll deductions, The plan aliows employces to
terminate participation at any lime.

Comrpensation expense is recognized only for the awards that ultimately vest. The Conpany accounts for forfeitures when they occur. Stock-based comrpensation totaled
$2,782,000, $2,612,000, and $2,620,000, for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, espectively, Stock-based conpensation is included in salarics, wages and benefits in
the consolidated statements of operations, The total intrinsic value of shares exercised {and tax deductions taken) was $2,769,000, $583,000, and $2,844,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively,

At December 31, 2023, the Company had $3,351,000 of unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock-based compensation awards, This unrecognized
compensation cost will be amortized over an approximate two and a half year period.

Stock Options

The Company is requited to estimate the fair value of stock—based awatds on the date of grant. The fair value of cach option award is estimated using the Black-Scholes
eption valuation nodel with the weighted average assunptions indicated in the following table. Bach grant is valued as a single award with an expected termbased upon expected
employment and terrmination behavior. Compensation cost is recognized cver the requisite service period in a manner eonsistent with the eption vesting provisions, The straight—
line atiribution methed requires that conpensation expensc is recognized at least equal to the portion of the grant—date fair value that is vested at that date. The expected volatility
is derived using weekly historical data for periods immediately preceding the date of grant, The risk—free interest rate is the approximate yield on the United States Treasury Strips
having a life equal to the expected option life on the date of grant. The expected fife Is an estimate of the nurber of years an option will be held before it is exercised. The fo llowing
table surmurizes the assunptions used to value the options granted in the periods shown,

Year Ended December 3],
2023 2022 2021

Risl—free inferest rate 4.52% 1.83% 0.21%

Expected volatility 293% 314% 34.9%

Expected life, in years 28 29 2.2

Expeoted dividend yield 441% 357 3.00%

The following table summarizes option activity:
Weighted Aggregate
Number of Average Intringic
Shares Fxcercise Price Vahue

Options outstanding at January 1, 2021 866,956 % 72.11 -
Options granted ] 55,706 70.80 -
Options exercised {541,736) 71.39 -
Options cancelled (6,000) 72.94 -
Options outstanding at Decemrber 31, 2021 374,926 7295 -
Options granted 302,266 64.72 -
Options exercised o . (32,597) 64.49 -
Options cancelled {199,451) 75.58 -
Options outstanding at December 31, 2022 445,144 66.62 -
Options granted 269278 5444 -
Options cxercised ) a {103,481) 472 -
Options cancelled (52,407 60.58 -
Options outstanding at Decenber 31, 2023 588,534 6130 18,315,405
Options exercisable at December 31, 2023 162781 % 7087 3 3,507,939
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Weighted
Average
Options Weighted Renwining
Oufstanding Average Contractual
Dccember 31, Erercise Life in
2023 Exercise Prices Price Years
507,639 ' $53.94 o $69.19 $ 5921 3.6
80,895 §71.64 - $77.92 7443 L5

588,534, - [ 61,30 - 33

Note 16 — Credit Facility

In May 2023, we entered into an unsecured $50,600,000 credit facility that has a 364-day maturity date. Loans bear interest at the ong-month secured overnight financing
rate ("SOFR") plus 1,25%, T we maintain ceriain aggregate deposit levels within the financial institution, the credit facility shall bear interest at one-month SOFR plus 1,16%. The
credit facility is available for general comorate purposes, including working capital and acquisitions, The credit facility agreement contains customary representations and financial
covenants, inchuding covenants that restrict, among other things, asset dispositions, additional indebtedness, investments, sale-leasebacks, and certain contingent abilities. The
credit facility contains customary events of default and remedies.

As of Docenber 31, 2023, we have no cutstanding balance on the credit facility.

Note 17 — Confingencies and Guarantees
Accrued Risk Reserves

We are self-insured for fisks related to workers’ compensation and general and professional liability insurance. We have two wholly—owned limited purpese insurance
commpanies that insure risks related to workers' compensation and general and professional lability Insurance clains both for our owned and leased cntities and certain of the
entitics to which we provide management or accounting services, The Tability we have recognized for reported claims and estimates for incurred but unreported clais totals
$103,259,000 and $102,465,000 at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respoctively. The liability is included in accrued risk reserves in the consolidated balance sheets and is subject to
adjustment for actual claing incurred, Tt is possible that thege claius plus unasserted claims could exceed our insurance coverages and our teserves, which could have a material
adverse cffect on our consclidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

As a result of the terms of our insurance policies and our use of wholly owned limited purpose insurance companics, we have retained significant insurance risk with
respect to workers’ compensation and general and professional lizbility. We cons ider the professional services of independent actuaries to assist us in estimating our exposures
for claims obligations (for both asserted and unasscried claims) related to deductibles and exposures in excess of coverage limits, and we naintain reserves for these obligations.
Such ostimates are based on many variables including historical and statis tical information and other factors.

Workers® Compensation

For workers’ conpensation, we utilize a wholly owned Tennessee domiciled property/casualty insurance company to write coverage for NHC affiliates and for third—party
customess, Policies are written for & duration of twelve menths and cover only risks related to workers’ compensation losses, All customers are cormpanies which operate in the
long—termecare industry, Business is written on a direct basis.

General and Professional Liability insurance and Lawsitits

The senior care industry has experienced significant increases in both the number of personal injury/wrongful death clains and i the severity of awards based upon
alleged negligence by skilled nursing facilities and their employees in providing care to tesidents. The Conpany has been, and continues to be, subject to claims and legal actions
that arise in the ordinary course of business, including poteatial clalms related to patient care and treatment. The defense of these lawsuils may result in significant legal costs,
regardless of'the outcome, and ¢an result in krge settlerent amounts er darmage awards.

Insurance coverage for ail years includes primary policies and excess policies, The primary coverage is in the amount of 2 per incident cleimand a per location claim with
an annual primary policy aggregate lmit that is adjusted on an annual basis. Additional insurance is purchased through third party providers that serve to supplement the
coverage provided throngh our wholly owned captive insurance company.

There is certain additional litigation incidental to our business, nong of which, based upon information available to date, woulkd be material fo our financial pasition, results
of operations, or cash flows. In addition, the long—term care industry is continuously subjeet to scrutiny by governimental regulators, which could result in litigation or olatms
related to regulatory compliance matters.
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Qui Tam Litigation

United States of America. ex rel. Jennifer Cook and Sally Gaither v Infegrated Behavioral Health, e, NHC HealthCare/Moulton, LLC. et al., Case Ne. 2:20-
CV-00877-AMM (N.D. Ala} This is a qui tunicase originally filed under seal on June 22, 2020, The United States declined intervention on March 1, 2021. Thercafter, the Plaintiffs
filed an amended Complaint against Dr. Sanja Malhotra, Integrated Behavioral Health, Inc. and other entities that D Malhotra was alleged to own or in which he allegedly had a
financial interest. The Corplaint alse named multiple skilled nursing facilities as Defendants, including NHC Healthcare/Moulton, 11C, an affiliate of National HealthCare
Corpotation. The Complaint alleged that nurse practitioners affiliated with Dr. Malhotra provided free scrvices to the facilities in cxchange for referals to entities owned by orin
which Dr. Malhotra had a fnancial interest in violation of the False Claims Act and Anti-Kickback Statute, NHC Healthcare/Moulton, LLC denied the allegations and filed a motion
to dismiss on Novenber 4, 2021, On January 28, 2022, the district court stayed this matter and admins tratively terminated the motion to dismiss pending the U8, Supreme Court's
reviow of a petition for certiorari filed in an unrelated mattor but involving one of the legal arguments raised in the motion to dismiss. Thercafier, the U.S, Supreme Court denied the
petition for certiorari in the unrelated matter. As a result, NHC Healthcare/Moulton, LLC renewed its motion to dismiss. The District Court granted NHC Healtheare/Moulton’s
Motion to Dismiss, along with other pending Motions to Dismiss, and entered an Order of Disnissal on March 23, 2023 and an Amended Order of Dismissal on Aprit 4, 2023, which
dismissed the case in its entirety with prejudice with respect to the claims asserted by the Phintiffs. The Plaintifs filed a Notice of Appeat on April 20, 2023 to appeal the dismissal
to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Cireuit. On December 21, 2023, the Heventh Cireuit entered an Order affirning the District Court’s dismissal of the clafs,
The Plaintiffs have 90 days fromthe entry of the dismissal Order to file a Petition fora Writ of Certicrari with the United States Supreme Court requesting a review, otherwise, the
Order affimning dismissal issued by the Eleventh Circult will be final,

Governmental Regulations

Laws and regulations governing the Medicare, Medicaid and other foderal healthcare programs are conplex and subject to mterpretation. Management belicves that it is
following all applicable laws and regulations in 2ll material respects. However, compliance with such laws and regulations can be subject to future government roview and
interpretation as well as significant regulatoty action including fines, penalties, and exclusions fromthe Medicare, Medicaid and other federal healtheare prograts,

Debt Guarantees

At December 31, 2023, no agreement fo gnarantee the debt of other parties exists,

Note 18 — Relationship with National Health Corporation

National Health Corporation (" Nationa!"), which is wholly owned by the National Health Corporation Leveraged Employee Stock Ownership Plan {("ESOP"), was forned in
1986 and is our administrative services affiliate and contractor. As discussed below, all of the personncl conducting our business, including our executive management team, are
enployees of National and may have ownership interests in National only through their participation as cmployees in the ESOP.

Management Contracts

We currently manage five skilled nursing facilities for National under 2 nmnagement contract, The management contract has been sxtended until January 1, 2028, Sce Note
4 for additional informatior: regarding managetent services fees recognized fromNational.

Financing Activities

In conjunction with our nmhagement contract, we have entered into a line of credit amangenent whereby we may have amounts due from National from time to time, The
wexinmm loan commitment under the line of eredit is $2,000,000, At December 31, 2023 and 2022, Nationzl did not have an outstanding balance on the line of credit.

I
The nexirum line of credit conmitment amount of $2,000,000 is also the amount ofa deferred gain that has been outstanding since NEIC sold certain assets to National in

1988, The amount of the deferred gain is expected to remain deferred until the management contract wilh National expires, currently scheduled in January 2028, The deferred gain is
included in deferred revenue in the consolidated bakance sheets.

Payroif and Related Services

The personnel conducting our business, including our execulive management team, are employees of National and muy have ownership interests in National only thicugh
their participation in the ESOP. National provides payrell services to NIIC, provides employee finge benefits, and mintains certain liability insurance, We pay to Nutional all the
costs of personne! emplayed for our benefit, as weil as an administrative fec equal to 1% of payroll costs, The administrative fee paid to National for the years ended December 31,
2023, 2022, and 2021 was $5,431,000, $3,074,000, and $5,112,000, respectively. At Decenber 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company has recorded $1,499,000 and $74,000, respectively, in
accounts payable in the consolidated balance sheots as a result of the timing differences between interim payments for payroll and enployee benefits services costs,
National’s Ownership of Gur Stock

At Decerber 31, 2023 and 2022, National owns 1,084,763 shares, or epproxinately 7.1%, of our outstanding conmuon stock.
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Consolidation Considerations

Because of the contractual and management relationships between NHC and National as described in this note above, we have considered whether National should be
consolidated by NHC under the guidance provided in ASC Topic 810, Consolidation. We do not consolidate National because (]) NHC does not have any obligation or rights
(current or future) to absorb losses or 1o receive benefits from National The ESOP participants bear the current and fture financial gain or burden of Nationa!, (2) National's equity
at tisk s sufficient to finance its activities without past or future subordinated support from NHC or other parties, and (3) the equity holders of National (that is cellectively the
ESOP, its trustees, and the ESOP participants) possess the charactetistics of a controlling financiatinterest, including voting tights that are proportional to their cconomic interests.
Supporting the assertions above s the following: (1) substantive independent trustees are appointed for the benefit of the ESOP participants when decisions must be made that
may create the appearance of & conflict of interest between NHC and the ESOP, and (2) National was designed, formed and is operated for the purpose of creating varability and
passing that variability along to the ESOP participants—that is, to provide retitement benefits and value to the enpleyees of NHC and NHC's affiliates, The contractuzl and
management relationships between NHC and National are with the skilied nursing facilities that are substantially less than 50% of the fair value of the total assets of National. NHC
does not have a variable interest in National as a whole, !

Note 19 — Variable Interest Entity

Accounting guidanee requires that a variable interest entity (' VIE"), aceording to the provisions of ASC Topic 810, Conselidation, nust be consolidated by the primary
beneficiary. The primary beneficiary is the party that has both the power to direct activities of a VIE that most significantly inpact the ontity’s econonic performance and the
obligation to abserb losses of the entity or the tight to receive benefits fromthe extity that could potentially be significant to the VIE, We perforniongoing qualitative analysis to
determine if we are the primary beneficiaty of 2 VIE. At Decerber 31, 2023 and 2022, we arc the primary beneficiary of one VIE and therefore consolidate that enfity.

Springfield, Missouri Lease

) Tn Decenber 2010, we signed an operating agreement to lease Springfisld Rehabilitation and Health Caire Center, a 120-bed skilled nursing facility located in Springfield,
Missouri, The terms of the leage include a ten-year lease and include five additional, five-year lease options as well as a purchase option. The operating lease agreement was
established on the same date third party owners purchased the real cstate of the 120-bed skilled nursing facility, The third-party owners purchased the reaf estate for £4,500,000,
which i the amount NHC loaned the owners to purchase the facility under the terms of the lease agrecment and the wortgage note, The risks and rewards associated with the
operations of the facility and any appreciation ot doprecation in the value of the rea! estate of the facility is bome by NHC, A mortgage notc receivable from the third-party owners
of $11,047,000 at Decenber 31, 2023 and 2022 is eliminated in our consolidated financial statevents. Land and buildings and inprovements of $11,047,000 at December 31, 2623 and
2022 have been recorded in our consolidated financial statements, as well as the operations of the facility because we ate the prinary beneficiary in the relationship.

ITEM 8. CHANGES IN AND DIS AGRFFMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DIS CLOSURE
Nene.

ITEM9A, CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Fvaluation of Disclesure Controls and Procedures

Based on their evaluation as of Decerber 31, 2023, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the Comrpany have concluded that the Company’s disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a—15(c) and 15d-15(¢) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) were effective to ensure that the infarmation
required to be disclosed by us in this Annual Report on Form 10-X was recorded, processed, sunmrarized and reperted within the time periods specitied in the SEC’s rules and
instructions for Form 10-I€.

MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

We are responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a—15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended). We assessed the effectiveness of our interal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, In meking this assessment, our mana gement used the
griteria set forth by the Cormmiittee of Sponsoring Organiztions of (he Treadway Commission ("COSO"} in Internal Control-Integrated Framewerk (2013 Framework), We have
concluded that, as of December 31, 2023, our fnternal control over finatcial reporting is effective based on these criteria. Our independent registered public accounting firm, Emst &
Young TP, has issued an attestation report on the effectivencss of the Conpany’s intemal gontrol over fnancial reporting mcluded herein.
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REPORT OF INDEPFNDENT REGIS TERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockhelders and Board of Directors of National HealthCare Corporation
Opinion on Internal Centrol Over Financtal Reporting

We have audited Nationa! HealthCare Corporation’s intermal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria estabiished in Internal Controt—
Integrated Framework issued by the Conmittee of Sponsering Organizations of the Treadway Conmission (2013 framework) (the COSQ eriteria). In our opinion, National
HealthCare Corporation (the Conpany) maintained, in all material respects, effective intemal control over financial reporting as of Decenber 31, 2023, based on the COSO criteria,

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of
the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended Decomber 31, 2023, and the related notes and financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Ttem 15(a) and our report dated February 16, 2024 expressed an
unqualificd opinion thercon.

Basis for Opinien

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of tho offectivencss of internal control
over fmancial reporting included in the accompanying Meanagement’s Report on Interal Control over Financial Reporting, Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company's internal control over financial reporting based on oar audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with
respect to the Conpany in accordance with the US, federal seeurities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB,

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB, Those standaxds require that we plan and performthe audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the
design and operaling effectiveness of intemal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis fer our opinion,

Definition and Limitations of mternal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company's internal control over financial reporting &5 a process designed to provide reasonable assuramce regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of firancial statements for extemal purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's temnal contrel over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the mintenance of records that, in reasanable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transaotions and dispositions of the
assets of the conpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transastions are recorded as necessary to pemit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
aceepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the conpany are being made only in accordance with authorizations of menagement and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or tinely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, ot disposition of the conpany's assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Recause of its inherent limitations, intemal control over financial reparting may not prevent or deteet misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to
firture periods are subject to the risk that controls mey become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that {he degree of conpliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

/s/ Bmst & Young LLP

Nashville, Tennessee
February 10, 2024

74




Table ot Contents
Changes in Internal Control

Thete were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2023 that have materiaily affected or are reasonably likely to
materially affect our intemal control over financial reporting.

ITEM9B, OTHER INFORMATION

None.

ITEM9C.  DISCLOSURE REGARDING FORFIGN JURIS DICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS
Not Applicable.

PART il

ITEM10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORFORATE GOVERNANCE

The information @ our definitive 2024 proxy statement sot forth under the captions Directors of the Conpany and Execurive Officers of the Companyis hereby
incorporated by reference. :
MEM1i1, EXBECUTITVECOMPENSATION

The informeation in our definitive 2024 proxy statement set forth under the caption Cempensation Disctission & Analysis is hereby mcorporated by reference.

TEM12.  SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN RENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOTLDER MATTERS

This information is Incorperated by reference from our definitive 2024 proxy statement.

[TEM13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDIPENDENCE

The infonmation i our defimitive 2024 proxy statement set forth under the caption Cerfain Relationships and Related Transactions is hereby incorporated by reforence.

FIAM 14,  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information in our definitive 2024 proxy statement set forth under the caption Report of the Andit Committee is hereby incorporated by reference (which will be filed
within 120 days ofthe end of the fiscal year to which this report relates),
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" PARTIV
ITEM15.  EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEVIENT SCHEDULE
The following docurrents are filed as a part ofthis report:
{n) (1 Financial Statements:
The following financial statements are included in Trem 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and are filed as part of this report:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCACB IDA2)
Consolidated Statements of Cperations — Years ended Decerber 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021
Consolidated Statements of Conprehensive Income — Years ended December 31, 2023, 20022, and 2021
Consolidated Balance Sheets — At Decenber 31, 2023 and 2022
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows — Years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021

Consolidated Statemonts of Bquity — Years ended Decerber 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2} Financial Statement Schedule:
NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
SCHEDULR 11 — VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
FOR TITE, YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023, 2022, AND 2021
(in thousands)
Colum A Colunm B Column C Colunn D Colurmn B
Additions
Balance— Charged to Charged Balance—
Begnning Costs and to other End of
Descrption of Perlod Expenses Accounts Deductions Period
For the year ended Decerdber 31, 2021
Allowance for doubifil accounts $ 5672 8 3886 & - 3 31470y % 6411
Accrued risk reserves 3 9,537 § 82,219 § - 3 83,708 $ 98,048
For the year ended December 31, 2022
Allowance for doubtful aceounts 3 641§ 471§ - 3 4.876(1) § 6,246
Accrued risk reserves - $ 98,048 8 8743 % - % EE 102,469
For the yeat ended December 31, 2023
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 6246 § 144§ - 3 S616(1) § 8,054
Accrued tisk reserves ' $ 102,469 3 81,364 § ~ 3 8057 3 103,259

(1) Amounts written off, net of recoveries
All ather financizl statement schedules are not required under the related instructions or are inapplicable and therefore have been omtted.
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3 Exhibits:
EXHIBIT INDEX
Hxhibit No, Description Page No. or Location
31 Certificate of Incomgration of National HealthCare Coporation Tncorporated by refercnce to Exhibit 3.1 te the Registrant’s
registration statement on Form 54 (File No. 333-37185) dated
Cctober 3, 1997}
32 Certificate of Amendmert to the Certificate of Incorporation of National HealthCare Incorporated by refetonce to Exhibit 3.5 attached to Form 10-Q
Corporation filed on August 3, 2017
33 Certificate of Desienations of Series A Coprvertible Prefarred Stock of National Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the cument report on
HealthCare Corporation Form &K filed on December 20, 2006
34 Certiticate of Designation Series B Junior Partipipating Preforred Stock Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s
registration staternont on Form 8-A, dated August 3, 2007
35 Restated Bylaws as amended February 14, 2013 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.5 to the quarterly report
on Form 10-Q filed on May 8§, 2013,
4,1 Tom of Cormmon Stock Incorporated by reference te Exhibit 4.1 attached to Form 16-Q
filed on August 3, 2017
42 Description of each class of soeurities registered under Scetion 12 of the Fxphange Act Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 42 attuched to Form 13-K
filed on February 21,2020
161 Mastor Agreenent of Lease dated as of Qctober 17, 1991 by and among National Health ncorporated by reference to Bxhibit 10.1 to the Rogistrant's
Investors, Inc. and National HealthCorp. LP. registration statement on Form S—4 filed October 3, 1997
10.2 Fonmof Service Agreement by and between National Health Corporation and National Tnoorporated by reference Lo Exhibit 10.5.1 to the Registrant's
HealthCarg Coporation registration statement on Form §—4 filed October 3, 1997
10.3 Amendment No. 1 to Master Asreenent to Lease between National Health Investors. Inc. Incorporated by reference to Bxhibit 10.19 from 2005 Form 10-K
and Natignal HealthComp LP filed March 16, 2006
104 Incorporated by reference to Ehibit 10.20 from 2065 Form 10-K

filed March 16, 2006

10.5 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1021 from 2005 Form 16K
filed March 16, 2006

106 Incotporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 fram 2005 Form 10-K
filed March 16, 2006

10.7 5 as : CASG ; alHe slors. [ne.  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10,23 from 2005 Form 10-K
and National Healthgdre Comaoratiots filed March 16,2006

*10.8 National HealthCare Corporation’s 2010 Omnibus Fyuity Incentive Plan Incorperated by reference to Exhibit A to 2010 Proxy Statement

filed April 1, 2010,
*10.9 Firsl Amendment dated February 14, 2011 to the Natjonal HealthCare Corporation 2010 Incorporated by reference to Bxhibit 10.16 from 2015 Form 10-K

Ommibus Fquity Ineentive Plan filed Fehruary 19, 2016,
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*10.10

*10.11

*10.12

10,13

10.14

16,15

1016

10.17

10,18

10.19

10,20

16.21

10.22

10,23

10.24
10.25

14

21

23

Anendment dated March 10, 2015 t¢ National HealthCare Corporation's 2010 Ommibus

Equity Incentive Plan

2017 NHC Executive Officer Performance Based Conwensation Pian

National HealthCare Corporation’s 2020 Onmnibus Hguity Tncentive Plan

Anendrvent to Purchase and Sale Agreement with Modifications fo Master Agreement to
Lease between National Health Tnvestors, Inc. and National FlealthCare Corporation

Apreement to Lease botween NHI—REIT of Northeast, LLC, Lendlpyd and NHC/OP, L.P.
and National HealthCare Corporatien, Co=Tenants

Anended and Restated Amendment No. 6to Master Agreewent to Lease between
National Hoalth Investors, Inc. and National HealthCarg Corporation

Amendment No., 7 to Master cnient to Leaso between National Health [nyestors, [ne.
and National HealthCare Corporation

Contribution Agreement dated Decomrber 29, 201} between National HealthCare
Corporation and Caris HealthCare, E.P, pursuant to which NHC acquired a 7,3% inlerest
i Caris from MgRae in exchange for $7.500,000

Assigniment of membership interest in Solaris Hospige, IIC gated Decerrber 29, 2011 and
effective on January 1, 2012, whereby NHC assigned its nembership interest to Carls in
exchange for an additional 2.7% limited partnership interest in Caris,

Purchase and Sale Agreenent and Extension of Master Lease dated Decermbor 26,2012

between National Health Investors. Inc. and National HealthCarg Corporation

Amendment No, § to Master Agreement to Lgase between National Health Investors, Ing,
and National HealthCare Corporation

Puichase and Sale Agreement dated June 11, 2021 betvween NIIC/OP, LP. 3 whaolly
owned subsidiary of NHC, and Notvan C. McRae gnd McRae Investient Conpany LIC

Amendiment No. 9 to Master Agreement to Teage between National Health Investors Inc,
and National HealthCare Cotporation

Amendment No, 10to Master Agreenent to Lease between Mational Health [nvestors
Ine. and National HealthCare Corporation

National HealihCare Corporation Compensation Recoupment Po toy

Code of Erhics of National HealthCare Corporation

Subsidiaties of Registzant

Consent of Independent Reglstered Public Accounting Finm— Emst & Young LLP
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Incorperated by reference to Appendix A to 2015 Proxy
Statement filed April 1, 2015,

Tncorporated by reference to Appendix B to 2017 Proxy
Statement fited April 4, 2017,

Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to 2020 Proxy
Statement filed April 6, 2020

Tncorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of National HealthCare
Corporation’s Form 10-Q filed on Noverber 5,2013

Incerporated by reference to Exhibit 104 of National Health Care
Corporation's Form 10-Q filed on Novenber 5, 2013

Incorporated by reference to Bxibit 10.2 of National HealthCare
Corporation's Form 10-Q filed on November 5, 2013

Incorpotated by reforence te Exhibit 10.3 of National HealthCare
Corporation’s Form 10-Q filed on Noverber 5, 2013

Incarperated by reference to Exhibit 10,26 to National
HealthCare Corporation's annual report o Form 10-K filed on
February 21, 2014

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to National
HealthCare Corporation's annual report on Form 10-1€ filed on
February 21,2014

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10,2 to National
HealthCare Corporation's annual repor! on Form 10-K filed on
February 21,2014

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to National
HealthCare Corperations annual report on Form 10-K Filed on
February 19, 2021

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10,21 to National
HealthCare Corporation annual report on Form 10-K Filed on
February 18,2022

Incorperated by reference to Eshibit 10.1 of National HealthCare
Corparation's Form 10-Q filed on November 3, 2022

Tncorpotated by reference to Exhiblt 10.2 of National HealthCare
Corporation’s Form 10-Q filed on November 3, 2022

Filed Herewith
Tiled Herewith

Available at NHC's websitc www.nhecare.comor in print upon
request to:

National HealthCare Corp.

Attn: Investor Relations

P, O, Box 1398

Murfreesbore, TN 37133-1398

Telephone (615} 890-2020

Filed Herewith

Filed Hercwith
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31 Rule 13a—14{a)/15d—14{a) Cottification of Chief Executive Officer Filed Herewith
312 Rule 13a-14(a¥/ 15d—14(a) Certification of Chiel Financial Officer Filed Herewith
32 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 by Chief Brecutive Officer and Chiefl Filed Herewith
Financial Ctficer
101LINS Inkine XBRT. Instance Document (the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline
XBRL document)
101.5CH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Scherma Document
101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docament
101,DEF Inline XBRT, Taxonony Exension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxenomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
1GL.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Fxension Presentation Linkbase Document
104 Cover Page Intoractive File cmbedded within the Inline XBRL document and included in Edhibit 101)

*Indicates Imnagement contract or compensatory plan or anangement.
ITEM16.  FORM 10-KSUMMARY
Not applicable.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15{d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this repert to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized,

NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION

Date: February 16,2024 BY: /s/ Stephen F. Flatt,
Stephen F, Flatt
Chief Executive Officer and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.

Date; February 16, 2024 /s/ Stephen F. Flatt
Stephen F, Flatt
Chief Bxecutive Officer and Director
(Principal Execitive Officet)

Date: February 16, 2024 /s/ Briap ¥. Kidd
Brian F. Kidd
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Finanetal Officer)

Date; February 16,2024 /8/ Robett G Adans
Robert G Adans
Chaitman ofthe Board

Date; February 16, 2024 [sf ], Paul Abemathy
J. Paul Abernathy
Director

Date: February 16, 2024 s/ W. Andrew Adams
W, Andrew Adams
Director

Date: February 16, 2024 [s/ Bruest (5. Burgess
Fmest G Burgess
Director

Date: February 16, 2024 /s/ Emil E Hassan
Fmi! E. Hassan
Director

Date: February 16, 2024 /s/ Sandra ¥. Trail
Sandra Y. Trail
Directer

Date: February 16, 2024 /s/ Richard . IaRoche, Jr.
Richard F. LaRoche, Jr.
Director
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NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
GENFRAL POLICY ON INSIDER TRADING

This Insider Trading Policy describes the standards of National HealthCare Corporation, its subsidiaries and affiliates (collectively, the "Company") on trading, and
causing the trading of, the Company's securities or securities of certain other publicly traded companies while in possession of confidential information. This Poliey is divided into
two parts; the first part profibits trading in certain circunstances and applies to all dircotors, officers and enployees and their respective immediate family members of the Company
and the second part imposes speciat additional trading restrictions and applies to all (i) dircetors of the Company, (i) excoulive officers of the Conmpany at the level of Senier Vice
President and above (together with the directors, "Company Insiders"), (iif) the employees listed on AppendixA and (iv) certain other enployees that the Conpany may designate
from time to time as "Covered Persons" because of their position, respons bilities or their actual or potential access to material information {(2(iv) above collectively, "Covered
Persons™.

One of the principal purposes of the foderal securities laws is to prohibit so-called "insider trading." Simply stated, insider trading ccours when a person uses nuterial
nonpublic information obtained through involvement with the Company to make decisiens to purchase, sell, give away, or otherwise trade the Company's securitics or to provide
that mformation to others outside the Conpany, The prohibitions against insider trading apply to trades, tips and reconmendations by virtually any person, inclading all persens
associated with the Coropany, if the information involved is "material” and "nonpublic.” The terms "naterial” and "nonpublic” are defined in this Policy under Part I, Section C.
below. The prohibitions apply to any director, officcr or enployec of the Company, who buys or sells securities on the basis of material nonpublic information that he or she
obtained about the Company, its customers, suppliers, or other cormpanics with which the Company has contractuairelationships or may be negotiating transactions.

PARTL
A Aptlicability.

This Policy applies to all trading or othet transactions in the Company's securitics, including somimon stock, eptions and any other securities that the Corpany mey issue,
such as profarred stock, notes, bonds and convertible seourities, as well as to derivative sceurities relating 1o any of the Company's securities, whether or not issued by the
Conpany,

This Pelicy applies to all employees of the Company, including all employees of National Health Corporation (coliectively "Frplayees™), all officers of the Company
{"Officers™ and all menbers of the Conmpany's board of directors (" Directors™) and each of their respective family members, This Policy also applies to all those other partties listed
previously above.

This Policy also applies to any entities thai any Director, Officer, Buployse or Covered Person influences or contrals, cluding any corporations, partnerships or trusis
(collectively referred to as "Contiolied Entities™), and transactions by these Controlied Entities should be treated for the purposes of this Policy and applicable securitics Taws as if
they were for the account of the controlling person.




The Policy continues to apply to transactions in Company securities even after termination of employment or serviee {as applicable) er directorship. If a Director, Officer,

Employee or other Covered Person is in possession of material nonpublic information when his or her erployment or service {as applicable) ot directorship tenvinates, such person
may not engage in transactions subject to this Policy until that information has become public or is no longer material.

B,

General Policy; No Trading or Causing Trading While in Possession of Material Nenpublic Information.

{) No Dircetor, Officer or fmployee or other Covered Persons or any of their immediate family members may purchase or sell, or offer e purchase or sell, any Coirpany
security, whether or not issaed by the Company, while in possession of material nonpublic infornation about the Company (the terms "material’ and "nonpublic” are
defined in Part 1, Scction C. (i) and (i) below).

(i) No Director, Officer or Hmployce or other Covered Persens or any of their imrediate family members who knows of any material nenpublic information about the
Company ney communicate that information to ("tip") any other parson, including family mombers and friends, or otherwise disclose such information without the
Company’s authorization.

(ifi) No Director, Officer ot Bmployee or other Covered Persons or any of their immediate family members may purchase or sell any security ofany other company, whether
ornot issued by the Company, while in possession of material nonpublic information about that company that was obtained in the course of his or her involvement
with the Company. No Ditector, Officer, Employee or other Covered Persons or any of their immediate family members who knows of any such material nonpublic
infotmation may communicate that information to, or tip, any other person, including family members ang friends, or otherwise disclose such information without the
Company's authorization.

(i) For conpliance purposes, you should never trade, tip or recommend securities (or otherwise cause the purchase or sale of securities) while in possession of
inforrmation that you have teason to believe is material #nd nonpublic unless you first consult with, and obtain the advance approval of, the Trade Clearance

Conmittee (which is defined in Part I, Section C. (iif) below).

(v) Bona fide gifts of securities are transactions subject to this Policy.

{vi) Covered Persons must "pre~clear” all trading in securities of the Conpany in accordance with the procedures set forth in Part II, Section C. below.

Definitions.

{i) "Materdal": Insider trading restrictions come into play only if the information you possess is "material” Materiality, however, involves a relatively low thresheld.
Information is generally regarded as "material” if It has market sighificance, that i, if its public dissenination is likely to affect the market price of securities, orif it

otherwisc is information that a reasonable investor would want to know before meldng an investment decision, nformation dealing with the following subjects is
reasonably likely to be found material in particular situations:




m

0.

Material information is not limited to historical facts but may also include projections and forecasts. With respect to 2 future cvent, such as a merger, acquisition or
ate defermined to be material is determined by balancing the probability that the event will
d it cceur, Thus, information coneerning an event that would have a
relatively small. When in doubt about whether particular nonpublic
Id either consult the Trade Clearance Committee before
to persons who need to kmowit) or to trade in er recommend securities to which that information relates or assnme

introduction of a new produet, the point at which negetiations or product development
ocour against the magnirude of the effect the event would have on a company's operations or stock price shoul
farge effect on stock price, such as a mergey, muy be material oven if the possibility that the event will occur is
information is material, you should presyme it is material, If you ave unsure whether information is material, you shoul
making any decision to disclose such information (other than

financial performance, especially camings, or any event that could have a significant inpact on financial tesuks;
significant changes in the Conpany's prospects, projections or strategic plans;

significant write-downs in assets or increases in reserves;

developments regarding significant litigation or government agency investigations;

liquidity problems;

changes in camings estimates ot unusual gains or lesses in operations;

changes in the Conpany's senior management or the board of directors;

changes in dividends or significant repurchases of common stock under the stock repurchase programy
extraordinary borrowings,;

significant changes in accounting methods or policies;

award or loss of a significant contract;

cybersecurity risks and incidents, ineluding vulnerabilities and breaches;

changes in debt ratings;

proposals, plms or agreements, even if preliminary in nature, involving mergers, acquisitions, divestitures, recapitalizations, strategic alliances, licensing

artangetuents, or purchases or sales of substantial assets; and

offerings of Company sccurities.

that the information is material,

(i) "Nonpublic”: Insider trading prohibitions come into play only when you possess

disciosed to a few mewbers of the public does not make it public for insider tmding purposes. To be "public
and the investors nust be given the opportunity to absorb the infornation. Even after public disc
d trading day after the information was publicly disclosed before you can treat the

manner designed to reach investors generally,
about the Conpany, you must wait until the close of business on the secon

informution as public, Nonpublic information may include:

infonmation that is mtetial and "nonpublic, The fact that information has been
" the information must have been disseminated in &
lasure of information




a, mformation available to a select group of analysts or brokers or institutional investors;
b. undisclosed facts that are the subjest of nimors, cven if the rumors are widely circulated; and

¢, information that has been entrusted to the Corpany on a confidential basis until a public announcement of the information has been made and enough time bas
elapsed for the market to respond to a public announcement of the information (normally two (2) trading days).

As with questions of materiality, if you are not sure whether information is considered public, you should either consult with the Trade Clearance Committee or
assurme that the information is nonpublic and treat bt as confidential,

{iiiy "Trade Cleatance Committee™ The Company has appointed the Chief Becutive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and General Counsel as the Trade Clearance
Conmmittee for this Poliey. The duties of the Trade Clearance Committee include, but are not limited to, the following:

a. assisting with inplementation and enforcement of this Policy;
b, circulating this Policy to all erployees and ensuring that this Policy s amended as necessary to remain up-te-date with insider trading laws;
¢ preclearing all trading in securities of the Corpany by Covered Persons in accordance with the procedures set forth in Part TI, Section C. below; and
d, providing approval of any Rule 10b5-1 plans under Part TT, Section A. (iv) below and any prohibited transactions under Part I, Section D. below.
D. Exceptions.
The trading restrictions of this Policy do not apply to the following:

(@ 4010} Plan, Investing 401(k) plan contributions in a Company stock fund in accordance with the terms of the Conpany's 401(k) plan. However, any changes in your
investment clection regarding the Company’s stock arc subject to trading restrictions under this Policy.

{iiy ESPP. Purchasing Company stock through periodic, automatic payroll contributions to the Company's Employee Stock Purchase Plan ("ESPP"). However, clecting to
enroll in the ESPP, making any changes in your eleetions under the ESPP and selling any Conpany stock acquired under the ESPP are subject to trading restrictions
under this Policy.




E

(iify Options. Fxercising stock options granted under the Company's stock option plan(s) for cash, a net exercise or the delivery of previcusly owned Conpany stock

However, the sale of any shares issued on the exercise of Conpany-granted stock options and any broker-assisted cashless exercise of Company-granted stock
options are subject to trading restrictions under this Pelicy.

(iv) Restricted Stock. The grant or vesting ofestricted stock issued in the ordinary course of business or vesting according to its texms.
(v} Mutual Fund Transactions. Tratsactions in mutual funds that are invested in securities of the Company.

{vi) NIIC Nonqualified Deferred Corpensation Plan {"Deferred Comp Plan™). Investing Defarrad Congy Plan contributiens in Conpany stock in accordance with the terms

ofthe Defered Corp Plan through periodic, automatic payrolt and/or bonus compensation contributions to the Deferred Comp Plan.

Violations of Insider Trading Laws.

Penalties for trading on or communicating material nonpublic information can be severe, both for individuals involved in such imlawfuf conduet and their emplayers and

supervisors, and may include jail terns, criminal fines, civil penaltics and civil enforcement injunctions, Given the severity of the potential penslties, compliance with this Policy is
abscltely nundatory.

{i) LegalPenalties. A person who violates insider trading laws by engaging in transactions ina company's securities when he or she has material nonpublic infonuation

can be sentenced to a substantial jail termand required to pay a criminal penalty of several fimes the amount of profits gained or losses avoided.

In addition, a person wha tips athers may also be Yable for transactions by the tippees to whom he or she has disclosed material nonpublic infornatien, Tippers can
be subject to the same penalties and sanctions as the tippees, and the SEC has inposed large penalties even when the tipper did not profit fromthe transaction,

The SEC can also seek substantial civil penaltics from any person who, at the time of an insider trading violation, "directly or indirectly controlled the person whe
conmitted such violktion," which would apply to the Company and/or management and supervisory personnel These control persons may be held liable for up to
the greater of $1 million or three times the smount of the profits gained er losses aveided. Bven for violations that result in & small or no profit, the SEC can seek
penalties froma company and/or its management and supervisory perscnncl as control persons.

The SEC offers whistleblower awards to persons who provide information leading to the irposition of the civil monetary penalty.

(i) Comwpany-imposed Penalties, Fmployees whe viclate this Policy may be subject to disciplinary action by the Cotrpany, including dismissal for canse, Any cxceptions

to the Policy, if permitted, may only be granted by the Trade Clearance Committes and must be provided before any activity contrary to the abeve requirements takes
place.




F. Tnguiries,

‘ Tf you have any questions regarding any of the provisions of this Policy, please contact the Trade Clearance Committee by (i) calling the home office at 615-890-2020; (i}
emailing the Committee at tradeclearanceconmitttee@nhecare.cony or (i) emailing the then members of the Comimittes using their NHC email address.

PARTTI

A, Blackout Periods.

All Covered Persons are prohibited from trading in the Cormpany's securities during blackout periods as defined below.

(i Quarterly Blackout Periods, Trading in the Company's securities is prohibited during the period beginning at the close of the matket on the fifteenth (15th) day of the
Tast month of cach fiscal quarter and ending at the close of business o the second (2ad) trading day following the date the Company's financial results are publicly

disclosed and Form 10-Q or Form 10-K is filed. During these periods, Covered Persons generally possess or are presumed to possess material nonpublic information
about the Conpany's financial results.

(i) Other Blackout Periods. From tiime to time, other types of material nonpublic inforrmtion regarding the Company (such as negotiation of mergers, acquisitions or
dispositions, investigation and assessiment of cybersecutity incidents or new product developments) may be pending and not be publicly disclosed, While such
rmatetial nonpublic information is pending, the Compeny tmay itpose special blackout periods during which Covered Persons are prohibited from trading in the
Company's securities. If the Company imposes a special blackout period, it wilk notify the Covered Persons affected.

(ili) Stock Repurchase Plans, The Company may adopt stock repurchase plans fromtime to time that allow the Company to repurchase its own stock. Trading in Company
secutities by Covered Persons is prohibited while the Company is actively engaging in repurchases and for two (2) days following a repurchase period,

(v) Exception, These trading restrictions do not apply to transactions under a pre-existing written plan, contract, instruction, or anangement under Rule 10b5-1 under the
Securities Fxchange Act of 1934 (an "Approved 10b5-1 Plan™) that:

a, has been reviewed and approved at least one month i advance of any trades thereunder by the Trade Cloarance Conmittee (or, if revised or amended, such
revisions or amendments have been reviewed and approved by the Trade Clearance Comuittes at least one month in advance ofany subsequent trades);

b. provides that no trades may oceur thereunder until expiration of the applicable cocling-off period specified in Rule 10b3-1{e)(i}B), and no trades occur until after
that time. The appropriate cooling-cfF period will vary based on the status of the Covered Person. For directors and officers, the cooling-off period ends on the
later of (x) ninety days after adoption or eertain modifications of the 10b5-1 plan; or (¥) two business days following disclosure of the Cormany's financial results
in a Form 10-Q or Form 10-K for the quarter in which the 10b5-1 plan was adopted. For all other Covered Persons, the cooling-off period ends 30 days after

adoption or modification of the 10b3-1 plan. This required cooling-off period wil apply to the entry into a new 10b3-1 plan and any revision or modification of a
i0b3-! plan;




¢ was entered info in good faith by the Covered Person at a time when the Covered Person was not in possession of material nonpublic information about the
Conpany; and

d. gives a third party the discretionary authority to exccute such purchases and sales, outside the control of the Covered Person, so long as such third party does
not possess any material nonpublic information about the Company; or explicitly specifies the sceurity or securities to be purchased or sold, the nunber of
sharcs, the prices and/or dates of transactions, or other formula(s) describing such transactions,

¢, is the only outstanding Approved 10b5-1 Plan entered into by the Covered Person (subject to the exceptions set out in Rule 10b3-1(c)({i}D)).

No Approved 10b5-1 Plan may be adopted during a blackout period.

B. Trading Window.

Covered Persons are generally permitted to trade in the Company's securities when no blackout period is in effect. This means that Covered Persons can usually trade
during the period beginning on the day that a blackout period under Part 11, Section A. above ends and ending on the day that the next blackout period under Part IT, Section A.
begins. However, even during this trading window, a Covered Person who is in possession of any matedal nonpublic infornwtion sheuld not trade in the Company's securities until
the information has been made publicly available or is no longer material. In addition, the Company may close this trading window if a special blackout period under Part II, Section
A. (i above is imposed or the Company is repurchasing shares under Part II, Section A. (ili) above and will re-open the trading window onee the blackout period has ended,

C. Pre-clearance of Securities Transactions,

(i) Because Covercd Persons are likely to obtain taterial nenpublic infommtion on a regular basis, the Company requires all such persans to refrain frem trading, even
during a trading window under Part II, Section B. above, without first pre-clearing all transactions in the Company's securities.

{ii) Subject to the exermption in subsection (iv) below, no Covered Person nuy, directly or indirectly, purchase or sell (or otherwise make any transfer, gift, pledge or loan
of) any Company sccutity at any time without first obtaining prior approval fiom the Trade Clearance Committee, Theso procedures also apply to transactions by

such person’s spouse, other persens living in such person’s household and miner children and to transactions by entities over which such person excreises control,
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(ili) The Trade Clearance Cormittee shall record the date each request is received and the date and time cach request is approved or disapproved, Unless revoled, a grant
of permission wilt normally remain valid until the close of irading two business days following the day on which it was granted, If the transaction does not oceur
during the two-day period, pre-clearance of the transaction nuist be re-requested.

{iv) Pre-clearance i not required for purchases and sales of securities under an Approved 10b5-1 Plan. With respect ta any purchase or sale under an Approved 10b5-1
Plan, the third party cffecting transactions on behalf of the Covered Person should be instructed to send duplicate confimations of all such transactions to the Trade
Clearance Comrmittee,

Prohibited Transactions,

) Covered Persons are prohibited from trading in the Company's equity scourities during a blackout peried imposed under an "individual account” rtirement or
pension plan of the Company, during which at least 50% of the plan participants are unable to purchase, scil or otherwise acqulre or transfer an interest in cquity
securities of the Cormpany, due to a temporary suspension of trading by the Company or the plan fiduciary.

{fi) Covered Persons, including any person's spouse, other petsons living in such person's heusehold and minor children and entities over which such person exercises
control, are prohibited from engaging in the following transactions in the Company’s sceurities unless advance approval is obtained from the Trade Clearance

Committee:

a.  Short-termtrading, Covered Persons who purchase Campany secutities mey not sell any Conpany securities of the same class for ar least sixmonths afler the
purchase;

b. Short sales. Covered Persons may not sell the Company's securities short;
¢. Options trading. Covered Persons may not buy or sell puts or calls or other dorivative securities on the Company's securitics;
d. Trading on margin or pledging, Covered Persons way not hold Conpany securities in 3 margin account or pledge Company securities as collateral for a loan; and
e. Hedging, Covered Persons may aot enter into hedging or monetization transactions or similar artangeiments with respoct to Company secutities.
This Policy Controls.
In the event the tems of this policy conflict with any other Company poh’(:); addressing insider trading, then this palicy shall control.
Acknowiedgment and Certification,

All Coverad Persons are required to sign the attached acknowledgment and certification.
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ACKNOWLIDGVENT AND CERTIFICATION

The undersigned does hereby acknowledge receipt of the Company's Insider Trading Pelicy. The undersigned has read and understands (or has had explained) such
Palicy and agrees to be govemed by such Policy at all times in connection with the purchase and sale of securities and the confidentiality of nonpublic information.

(Signature)

(Please print name)

Date:
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Robett G Adans
Andrew W, Adams
Richard F. LaRoche
Ernest G Burgess T
J. Paul Abemathy
Sandra Y. Trail

Emil E. Hassan
Stephen F. Flatt

R. Michael Ussery
Brian F, Kidd

Josh A, MoCreary

B. Anderson Flatt, Jr.

Vicki L. Dodson
LeRoy B. McIntosh
Justin Epley
Trevor Layland

Pete Colling
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Exhibit 10.25

NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
Coupensation Recoupment Policy

1. Parpose, The purpose of this Compensation Recoupment Policy of the Company (as anended from time to time, the "Palicy™), dated as of November 2, 2023 (the
" Adoption Date™) is to desoribe the circunstances i which current and former Bxecutive Officers will be required to repay or retum Hrroneously Awarded Compensation fo
mewbers of the Company Group. The Cotrpany has adopted this Pelicy to comply with Section 954 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Refonm and Consumer Protection Act of 2040, as
codificd by Section 10D of the Exchange Act, Exchange Act Rule 10D-1 promulgated thereunder, and the mies and requirements of the NYSE-Anerican (inchiding Section 811 of
the NYSE-American Company Manual) (such legal requirements, and rules and requirsments of the NYSE-American, collectively, the " SEC/NYSE-Anerican Clawback Rules”).
Each Exeoutive Officer shali be required to sign and retum to the Comparry an acknowledgment to this Policy in the form attached hereto as Bxhibit A pursuant te which such
Brecutive Officer will agree to be bound by the termms and coniply with this Policy.

2. Administration, This Poliey shall be administered by the Board. The Board is authorized to interpret and construe this Policy and to make all determinations
necessaty, appropriate, or advisable for the administration of this Pelicy, and any such determynations nede by the Board shall be in the Board’s sole discretion, and shall be finat
and binding on all affected individuals. Subject to applicable legal requirements and the rules and requirements of the NYSE-American, the Board may delegate any or all of fts
powers and duties under the Policy to authorized efficers of the Conpany, subject to such limitations on such delegated powers and duties as the Board mey finpose, if any. Except
as otherwise required by applicable legal requirements or the rules and requirenents of the NYSE-Anerican, any determinations of the Board hereunder need not be uniforn: with
respect te one or more Executive Officers (whether current or forner).

3. Definitions. For purposes of this Policy, the following capitatized terms shail have the meanings set forth below:

(a) " Accounting Restatemoat” shall mean an accounting restatemcnt due to the material noncompliance of the Company with any finarcial reperting requiremont
under the securitics laws, inclnding any required accounting restatement (i) to correct an error in previously issued financial statements that is material to the previously issucd
financial statenents (4 "Big I restatement), ot (i) that would resuk in a material misstatement if the cror were corrected in the curreni period or left uncorrected in the current
period {a "little " restaterment),

[©)] "Board” shall mean the Board of Directors of the Company.

() " Clawback Hligible Incentive Compensation™ shall mean all Incentive-Based Commpensation Received by any current or former Executive Officer on or after the
NYSE-Anprican Effective Date, provided that:

() such Incentive-Based Cotmensation s Received after such individual began serving as an Exccutive Officer;

(i) such individualserved as an Bxocutive Officer at any time during the performanee period for such Incentive-Based Compensation;




(i) such lcentive-Based Conpensation is Received while the Company has a class ofsecurities listed on the NYSE-American; and
() such Incentive-Based Compensation is Received during the applicable Clawback Period.

) "Clawback Perind” shall mean, with respect to any Accounting Restatenent, the three conpleted fiscal years of the Company mmediately preceding the
Restatement Date and any transition period (that results from a change in the Conpany’s fiscal ycar) of less than nine months within or innediately following those three
completed fiscal years.

{e) "Cormon Stock™ shall mean the conron stock of the Company.

(] "Company” shall mean National HealthCare Comporation, a Delawate corporaticn.

(=) "Company Group” shall mean the Company, together with each of its direct and indirect subsidiaries.

(h} "Eroneously Awarded Compensation” shall mean, with respect to any current or former Executive Officer in connection with any Accounting Restatement, the
amount of Clawback Higible Incentive Compensation Received by such current or former Executive Officer that excesds the amount of Clawback Bligitle Incentive Compensation
that otherwise would have been Received by such curent or former Bxecutive Officer had such Clawback Higible Incentive Compensation been determined based on the restated
anouints as reflected in connection with such Accounting Restatement, computed without regard to ary taxes paid.

(i "Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,

6] "Eyeeutive Officer” shall moan any officer as defined in Rule 10D-1(d) (or any successor provision thereof) under the Exchange Act.

) "Financial Reporting Measyres” shall mean meagures that are determined and presented in accordence with the accounting principles used in prepating the
Company’s financial statements, and any other measures that are derived wholly or in part fromsuch measures, Fer purposes of this Policy, stock price and total shareholder retum
(and any measures that are derived wholly or in part fromstock price or total shareholder return) shall be considered Financial Reporting Measures. For the avoidance of doubt, a

Financial Reporting Measure need not be presented within the Conpany’s financial statements or included in a filing with the SEC.

® "heentjve-Based Compengation™ shall mean any compensation that is granted, camed or vested based wholly or i part upon the attaimment of a Financial
Reporting Measure.

{m) "NYSE-American” shall mean the New York Stock Exchange-Ametican.
(n) "NYSE-Aerigan Effective Date” shall mean October 2, 2023,
(a) "Received” shall mean when oentive-Based Compensation is received, and Incentive-Basod Compensation shall be deemed received in the Company’s fiscal

period during which the Financial Reparting Measure specified in the Inecentive-Based Conmensation award is attained, even if payment or grant of the Tcentive-Based
Conpensation occurs after the end of that period.




(3)] "Restatenent Date” shall mean the earlier te occur of (i) the date the Board, a Conmiiitee of the Board, or the officers of the Company authorized to take such
action if Board action is not required, concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the Conpany is requited to prepare an Accounting Restatenent, or (i) the date a
court, regulator or other legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare an Accounting Restatenent.

{q) "SEC” shall mean the U.S, Seeurities and Exchange Commission.
4, Recoupment of Erroncously Awarded Compensation.

(a) I the event that the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement, () the Board shall detenmine the amount of any Prroneously Awarded
Compensation for each applicable cutrent or former Bxecutive Officer (whether or not such individual is serving as an Bxecutive Officer at such time) (the "Applicable Executives™)
in connection with such Accounting Restatement, and (i) the Company will reasenably promptly requirs the recoupment of such Hrroncously Awarded Compensation frem any
such Applicable Brecutive, and any such Applicable Bxecutive shall sumrender such Eroncously Awarded Compensation to the Conpany, at such time{s), and via such method(s),
as determined by the Beard in accordance with the terms of this Policy, In such ovent, any such Applicable Executive shall enter into any recoupment or similar agreemont as may
be requested by the Board in connection with the Company’s recouprent of Emoneously Awarded Compensation from such Applicable Fxecutive pursuant to the ters of this
Policy.

{ For Incentive-Based Compensation based on (or derived from) stock price or total shareholder retum where the amount of Frronecusly Awarded Conpensation is
not subject to matherratical recalculation directly from the information in the applicable Accounting Restatement, (i} such amount shell be determined by the Board based on a
reasonable estimate of the effect of the Accounting Restatement on the stock price or total shareholder retum upon which the Incentive-Based Compensation was Received, and
(i} the Conpany will mantatn documentation of the determination of that reasonable estimate and provide such documentation to the NYSE-American.

() The Board shall determine, in its sole discretion, the method(s) for recouping any Eroneously Awarded Compens ation fromany Applicable Fxecutive, which may
include one or more of the folipwing;

(i} Tequiring one or mote cash payments fo the Company Goup from such Applicable Executive, including, but not limited to, the repayment of cash
Incentive-Based Coripensation previously paid by the Conpany Group to such Applicable Fxecutive;

(il secking recovery of any gain realized on the vesting, exercise, seftlement, sale, transfer or other disposition of any equity-based awards praviously made
by the Company to such Applicable Executive and/or otherwise requiring the delivery to the Conpany of shares of Conmmon Stack held by such Applicable Executive;

(i) withhoiding, reducing or eliminating future cash cempensation {ineluding cash incentive payments), future equity awards and/or other benefits or
amounts otherwise to be paid or awarded by the Company Group to such Applicable Executive;

{iv) offselting amounts against compensation or other amounts ctherwise payable by the Conpany Croup to such Applicable Executive; and
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(v) cancelling, adjusting or offsetting against some or all outstanding vested or unvested equity awards of the Conpany held by such Applicable Executive;
andfor

{vi) taking any other remedial and recovery actions with respect 1o such Applicable Executive pemiitted by applicable lega! requirements and the rules and
regulations of the NYSE-American, as determined by the Board.

d) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Company shall not be required to recover Erroneously Awarded Compensation from any Applicable
Fxceutive pursuant to the terns of this Policy if (1) the Company’s Compensation Comamittee detormines that such recovery would be fmpracticable, and (2) any of the following
conditions is met:

6] the direct expenscs paid to a third party to assist in enforcing the Policy would exceed the amount to be recovered, provided that, before concluding that
it would be inpracticable to recover any amount of Brrongously Awarded Compensation based on expense of enforcement pussuant to this clause (), the Company has (x)
made a reasonable attempt to recover such Eroneously Awarded Compensation, () documented such reasonable atiempi(s) to recover, and (¥) provided such
docunentation to the NYSE-Anetican;

[61)] recovery would viclate home country law where that law was adopted prior to November 28, 2022, provided that, before determining that it would be
jmpracticable to recover any amount of Frreneously Awarded Compensation based on violation of home country law, the Company has obtained an opinion of hoime
country counsel, acceptable to the NYSE-American, that recovery would result in such a violation, has provided copy of the opinion is provided to the NYSE-American;
or

(iif) recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax<qualified retirement plan, under which benefits are broadly available to employees of the Company Cioup,
to fail to meet the requirements of 26 U.8.C. 401(2){13) or 26 U.S.C, 411(a} and regulations thereunder.

5. No Tadenmification, Ffe, The Company Group shall not (¥) indermify any current or former Frecutive Officer against (i) the loss of any Frroneously Awarded
Compensation that is repaid, retumed or recovered pursuant to the tems of this Policy, or (i) any claims relating to the Company Group’s enforcement of its rights under this
Policy, or {y) pay or reimburse any current or formor Bxecutive Officers for insurance premiuns to recover losses incurred under this Policy.

6. Sopersedure. This Policy will supersede any provisiens in {x) any agreement, plan or other arangement applicable to any member of the Company Group, and ()
any ciganizational documonts of any entity that is part of Company Group that, in any such case, {a) exerpt any Incentive-Based Compensation from the application of this Policy,
(b waive or otherwise prohibit or restrict the Company Group's vight to trecover any Hroncously Awarded Compensation, including, without Limitation, in connection with
exercising any right of setoffas provided herein, and/for (o) roquirs or provide for indemmitication to the extent that such indemnification is prohibited under Section 5 above.

7. Amendment; Termination; Inferpretation. The Board may amend or terminate this Policy at any time, subject to compliance with all applicable legal requirenents
and the rules and requirements of the NYSE-American. Tt is intended that this Po lioy be interpreted in a manner that is consistent with the SEC/NYSE-American Clawback Rules.
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8. Other Recoupment Rights; No Additional Payments,

(a) Any right of recoupment under this Policy is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other remedies or rights of recoupnent that may be available to the Conpany
Group pursuant fo (i) the tetns of any recoupment provisions in any employment agreement, incentive or equity compensation plan or award or other agreement, () any other legal
requirements, inchuding, but not limited to, Scction 304 of Sarbanes-Oxdey Act of 2002 (subject to Section 8(b) of this Policy below), and (iiiy any other legal rights or remedics
available to the Conpany.

b} Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, to the extent that the Beard determines that any Frroncously Awarded Compensatior: inchades any amounts that
have been actually reimbursed to the Company Group from any Applicable Fxecutive pursuant to Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (any such amounts that have been
reimbursed to the Comrpany Group, the "Applicable SOX Recoupiment Amount™), in erder to prevent duplicative recovery, the amount of any Eroneously Awarded Cotrpensation
to be recovered fromany such Applicable Executive shall be reduced by the Applicable SOX Recoupment Amount,

9. Successors, This Policy shall be binding and enforecable against all cumrent and former Excoutive Officets and their beneficiaries, heirs, execufors, administrators or
other legal representatives.




Exhibit A
Form of Acknowledgment

By signing below, the undersigned acknowledges and confirms that the undersigned has received and reviewed a copy of the National HealthCare Corperation
Compensation Recoupment Policy (the "Pglicy”). Capitalized terms used bur not otherwise defined in this acknowledgment shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the
Policy.

By signing this acknowledgment, the undersigned aclnowledges and agraes that the undersigned is and will continue to be subject to the Policy and that the Policy will
apply both during and after the undersigned’s employment with the Company Group. Further, by signing below, the undersigned agrees to abide by the terns of the Policy,
including, without limitation, by retuming ary Frroneously Awarded Conpensation to the Company Group to the extent required by the Policy, .

Signature

Print Name

Date



EXHIBIT 21
Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Name % Ovned State of Organization
INHC/Delaware, Inc. 100% Delaware
NHC/OP, LP. 100% Delaware
[Nationa! Health Realty, 11.C 100% [Delaware
IPremier Group Ins. Co. 100% [Tenncesee
National Healtheare Center of Fort Oglethorpe, L.P. 160% [Tcnnessee
[Nutritional Support Services 100% [Tennessec
INHC HealthCare/ Anniston, LLC 100% |Alabama
INHC Place/Anniston, LLC 100% Alabarma
INHC HealthCare/Moulton, LLC 100%% lAlabarma
Premier Plus Insurance Co. 100% Caymran Islands
[Knoxville Center for Behavioral Medicine, LLL 65% Delaware
Maryland Heights Properties, LIC 100% Delaware
Middlebrook Property Partners, LLC 88,98% Delawere
NHC Delaware Investments Inc, 100% Delaware
INHC-Mzaury Regional Transitional Care Center, LLC 80%% IDelawarc
Osage Beach Center for Behavioral Health, LLC 100%% Delaware
Post Acute Service Solutions, LLC 100% Delaware
St, Peters Il Holdings, LLC 100% Delaware
The Health Center of Hermitage, LLC 100% [Delaware
INHC HealthCarc/Lake City, Inc. 100% [Florida
INHC HealthCare/Pensacela, Ine, 100% IFlorida
INHC Place Meitt Island, LLC 100% Florida
INHC Place Stuart, LLC 100% Florida
INHC Place Vero Beach, LLC 10054 Florida
Hudson HealthCare Advisors, L1C 100% Florida
Georgia HealthCare Advisors, LILC 10084 Georgia
INHC HealthCare/Rossville, LLC 100% Goorgia
INHC HealthCare/Glasgow, LLC 160% Kentucky
Buckley HeaithCare Center, LLC 100% Massachusetts
[Holyoke HealthCare Center, 11C 100% Massachusetts
lohn Adans HealthCare Center, LLC 100% Massachusetts
Taunton HealthCare Center, LLC 100% Massachusetts
Maryland Heights Center for Behavioral Health, 11C 100% Missonr
Misscur HealthCare Advisors, LLC 160% Miss ouri
INHC Advantage, LLC 75.56% Missouri
INHC HealthCare/Desloge, LLC 100% Missour
INHC HealthCare/Joplin, LLC 100% Missouri
INHC HealthCare/Kennett, LLC 100% Missourl
INHC Place/Lake St, Chatles, LLC 100% Missourd
NHC HealthCare-Macon, LIC 100% Missour
INHC HealthCare/Maryland Heights, LLC 100% Missouri
INHC HealthCarc-Osage Beach, LLC 100% IMiss ouri
INHC HealthCare-Springfield Missouri, LLC 0% IMissouzi
NHC HealthCare/St, Charles, LLC 100% Missouri
INHC HealthCare/West Plains, L1LC 100% Missouri
INHC Homecare Missour, LLC 100%% Missouri
St, Peters Memory Care Operations, LLC 100% Missourd
St, Peters Menory Care Realty, LLC 100% [Missour




Villages of St. Peters, LLC 100% Missouri
Villages of Jackson Creck, LLC 100% Missour
WVillages of Jackson Creck Memory Care, LIC 100% [Missourt
iHeartland HealthCare Center, LLC 100% New Harpshire
[Pearl Strect HealthCare Center, LLC 100% MNew Hampshire
Villa Crest HealthCare Center, LLC 100% New Hampshire
INHC HealthCare/Afken, LLC 100% Scuth Carolina
NHC HealthCare/Anderson, LILC 100845 South Carolina
INHC HealthCare/Bluffion, LLC 100% South Carolina
INHC HealihCare-Charleston, LLC 100% South Carolina
INFIC HealthCare/Clinton, LLC 100% South Carolina
NHC HealthCare/Carden City, LLC 160% South Carolina
INHC HealthCare/Greenville, LLC 100% South Carolina
NHC HealthCare/Creenwood, LLC 100% Scuth Carolina
INHC HealthCare/Laurens, LLC 100% South Carolina
INHC HealthCare/Lexington, LLC 100% South Carclina
INHC HealthCare/Mauldin, LLC 100% South Carolina
INHC HealthCare/North Augusta, LIC 100% South Carolina
NEC HealthCare/Parklane, LLC 100% South Carolina
INHC Honecare — South Carolina, LIC 100% Sauth Carolina
INHC Place-Charleston, LLC 100% South Carolina
[The Palmettos of Bluffton, LLC 100% South Carclina
[The Palmettos of Garden City, LLC 100% South Carolina
[The Palmettos of Parklane, LLC 100% South Carolina
South Carolina HealthCare Advisors, LLC 100%0 South Carolina
AdamsPlace, TLC 100% Tennessee
Caris HealthCare, P, 100% [Tennessee
[HealthCare Transition Center, LLC 100% Tennessee
Knoxville Health Care Center, LP. 100%% ITennessce
INHC Farragut Memory Care, LLC 100% [Tenncssee
INHC HealthCare/ Athens, LLC 1007 Tennecssee
INHC HealthCare/Chattanooga, LLC 100% [Tennessee
NFIC HealthCate/Columbia, LLC 100% [Tennessec
INHC HealthCare/Cooil Springs, LLC 100% [Tennessee
INHC HealthCare/Dickson, LLC 100% [Tennesses
INHC HealthCare/Famagut, LLC 160% [Tennessee
INHC FealihCare/Franklin, LILC 100% Mennessee
INHC HealthCare/Hendersenville, LLC 100% [Tennessec
INHIC HealthCare/Heartland, TLC 100% [Tennessee
INHC HealthCave/Hillview, LILC 1 Tennesses
INHC HealthCare/Hols ton Hills, 1L1L.C 100% [Tenncssee
INHC HealthCare/Johnson City, LLC 100% [Tennessee
NHC HealthCare/Kingsport, LLC 0% [Tennessee
INHC HealthCare/Knoxyille, LLC 100% [Tennessee
INHC HealthCare/Lewisburg, LIC 100% [Tennessce
INHC HealthCare/MceMinnvilie, LLC 100% [Tennessce
INHC HealthCare/Milan, LILC 100%% [Tennesses
INHC HealthCare/Qakwood, LLC 100% [Tenncssee
INHC HealthCare/Pulaski, LLC 100% Tenmnessee
INHC HealthCare/Scott, LLC 100% Tennessee
INHC HealthCare/ Sequatchie, LILC 100% [Tennessce
INHC HealthCare/Smithville, LLC 100% Tennessec




INFIC HealthCare/Somerville, LLC 100% [Tennessee
[INIIC HealthCare/Sparta, LLC 100% Tennessee
INHC HealthCare/Springfield, 11.C 100% [Tennessee
INHC HealthCare-Summer, LLC 100% [Tenncssce
INHC HealthCare/ Tullahons, LLC 100% Tennessee
INHC-Maury Regional HealthCare, LLC 100% [Tennessee
NHC Middlebrook Behavioral Services, LLC 100% [Tennessce
NHC Middlebrook Properties, LLC 100% {Tennessee
INHC Place at the Trace, LLEC 100% [Tennessee
[National Hospice, Inc. 100% [Tennessee
IRenal Health Services, LLC 100% [Tennessee
Standifer Place Properties, LLC 100% Tennessee
[Tennessee HealthCare Advisors, LLC 100% Tennessee
[Tennessee Home Care Holdings, LLC 50% [Tennessee
City Corporation ' 100% [Tennessce
City Center, LP. 09% [Tennessee
Medical Personnel Services, LLC 100% [Tennessee
[Tranzion, LLC 100% Tennessee
INHC HealthCare/Bristol, L1LC 100% Virginia




Exhibit 23
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the incomoration by reference in the following Registration Statements:

(1) Registration Statement {Form S-8 No. 333-120462) pertaining to National HealthCare Comporation’s 2005 Stock Option, FErployee Stock Purchase, Plysician Stock
Purchase & Stock Appreciation Rights Plan and 2004 Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan

(%) Registration Statements (Forms S-8 No. 333-167685 and No. 333-216085) pertaining to National HealthCare Corporation’s 2010 Onmibus Fauity Incentive Plan
(3) Registration Statermonts {Form S-8 No. 333-238900) pertaining to National HealthCare Corporation’s 202¢ Cmnibus Equity Incentive Plan
of our reports dated Februaty 16, 2024, with respect to the consolidated financial staterents of National HealthCare Corporation, and the effectiveness of internal

conirol over financial reporting of National HealthCare Cotporation, included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of National HealthCare Corporation for the year
ended Decermber 31, 2023

Nashville, Tennessee
February 16, 2024



EXHIBIT 31,1

CERTIFICATION

1, Stephen F. Flatt, certify that:

1.

1 have reviewed this annual report on Fomn 10-I of National HealthCare Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any unfrue statenent of a material fact or omiit 1o state a material fact necessary to make the statements made,
in light of the circunstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annualreport;

Based en my knowledge, the financial staterents, and other finaneial information ineluded in this report, fairly present in all materiel respects the financial condition,
resulis ofoperations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are respensible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Bxchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and intemal control over financial reporting (as defined in Bxchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(1) for the registrant and have;

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
inforration relating to the rogistzant, mcluding its consalidated subsidiarics, is nade known to us by others within those entitics, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

Designed such intemal control over financial reporting, or caused such intemal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

Fvaluated the effcctiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosute controls and procedures, as of the end of the period cevered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control cver financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materally affect, the registrant's internal control
over financial reperting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control ever financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit conmittee of the rogistrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function);

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of intemal control over financial reporting which are reasaonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and repott financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that invelves menagencnt or other enployecs who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting,

Date; February 16, 2024

/s/ Stephen F, Flatt
Stephen F. Flatt
Chief Bxecutive Officer




EXHIBET 31.2

CERTIFICATION

1, Brian F. Kidd, certify that:

1 have reviewed this annual report on Fonn 10-K of National HealthCare Corporation;

2, Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statetrent of a material fact or onit to state a material fact necessary to neke the statements made,
in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

3 Based on ny knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information ncluded in this repod, firly present in all meterial respects the fimancial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's ether certifying officer and T are responsible for establishing and neintaining disclosure contrals and procedures (as defined in Exhange Act Rules |3a-

15(e) and 15d-15(e}) and internal contral over financial reporting {as defined in Fxchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the regisrant and have:

a.  Designed such disclosure contrels and procedures, or caused such disclosure contrels and procedures to bo designed under our supervigion, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its eonsolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within these cntities, particularly during the perod in
which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such mternal control over financial reperting, or caused such internal control over finencial reperting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financiel reperting and the preparation of financial statements for extenal purposcs in accerdance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

¢. FEvalated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our gonclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period coveted by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over finanoial reporting that occusred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual repott) that has meterially affected, oris reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's intemal control
over financial reporting; and

5 The registrant’s other certifying officer and 1 have disclosed, based on our most recent evakiation of internal contiol over financie] reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function);

a. Al significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over fmancial reporting whick are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summatize and report financial information; and

b, Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves nunagement or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financiul
reporting,

Date: February 16, 2024 :

/s/ Brion F. Kidd
Brian F. Kidd
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32
Certification of Anuual Report on Form 10-K

of National HealthCare Corporation
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

The undersigned hereby certify, pursvant te 18 U.S.C. Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the undersigned's best knowledge and belief, the Armuat

Repart on Form 10-K. for National HealthCare Corporation (“Issuer") for the period ending Decetvber 31, 2023 as filed with the Securities and Bchange Commission on the date
hereof (the "Report™):

(a) fully gomplies with the requirernents of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

() the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Issuer.

This Certification accompanies the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Issuer for the year ended Decorber 31,2023,

This Certification is executed as of Febrary 16, 2024,

fs/Stephen F, Flatt
Stephen F. Flatt
Chief Bxecutive Officer

fs/ Brian F, Kidd
Brian F. Kidd
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Seetion 906 has been provided to the Conpany and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securitics
and Bxchange Commission orits staffupon reguest.
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UNITED STATES
SBCURIETES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSTION
‘Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 14-Q

XQUARTERLY REPORT PURSTIANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the quarterly period ended March 31,2024
OR

CITRANSITION RFPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from, to

Conmission file number__001-13489

(Exact name of registrant as specified i its Charter)

Delawarg 52-2057472

(State or other jurisdiction of {LR.S. Employer
incorporation cr organjzation Identification No.}

100 E. Vine Strest

Murfieesboro, TN

37130
(Address of ptincipal exccative offices)
(Zip Code}

615) 850-2020

Registrant's telephone number, including area code

Seeurities registered pursuant to Section 12(b} of the Exchange Act:

Title of each class Trading Name of each exchange on which
Symbols{s) registered
Common, $0.01 par value NHC NYSE Ametican

Indicate by check matk whether the registrant: (1) Has filed all reports required to be fifed by Section 13 or 15(d), of the Securitics Bxchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12
months (o1 for such shorter periad that the registrant was required to file such reports), and {2) has been subject to such filing requiremonts for the past 90 days. Yes XNo OJ

Indieate by check mark whether the registrant has subrmitted elcetronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation 5T (§ 232.405 of
this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes X No [

Indicate by eheck mark whother the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelorated files, smaller reporting corpany, or an eneigitg growth conpany.
See the definitions of "large accelerated filer,” "accelerated filer,” "samaller roporting conpany,” and "emerging growth company” in Rule 1202 of the BExchange Act,
Large Accelerated filer X Accelerated filer {1
Non—accelerated filer [ Srmller reporting company [}
Fmerging growth company [J

If an emerging growth conpany, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected 1ot 1o use the extended transition petod for corplying with any new or revised financial
accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. 3

Indicate by check marlc whether the registrant is a shell company {as is defined in Rule 128-2 of the Bxchange Act). Yos [1 No X

15,399,724 shares of cornton stock of the registrant were outstunding as of May |, 2024,
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PART 1. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ftem: 1, Financial Statements.

NATIONAL HEAL THCARE CORPORATION
Interim Condens ed Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except share and per share amounis)

(unaudited)
Three Months Ended
March 31
2024 2023
Revenues;
Net patient revenues £ 285823 % 258,007
Gther revenues 11,353 11,556
Net operating revenues 297,176 269,563
Cost and cxpenses:
Salaries, wages, and benefits 183,138 167,824
Other operating 77429 71,489
Fecility rent 10,348 10,092
Depreciation and amortization 10,586 10,048
Interest 46 98
Total costs and expenses ) 281,547 259,551
Income from operations o ) 15,629 10,012
Other incorne: ) ) o
" Non—operating come o : 5,685 4,323
Unrealized gains on marketablo equity securities 14,399 1,386
Income before income taxes o ) 35,713 15,721
Income taxprovision - i . (8.462) (4,436)
Net income 26,251 11,285
Net (income)loss atiributable to noncontrolling interest (3% 438
Net incomme attributable to National HealthCare Corporation ‘ $ 26213 % 173
Eamings per share attributable te National HealthCare Corporation stockhelders:
Basic $ 171§ 0.7 ‘
Dilyted by 169 8 076 :
Weighted average conmbn shares outstanding:
Basic 15,350,240 15,337,423
Diluted 15,505,096 15,356,335
Dividends declared per common share ' ' : $ 059 % 0.57

The accompanying notes to interim condensed consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated siatements.
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NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
Interim Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(unandited — in thousands)

Three Months Ended

March 31
224 2023

Net income $ 26251 8 11,285
Other comprehensive income/(loss):

Unrealized gains/(Josses) on investments in marketable debt securities @72 1,958

Reclassification adjustment for realized gains on sales of marketable debt securities (10 -

Inconr {ax (expense)/benefit related to iters of other comprehensive incone 45 279
Other comprehensive incone/(loss), net oftax @37 1,672
Net (incone)loss attributable to noncontrolling interest (38 438
Cb@mhensive income attributabie to National HealthCare Corporation 3 25776 3 13402

The accompanying notes ko inferim condensed consolidated financial statements are an integral pari of these consolidated statements.

4
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NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
Interim Condensed Cons olidated Balanee Sheets

(in thausands)

March 31, Decctuber 31,
2024 2023
unaudited
Assets
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 93,982 % 107,076
Restricted cash and cash equivalents, current portion 26,010 17,125
Marketable equity securities : 123,040 1,117
Marketable debt securities 424 5427
- Restricted marketable equity securities 29,616 26,779
Restricted marketable debt securities, cument partion 4,790 12,822
" Accounts Teceivable - S 125,664 108,545
Inventories 6,763 7,380
Prepaid expenses and other assets 6,750 8,855
Notes receivable 487 503
Tatal current assets 417,586 406,235
Property and Equipment:
Property and equipment, at cost 1,065,543 1,101,681
Accummlated depreciation and anvortization (576,845) (608,352)
Net property and equipment 488,698 493,329
Other Assets; '
Restricted cash and cash equivalents, less current portion 1,146 1,167
Restricted marketable debt securities, less current portion 119,042 109478
Deposits and other assets 13,738 14,786
Cperating lease right-of-use assets 87,356 94,201
Goodwill 168,295 168,295
Intangible assets 7,038 7,038
Investmenis in unconsolidated comparies 16,747 16,267
Total other assets 413,356 411,232
Total aseets 1315640 § 1,310,796

The accompanying roles to interim condensed consclidated financial statemerts are an trtegral part of these consolidated statements.
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NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
Tnterim Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets (continued)
(in thousands, except share and per share amounis)

March 31, December 31,
2024 2023
. wnandited
Liahilities and Stockhoelders” Equity
Current Liabilities:
Trade accounts payable ' £ 20697 $ 19,194
Finanee lease obligations, cuirent portion - B 860
Operating lease liabilities, current portion 29,733 29,352
Accrued payroll o 64,156 84,110
= Awrounts dueto third party payors 19,988 18,360
Accrued risk reserves, current portion 30,800 30,549
“Other current liabilities 0. 24,3502 22,991
Contract liabilities ) 7,667 -
Dividends payable S 9,086 5,051
Total current liabilities 206,429 214476
Ciperating lease liabilities, less current portion 56,004 63,175
Accrued risk reserves, less current portion 77,437 72,710
Refundable entrance fees 5,708 6,376
Deferred income taxes 19,639 17,200
QOther noncurrent liabilities 27,509 26,379
Total liabilities 393,126 400,316
Equity: B
Common stock, $.01 par valug; 45,000,000 shares authetized; 15,399,724 and 15,350,661 sharcs, respectively, issued
and outstanding ) ) 154 153
Capital in excess of par value 226,909 227,604
~ Retained eamnings 704,726 687,59
Accummiated othér conprehensive loss (7.041) 6,604}
Total National HealthCare Corporation stockholders” equity 924,748 908,752
Noncontrolling interest .- L ) 1,766 1,728
Total equity 926,514 010,480
Totzl lisbilities and equity $ 1319640 § 1,310,796

The accompanying nates to intevim condensed consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated sfatements.
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NATIONAL HEALTBCARE CORPORATION
Toterim Condens ed Consofidated Statements of Cash Hows
(rinaudited — in thousands)

Three Months Ended
March 31
2024 2023
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Net income $ 26251 $ 11,283
Adjustments to reconeile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 10,586 10,048
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated investments (67 (1,535}
Unrealized gais on marketable equity securities (14,399) (1,386)
(GainsY/losses on sale of marketable securities (344 402
Cain on sale of unconsolidated coppany {1.024) -
Deferred income taxes 2484 331
Stoclebased compensation 7%3 639
Changes in operating assets and abilities:
Accounts receivable {I7.119) {3,148)
Tnventories ~ 623 142
Prepaid expenses and other assels 3,153 1,957
Operating lease obligations 35 318
Trade accounts payable 1,503 (4,018)
-Accrued payroll - {19.954) {15,800}
Amounts due to third party payors 1,619 48
Accrued risk reserves 4,978 3,157
Contract liabilities 7,667 -
QOther current Liabilities 1,311 5407
Other noncurrent labilities 1,530 6,554
Net cash provided by operating activilies 9,646 13,857
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
Purchases of property and equipment (5,953) (6,640}
Proceeds fremsale of unconsaolidated company 2,100 -
Investments in unconsolidated companies (1,488) -
Cellections of notes receivable 16 2
Purchases of marketable securities (8,703) (10,281)
Proceeds fromsale of marketable securitics 11,615 15,492
- “Net cash used in investing activities (2415) (1427)
Cash Ecms From Financing Activities:
“‘Principal payments under finance lease obligations (880) (1,218)
Dividends paid to comron stockholders (9,051) {8,748)
. Jsguance of common stock 8412 -
Repurchase of common s hales (5,900) (2,482)
Entrance fee refimds - (668) a7
Net cash used in financing activities (2,067 {12,619
Net Decrease in Cash, Cash Bquivalents, Restricted Cash, and Restricted Cash Bquivalents (4,836) (189)
Cash, Cash Equivalents, Restricted Cash, and Restricted Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Period 125,968 74,865
Cagh, Cash Fquiﬁulents, Res tricted Cash, and Restricted Cash Equivatents, Fnd of Perled $ 21132 74,676
Balance Sheet Classifications:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 93982 § 46,144
Restricied cash and cash equivalents 27,150 28,532
Total Cash, Cash Equivilents, Restricted Cash, and Restricted Cash Fyuivalents $ 121,132 § 74676

The accompanying noles to interim condensed consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated statemenis.
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For the three months ended March 31, 2024:

Balance at January 1, 2024
Net income
Other conprehensive toss
Stock—based conpensation
Shares sold — options exercised
Repurchase of common shares

Dividends declared (o common stockholders

{30.59 per share)
Balance at March 31, 2024

For the three months ended March 31, 2023:

Balance at January 1, 2023
Net income/(loss)
“‘Other cotrprehensive income
Stock-based compensation
Shares sold — options éxercised -
Repurchase of conmwon shares

Dividends declared to comimon stockholders

($0.57 per share)
Balance at March 31,2023

NATIONAL HEAL THCARE CORPORATION
Tnterim Condensed Consolidated Statements of S tock holders® Eqaity
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

(unaudited)

Accunulated
Capifal in Cther Non- Total
Commoen Stock BExcess of Retained Comprehensive  controlling Stockholders’
Shares Amount Par Valuo Eamings Loss Interest Equity
15,350,661 8 153 T2T60A 8 68759 § (6604) 728 § 9010480
- — - 26,213 - 38 26,251
- - - - {457) - (#37)
- - 793 — - - 793
150,194 1 8412 - - - 8413
(10L,131) - £9,900) - - - (9,500)
- - (9,086) — - (9,080)
15399,724  § 154 226909 $ 704,726 § (7,041} § 1,766 526,514
Accumulated
Cepital in Other Non- Total
Common Stock Facess of Retained Comprehensive  controlling Stockholders®
Shares Amount Par Value Farnings Income (Loss) Interest Fauity
15,357,746 § 153 26991 % 656,664 B 933 § 3238 § 877,514
- - - 11,723 - (438) 11,285
- - - - 1,679 - 1,679
- - 539 - - - 639
N 7,046 _ - - - — _
(44,349) - (2482 - - - (2483
- - - (8,739 - (8,733)
15320443 § 153 225,148 § 659,654 § {1853) § 2,800 879,502

The accompanying notes to interim condensed consolidated financial statements ave an integral part of these consolidated statements.
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NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
Notes to Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
March 31, 2024
{ungudited)

Note 1 — Description of Business

National HealthCare Corperation ("NHC or the "Company”) is a leading provider of yenior health care services. As of March 31, 2024, we operate or manage, through
cottain affiliates, 65 siilled nursing facilities with a total of 8,421 licensed beds, 24 assisted living facilities with 1,365 units, five independent living facilitics, three behavioral health
hospitals, 35 homecare agencies, and 30 hospice agencies. We operate specialized cate units within certain of our healtheare centers such as Alzheimer's disease care units and
sub-acute nursing units, n addition, we provide msurance services, management and accounting serviees, and we kase properties to operators of skilled nursing and assisted
living facilities. We operatc in 8 states and arc located primarily in the scuthcastern United States,

Note 2 ~ Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The listing below is not intended to be a conprehensive list of all our significant accaunting policies, Tn many cases, the accounting treatment of a particular transaction is
specifically dictated by TS, generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP™), with Timited need for management’s judgment i their application, There are also areas n which
management’s judgment in selecting any available altemative would not produce a materially ditferent result, See our audited December 31, 2023 consolidated financial statements
and notes thereto which contain accounting polisies and other disclosures required by U.S. GAAP. Our audiled Decewber 31, 2023 consolidated financial statements are available
at our web site: www.nhecare.com.

Basis of Presentation

The unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements to which these notes are attached include all normal, recurring adjusiiments which are necessary to
fairly present the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of NHC, All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of all entities controlled by NHC The Company presents noncontrolling interest within the equity section of its
consolidated balance sheets. The Conpany presents the smount of consolidated net income that is attributable to NHC and the noncontrolling interest in its consolidated
statenents of operations.

Wo assume that users of these interim financial statoments have read er have access to the audited December 31, 2023 consolidated financial statements and that the
adequacy of additional disclosure needed for a fafr presentation, exeept in regard to matcrial contingencies, ray be determined in that context. Accordmgly, footnotes and other
disclosures which would substantially duplicate the disclosure centained in our most recent annual report to stockholders have been onitted. This interim financial information is
not necessarly indicative of the resulis that may be expected for a full year for a variety of reasens.

Estimaies and Asstimptions

The prepatation of financial statenents in conformity with U.S. GAAP requircs us to nake estimates and assunptions that affect the reported amounts of asscts and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitics at the date of the financial staternents and the reported amounts of revenues and cxpenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ fromthose cstinates and could cause our reported net income to vary significantly from period to peried.

Net Putient Revenues and Acconnts Recelvable

Net patient revenues are derived from services rendered to patients tor skifled and intermediate nussing, rehabilitation therapy, assisted living and independent living,
home health care services, hospice services, ang behavioral health services. Net patlent revenue is reported at the amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company
expects to be entitled in exchange for providing patient services. These amounts are due from patients, govemmental programs, and other third-party payors, and include variable
consideration for retronctive revenue adjustments due te settlement of audits, reviews, and investigations.

The Company recognizes revenue as its perfornance obligations ate completed, Routing services are freated as a single performmnce obligation satisfied over time as
services are rendered, These routine services represent a bundle of services that are not capable of being distinet. The performance obligations are satistied over time as the
patient sinultanzously receives and consumes the benefits of the healthcare services provided, Additionally, there may be ancillary services which are not inclided in the daily
rates for routine services, but insiead ae treated as separate performance obligations safisfied at a point in time when those scrvices are rendered. Contract liabilities are recorded
for payments the Company receives in which performance obligations have not been completed.
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The Company determines the transaction price based on established billing rates reduced by explicit price concessions provided to third party payors. Explicit price
concessions are based on contractual agreements and historical experence. The Company tonsiders the patient's ability and intent to pay the amount of consideration upon
admission. Credit losses are recorded as bad debt cxpense, which is mcluded as a component of other operating expenses in the interim condensed consolidated statements of
operations. Bad debt expense was $2,471,000 and $1,81 1,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. As of March 31, 2024, and Decendber 31, 2023, the
Conpany has recorded allowance for doubtful accounts of $9,174,000 and $8,054,000, respectively, as our best estinute of expected losses inherent in the accounts receivable
balance.

Other Revenuies

Other revennes include revenues from the provision of insurance services, management and accounting scrvices to other long—term care providets, and rental income.
Qur insurance revenues consist of premiums that are generally paid in advance and then amortized into income over the policy period, We charge for management services based
on a perceniage of net revenues, We charge for accounting services based ot a monthly fec or a fixed foe per bed of the healthearc center under contract. We record other
revenues as the perfornmnce obligations are satisfied based on the terns of our contractval amangenents.

We recognize rental incony based on the terms of our operating leases. Under certain ofour leases, we receive variable rent, which is based on the increase in revenues of
a lessee over a base year, We recognize variable rent annually or monthly, as applicable, when, based on the actual revenue of the lessee is camed.

Segment Reporting

Tn accordance with the provisions of Accounting Srandards Codification (" ASC"} 280, Segment Reporting, the Company is required to report financial and descriptive
information about its repottable eperating segments, The Company has two reportable operating segments: (1) inpatient services, which includes the operation of skilled nursing
facilities, assisted and independent living facilities, and behavicral health hospitals, and {2) honecare and hospice services. The Conpany also reports an "all other” category that
includes revenues from rental income, menagement and accounting services fees, insurance services, and costs of the corperate office, See Nate 6 for finther disclosure of the
Conpany’s operating segments,

Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses include the costs of care and services that we provide to the residents of our facilities and the costs of maintaining our facilities, Our primary
patient care costs inchude drugs, medical suppliss, purchased professional services, food, and professional liability insurance and licensing foes. The primary facility costs include
utilities and property insurance.

General and Administrative Costs

With the Company being a healtheare provides, the majority of our expenses are "cost ofravenue" iters, Costs that could be classified as "general and administrative” by
the Company would includs its corporate office costs, excluding stock-based compensation, which were §6,164,000 and $5,653,000 for the three mouths ended March 31, 2024 and
2023, respectively.

Long-Term Leases

The Cotpany’s lease portfolio primarily consists of operating real estate leases for certain skilled nursing facilities, assisted and independent living facilities, homecare
and hospice offices, and pharmaey warehouses. The original terms of the leases typically range fromtwo o fiffeen years. Several of the real estate leases include renewal options
which vary in length and may not include specific rent renewal anounts. We determine if an amangement is a lease at mception of a contract. We deternine the lease femn by
assuming exercise of renewal options that are reasenably certain. '

The Company records right-of-usc assets and liabilities for non-cancelable real cstate operating leases with original or remaining lease terms in excess of one year. Leases
with a lease term of 12 months o less at inception are not recorded and are exponsed on a straight-line basis over the lease term We recognize lease components and non-lease

components together and not as separate parts of a lease for roal estate leases.
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Operating lease right-of-use assets and liabilitics are recorded at the present value of the lease payments over the lease term, The present value of the lease payments are
discounted using the incremental bomrowing rate associated with each lease. The variable conponents of the lease payment thal fhictuate with the operations of a health facility are
not inchuded i determining the right-ofuse assets and lease liabilities. Rather, these variable compaonents are expensed as incurred.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation is provided by the straight-line method over the expected useful fives of the asscts cstimated as follows:
buildings and improvements, 2040 years and equipment and furniture, 3-15 yeats. Leasehold improvements are ammortized over periods that do not excced the non-cancelable
respective lease terns using the straight-line method.

Buisiness Combinations

We account for sequisitions using the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with ASC 805, Business Combinations. Acquisitions are accounted for as
purchases and are included i our consolidated financial statements from their respective acquisition dates, Assets acquired and liabilities assumed, if any, are measured at fair
value on the acquisition date using the approptiate valuation wethod. Goodwill generated from acquisitions is recognized for the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of
tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed. In detettmining the fair value of identifiable assots, we use various valuation techniques, These
valuation methods require us to make estimates and assunptions sumrounding projected revenues and costs, fotute growth, and discount rates,

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill tepresents the excess of the purchase price over the fir value of identifiable net assets acquired in business cotbinations. Goodwill is not amortized but is
subject to an annual impafrment test. We perform our annual goodwill impairment asscssment on the first day of the fourth quarter. Tests are perfonred more frequently if events
oecur, or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the faic value of the reporting unit below its carrying amount,

The Company’s indefinite-lived intangible assets consist of ttade nawes and certificates ofneed and licenses. The Company reviews indefinite-lived intangible assets for
impaitment on an annual basis or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the imtangible asset may not be recoverable.

Accrued Risk Reserves

We arc self-insured for risks related to workers' conpensation and general and professional liability insurance. We have two wholly—owned limited purpose insurance
companies that insure these risks, The accrued risk reserves inglude a Tiability for reported claims and estimates for incutred but unreported claims. Qur policy is to engage an
external, independent actuary to assist in estinating our exposure for clains abligations (for both asserted and unasserted clzins). We reassess our accmed risk reserves on a
quarterly basis.

Profssional Hability remains an area of particular concem to us. The long-term care mdustry has seen an increase i personal injury/wrongful death claims based on
alleged negligence by sldlled nursing facilities and their enployees in providing car to residents. The Company hias been, and continues to be, subject to clains and legal actions
that arise in the ordinary course of business, inchuding potential claime refated to patient care and treatnent. A significant increase in the number of these clains, or an increase in
the amounts due as a result of these claims could have a naterial advorse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows. Tt is also pessible that
future events could cause us to make significant adjustments or revisions to these reserve estimates and cause our reported net income to vary significantly from period to peried.

We are principally self-insured for incidents occuring in all centers owned or leased by us, The coverages include both primary policies and excess palicies. In all years,
scttlernents, ifany, in excess of available insurance policy linits and our own reserves would be cxpensed by us.
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Continuing Care Contracts

We have one continuing care retirement censer ("CCRC") within our operations. Residents at this retirement ceater may ¢nter into continuing care contracts with us. The
contracts pravide that 10% of the resident entry fee becomes non-refundable upon occupancy, and the remmaining vefundable portion of the entry fec is caleulated using the lesser
of the price at which the apartment is re-assigned or 90% ofthe original entry fec, plus 40% of any appreciation if the apartment value exceeds the original resident’s entry fee.

Non-refundable fees are included as a commponent of the transaction price and are amortized into revenue over the actuadly determined remaining life of the resident,
which is the expected period of oceupancy by the resident, We pay the refundable pertion of our entry fees (o residents when they relocate from our communily and the apartnent
is re-occupicd. Refundable entrance fees are not included as part of the transaction price and are classified as noncurrent liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets.

We also annually estimate the prosent valae of the cost of fature services and the use of facilities to be provided to the current CCRC residents and compare that amount
with the balance of non-refundable deferred tovenue from entrance fees recoived, If the present value of the cost of fiature services exceeds the related anticipated revenues, 2
liability is recorded with a corresponding charge to income. As of March 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023, we have rccorded a future servioe obligation liability in the amount of
$1,606,000. This obligation is reflected within other noncurrent liabilities in the interim condensed consolidated balance sheets.

Orher Noncureent Liabilities

Other noncurtent liabilities include reserves primarly related to various uncertain incoms fax positions, deferred revenue, and obligations to provide fiture services to our
CCRC residents. Defetred rovenue includes the deferred gain on the sale of assets to National Health Cotporation ("Naticnal”y and the ner-refundable portion (10%) of CCRC
entrance fees being amitized over the remaining life expectancies of the residents.

Other noncurrent labilities also include funds received related to the Bmployee Retention Credit ("ERC'), a refunduble tax credit for businesses that sustained a partial
suspension of operations limiting cormmerce dus to COVID-19 orhad significant declines in gross receipts during 2020 and 2021,

Nancontrolling Inferest

The noncontroliing interest in a subsidiary is presented within total equity in the Conpany's interim condensed consolidated balance sheets. The Commpany presents the
noucontrolling interest and the amount of consolidated net income attributable to NHC in its interim condensed consolidated statements of operations, The Conpany’s eamings
per share is calculated based on net incone aftributable to NHC' stockholdess. The carrying amount of the nongontrolling interest is adiusted based on an allocation of the
subsidiary eamings, contributions, and distributions.

Variable Inierest Entities

We have equity interests in unconsolidated lintted linbility companies that operate various post-acule and senior healtheare businesses, We analyze our investments in
these fimited Hability conpanies to determine if the conpany is considered a variable interest entity (" VIE") and would require consolidation. To the extent that we own nterests in
a VIE and we (i) have the power to direct the activities of the VIR and (i) have the obligation or rights to absorb the VIEs losses or reeeive its benefits, then we would be
determined to be the prinary beneficiary and would consolidate the VIEL To the extent we own Mterests in a VIE, then at each reporting period, we re-assess our conelusions as o
which, if any, party within the VI is considercd the primary beneficiary.

The Company's maxinuan exposure to losses in its investments in unconsolidated VIEs cannot be quantified and may crnmy not be limited to its nvestment in the
unconsolidated VIE, The investrents in unconsolidated VIEs are classified as "investments in unconsolidated companies™ in the interim condensed consolidated balance sheets,

Recently Issued Acconnting Guidance

In Noveirber 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No, 2023-07, "Segment Reporting {Topic 280):
Improvement fo Reporialle Segment Disclosures” The ASU improves reportable segment disclosure requircients, primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant
segment expenses, In addition, the atendments enhance intetim disclosure requirements, clarify cireumstances in which an entity can disclose multiple segment measures of
profit and loss, and contain other disclosure requircments. This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, which will be the Company's fiscal year
2024, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. We arc cutrently cvaluating the impact this standard will have on our disclosures,
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Note 3 — Net Patient Revenues

The Company disaggregates revenue fromcontracts with customers by service type and by payor.

Revemue by Service Type

The Company’s net patient services can generally be classified into the following two categories: (1) inpatient services, which includes the cperation of skilled nursing
facilities, assisted and independent living facilities, and behavioral health hospitals, and (2) homecare and hespice services (7 thousands),

Net patient revenues:
Inpatient services
Honeecare and hospice
Total net patient revenues

Three Months Ended

March 31
2024 2023
3 252,254 3 226,169
33,569 31,838
$ 285823 % 238,007
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. For inpatient and hospice services, evenue is recognized on a daily basis as each day represents a separate contract and performence obligation. For homecare, revenue
is recognized when services are provided based on the number of days of service rendered in the period of care or on a per-visit basis. Typically, patients and third-party payors
are billed monthly after services are performed or the patient is discharged, and payments are due based on contract tenvs.

As our performence obligations relate to contracts with a duration of one year or less, the Conpany is not required to disclose the aggregate amount of the transaction
price alloeated to performance obligations that arc unsatistied or partially unsatisfied at the end of the reporting period. The Company has minimal unsatisfied performance
obligations at the end of the reporting period as our paticnts are typically under no obligation to remain admttted in our facilities or under our carc, As the period between the time
of service and thre of payment is typically one year or less, the Company did not adjust for the effects of'a significant financing component.

Revenitte by Payor

Certain groups of patients teceive funds to pay the cost of their care floma cermmon source, The following tablo sets forth sources of net patient revenues for the periods
indicated;

Three Months Ended
March 31
Source . 2024 2023
Medicare . i C : B i 4% 36%
Managed Care 10% 11%
Medicaid ' 28% 2%
Private Pay and Other ) 28% 26%
Total AR 100% 100%

Medicare covers skilled nursing services for beneficiaries who require nursing care and/or rehabilitation services following a hospitalizaticn of at least three consecutive
days. For each eligible day a Medicare beneficiary fs in a skilied nursing facility, Medicare pays the facility 2 daily payment, subject to adjustment for centain factors such as a wage
index in the geographic area. The payment covers all services provided by the skilled nursing facility for the beneficiary that day, including room and board, nursing, therapy and
drugs, as well as an estinate of capital-related costs to deliver those services.

For homacare services, Medicare pays based on the acuity level of the patient and based on periods of carc. A period of care is defined as a length of care up fo 30 days
with multiple continuous periods allowed, The services covered by the payment include all disciphnes of care, in addition to medical supplies, within the scope of the hone health
benefit.

For hospice services, Medicare pays a daily rate to cover the hespice’s costs for providing services included in the patient care plan. Medicare rakes daily payments
based on 104 levels of hospice care. Allhospice care and services offered to patients and their families mmst follow an individualized writton plar of care that meets the patient’s
needs. .

Our hospice service revenue is subject to certain limitations on payments fromMedicare. We are subject to a inpatient cap limit and an overall Medicare paytent cap for
sach provider nurmber, We moniter these caps on a provider-by-provider bas is and estimate amounts due back to Medicare if we estimate a cap has been exceeded. If applicable,
we record these cap adjustments as a reduction to revenue.

Medicaid is operated by individual states with the financial participation of the federal government, The states in which we operate currently use prospective cost—based
reimbusement systens. Under cost—based reimbursement systens, the skille¢ nursing facility is reinbursed for the reasenable direct and indirect allowable costs it incurred in &
base year in providing routine resident care sorvices as defined by the program.

Private pay, managed care, and other payment sources include commercial insurance, individual patient funds, managed care plans and the Veterans Administration,
Private paying patients, private insurance carders and the Veterans Administration generally pay based on the healthcare center’s charges or specifically negotiated contracts. For
private pay patients in skilled nursing, assisted living and independent living facilities, the Company bills for room.and board charges, with the remittance being due on roceipt of
the statement and generaliy by the 10tk day of the month the services are performed.

Certain nunaged care payors for honecare services pay on a per-visit basis. This revenue is recorded on an accrual basis based upon the date of services at amounts
equal to its established or estimated per-visit rates,
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State Relief Supplemental Funding

The Conpany teceived supplemental Medicaid payments from various states, including healtheare relief funding under the American Rescue Plan Act ("ARPA™) and
other state specific refief programs. The funding generally ncorporates speeific use requirements primarily for direct paticnt care including labor related expenses or varous
patient care related expenses, We have recorded $3,462,000 and $4,883,000 in net patient revenues for these supplemental Medicaid payments for the three months ended March
31,2024 and 2023, respectively.

Contract Liabifities

Included in the Company’s inferim condenscd consolidated balance sheets are contract liabilities, which represent payments the Company receives in advance of services
provided. As of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company has recorded $7,667,000 and $0, respectively, in contract Habilities rolated to receipts during the first quarter
02024 from the Change Healtheare/Optum Payment Disruption ("CHOPD"} Accelerated and Advance Payment program These payments were issucd to providers who
experienced delays in the submission or processing of Medicarc claims payments as 3 result of the Change Healthcare/Optum cyber incident, which began February 21, 2024
Recoupment of the accelerated paymeats began in the first quarter of 2024,

A sutnmary of the activity related to contract liabilities follows (in thousandsy:

Balance at December 81,2023 =05t f L : . : : $ -
Payments received ) 9,881
Payments recouped R ' h ] (2,214)
Balance at March 31, 2024 $ 7,667

Third Party Payors

Taws and regulations governing the Medicare and Medicaid prograns are gomplex and subject to interpretation. Noncompliance with such laws and regulations can be
subject to regulatory actions inciuding fines, penalties, and exclusion fom the Medicare and Medicaid programs. We believe that we are following all applicable laws and
regulations.

Medicare and Medicaid program revenues, as well s certain Managed Care program revenues, are subject to audit and retroactive adjustment by govemment
Tepresentatives ot their agents. Settlements with third-party payors for retroactive adiustments due to audits, reviews or nvestigations arc considered variable consideration and
are included in the detenmination of the estimated transaction price for providing patient carc, These scltlements arc estimated based on the temms of the payment agreement with
the payor, carmespondence fomthe payor and the Company’s historical settlement activity, including an assessment to ensure that it s probable that a significant reversal in the
amonnt of curmulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the retroactive adjustment s subsequently resolved. Esthmted settlements arc
adjusted in futore periods as adjustments become known, or as years are settled or arene lenger subject to such audits, reviews, and investigations. We believe that any
differences between the nel revenues recorded, and final dotermination wilt not materially affect the conselidated financial statements. We have made provisions of approximately
$19,988,000 and $18,369,000 as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively, for varous Medicare, Medicaid, and Managed Care claiims reviews and current and prior
year cost reports,

Note 4 — Other Revenues

Other revenues are outlined in the table below. Revenues from rental incom include health care real estate propetties owned by us and leased to third party operators,
Revenues from management and accounting services include fees provided to manage and provide accounting services to other healthcare operators. Revenues from insurance
services include premiams for workers’ compensation and professional liability insurance policies that our wholly owned insurance subsidiaries have written for certain healthcare
operators fo which we provide management or accotmting services. "Other" revenues include miscellaneous health care related eamings (in thousands).

Three Months Ended
March 31
2024 2023

Rental income § 5959 % 6,043
Menagemrent and accounting services fees 4,438 4,087
Insurance services 872 1,048
Other 84 368

Total ether revenues § 11353 § 11,556
Rental Income

The Compary leases rea] estate assets consisting of skilled nursing facilities and assisted living facilities to thitd party operetors, Additionally, we sublease four Florida
skilled nursing facilities included in our lease from National Health Investers {'NHI") as noted in Note 7—Long TermLeases,

Management Fees from Natlonal Health Corporation

We manage five skilled nursing facilities owned by National Health Corporation ("National”), For the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, we recognized
management tees and interest on management fees of 1,320,000 and $1,190,000, respectively, for these centers.
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Insurance Services

For workers’ compensation insurance services, the premium revenues reflected in the interim condensed consolidated statenents of operations for the three nmonths
ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 were $582,000 and $736,000, respectively, Associated losses and expenscs including those for self-insurance are inchided in the interim condensed
consolidated statoments of operations as " Salaries, wages and bencfits.”

For professional liability insurance services, the premium revenues reflected in the interim condensed consolidated statements of operations for the three months ended
March 31, 2024 and 2023 were $290,000 and $312,000, respectively, Associated losscs and expenses ncliding those for self-insurance are inciuded m the interim condensed
consolidated statements of operations as "Other cperating costs and expensocs”.

Note 5 — Non—OQperating Income

Non-operating income is comptised of the following (in thousands):

Three Menths Ended
March 31
2024 2023
Dividends and net realized gains and losses on sales ofsecurities 3 2,05 $ 1,233
Interest mcome 2,538 1,555
Equity in eamings of uncensclidated nvestivents 67 1,535
Cain on sale of unconsolidated company 1,024 -
Total non-operating incone 3 5685 % 4,323

Gain on sale of inconselidated company

Tn January 2024, the Company sold its 50% joint venture ownetship intercst in a homecare agency Iocated in Nashville, Tennessee, The total consideration paid to the
company was $2,100,000, which resulted in a gain of $1,024,000,

Note & — Business Segments

The Company has two reportable operating segments: (1} inpatient services, which incudes the operation of skilled nursing facilities, assisted and independent living
facilities, and behavioral health hospitals; and {2) homecare and hospice services. These repartable operating segments are congistent with information used by the Company’s
(Chief Teutive Officer, as chief operating decision maker ("CODM), to assess performance and allocate resources. The Cormpany also reports an “all other” category that
includes revenues from rental ineome, nenagement and accounting services fecs, msurance services, and costs of the corporate office.

The Conpany’s CODM evaluates performence and allocates vapital resources to each segment based on an operating nodel that is designed to inprove the quality of
patient care and profitability of the Conpany while enhancing long-termshareholder vatue. The CODM daes not Teview assets by segnent in his resource allocation and therefore,

assels by segment are not disclosed below.

16




Table of Contents

The following table sets forth the Company’s unaudited interim condensed eonsolidated statements of operations by business seguent (in thousands):

Revenues;
Net patient revenues
Other revenues
Net aperating revenues

Costs and expenses:
Salaries, wages, and benefits
Other operating
Rent
Depreciation and amortization
Interest )
Total costs and expenses

Incone/(loss) from operations
Non-operating income
Unrealized gains on marketable equity securities

Income before mcone taxes

Revenues:
Net patient revenues
Other revenues
Net operating revenues

Costs and expenses:
Salaries, wages, and benefits
Other operating
Rent
Depreciation and amortization
Interest
Total costs and expenses

Incone/(foss) from operations
Non-opezating incore

Unrealized gains on marketable equity sevurities

Income before income taxes
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Three Months Ended March 31, 2024

Inpatient Honxcare

Services and Hospice All Other Total
252254 % 33,569 - 3 285,823
15 - 11,338 11,353
252,269 33,569 11,338 297,176
150,890 21,108 11,239 183,138
68,683 50972 2,774 77429
8112 566 1,670 10,348
9,630 187 769 16,586
46 - - 46
737 361 27734 16,452 281,547
14,508 5,935 (5,114} 15,629
. - 5,685 5,685
- - 14,355 14,399
14908 § 5,835 14970 % 35,713

Three Months Ended March 31, 2023
Inpatient Homecare

Services and Hospice Al Other Total
226,169 % 31,838 - % 258,007
271 - 11,285 11,556
226440 31,838 11,285 265,563
138,939 20,244 8,641 167,824
62,264 5,499 3,726 71,489
8,168 558 1,366 10,092
9,117 185 746 10,048
98 - - 98
218,586 26,436 14,475 259,551
7,854 5,352 (3,199 10,012
- - 4323 4323
- - 1,386 1,386
C7854 8 5,352 2,515 § 15,721




Table of Contents

Note 7 — Long-Term Leases
Operating Leases

At March 31, 2024, wo lease fiom NHI the real property of 28 skilled nursing facilities, five assisted living centers and three independent living centers under one lease
agreement. As part of the lease agreement, we sublease four Florida skilled nusing facilities to a third-party operator. The lease includes base rent plus a percentage rent. The
annual base rent is $32,625,000 in 2024, $32,225,000 in 2025, and $31,975,000 in 2026 with the lease term expiring in December 2026, The percentage ront is based on & quarterly
caloulation of revenue increases and is payeble on a quarterly basis. Total facility rent expense to NHI was 0 472,000 and $9,295,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2024
and 2023, respectively.

Mininuim Lease Pavinents

The foliowing table summarizes the matuiity of our operating lease liabilitics as of March 31, 2024 (in thousands):

Operating
Leases
2025 S $ 34,351
2026 ' 33,500
207 - FERE - 24,933
2028 _ _ 493
2029 Coenne ' 207
Thereafter 21
Total minimim lease payments 63,595
Less: amounts representing interest (7,858)
Present value of foture mininmm lease payments 85,737
Lesas: current portion {29,733)
Nonourrent lease liabilities $ 56,004
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Note 8 — Earnings per Share

Basic net income per share is computed based on the weighted average nurnber of common shares outstanding for each period presented. Diluted net income per share
reflects the potential dilution that would have occurred if securities to issue common stock were exercised, converted, or resulted in the issuance of comnon stock that would have
then shared in our eamnings.

The following table summerizes the eamings and the weighted average number of common shares used in the calculation of basic and diluted eamings per share (in
thousands, except for share and per share amounts):

Three Months Ended
March 31
2024 2023
Basic:
Weighted average conmnon shares cutstanding 15,350,240 15,337,423
Net income attributable to National HealthCare Corporation $ 26213 % 11,723
Eamnings per cenwon share, basic 3 171§ 0.76
Diluted:
Weighted average conmon shares outstanding 15,350,240 15,337,423
Effects of dilutive instruments 154,856 18,912
Weighted average common shares cutstanding 15,505,096 15,356,335
et income attributable to National HealthCare Corporation $ 26213 8 11,723
3 159 § 0.76

Eamings per common share, dilated

For the fhree months ended March 31, 2024, 245,726 stock options have been excluded fromthe caleufation of dituted weiphted average sharos of comimen stock
outstanding because the inclusion of these securities would have an anti-dilutive effect. For the thres montis ended March 31, 2023, 691,580 stock options have been exchided
fromthe calculation of dilnted weighted average shares of common stock outstanding because the inchision of these securities would have an anti-dilutive effect.

Note 9 — Investments in Marketable Securities

Qur investrents in motketable cquity securities are camicd at fair value with the changes in unrealized gains and losses recognized in our results of operations at cach
poasurement date. Our investments m matketable debt securities are classified as available for sale scourities and camied at fair value with the unrealized gains and losses
recognized through aceumulated other comprehensive income at each measurement date, Any credit-related dectine I fair market values below the amortized cost of our available
for sale debt seoutities arc recorded in our results of pperations through an allowance for credit losses, Realized gains and losses from securitis sales are recognized it results of
operations upon disposition of the securities using the specific identification method on a trade date basis, Refer to Note 10 for 2 description of the Company's methodology for
determining the fair value of marketable securities.

Marketable securities consist of the foliowing (in thousands):

March 31, 2024 Decerber 31, 2023
Anwortized Vair Amortized Fair
Cost Value Cost Valuc
Investments available for sale:
Marketable equity securities 3 30176 % 123,040 % 3017 % 111,117
:Cotporate debt securities C ' ’ 494 484 2,497 2441
U.S. Treasury securities . - - 2,990 2,58
Restricted investments available for sale:
Marketable equity securities ) 24,495 26,616 24,134 26,779
Corporate debt securilies 61,488 59,398 59,586 57,73
Asset-based securities 19,026 17,438 19,388 17,659
U.S. Treasury securitics 47,323 43,004 46,771 42,863
State and municipal securities 4,079 3,592 4,106 4,047
§ 187,081 §$ 276972 % 189,648 265,623
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Tnelnded in the marketable equity securities are the following (in thousands, except share amounts) :

March 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Fair Fair
Shares Cost Walue Shares Cost Value
NHI Cotnmon Stock 1,630642 % 24,734 § 102,453 1,630,642 § 24,734 § 01,071

The amortized cost and estimated fair valoe of debt scoutitics classified as available for sale, by contractual maturity, are as follows (in thousands):

March 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Fair Fair
Cost Value Cost Value

Maturities:
Within ! year ) $ 21,299 % 20,785 § 19664 % 19,328
1to 5 years o ’ 71138 73,370 81,517 77,118
6to 10 vears ) 32,012 28,925 33,515 30,802
Over 10 years | 1,361 1,236 42 479

$ 132410 § 124316 $ 135338 § 127,727

1

Gross unrealized gains related to marketable equity securities are $98,459,000 and 384,514,000 as of March 31, 2024 and Decermber 31, 2023, respectively. Gross unrealized
tosses related to narketable equity securities are $474,000 and 328,000 as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, res pectively. For the three months ended March 31, 2024 and
2023, the Conpany recognized net unrealized gains of $14,359,000 and $1,386,000, respectively, for the changes in fair market value of the marketable equity securities in the interim
condensed consclidaied statements of operations.

Gross unrealized gains related to available for sale marketable debt securities are $179,000 and $326,000 as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. Gross
\nrealized Jossos related to available for sale marketable debt sceurities are $8,273,000 and $7,537,000 as of March 31, 2024 and Decentber 31, 2023, res pectively.

“The Company’s unrealized losses in our available for sale markctable debt securities wote deterrined to be non-credit related. The Company has not recognized any credit
rolated kvpaimments for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2623,

For the marketable securities in gross unrealized loss positions, (2) it is more likely than not that the Company will not be required to sell the investment securities before
recovery of the unrealized losses, and (b) the Company expeets that the contractual principal and interest will be received on the investment securitiss,

Proceeds from the sale of available for sale matketable securities during the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 were $11,615,000 and $15,492,000, respactively,
Investment gains of $344,000 and investment losses of’ 3492 000 were realized on these sales during the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Note 10 — Fair Value Measurements

The aceounting stendard for fair value measurerents provides a framowork for measuring fair value and requires expanded diselosures regarding fair value megsurements.,
Fair vakie & defined as fhe price that would be received for an asset or the exit price that would be paid to transfer a liability n the principal or most advantageous market in an
orderly transaction between market participants on the weasurenent date. This accounting standard establishes a fair value hierarchy, which requires an entity to naximize the use
of observable inputs, where available. The foliowing summurizes the three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:

Level I —The valyation is based on quoted ptices in active markets for identical nstruments,

Tevel 7 — The vatuation is based on observable inputs such as quoted prices for similar instnuments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in
markels that are not active, and model-based valuation techniques for which all significant assunptions are observable in the market.

Zevel 3 — The valuation is based on unobservable inputs that are supported by nininal or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the instrument. Level 3
valuations are typically performed using pricing models, discounted cash flow nethodologies, or similar techniques that incorporate management’s own estimmtes of
assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the instrument, or valnations that require significant wanagement judgment ot estimation.
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A financial instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that s significant to the fair value measurenxent,

The following table summarizes fair value measurcments by level at March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 for assets and liabilities neasured at fair value on a recumring

basis (in thousands):

Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted
Prices in
Active Significant
Markots Cther Significant
For Identical Observable Unobservable
Fair Asgsets Inputs Inputs
March 31, 2024 Value (Level 1} (Level 2) {Level 3)
Cash and cash equivalents ' R 93,982 % 93982 % - 3 -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 27,150 27,150 - -
Marketable equity securities 152,656 152,656 - -
Carporate debt securities 59,882 42,611 17,271 -
Asset—backed securities 17,438 - " 16,961 a7
1.8, Treasury securities 43,004 43,004 - -
State and rmnicipal securities 3,992 - 3,992 —
Total financial assets 398,104 & 359403 8 38224 8§ 477
Fair Value Measurenents Using
Cuoted
Prices in
Active Significant
Markets Other Significant
For Identical Observable Unobservable
Fair Asscts Inputs Inputs
December 31, 2023 Value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash and cash equivalents ’ 107,076 % 107,076 § - 3% -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 18,892 18,892 - -
Marketable equity securities 137,886 137,896 - -
Cotporate debt securities 60,173 42 260 17,311 —
Asset-backed secutities 17,659 - 17210 449
.8, Treasury securities 45,850 45,850 - -
State and nmnicipal securities 4,047 - 4,047 —
Total financial assets %50 § 257§ 38568 § 49

Note 11 — Goodwilt and Other Intangible Assets

AtMarch 31, 2024, the Company reviewed the camying value of goodwill for inpaimment indica
regarding the Corpany's goodwill that required a quantitative test to be performed. However, our accoun

tors. As a result of the review, there were ne impaivment indicators
ting estimates could materially change from period to period due to

changing market factors. We will continue to monitor future eveats, changes in circunstances, and the polential impact thercef. If actual results are not consistent with our

assumptions and estimates, we may be exposed to fature goodwill irpairment losses.

At March 31, 2024, the following table represents the activity related Lo cur goodwill by scgment (in thousands).

Tanuary 1, 2024
Additions
March 31, 2024

Inpatient Homecare

Services and Hospice All Other Total
3,741 % 164,554 % - % 168,295
3740 % 164,554 & - ¥ 168,295

We also have recorded indefinite-lived intangible assets that consist of trade names ($4,340,000) and centificates of need and licenses {$2,698,000).
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Nofe 12 - Stock Repurchase Program
During the three months ended March 31, 2024, the Company repurchased 101,131 shares of s common stock fora total cost of $9,%00,000. During the three months

ended March 31, 2023, the Company repurchased 44,349 shares of its common stock for a total cost 0f$2,482,000. The shares were funded fromcash on hand and were cancelled
and returned to (he status of authorized but unissued.

Note 13 — Stock-Bas ed Compensation
NHC recognizes stock-based compensation expense for all stock options granted over the requisite service period using the fair value at the date of grant using the
Black—Scholes pricing model. Stock-based compensation totaled $793,000 and $639,000 for the three mouths ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Stock-based

compensation is included in " Salaries, wages and benefiis” in the Interim condensed consolidated statements of operations.

AtMarch 31, 7024, the Company had $7,652,000 of unrecognized conpensation cost related to unvested stock-based compensation awards. This unrecognized
compensation cost will be amortized over an approximate three-year period.

Stock Options

The following table summerizes the significant assumptions used to value the options granted for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and for the year ended
December 31, 2023,

March 31, Deccmrber 31,
2024 2023
Risk-fiee interest rate 433% 4.52%
Expected volatility 24.1% 29.3%
Expected life, in years 29 29
Bxpected dividend yield 2.64% 441%

The following table summarizes our outstanding stock options for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and for the year ended December 31, 2023,

Weighted Aggregate
Number of Average Intrinsic
Shares Exercise Price Value
Options outstanding at J anuary 1,2023 ’ 445,144  § 66.62 3§ -
Options granted 299,278 5444 -
Options exercised (103,481) 64,72 -
Options cancelled (52,407 60.58 -
Options outstanding at Decerrber 31, 2023 588,534 . 6130 -
Options granted 245,726 94.07 -
Opticns exercised (137,874) 6095 -
Options outstanding at March 31, 2024 696,386  § 17293 8 15,025,015
Options exercisable at March 31,2024 174,105 § 6848 3 4,531,876
Weighted Average
Options Remmaining
Outstanding Weighted Average Contractual
March 31,2024 Bxercise Prices Exercise Price Life in Years
377,405 o 5394 - 69.19 5892 35
318,981 7164 - 9410 80.51 4.0
696,386 72.93 17
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Note 14 — Income Taxes

The Conpany's income tax provision as a percentage of our income before incons tases was 26.5% and 28.2% for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively.

Typically, these percentages vary from the U.S, federal stalutory incorme tax mte of 21% primatily due to state income taxes, excess tax benefits from stock-based
compensation, benefits resulting from the lapsing of statute of limitations efiters in our taxcontingency reserve, and non-deductible expenses, For the three menths ended March
31, 2024 and 2023, the accrual of state income tax was the most significant reconciling item

QOur quarterly income tax provision, and our estimate of our annual effective meome tax rate, is subject to variation due to several factors, including volatility based en the
amount of pre-taxincone or loss.

The Company is no longer subject to U S. federal and state examinations by taxauthorities for years before 2020 (with certain stats exceptions).

Note 15 — Credit Facility

In May 2023, we entered into an unsecured $50,000,000 credit facility that has e 364-day maturity date. Loans bear interest at the one-month secured ovemight financing
rate ("SOFR”) plus 1.25%. If we maintain certain aggregate deposit levels within the financial institution, the credit facility shall bear interest at one-month SOFR phus 1.10%. The
credit facility is available for general cotporate purposes, including working capital and acquisitions. The credit facility agreement cotttains customeary representations and financial
covenants, including covenants that restrict, among other things, asset dispositions, additional indebtedness, invesiments, sale-leascbacks, and certain contingent liabilities. The
credit facility contains customary events of default and remedies.

As of March 31, 2024, the Company had no outstanding balance on the credit facility. We do not expect to rencw this credit facility upon its maturity date.

Note 16 — Contingencies and Commitments
Accrued Risk Reserves

We have whally-owned limited purpose insurince companies that insure risks related to workers® compensation: and professional ability insurance claims both for our
owned and Jeased entities and certain of the entities to which we provide management or accounting services. The liability we have recognized for reported claims and estinates
for incurred but unteported claims totals $108,237,000 and $103,259,000 at March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively, The liability is included in sccrued risk reserves in
the interim condensed consolidated balance sheets and is subject to adjustment for actual cluins inoured. It is possible that these clains plus unasserted claims could excecd our
insurance coverages and our reserves, which could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows,

As a tesult of the tems of our insurance policies and our use of wholly owned livited purpose insurance companies, we have retained significant msurance risk with
respect to workers’ conpensation and genoral and professional finbifity, We consider the professional services of independent actuaries fo assist us i estimating our exposures
for elains obligations (for both asserted and unagserted claiwe) related to deductibles and exposures in excess of coverage limits, and we mintain reserves for these abligations.
Such estinmtes are based on many variables including historical and statistical informetion and other factors.

Workers' Compensation

For workers ' compensation, we utilize a wholly—owned Tennessee domiciled property/casualty insurance company to write coverage for NHC aflilietes and for third—party
customers. Policies are wrltten for a duration oftwelve months and cover only risks related to warkers’ compensation losses. All customers are companics which operate in the
sendor care industry, Business is written on a direct basis.

General and Professional Liability Insurance and Lawsuirs

The senior care industry has experienced significant increases in both the number of personal injury/wrongful death clains and in the severity of awards based upon
alloged negligence by skilled nursing facilities and their enployees in providing care to residents, The Company has been, and continues to be, subject to claims and legal actions
that arse in the ordinary course of business, including potential clains related to patient carc and treatynent, The defense of these lawsuits may result in significant legal costs,
regardless of the cuteerre, and can result in large settlement amounts or damage awards, Additional insurance is purchased through third party providers that serve to supplement
the coverage provided through our wholly owned captive insurance company.

Thete is certain 2dditional litigation incidenta to our business, none of which, based upen information available to date, would be material to our financial position, results
of operations, or cash flows. In addition, the long—term care industry is continuously subject to scrutiny by govemmental regulators, which could result in litigation or claims

related to regulatory compliance matters.
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Cuit Tam Litigation

Uni tes of America, ex el Jennifer Cook gnd Sail ither v_bnegrated Behavioral Heaith, Ine., NHC HealthCare/Moulton, LLC, et al., Casg No. 2:20-
CV-06877-AMM (NI, Ala) This is a qui tam case originally filed under seal on June 22, 2020. The United States declined intervention on March 1, 2021. Thereafter, the Plaintitls

filed an amended Conplaint against Dr. Sanja Malhotra, Integrated Behavioral Health, Inc. and other entities that Dr. Malhotia was alleged 1o own or in which he altegedly had a
Fnancial interest. The Complaint also named multiple skilied nursing facilities as Defendants, including NHC Healthcare/ Moulton, 11C, an affiliste of National HealthCare
Corporation, The Complaint alleged that nurse practitioners affiliated with Dr. Malhotra provided free services to the facilities i cxchange for referrals to entitics owned by or in
which Dr. Malliotra had a financial interest in violation of the False Clains Act and Anti-Kickback Statute, NIC Healthcare/Moulton, LLC denied the allegations and filed a motion
to dismiss on Novetbor 4, 2021. On January 28, 2022, the district court stayed this matter and adninistratively terminated the motion to disniiss pending the U.S. Supreme Court's
review of a petition for certiorar filed in an unrelated matter but nvolving one of the legal arguments raised in the motion to dismiss. Thercafter, the ULS, Supreme Court denied the
petition for certiorari in the unrelated matter. As a result, NHC Healthcare/Moulton, LLC renewed its motion to dismiss. The District Court granted NHC Healtheare/Moulton's

Muotion to Dismiss, along with other pending Motions to Disniss, and entered an Order of Dismissal on March 23, 2023 and an Amended Order of Dismissal on April 4, 2023, which
dismissed the case in its entiroty with prejudice with respect to the claims assctted by the Plaintiffs. The Plaintiffs filed a Notice of Appeal on April 20, 2023 to appeal the dismissal
to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit, On December 21, 2023, the Heventh Circuit entered an Order affirming the District Court’s dismissal of the claims.

The time peried for the Plaintiffs to file a Petition for a Writ of Certiorari with the Unifed States Supreme Court has expired making the Order affirming dismissal issued by the
Hleventh Circuit finat.

Goverrmental Regulations

Laws and regulations goveming Medicare, Medicaid and other federal healthcare progeanms are complex and subject to interpretation, Management believes that it is
following alt applicable laws and regulations in all mmterial respects. Howevor, compliance with such laws and regulations can be subject to future govemnment review and
interpretation as well as significant regulatory action including fines, penalties, and exchisions fromthe Medicare, Medicaid and other federal healthcare prograns,

Item?2.  Management's Discussion and Anatysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,

Forward-Iooking Statements

References throtigheut this document to the Company include National HealthCare Corporation and its wholly owned subsidiaries. Tn accordance with the Securities and

Bxhange Conmissions " Plain English” guidelines, this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q has been written in the first person. I this document, the words "we”, "our”, "ours™ and
"us™ refer only to National HealthCare Corporation and its wholly—owned subsidiaries and not any other person.

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and other information we provide from tine to time, contains certain "forward-looking” statements as that term s defined by the
Private Sccurities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. All statements regarding our cxpected future financlal position, results of operations or cash flows, continued performance
improvements, ability to service and refinance our debt obligations, ability to finance growth opportunities, ability to control our patient care liability costs, ability to respond to
changes in govemnment reguiations, ability to execute our threc—year strategic plan, and similar statements including, without limitations, those containing words such as
"believes”, "anticipates”, "expects”, "intends”, "cstimates”, "plans”, and other similar expressions are forward—looking statenents.
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» Forward-looking statements involve Jnown and unknown risks and uncertainties that may cause our actual results in future periods to differ materdally from those
projected or contenplated in the forward—looking statements as a result of, but not Jimited to, the following factors:

¢ national and logal economic conditions, including their effect on the evailability and cost of labor, utitities and materials;

e the cffect of govemment regulations and changes in regulations governing the healthcare industry, including our compliance with such regulations;

s changes in Medicare and Medicaid payment levels and methodologies and the applieation of such methodologies by the govemment and its fiscal intermediaries;

e liabilities and other claims asserted against us, ncluding patient care lizbilities, as well as the resolution of current litigation (see Note 16; Contingencies and Conmitments};
e the ability to attract and retain qualified personnel,

s the availability and terms of capital to fund acquisitions and capital inprovements;

o the competitive environment in which we operate;

e ourneed to make investments continually in our processes and infonmation systens to protect the privacy of patients, partners and other persons and reduce the risk of
successful cybersecurity attacks;

e dannge to our reputation, regulatory penalties, legal clains and fability under state and federal laws that we could suffer upon any cybersecurity or privacy breaches;
o the ability to maintain and increase census levels; and
s demographic changes.

See the notes to the guarterly financial statements, and "Ttem 1, Business™ in our 2023 Anntal Report on Form 10-K for a discussion of various governmental regulations
atd other operating factors relating to the healthcare industry and the risk factors inherent in then This may be found on our web site at weaw.nheoare.com. You should carefully
consider these risks before making any investment in the Company. These risks and uncertainties ate not the only ones facing us. There may be additional risks that we do not
presently know ofor that we currently deem inmterial. ffany of the risks oceur, our business, fnancial condition or results of operations conld be materially adversely affected. In
that case, the trading price of our shares of stock could decline, and you may lose all or part of your investrment. Given these risks and uncertaintics, we can give no assurances
that these forward—looking statements will, in fac, transpire and, therefore, caution investors not to place undue reliance on them

Overview

Nationa! HealthCare Carporation ("NHC” or the "Conpany") is a teading provider of senior health care services, As of March 31, 2024, we operate or manage, through
certain affiliates, 65 skilled nursing facilities with a total of 8421 licensed beds, 24 assisted living facilitios with 1,365 units, five independent living facilitics, three behavieral health
hospitals, 35 homecare agencles, and 30 hospice agencics, We operate specialized care units within certain of our healtheare conters such as Alzheimer's disease carc units and
sub-acute nursing units. In addition, we provide insurance scrvices, management and accounting services, and we lease propertics to operators of skilled nursing and assisted
living facilitics, We operate in 8 states and are located primarily in the southeastern United States.

Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Minimum Staffing Standards

On April 22, 2024, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services {"CMS") issued the Minimum Staffing Standards for Long-Term Care ("LTC?) Facilities and Medicaid
Institutional Payment Transparency Reporting final rule, Tncluded in this final mle are new comprehensive minimam nurse staffing requirements, which aim to significantly reduce
the risk of residents Teceiving unsafe and low-quality care within LTC facilities. CMS is finalizing 2 total nurse staffing standard of 3.48 hours per resident day ("HPRD™), which
must inchide at feast 0.55 HPRD of direct registered nurse (RN} care and 245 HPRD of direct nu:se aide care, Facilities may use any combination of nurse staff (RN, kcensed
practical nurse and licensed vacational nurse, or nurse aide) to account for the additional 048 HPRD needed to cormply with the total hurse staffing standard.
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CMS is also finalizing enhanced facility assessnent requivements and a requirement to have an RN onsite 24 hours a day, seven days a week ("24/7), to provide skilled
nursing care. The 24/7 RN onsite can be the Director of Nursing; however, they must be available to provide direct resident care.

This final rmle provides a staggered implementation timeframe of the minimumnurse staffing standards and a 24/7 RN requirement based on geographic location, as well as
possible exemptions for qualifying facilities for some parts of these requirements based on workforce unavailability and other factors.

Sunmrary of Goals and Arcas of Focus,
Occttpancy

A prinury area of nanagement focus continues to be the rates of ocoupancy within our skilled nursing facilities. The overall census in owned and leased skilled nursing
facilities for the thres months ending March 31, 2024 was 88.5% compared to 87.4% for the same period a year age.

Due to Americn’s healthcare labor shortage, the challenge of maintaining desiable patient census levels has been aplified. Management has underlaken a number of
steps in order to best position cur current and fatare health care facilities, This includes working internally to cxantne and inprove sysiens to be most responsive to referral
sources and payors, as well as find creative injtfatives te retain and attract qualified healthcare professionals. Additionally, NHC s in various stages of partnerships with hospital
systems, payors, and other posi-acute alliances to better position ourselves so we arc an active participant in the delivery of post-acute healthcare services.
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Quality of Patient Care

' VS in.t'roduced the Five-Star Quality Rating Systenito help consumers, their fanilies and caregivers compare skilled nwising facilities mors easily. The Five-Star Quality
Rating System gives each skilled nursing operation a rating ranging between one and five stars in various categories (fve stars being the best). The Company has always strived

for patient-centered care and quality outcomes as precursors to outstanding financiaf performance.

The tables below sutmmarize NHCs overall perforance in these Five-Star ratings versus the skilled nursing industry as of March 31, 2024

_ NHC Ratings Industry Ratings
Total nwmber of skilled nursing facilities, end of period 65

Number of 4 ang 3-star rated sldlled nursing facilities 40

Percentage of 4 and 5-star rated skilled nursing facilities 62% 36%
Average rating for all skdlled nursing facilities, end of period 36, 29

Development and Growth

We are undertaking ta expand our senior care operations while protecting our existing operations and markets. The following table lists our recent development activities,

Type of
Operation Description Size Location Placed in Service

‘Hospice ) Mew Agency " }agency Cedar Bluff, VA March 2023

Skitled Narsing Acquisition 66 beds Naghville, TN May 2023
‘Homecare - New Agency lagency Tallahassee, FL May 2023

Assisted Living Facility New Operations 135 units Vere Beach, FL July 2023

‘Assisted Living Facility - ) New Operations 95units Merritt Island, FL Tuly 2023

Assisted Living Facility New Operations 100 units Stuart, FL July 2023
" Hospice New Agency | agency Momistown, TN April 2024

Accrued Risk Reserves

Cur acorued professional lability and workers' compensation feserves totaled $108,237,000 at March 31, 2024 and are a primary ares of managenent focus, We have sst
aside restricted cash and cash equivalents and warketable securities to fand our estimated professional liability and workers’ cotrpensation liabilities,

As fo exposure for professional liability clains, we have developed performance certification criteria to measure and bring focus to the pationt care issues most likely to
produce professional liability exposure, ncluding in-house acquired pressure ulcers, significant weight loss and numbers of falls, These programs for certification, which we

regularly modify and inprove, have produced measurable inprovements in reducing these meidents. Qur experience is that achieving goals n these patient care arcas inproves
beth patient and employee satisfaction.

Govemnent Reimbyrsement Progrants
Medicare — Skilled Nursing Facilities

Tn July 2023, CMS released its final rule outlining fiscal year 2024 Medicare payment rates and pelicy changes for skilled nutsing facilities, which began on October 1,
2023, The fiscal year 2024 rule equates to a net increase of 4.0%, or approxinately $1.4 billien, in Medicare Part A paynents to SNFs in fiscal year 2024 conpared to 2023 levels. The
Tule fnchides a 3.0% market basket ate increase, a 3.6% market basket forecast error adjustment, less a 0.2% productivity adjustment, as well as a negative 2.3%, or approximately
$789 million, decrease in 2024 SNF Payment Prospeetive Systers rates as a result of the second phase of the Patient Driven Payment Model parity adjustment recalibration.

In March 2024, CMS reloased s proposed mule outlining fiscal year 2025 Medicare payment rates and policy changes for skilled nursing facilities, which will begin en
October 1, 2024, The fiscal year 2025 proposal equates to a net 4.1% increase in Medicare Part A payments to SNFs in fiscal year 2025 commpared to 2024 levels. The rule includes a
rmarket basket increase of 2.8%, an increase of 1.7% to the mmatket basket forscast error adjustient, and a negative 0.4% produetivity adjustment. These figures do not incorporate
the SNF Value Based Purchasing ("VBP") reduction for certain SNFs subject to the net reduction in paymonts under the SNF VBP; thosc adjustmonts are estimated to total $196.5
million in fiscal year 2025.

For the first three months of 2024, our average Medicare per dism rate for skilled nutsing facilities increascd 4.7% as compared 1o the same period in 2023.

27




Table of Contents
Medicaid — Skilled Nursing Facilities

Effective July 1, 2023 and for the fiscal year 2024, the state of Tennessee implementod specific individual nursing facility increases. We estimate the rosulting increase in
revenue for the 2024 fiscal year will be approximately $15,000,000 annually, or $3,750,000 per quarter.

Effective October 1, 2023 and for the fiscal year 2024, the state of South Carclina implemented specific individual nursing facility increases. We estimate the resulting
increase in revenue for the 2024 fiscal year will be approximately $9,000,000 annually, or 32,250,000 per quarter.

Effective July 1, 2023 and for the fiscal year 2024, the state of Missour; inplenented specific individual nursing facility increases, We estimate the resulting increase in
revenue for the 2024 fiscal year will be spproximately $5,000,000 annually, or $1,250,000 per quarter.

We have also received from many of the states in which we operate a supplemental Medicaid payment to help mitigate the inflationary labor and nedical supplies costs
resulting from the pandemic. Wo have recorded $3,462,000 and $4,883,000 in net paticnt revenues for these supplenental Medicaid payments for the three months ended March 31,
2024 and 2023, respoctively.

For the first three months of 2024, our average Medicaid per diemincreased 12.0% corpared to the same peried in 2023,

State Medicaid plans subject to budget constraints arc of particular concem to us, Changes in federal funding coupled with state budget problems and Medicaid
oxpansion under the Affordable Care Act have produced an uncertain environment. Some states will not keep pace with post-acute healtheare inflation, States are currently under
pressure to pursue other altcrmatives to skilled nursing care such as community and home-based servicos. Medicaid programs are finded jointly by the fuderal govemment and
the states and ato administered by states under apptoved plans. Most state Medicaid payments are made under a prospeetive payment system or under programs which negotiate
payment levels with idividual providers. Some states use, or have applied to use, waivers granted by CMS to implement expansion, impose difforent eligibility or enrollment
restrictions, or otherwise implement programs that vary from federal standards,

Medicare — Homecure Programs

In November 2023, CMS released its final rule outlining fiscal year 2024 Medicare payrment rates. CMS projects paywments to home health agencies in fiscal year 2024 will
increase in aggregate by 0.8%, or $140 million. The increase is the result of a 3.3% market basket update, reduced by a 0.3% productivity adjustment. The increase is offset by a
behavioral adjustrent that will cut payments by a net 2.6%. The behavioral adjustment was designed to achieve budgetncutral implementation of the PDPM. Finally, CMS also
adjusted the fixed-dollar loss ratio for cutlier payments, which will increase payments by 04%,

Medicare — Hospice

In July 2023, CMS released its final rule outlining fiscal year 2024 Medicare payment rafes. CMS issued a rale increase of 3.1%, or $780 million, effective October 1, 2023,
This increase s the result of a 3.3% matket basket increase reduced by a 0.2% productivity adjustrent. The FY2024 hospice payment update also includes an update tc the
statutory sggregate cap anount, which livits the overall payments per paticnt that are made annually, The cap amount for FY2024 is $33,494,

In March 2024, CMS released its proposed rule outlining fiscal year 2025 Medicare payment rates. CMS issued a rate ncrease of 2,6%, or $705 million, effective October 1,
2074, This increase js the result of a 3.0% market basket increase reduced by a 0.4% productivity adjustiment. The FY2025 hospice payment update also includes an update to the
statutory aggregate cap amount, which Hmits the overall payments per patient that are mede annually. The proposed cap amount for FY2025 is $34,365.
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Segment Reporting

The Conpeny has two reportable operating segments: (L) inpatient services, which includes the operation of skilled sursing facilities, assisted and independent Living
facilities, and behavioral health hospitals; and (2) homecare and hospice services. These reportable operating segivents are consistent with mformation used by the Conpany’s
Chief Baecutive Officer; as chief operating decision maker ("CODM"™), to assess perfornance and zllecate resources. The Company also reports an “all other” category that

includes revenues from rental incorne, management and accounting services fees, insurance services, and costs of the corporate office,

The Company’s CODM evaluates performance and allocates capital resources to each segment based on an operating model that is designed to improve the quality of
patient care and profitability of the Company while enhancing long-tenn sharcholder value. The CODM does not review assets by segment in his resource allocation and therefore,

assets by segment are not disclosed below.

The following table sets forth the Company’s unaudited interim condensed consolidated statements of operations by business segment (in thousands):

Revenues:
Net patient revenucs
Other revenues
Net operating revenues

Costs and expenses!
Salaries, wages, and benefits
Other operating
Rent
Depreciation and amortization
Interest '
Total costs and expenses

Income/{loss) fromoperations
Non-operating income ‘
Unrealized gains on marketable equity scourities

Incone before inconme taxes

Revenues:
Net patient revenues
Other revenues
Net operating revenues

Costs and expenses:

Salaties, wages, and benefits

Other operating

Rent '

Depreciation and amortization

Interest o

Total costs and expenses

Inconx/(loss) fromoperations
Non-operaling incone ;

Unrealized gains on narketable equity securities

Incone before incone taxes

9

Three Months Fnded March 31, 2024

Tnpatient Homecare

Services and Hospice All Other Total
252254 % 33,569 - 5 285,823
15 . 11,338 11,353
252,269 33,569 11,338 297,176
150,890 21,009 11,239 183,138
68,683 5972 2,714 428
2112 566 1,670 10,348
9,630 187 769 10,586
46 - - 46
237,361 21,734 16452 281,547
14,908 5,835 (5,114} 15,629
- - 5,685 5,685
- - 14,399 14,399
14908 § 5,835 14970 8§ 35713

Three Months Ended March 31, 2023
Inpatient Homecare

Services and Hospice All Other Total
26,1690 § 31,838 - 8 258,007
21 - 11,285 11,556
226440 31,838 11,283 269,563
138,939 20,244 8,641 167,824
62,264 5499 3,726 71,489
8,168 558 1,366 10,092
9,117 185 746 10,048
93 - - 98
218,586 26486 14479 259,551
7,854 5352 (3,194} 10,012
- - 4,323 438
- - 1,386 1,386
784 % 5,352 2,515 § 15,721
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Non-GAAP Financial Presentation

The Company is providing certain non-CGAAP finaneial measures as the Conpany belicves that these figures are helpful in allowing investors to more accurately assess
the ongoing nature of the Company’s operations and measure the Conpany’s performence more consistently across periads. Therefore, the Conpany believes this information it
meaningful in addition to the infonmation contained i the GAAT presentation of financial mformation, The presentation of this additional non-GA AP financia! information is not
intended to be considered in isolation or as a substitute for the financial information prepared and presented in accordance with GAAP,

Specifically, the Conpany believes the presentation of non-GAAP financial information that excludes the unrealized gains or losses on our marketable equity securities,
operating resuits for start-up healthcare operations not at full capacity, gains on sale of unconsolidated conpanies, and share-based cormpensation expensc is helpful in allowing
investors to assess the Conpany’s operations more accurately.

The operating results for the newly constructed healthcare facilities not at full capacity for the three months ended March 31, 2024 include facilities that began operations
from 2022 to 2024, which is two behavioral health hospitals, two homecare ageneies, and two hospice agencies, For the three months ended March 31, 2023, ncluded are facilitics

that began opcmtions from 2021 to 2023, which is two behavioral health hospitals, one homecare ageney, and two hospice agencics.

The tables below pravide reconciliations of GAAP to non-GAAP items (dollars in thousands, cxeept per share data):

Three Months Ended
March 31
2024 2023
Net income attributable to National Healthcare Corporation o ' : 3 ST26213 % 14,723
Non-GAAP adjustients _ _
“"Unrealized galns on marketable equity securities e : ’ (14,359) T {1,386)

Operating results for newly opened faciliies or agencies not at full capacity ) 457 1,217

Gain on sale ofunconsolidated company {1,025) -

Share-based compensation expense 793 639

Income tax provision/{benefit) on non-GAAP adjusiments 3.923 (122)
Non-GAAP Net income $ 15048 § 12,071
GAAP diluted eamings per share $ 169 % 076
Non-GAAP adjustments

Unrealized gains on marketable equity secutities {0.69) (0.06)

Operating results for newly opened facilities or ageneies not at full capacity 0.02) 0.06

Gain on sale of unconsolidated conpany (0.05) -

Share-based compensation expense .04 0.03
Norn-GAAP diluted eamnings per share $ 097§ 079
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Results of Operations

The following table and discussion set forth items from the interim condensed consolidated statements of operations as a percentage of net operating revenues for the
three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023,

Percentage of Net Operating Resenues

Three Months Ended
March 31
2024 2023
Net opetaiing revenues @ 100.0% 160.0%
Costs and expenses:
Sataries, wages, and benefits ' o ' 61.6 ) 623
Other operating 26.0 265
Facility rent 35 3.7
Depreciation and amortization 35 37
Interest ' 0.1 0.1
Total costs and expenses 94,7 96.3
Income fromeperations 53 37
Non—operating inceme 19 1.6
Unrealizad gains on marketable equity securities 48 Q.5
Incoire before mcome taxes 12,6 58
Income fax provision {3.2) (1.6)
Net income 8.8 42
Net (income)loss attributable to noncontrolling inferest 0.0 01
Net income attributable to stockholders of NHC 8.8% 43%

Thiee Months Ended March 31, 2024 Compared to Tlree Months Ended Mareh 31, 2023

Results for the quarter ended March 31, 2024 compared to the first quarter of 2023 include a 10.2% increase in net operating revenucs. For the quarter ended March 31,
2024, GAAP net income attributable to NHC was $26,213,000 compared to 51 1,723,000 for the same peried in 2023. Bxcluding the unrealized gains in our markelable equity securities
portfelio and other non-GAAP adjustieents, adjusted net income for the quarter ended March 31, 2024 was $15,048,000 conpared to §12,071,000 for the same period in 2023, The
increase in adjusted net income for the first quarter of 2024 compared to the first quarter of 2023 was primarily du the continued oceupancy increase in our sldlled nursing and
assisted living facilities, skilled nursing per diem increases from some of our governmental payors, and the continued reduction of nurse agency staffing expense within our
operations.

Net operating revenues
Net patient revenues increased $27,816,000, or 10, 8%, compared to the same period last year.

The total census at owned and leased skilled nursing facilities for the quarter averaged 88,5%, compared to an average of 87.4% for the same quarter a year ago. Overall,
the composite skilled nursing facility per dism increased 8.8% compared to the same quarter a year ago. Our Medicare per diem ratos increased 4.7% and managed care per diem
rates increased 5.8% compated to the same quarter a year ago. Medicaid and private pay per dism rates increased 1:2.0% and 10.5%, Tespectively, compared to the same quater a
year ago. For the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, $3,462,000 and $4,883,000 have been included in our net patient revenues for supplemental Medicaid
payments that are in addition to eur Medicaid skilled nursing per diems,

New operations, which include one skilled nursing facility aequired May 1, 2023, three assisted living fcilities that we began operating on July 1, 2023, two behavioral
health hospitals, twoe hospice agencies and two homecare agencies, have aftributed to an increase of $7,727,000 in net patient revenues for the quarter ended March 31, 2024
compared to the same quarter in the prior year,

On March 1, 2024, the Company exited a lease and transferred the operations of twe skilled nursing facilities (included assisted living units) and one memory care
facility located in Missouri. The exiting of these operations resulted in net patient revenues decreasing $1,972,000 for the quarter ended March 31, 2024 compared to the same

quarter in the pricr year.

Other revenues decreased $203,000, or 1.8%, compared to the sane quarter last year, as further detailed in Note 4 to our interim condensed consolidated financial
statements.
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Total cosls and expenses

Total costs and expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2024 compared fo the same period of 2023 increased 521,996,000, or 8.5% to $281,547,000 from
$259,551,000.

Salzries, wages, and benefits as a percentage of net operating revenues was 61.6% conpared to 62.3% for the three months ended Mareh 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
We continue to face workforce and labar shortages within all of our operations, which mereases wage pressure in regards to retaining and atfracting qualified healtheare partners
{employees). We continue to work diligently to find solutions to reduce and efiminate the agency nurse staffing within our heaithcare operations, Our agency stafting expense
decreased approximately 51% for the three months ended March 31, 2024 conpared to the same period 0f 2023,

Now aperations, which include one skilled nursing facility acquired May 1, 2023, three assisted living facilities that we began operating on July 1, 2023, two behavioral
health hospitals, two hospice agencies and two homecare agencies, have attributed to an increase of $3,591,000 in salaries, wages, and benefits for the quarter ended March 31,
2024 compared to the same quarter n the prior year.

On March 1, 2024, the Conpany exited the lease and transferred the operations of two skilled nursing facilities (included assisted living units) and one memory care
facitity located in Missouri. The exiting of these operations resulted in salaries, wages, and benefits decreasing $1,799,000 for the quarter ended March 31, 2024 compared 1o the
same guarter in the prior year,

Other opcrating expenses as a percentage of net operating rovenues was 26.1% and 26.5% for the threc nonths ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. New
operations, which include one skilled nursing facility acquired May 1, 2023, threo assisted living facilities that we began operating on July 1, 2023, two behavioral health hospitals,
two hospice agencies and two homecare agencies, have attributed to an increase of $2,176,000 in other operating expenses for the quarter ended March 31, 2024 compared to the
same quarter in the prior year. We continue to face inflationary pressures in certain categorics within othet operating cxpenses as well, such as food/dietary supplics and
drugs/pharmacentical supplies,

Other income

Non—operating incotne increased by $1,362,000 cotpared to the same period last yeas, as further detailed i Note 5 to our interim condensed consolidated financial
statements. In January 2024, the Company sald its 50% joint venture ownership interest i a homecare agency located in Nashville, Tennessce, The total consideration paid to the
company was $2,100,000, which resulted in a gain of $1,025,000,
Income faxes

The ncome tax provision for the three months ended March 31, 2024 is $9,462,000 (an effective income taxate of 26,5%).
Noncontrolling interest

The noncontrolling interest in subsidiaries & presented within total equity of the Company’s consolidated balance sheets, The Conpany presents the noncontrolling
interest and the ameunt of consalidated net income attributable to NHC in its consolidated statenents of operations. The Company’s eamings per share is caleulated based on net
income attibutable te NHC’s stockholders, The carrying amount of the noncontrolling interest is adjusted based on an allocation of subsidiary eamings based on ownership

interest,

Three Months Ended March 31, 2023 Compared to Three Months Ended March 31, 2022

Results for the quarter ended March 31, 2023 conpared to the first quarter of 2022 include a 3.4% decrease in net operating revenues and grant income. The net operating
revenues and grant income decrease was primarily driven by the reduction in govemnment stimilus meome of $10,620,000 during the first quarter of 2023 compared fo the same
period a year ago, as well as us exiting seven skilled nursing facilities in Massachusetts and New Hampshire during the third quarter of 2022. Bwluding the govemment stinwlus
income and the seven skilled nursing facilities in Massachusetts and New Herpshire, same-facility net operating revenues increased 7.1% during the first quarter of 2023 coupared
to the same petiod a year ago.

For the quarter ended March 31, 2023, GAAP net income attributable to NHC was $11,723,000 compared to net income of $15,318,000 for the same peried in 2022, Excluding
the unrealized gains in our marketable equity scourities portfolio and other non-GAAP adjustments, adjusted net income for the querter ended March 3(, 2023 was $12,071,600
compared to §14,081,000 for the same period in 2022, The decrease in adjusted net income for the first quarter 0f2023 compared to the first quarter of 2022 was prinerily dus to the
$10,620,000 less in govemment stimulus incomme recorded during the current quarter.
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Nel operating reventies and grant income

Nat patient revenues mereased $1,670,000, or 0,7%, compared to the same period last year.

The total census at owned and leased skilled nursing facilities for the quarter averaged 87.4%, compared to an average of 82.7% for the same quarter a year ago, Overall,
the composite skifled nursing Facility per diem increased 3.3% compared to the same quarter a year ago. Our Medicare per diem rates increased 2,1% and nanaged care per diem
rates increased 2.7% compared to the same quarter a year ago. Medicaid and private pay per diemrates increased 3.6% and 3,1%, respectively, compared to the same quarter a yecar
ago. For the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, $4,883,000 and $5,533,000 have been included in our net patient revenues for supplemental COVID-19
Medicaid payments.

In September 2022, the Company transferred the operations of seven skilled nursing facilities focated in Massachusetts and New Hampshire resulting in net patient
revenues decreasing $16,603,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2023 coupared to the same quater last year.

Other revenucs decreased $470,000, or 3.9%, compared to the same quarter last yoar, as further detailed in Note 4 to our interim condensed conselidated financial
statements,

During the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, we recorded 30 and $10,620,000 in govemment stimulus income related to funds received fromthe
CARES Act Provider RelicfFond.
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Total costs and expenses

Total costs and expenses for the thres months ended March 31, 2623 conpared to the sane period 0f 2022 decreased 35,215,000, or 2.0% to $259,551,000 from $264, 766,000.

Salarics, wages, and benefits as a percentage of net operating revenues and grant incore was 62,3% compared to 61,3% for the three months ended March 31, 2023 and
2022, respectively. We continue to face workforee and labor shortages within all of our operations, which-ncreases wage pressure in regards to telaining and attracting qualified
healthcare partners (enployees). The laber and workforce shortages have resulted in us contracting with agency nurse staffing companies. The agency nurse staffing companies
charge inflated hourly rates; thercfore, we are working diligently to find solutions to reduce and climinate the agency nurse staffing within our healtheare operations. For the
quarter ended March 31, 2023, our ageney nurse slaffing exponse decreased $4,941,000, or approxiinately 34%, compared to the same period a year ago.

Tn September 2022, the Corrpany transferred the operations of seven skilled nursing facilities located i Massachusetts and New Hampshire resulting in salaries, wages,
and benefits decreasing $11,884,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2023 compared to the same quarter last year,

Other operating expenses as a percentage of net operating revenues and grant income was 26.5% and 26.6% for the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively. The transfer of the operations of the seven skilled nursing facilities located in Massachusetts and New Hampshire, as noted above, resulled in other operating
expenses decreasing $5,206,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2023 compared to the same quarter last year, We continue fo face inflationary pressures in certain categories
withiz: other operating expenses as well, such as food/dietary supplies and drags/pharmaceutical supplies.

(ther income

Non-—operating incore increased by §1,124,000 cotpared to the same poriod last year, as further detailed in Note S to our interim condenscd consolidated financial
statements,

Income taxes

The income tax provision for the three months ended March 31, 2023 is $4.436,000 (an effective income taxrate 0f28.2%).
Noncentrolling interest

The noncontroliing interest M subsidiaries is presented within total equity of the Company’s consolidated balance shects, The Company presents the nonconirolling
interest and the amount of consclidated net incorme attributable to NHC i its consolidated statements of operations. The Cormpany’s camings per shate is calculated based on net
income attributable to NHC's stockholders. The carying amount of the noncontrolling interest is adjusted based on an allocation of subsidiary earnings based on ownership
interest,
Liquidity, Capital Resoutces. and Financial Condition

Qur primary sources of cash include revenues fromthe aperations of our healthcars and seior living faclities, management and accounting services, rental come, and
investment incoms, Our primery uses of cash include salatdes, wages and other operating costs of our healthcare and senior living facilities, the cost of additions to and
acquisitions of real property, facility rent expenses, and dividend distributions. These sources and uses of cash are reflected in our interim condensed consolidated statements of
cash flows and are discussed in further detail below.

The following is a sunwmry of our sowces and nses of cash flows (dollars in thousands):

Three Months Ended

March 31 Three Month Change
2024 2023 $ %

Cash, cash equivaleats, restricted cash, and restricted cash equivalents, at beginning of

pericd ’ 3 125968 % 74865 § 51,103 68.3%
Cash provided by operating activities 9,646 13,857 (4,211} (30.4)
Cash used in investing activities ’ (2,415) (1427 (988) {69.2)
Cash used in finaneing activities ' : (12,067 {12,619) 552 44
Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash, and restricted cash squivalents, at end of period $ 121,132 § 4,676 3 46,456 62.2%
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Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities for the three months ended March 31, 2024 was $9,646,000 as conpared 1o 13,857,000 in the same period last year. Cash provided
by operating activities consisted of net income of $26,251,000 and decreases to operating cash flows related to adjustments for non—cash items of $1,627,000. There was cash used
for working capital needs in the amount of $14,634,000 for the three menths ended March 31, 2024 compared to 36,017,000 for the same period a year ago.

On February 21, 2024, Change Healthcare was the target of a ransonware attack, The Conpany uses Change Healthcare as an ntermediary to process and pay our
govemmental and nsurance conpany healthcare claims, With Change Healtheare's systems being down during the first quarter of 2024, we had to manually bill the majerity of
our skilled nursing claims for the months of February and March 2024, Although we manually billed our skilled nursing healthcare clains in Febmary and March 2024, we
were not paid as we typically would in the ordinary course cfbusiness, At March 31, 2024, our patient accounts receivable balances increased approximately $15 million fromour
December 31, 2023 accounts receivable balances. We believe this increase in accounts zeceivable is temparary and over the next several months we expect our accounts
receivable balances and operting cash flow to be back to normal levels.

Tnchided in the adjustments for non-cash items are depreciation cxpense, equity in eamings of unconsolidated investments, unrcalized gains on our marketable equity
securitis, gain on sale of an unconsolidated compary, deferred taxes, and stock compensation.

Investing Activities

Net cash used In investing activitios totaled $2,415,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2024, compared to $1,427,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2023,
Cash used for property and equiptent additions was $5,955,000 and $6,640,000 for the three menths ended March 31, 2024, and 2023, respectively. Proceeds from the sale of
marketable securities, net of purchascs, resulted in cash provided by investing activity of $2,912,000 and $5,211,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively. Tn January 2024, the Company seld its 50% joint ventute pwnership interest in a homecate agency resulting in proceeds fiomthe salo of $2,100,000.

Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities totaled $12,067,000 for the threc months ended March 31, 2024 compared to $12,619,000 for the thies nonths ended March 31, 2023,
We made principal payments under our finance lease obligations n the amount of $860,000 and $1,218,0C0 for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Cash
used for dividend payments to common stockhalders totaled $9,051,000 in the current year period compared to $8,748,000 for the same period 2 year ago. Cash provided by the
issuance of common stock totzled $8,412,000 for the quarter ended March 31, 2024, We repurchased conmon shates outstanding it the amount of $9,900,000 and $2,482,000 for the
thtee months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively,

Shart—term liguidity

We expect to meet cur short-term liquidity requirements primarily fromour cash flows fromoperating activities, Tn addition to cash flows fromoperations, our curent cash
on hand of $93,982,000 and our narketable equity and debt securities of $123,524,000 arc expected 1o be adequate to mest our contractual obligations, operating liquidity, and our

growth and development plans in the next twelve months. We also have qubstantial value in our unencumbered real estate assets, which could potentially be used as coliateral in
fufure borrowing opportunities.

Long—term liquidily

We expect to maet our long-term liquidity requirements primarily fromour cash flows from operating activities, our current cash on hand of $93,982,000 and our narkstable
equity and debt securities of $123,524,000. We also have substantial value in our unencumbered real estate assets, which could potentially be used as collatersl in future borrowing
opportunities.

Our ability to meet our long—term contractual obligations, and to finance cur aperating requirements and growth plans wiil depend upon our future performance. Our
future performance will be affected by business, economic, financial and other factors, Including potential changes in state and faderal government payment rates for healthcare,

customer demand, success of our marketing efforts, pressures from competitors, and the state of the economy, including the state of financial and eredit markets, as well as many
unforeseen factors.

Commitiment and Contingencies
Governmental Regulations

Laws and regulations goveming the Medicare, Medicaid and other federal healthcare prograns are complex and subject to intetpretation, Management belicves that it is
Dollowing all applicable laws and regulations in ail material respects. However, compliance with such laws and regulations can be subject to future govemnment review and

interpretation as well as significant regulatory action including fines, penalties, and exchusions from the Medicare, Medicaid, and other federal healthcare programs.
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Hem 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Market tisk represents the potential econonic loss arising from adverse changes in the fair value of fnancial instruments. Qurrently, our exposure to market risk relates
primerily te our fixed—income and equity portfolios. These investment portfolios are exposed prinarily to, but not limited to, interest rate risk, credit risk, equity price risk, and
concentration risk. We also have exposure to merket tisk that includes our cash and cash equivalents. The Company's senior nenagement has established conprehensive risk
management policies and procedures to imanage these market risks.

Intevest Rate Risk

The fair values of our fixed—incons investments fuctuate in response to changes i matket interest rates. Increages and decreases in prevailing intetest rates generally
translate into decreases and increases, respectively, in the fair values of those instruments, Additionally, the fair values of interest rate sensitive msirunents nay be affected by
the creditworthiness of the issuer, prepayment options, the liguidity of the mstrunent and other general market conditions. At March 31, 2024, we have available for sale
marketable dobt securities i the amount of $124316,000. The fixed maturity portfolio is comprised of investments with primarily shor—termand intermediate—term waturitics. The
fixed maturity portfolio 2llows our insurance company subsidiaries to achieve an adequate risk-adusted retum while maintaining sufficient liquidity to mect obligations.

Our cash and cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with a maturity of less than three months when purchased. As a result of the short—term nature of our
cash instranents, a hypotheticaf 1% change in interest rates would have minimal irpact on cur future eamings and cash flows related to thesc instruments,

We do not enrrently use any detivative instruments to hedge our interest rate exposure, We have not used derivative strumonts for trading purposes and the use of
such instruments in the futire would be subject to approvals by the Investowat Committee of the Board of Dircutors.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is managed by diversifying the fixed maturity pertfolio to avoid concentrations in any single industry group or issuer and by limiting nvestments in secutities
with lower credit ratings.

Equity Price and Concentration Risk

Our trarketable equity securities are recorded at their fair market value based on quoted market prices, Thus, there is exposure to equity price risk, which is the potential
change in fair value due to e change in queted market prices. At Mach 31, 2024, the fair value of our marketable equity securities is approximately $152,656,000, Of the $152.7
millien equity securities portfolio, our investmont in NHI conprises approximately $102.5 million, or 67.1%, of the tatal fair value, We manage our exposute to NHI by closely
monitoting the financial condition, performence, and outlook of the company, Hypathetically, 2 10% change in quoted matket prices would res ult in a related increase or decrease
in the fair value of our equity investments of approximately $13.3 nillion. At March 31, 2024, our equity securities had net unrealized gains of $98.0 million, Of the $98.0 million of
unreslized gaing, $77.7 million is related to our investment in NHL

Item 4, Controls and Procedures.

As of March 31, 2024, an evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of the Company's nanagement, incliding the Chief Executive Officer
("CEOQ™ and Chief Financial Officer {" CFO"), of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedurcs, Based on that cvaluation, the
Conpany’s managenent, including the CEO and CFO, concluded that the Company’s disclosurs controls and procedures were effective as of March 31, 2024,

During the period covered by this repott, there have been no changes in our intemal control over financial reporting that have naterially affectad or are reasonably likely
to naterially affect our intemal controt over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Ttem1.  Legal Proceedings.
For a discussion of prior, current, and pending [itigation of material significance to NHC, please see Note 16 of this Form 10-Q.
Ttem 1A, Risk Iactors.

During the three months ended March 31, 2024, there were no material changes to the sk factors that were disclosed in Ttem 1A of National HealthCare Corporation’s
Annual Repert on Form 10-K for the year ended Decerrber 31, 2023,

Ttem 2. UnregisteredSales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
Not applicable

Item3.  Defaults Epon Senior Securities.
None

Hem4, Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable

Ttem 5, Other Information,
None
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Ttem 6. Exhibifs.

(a)  List of exhibits

EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
No. Description
31 Certificate of ncorporation of National HealthCare Cavporation {Inectporated by reference to ¥ixhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s regispration statenent on Form 8-4
(File No, 333-37183) dated October 3, 1997}
32 Certificate_of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation of National HealthCare Corporation (Incorperated by reference to Lixhibit 3.5 to the quarterly report
ol Form 10-Q filed op August 3, 2017.)
33 i iun: 's registration staterent on Form
8-A dated August 3, 2007,
34 Restated Bylaws as amended February 14, 2013 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3,5 to the quartetly report on Form 100 filed on May 8 2013
4.1 Formof Common Stock (Incomporated by reference to Frhibit 4.1 to the guarterly seport on Form 10-0 filed ou August 32017
10,1 ‘
Exhibit 10.1 o the quzntcriv report pn Forn 16-Q filed an Nuvcmbeﬂ 2022}
10.2 Amendment No, 10 to Master Apreement to Lease betwoen National Health Investors, [ne. and National HealthCare Corporation (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the guarterly report on Form 10-0 filed on Noverber 3, 2022
311 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a} Certification of Chief Exgoutive Officer
312 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Chief Financiat Officer
12 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 by Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document (the instance dooument does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Infine
XBRL document)
101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxononty Estension Schema Document
101.CAL Inling XBRL Taxoneny Extension Calculation Linkbagse Document
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonony Extension abel Linkbase Doouiment
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxcnony Lxtension Presentation Linkbase Document
104 Cover Page Interactive File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document and include in Exhibit 101)
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto
duly authorized,

NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
(Registrant)

Date: May 9, 2024 /s/ Stephen F. Flatt
Stephen F. Flatt
Chief Executive Officer

Date; May 9, 2024 /s Brian F, Kidd
Brian F. Kidd
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
Oflicer
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

1, Stephen F, Flatt, certify that:

L

2.

I have reviewed this quartedy report en Form 10-Q of National HealthCare Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit e state a meterial fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were nade, not nfisleading with respect (o the period covered by this quarterly report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial staterents, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and numintaining disclosure centrols and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e}) and intemal control over financial reporting {as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(0) and 15d-15(F) for the registrant and have:

a Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supetvision, to ensure that
materfal informetion relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b, Designed such intemal control over financial reperting, or caused such intemal control over financial reporting to be designed under cur supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposcs in accordance with gencrally
accepted accounting prineiples;

c. Bvaluated the offectiveness of the registrant's disciosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s intemal contro] over financial reperting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other cerlifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial repotting, to the registrant's auditors
and the audit cormmittee of the registrant’s board of directors {or persons performing the equivalont function);

a Allsignificant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial repoiting which are reasenably likely to adversely
affect the registrant's ability to record, process, surmmarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fiaud, whether or not nuterial, that invelves management or other enployees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting,

Date: May 9, 2024

/s/ Stephen F. Flatt
Stephen F. Flatt
Chief Brecutive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION
1, Brian F. Kidd, certify that:
I8 T have reviewed this quartetly report on Form 10-Q of National HealthCare Corporation;
2. Based on my knowledge, this quatlerly report does not contain any unirue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to ks the statemcnts

nade,

Light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this quarterly report;

3 Based on my kmowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all nmterial respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and [ are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Bxchange Act Rales 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(¢)} and intemal control aver financial reporting (as defined in Bxchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(£)) for the registrant and have:

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensuze that
nuterial information relating to the registrant, inchiding its consolidated subsidiaries, is wade known to us by othess within those entities, particulardy during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such infernal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under cur supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for cxternal putposcs in accordance with gencrally
accepted accounting principles;

Byaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure contrels and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclased in this report any change in the registrant's intetnal control over financial reporting that ocourred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual repott) that has materially affocted, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal
centrol over financial reporting; and

3, The registrant's other certifying officer and T have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, 1o the registrant's auditors
and the audit cormittee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent finction):

Date: May 9, 2024

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves nanagement or other enployess who have a significant role in the registrant's intemal control over financial
reporting,

/s/ Brian F, Kidd
Brian F. Kidd
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32
Certification of Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q

of National HealthCare Corporation
For the Quarter Fnded March 31, 2024

The undersigned hereby certify, pursuant 1o 18 US.C. Section $06 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the undersigned's best knowledge and belief, the Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for National HealthCare Corperation ("Issuer"} for the period ending March 31, 2024 as filed with the Securitics and Exchange Conmission on the date hercof
(the "Report"):
(a) flty complies with the requirements of section 13(2) or 15{d) of the Seourities Exchange Act of 1934; and

) the information contained in the Repott fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Issuct,

This Certification accompanies the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Issuer for the quarterly period ended March 31,2024

This Certification is executed as of May 9, 2024,

/s/Stephen F. Flatt
Stephen F. Flatt
Chief Bxecutive Officer

/s/ Brian F, Kidd

Brian F. Kidd
Senior Vice President and Chief financial Officer

A signed original of this written statetent required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and fumished to the Securities
and Fachange Commission or ifs staff upon request.



ATTACHMENT I

Five Year Projection Statement



The financial forecast consists of prospective financial statements that present, to the best of the applicant’s
knowledge and belief, an entity's expected financial position, results of operations, and cash flows.
All documents are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles by a Certified

Public Accountant that has compiled, examined, or applied agreed-upon procedures to prospective financial
statements.

Company Nam T:erq:)hone Number:

National HealthCare Corporation 615-.890-2020

Street Address: Fax Number:

100 E. Vine Street 615-890-0123

City: County; State: Zip:
Murfreesboro Rutherford ™ 37130
E-mail Address:

[ No Emall bkidd@nherare.com

& A N

: Zlcume;?é?f?g 25 @}ES g')’“{';

Signature of Certified Publi Accountant and License # Date




REVENUES
Net Patient Service Revenue
Apartment Rents
Total Revenues

EXPENSES

Nursing Services
Ancilliaries

Dietary Expenses

Social Services

Activities

Medicat Records

Laundry and Linen
Housekeeping

Facitity Operations and Maintenance
Depreciation

Taxes and Insurance
Employee Benefits
General and Administrative

Total Expenses

Net Income

*8/01/24-12/31/24

NHC Healthcare/Burlington, LLC

Projected Statement of Operations
For the Years Ending December 31, 2024 through 2029

Year Ended December 31,

2024* 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029
4 5,897,974 $ 14,579,792 $ 15,053,636 $ 15542,879 §$ 16,048,022 $ 16,569,583
508,750 1,257,631 1,295,360 1,334,221 1,374,247 1,415,475
6,406,725 15,837,424 16,348,996 16,877,100 17,422,270 17,985,058
2,945,235 7,280,622 7,499,040 7,724,011 7,955,732 8,194,404
576,248 1,424,486 1,467,221 1,511,237 1,556,574 1,603,272
532,494 1,316,324 1,355,814 1,396,488 1,438,383 1,481,534
58,210 143,894 148,211 152,657 157,237 161,954
66,487 164,356 169,287 174,366 179,597 184,985
27,044 66,853 68,858 70,924 73,052 75,243
72,430 179,046 184,418 189,950 195,649 201,518
151,969 375,668 386,938 398,546 410,503 422,818
374,306 925,285 953,043 981,635 1,011,084 1,041,416
25,000 95,000 105,000 115,000 120,000 125,000
105,950 261,908 269,766 277,859 286,194 294,780
369,266 912,826 940,210 968,417 997,469 1,027,393
862,338 2,131,699 2,195,650 2,261,519 2,329,365 2,399,246
6,166,977 15,277,967 15,743,456 16,222,610 16,710,838 17,213,563
$ 239748 § 559,456 $ 605539 $ 654,490 $ 711432 § 771,495




Assets

Current Assets
Cash and cash eguivalents
Patient accounts receivable, net
QOther current assets
Total current assets

Assets Limited As To Use - Operating Reseive

Moveable Equipment
Moveable equipment, at cost
Accumulated depreciation
Moveable equipment, net

Total assets

Liabilities and Equity

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued wages and other liabilities
Total current liabilities

Deferred Cradits
Deposits and unearned deposit revenue -
nonrefundable
Total deferred credits

Total liabilities
Equity
Retained Eamings

Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

NHC Healthcare/Burlington, LLC

Projected Balance Sheets
December 31, 2024 through 2028

December 31,
2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029
304,001 $ 745,762 1,294,111 $ 1,876,800 §$ 2,521,549 § 3,232,142
1,750,755 1,803,278 1,857,376 1,913,097 1,870,490 2,028,605
52,000 53,040 54,101 55,183 56,286 57,412
2,106,846 2,602,079 3,205,587 3,844,881 4,548,326 5,319,159
280,748 283,355 286,558 287,791 289,759 291,433
500,000 750,000 95¢,000 1,150,000 1,350,000 1,550,000
(25,000} {120,000) (225,000} (340,008) {480,000} (585,000)
475,000 630,000 725,000 810,000 890,000 965,000
2,862,592 $ 3,515,434 4,218,146 $ 4,942,672 % 5728085 § 6,575,593
637,845 § 656,980 676,680 § 696,990 $ 717,900 §$ 739,437
485,000 508,250 534,713 551,448 589,521 618,997
1,122,845 1,166,230 1,211,402 1,258,439 1,307,421 1,358,434
50,000 100,000 150,000 175,000 200,000 225,000
50,000 100,000 150,000 175,000 200,000 225,000
1,172,845 1,266,230 1,361,402 1,433,439 1,507,421 1,583,434
1,689,748 2,249,204 2,854,743 3,509,233 4,220,665 4,992,159
1,689,748 2,249,204 2,854,743 3,509,233 4,220,665 4,992,159
2,862,593 % 3,515,434 4,216,145 $ 4,942,672 § 5,728,085 $ 6,575,583




NHC Healthcare/Burlington, LLC

Projected Statement of Cash Flows
For the Years Ended December 31, 2024 through 2029

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net Income

Adjustments to reconcile net income te cash provided by
operating activitles:

Depreciation

Deposit amortization

Deposit receipts
Change in operating assets and liabillties:

Accounts receivable

Other current assets

Accounts payable

Accrued wages and other tiabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash Fiows From Investing Activities
Purchase of preperty and equipment
Net change in assets limited to use - operating reserve
Net cash used in Investing activities
Cash Flows From Financing Actlvities
Capital centributions
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net Increase In Cash and Cash Equivatents

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year

Cash and Cash Equivalents - end of year

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2025 2028 2027 20238 2029
$ 239,748 § 559,456 $ 605,539 § 654,490 & 711,432 $ 771,495
25,000 95,000 105,000 115,000 120,000 125,000
{15,250} (60,000} (63,000} (66,180) (69,458} (72,930)
65,250 110,000 113,000 91,150 94,458 97,930
{1,750,755) (52,523) {64,098) {65,721) {67,393) {69,118}
(52,0G0) {1,040) {1,061) (1,082) (1,104} {1,126}
637,845 12,135 18,709 20,301 20,910 21,537
485,000 24,250 25,463 26,736 28,072 29,476
(365,162) 694,279 750,552 784,723 846,917 912,267
{500,000) {250,000) (200,000) {200,000) {200,000) (200,000}
{280,746) {2,609) {2,203) {2,233) (1,968} (1,674}
780,746} {252,609) (202,203) {202,233) (201,968) {201,874}
1,000,000 - - - -
1,000,000 - - - - -
{145,809) 441,670 548,349 582,490 644,949 710,593
450,000 304,001 745,762 1,294,111 1,876,600 2,521,549
$ 304,091 % 745,762 % 1,204,111 $ 1,876600 § 2,521549 § 3,232,142




Total Projected Operating Expenses
Projected SNF Expense
Projected Apartment Expense

Total Projected Depreciation Expense
Projecied SNF Depreciation
Projected Apartment Depreciation

Total Patient Days - SNF

Total Patient Days Attibutable to Aparment Residents

% of SNF Patient Days Attributable to Apartment Residents
9% of SNF Days Attributabie to SNF Only Resldents

Calculatien of Excluded SNF Expenses
Calculation of included SNF Expenses

Catculation of Included SNF Depreciation

Expenses Subject to DOl Approved Opetating Reserve

Operating Reserve Percentage

Projected Reserve Requirement

Projected Occupancy as of Year End

NHC Heaithcare/Burlington, LLC

Projected Operating Reserve Requirement
For the Years Ended December 31, 2024 through 2029

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029

$13,645,745 $14,075,480 §$14,520,385 § 14,979,882 $15,454,474 § 15,944,683
1,085,000 1,107,488 1,118,071 1,127,728 1,136,364 1,143,881
14,740,745 15,182,087 15,638,456 16,107,610 16,590,838 17,088,563
39,000 71,900 79,580 88,320 91,586 95,585
21,000 23,100 25,410 26,681 28,015 29,415
£0,000 85,000 105,000 115,000 120,000 125,000
42,000 42,840 43,697 44,671 45,462 46,371

150 150 150 150 150 150

0.36% 0.35% 0.34% 0.34% 0.33% 0.32%
99.64% 99.65% 99.66% 99.66% 89.67% 99.68%
13,596,620 14,026,196 14,470,541 14,829,469 15,408,483 15,893,105
49,125 45,284 49,845 50,414 50,921 51,577

140 252 273 297 304 309
1,122,988 1,133,418 1,142,233 1,151,164 1,158,037 1,165,734
20% 25% 25% 25% 256% 25%

$ 280,746 $ 283355 $ 285558 § 287,791 $ 289,759 § 291,433
98.0% 96.0% 96,0% 96.0% 96.0% 96.0%




ATTACHMENT Il

Current Interim Financial Statements
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ATTACHMENT IV

Resident Contracts




STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA APARTMENT RENTAL AGREEMENT
COUNTY OF ALAMANCE (WITH NO INITIAL DEPCSIT)

THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into ag of the
day of , 20 by and

between NHC HealthCare/Burlington, LLC a limited 1liability
company doing business as ©Oak Creek Apartments hereinafter

referred tc as "Owner" and , a resident of the

State and County aforesaid, hereinafter referred to as
"Resident."
WITNESSETH:

FOR VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, the receipt and sufficiency of
which the parties hereto acknowledge, and the full and faithful
performance of all terms, covenants and conditions herein
contained, the Owner hereby agrees to rent to the Resident, and

the Resident hereby agrees to rent from the Owner, Apartment No.

, located at ©ak Creek, Burlington, North Carclina
(hereinafter called the "premises," '"complex," or "apartment
complex") for Resident's sole occupancy, according to the

following terms, covenants, and conditions:
1. TERM. The term of this Agreement shall begin on the

day of 20 , and end upon

the first of the following to occur:

(a) The last day of the month following the Resgident's
death, or at such time thereafter as the Resident's
belongings have been removed from the premises; or

(b) Resident's default as hereinafter defined; or

(¢) Owner's having determined, and having given written
notification thereof, that the Resident:

(i) is socially incompatible with  the Qwner's
employees, other residents, or guests;

(ii) has demonstrated possible emotional instability;
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(d)

(iii)poses a risk to the 1life and well-being of
him/herself or others;

(iv) has destroyed, or attempted to destroy, property
belonging to the Owner, him/herself or others; or

(v) fails to fully comply with all terms and
provisions contained in this Agreement; or

(vi) has acted in any other unreasonable fashion or
poses for the Owner, its employees, residents or
guests, any other unreasonable risks; or

The last day of any month prior to which the Resident

has given to the Owner;

(i1} In the event the Resident is to be transferred,
bagsed upon written medical certification, to a
hospital or to White Oak Manor - Burlington
Nursing Center, at 1least ten (10} days prior
written notice; or

(ii) In the event the Regident is to be transferred,
basged upon written medical certification,
anywhere else, at least thirty (30) days prior
written notice; or

(iii) In the event the Resident 1is to be transferred
anywhere else, without written medical
certification, at least (60) sgixty days prior
written notice; oxr

At such time as, if ever, the apartment is destroyed

by fire or other calamity, or if the apartment, or a

substantial portion of the complex, 1s acgquired

through condeémnation proceedings, making it such,
under the circumstances, that the apartment is no

longer reasonably fit for its intended use.
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In the event the Regident 1s transferred as
provided in Paragraph (i) above, to a hospital, he/she
shall have sixty (60) days from date of transfer to
return to his/her apartment, and to have the within
Agreement remain in full force and efifect, so long as
all terms, covenants and conditions herein contained,
including those pertaining to rental payments, have
been (and are then being) fully complied with.

In the event the Resident 1s trangsferred, as
provided in Paragraph (i} above, to White Oak Manor -
Burlington Nursing Center, the Resident sghall have
thirty (30) days from date of transfer to return to his
apartment, and to have the within Agreement remain in
full force and effect, so long as all terms, covenants
and conditions herein contained, including those
pertaining to rental payments, have been (and are then
being) fully complied with.

In the event that the Resident, upon being
transferred elsewhere as provided above, wisghes to
again become a tenant of the Owner, after the within
Agreement has terminated, and 18 certified, in
writing, by a qualified physician, as being again able
to reside in the apartment complex, Owner agrees to
give the Resident, to the extent reasonable possible,
a priority as far as the next available apartment,
with retention deposits and rental rates to be those
then in effect, and a new Apartment Rental Agreement
to be entered into.

In the situations described in Paragraphs (i) and
(1ii) above, the Owner wmay, but shall have no legal

duty to, waive the requirement regarding written
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notification based upon terms and conditions mutually
agreeable to both Owner and Resident.

If for any reason, a resident would be precluded
from occupying a living unit in the facility under the
terme of the contract for continuing care, the
contract is automatically canceled and all wmonies will
be promptly refunded to the resident or their legal
representative within 30 days after the termination
date of the agreement.

TRANSFERS. A transfer fee may apply 1f you desire to
transfer from your current apartment to another. After 10
years of residency in the same apartment, a transfer fee
may be waived. A 50% transfer fee will apply if transfer
occurs within 5-10 vyears of residency. If request 1s made
prior to 5 years, 100% of the transfer fee will apply. An
exception to applying the transfer fee may apply 1f a
prearranged admission agreement signed by both parties
stipulates a desire to transfer to another specific
apartment within one year. The transfer fee is not a preset
cost but ig based on cecst to refurbish vacated apartment.
MARRIAGES. If a current resident (s) of 0Oak Creek becomes
married, the rent will increase based on the rent schedules
in effect at that time for two persons. No additional
deposit is required and the balance outstanding on any
deposit(s) will continue to amortize in accordance

with each Resident's original Rental Agreement. A new
Rental Agreement will Dbe negotiated Dbetween Cak
Creek and the husband and wife as Residents. Other than
for medical reasons there are no qualifying reguirements
for a spouse to meet as a condition for entry. In the event

the spouse does not medically qualify for admission, the
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agreement will terminate and alternate placement will be

required.

RENT .

Resident agrees to pay monthly rental to the Owner

in the amount of said rent to be payable in

advance on or before the first day of each month for which

due and owing, provided, however:

{a)

(b)

The rent for a partial month at the beginning of the
term shall be prorated;
Although the Owner will attempt to keep rental
increases to a minimum, during any calendar vear
following the first full calendar year of this
Agreement, the Owner may, due to an increase in the
cost of operation, or for any other reason, upon
thirty (30) days prior written notice to the Resident,
increase the monthly rental payable hereunder so long
as the sum of the increases in monthly rental during
any calendar year does not exceed the greater of:
(1} s8ix { 6%) percent of the average monthly rental
during the preceding calendar year; or
(ii) An amount equal to the average monthly rental
during the preceding calendar year multiplied by
the percentage increase in the "Consumer Price
Index" figures for January and December of the

preceding calendar year, the Consumer Price Index

being the "Consumer Price Index U.s. City
Averade All Items Figures for Urban Wage

Earners and Clerical Workers {Including Single
Workers), "which index is currently published in

the "Monthly Labor Review" of the Bureau of Labor
Statistics of the United States Department of

Labor, or its successor index.
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(¢) All rental payments shall be due and payable on or
before the first day of the month for which due and
owing, and if received on or after the tenth (10) day
of that particular month shall accrue a five (5%)
percent late charge (5% of the monthly payment) which
sum shall be immediately due and payable and
collectible as additicnal rent.

USE OF APARTMENT; COMPLIANCHE WITH RULES AND REGULATIQONS;

SMOKING POLICY. Resident will make no unlawful or

cffengive use of the apartment and the common  areas
belonging toc the Owner and will comply with all laws,
ordinances and regulations of duly constituted governmental
authorities. Resident will use the apartment only as a
private dwelling for him/her and such other persons as may
be authorized. In addition, Resident agrees to abide by the
reasonable rules and regulations promulgated from time to
time by Owner generally applicable to all occupants and
designed for the general health, welfare, and comfort of
the other occupants. In addition to all such other rules
and regulations, Resident specifically acknowledges that
Cwner has a policy prohibiting the use of all tobacco
products in the apartments as well as on the Oak Creek
property, and Resident agrees to abide by said policy.
Any resident who viclates this policy by using tobacco
products in his/her apartment or on the Oak Creek
property or by allowing anyone else to use tobacco
products in his/her apartment or on the property will be
deemed to be in default under this agreement and subject to
the provisions of Paragraph 14 of this Agreement, including
eviction and reimbursement of Owner's costs, expenses and
attorney's fees. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Resident

further acknowledges that this tobacco policy does not
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apply to other residents who signed their Apartment Rental
Agreements prior to the implementation of this policy in
September, 2008.

USE QF PREMISES. Resident shall have the use, possession

and enjoyment during the term of this Agreement of the
apartment above identified jointly with any other tenant,
but all common areas, including stairways, walkways and
grounds, schall be used and enjoyed with other residents,
and no portion of the game may or shall be permanently or
temporarily appropriated by Resident to Resident's
exclugive use, enjoyment or possession.

DESCRIPTION OF LIVING QUARTERS. Resident will resgide in one of

the following units:

e One Bedroom - 745 sagguare feet. Living xroom, 1 bedrcom, 1

walk-in closet, 1 bathrcoom, kitchen, dining room, sunroom

e Two Redroom - 1072 square feet. Living xroom, 2 bedrooms, 1

walk-in closet, 2 bathrocoms, kitchen, dining room, sunroom

CARE OF APARTMENT AND REPATRS. Resident will take good

care of the apartment and common areas and will report
promptly to Owner any repalrs which may be needed. Owner

shall keep and maintain the apartment in tenable condition

and shall have the right to make at reascnable times any
and all repairs, renovations and alterations as it shall
determine necessary or desirable. Resident ghall reimburse
Cwner for  expenses incurred by Owner for  repairs
attributable to Resident's abuse or mistreatment of the

apartment (including appliances) or the common areas.

AT TERATIONS BY RESIDENT. Resident shall make no
alterationg to the apartment without the prior written
consent of the Owner, which consent shall not be
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1Q.

11.

12,

13,

14.

unreasonably withheld.

PETS. Resident may not keep any pets or animals of any

xind anywhere upon the premises without the prior written
consent of the Owner. Even after the Owner's consent has
been given, thig consent may be reascnably withdrawn by the
Owner according to its sole judgment and discretion based
upon what it believes to be in the best interest of the
complex and the other residents. A $500 pet deposit is

required 1f a pet 1is maintained in the apartment. The

deposit may be refunded at the discretion of Management.

POSSESSTION OF FIREARMS. No person, including residents,
friends of residents or family members, wmay Ppossess oY
carry, whether openly or concealed, any gung, rifles,
pistols or firearms of any type on the premises. Violation
of this policy shall be deemed a violation of the Apartment
Rental Agreement and may constitute grounds for discharge
or cancellation of the Agreement.

RIGHT OF ENTRY. Owner's representative may enter the
apartment at any reasonable time to examine same and/oxr
make such alterations and repairs as Owner may determine.

SURRENDER CF PREMISES. Upon the expiration or termination

of this Apartment Rental  Agreement, Resident shall
gurrender the apartment to the Owner in the same condition
as at the beginning of the term, ordinary wear and tear
excepted.

INSURANCE, RISK OF LOSS AND RENTAL ABATEMENT. Resgident

shall be solely responsible for insuring Resident's

personal belongings. If the apartment is damaged by fire,
casualty, or act of God, regarding which the Resident was

neither negligent nor at fault, the Owner shall promptly
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15,

16.

repair the damages and the rental provided for herein shall
be abated on a daily basis so long as the Resident is
unable to occupy the premises while repairs are being made.
However, at such time as the premises are again tenable,
the obligation tc pay rent shall resume. In the event that
the damages involved are caused by negligence or fault on
the part of the Regident, the rental provided for herein
shall not abate, but shall be paid, as agreed, in timely
faghion, and the Resident shall be further responsible for
paying any sums deductible under the Owner's insurance
coverage, which the Owner would otherwise be required to
pay.

LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION. The Owner shall not be

liable for any damages or injuries to person or property
occasioned anyone whatsoever, including other regidents,
employees, guests, or the like, by reason of Resident's use
or occupancy of the apartment or the common areas, and
Regident shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Owner
from and against any and all claims for damages or
liability arising from injury to perscn or property
regardless of how occurring. Furthermore, Owner shall not
be liable to Resident, his family, employees or guests, for
any injuries or damages caused by acts or omissions of
other residents or occupants, whether caused on or off the
property owned by the Owner. Finally, the Owner shall not
be liable for any loss or damage resulting from failure,
interruption or malfunction 1in the wutilities provided
Resident in connection with his/her occupancy of the
apartment,

CONDEMNATION. TIf the apartment or all or any part of the

premises shall be at any time taken for any public or

quasi-public use under any statute or by right of eminent
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domain, Owner shall be entitled to and shall receive the
award or payment therefore (hereinafter «called the
"award"), and Resident shall assign, and does hereby assign
and transfer, such Award to the Owner free and clear of
every claim of every kind whatsoever by or on the part of

the Resident.

17. DEFAULT. This Apartment Rental Agreement is made
upon the condition that the Resident shall faithfully
perform all of the terms, covenants and conditions herein
contained by him/her to be performed as herein set

forth or in other agreements heretofore or hereafter entered

intoc between the Owner and the Resident, and Resident shall be

in default if:

(a) Any rental payment due hereunder shall at any time Dbe
in arrears and unpaid for fifteen (15) days after
recelpt Dby Regsident of written notice making demand
therefore; or

(b} Resident shall fail to observe or perform any of the
covenants, agreements, or conditions set forﬁh herein
and said failure shall continue for a period of
fifteen (15) days after receipt by Resident of written
notice of such failure from Owner.

In the event of a default, Owner may at its option, declare

the term of this Agreement ended and repossess the

Apartment, and shall further  be entitled to all other

rights and remedies set forth herein. A waiver of any

default by Owner shall not constitute a waiver of any other
or subseqguent default. The Owner shall be entitled to be
fully reimbursed for all costs and expenses incurred in
enforcing its rights hereunder, including a reasonable
attorney's fee, and shall Dbe entitled to have accrued

monthly interest, at the maximum rate allowed by law, as to
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18.

12,

20.

any payments due and owing hereunder.

ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING. Should the apartment complex be
sold or leased té another party, Owner shall have the right
to assign this lease to the new owner. However, Resident
may not assigﬁ or transfer this lease or sublet the
apartment or any part thereof without the prior written
consent of the Owner, which consent the Owner may withhold.

SUBCRDINATION., This Apartment Rental Agreement is subject

and subordinate to all ground or underlying leases and to

all mortgages or deeds of trust which may now or hereafter

affect such leases or the real property on which the
apartment is located. In the event of foreclosure, any
retention deposits or security deposits will be refunded to
the Regident on the basis of the applicable retention
schedule. Furthermore, every effort will be made to have
the mortgagee honor all agreements between the Owner and
Resident and continue the apartment complex as an operating
entity.

NOTICES. Any notice required or provided for herein shall
be deemed to have been served sufficiently or received if
the same shall be in writing and either hand delivered or
mailed, postage prepaid, to a party's present address, or
to such other address as that party may subseqguently

provide.
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21,

22.

DISPOSITION OF PERSONAL PROPERTY. Upon the expiration or

termination of this Agreement, Owner shall have the right,
after ten {(10) days written notice, to remove, at the
Resident's sole cost and expense, from the premises, all of
the Resident's personal belongings and other property
remaining therein, and to dispose of same as the Owner in
its sole judgment shall determine, with no liability
therefore. In additiom, as to any expenses thereby
incurred, or incurred by the Owner in cleaning Resident's
apartment, Resident shall reimburse Owner therefore.

SERVICES OFFERED.

(a) Meals. Owner will provide Resident with one meal per
day, the meal to be determined by Owner, and to be
served in the common dining area.

(b) Guest Mealsg. Are available at $8.00 per meal.

(¢} Utilitieg. All utilities, except telephone expenses,
will be paid for by the Owner. However, the cost of
telephone installation and removal shall be paid by

Regident.

(d) Janitorial Services. Owner will provide services in

all service areag, halls and community areas.

(e) Maid Service. Owner will provide maid service twice a

month, on a regularly scheduled basis, to clean
Resident's apartment if so desired by Resident.

(£) Laundry. Twice each week, Resident's flat laundry
will be picked up outside the door of Resident's
apartment, cleaned and returned.

(g) Laupdromat. Laundry facilities are available free of

charge at the apartment complex for Resident's use
(Regsident must provide detergent)

(h) Transportation. Transportation will be available at

certain scheduled times, to be determined by the Owner

in view of the needs of the Regident and the other
12 Revised §/1/24



(1)

occupants of apartments,

Nurging Center. A bed in the adjoining nursing center

will be made available,

Regident's health,

as

physician, so requires.

13

on a priority basis, whenever

determined by Resident's

Revised 8/1/24




23.

i Nurse Call 8ystem. Is located in the master bedroom

and bath of each apartment and is connected to the
nurse's station at the adjacent nursing facility. If
activated, a trained member of the Nursing Department
will respond to the apartment.

(k) Health gervices Available. Skilled and Intermediate

Nursing Care {Medicare and Medicaid Certified).

{1) Storage Facilities. Owner shall provide, at

Resident's sole risk, reasonable storage space for
Resident's belongings other than furniture and other

hougehold furnishings.

(m} Recreational Facilities. Recreational facilities are

available for Resgident's use on first come / first

served basig,

(n) Basic Cable TV Service. Basic Cable TV service is

provided by the Owner. Additional services can be
purchased by the Resident.

(o) ©Personal Services. The following are available at the
resident's expense:
Beauty,/ Barber Shop
Accommodations for overnight guests
Dxy cleaning pick-up and delivery
Daily delivery of local and national newspapers

ENTIRE AGREEMENT AND AMBENDMENT . This Apartment Rental

Agreement contains the entire agreement between the parties
hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and sets
forth all representations and warranties and supersedes any
and all prior or contemporaneous oral or written
agreements, representations, warranties or understandings
with respect to the subject matter hereof. No amendment or
modification of this Agreement shall be binding unless
evidenced by an agreement in writing signed by both the

Resident or his/her legal representative) and the Owner.
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24. NORTH CAROLINA LAW. Notwithstanding anything else herein
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contained to the contrary, the following rights afforded by

North Carolina law shall apply. Specifically:

(a)

{c)

In accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-25(a){l), Resident
may rescind this Agreement within thirty (30) days
following the later of the execution of the contract
as set forth below or the receipt of a disclosure
statement that meets the requirements of N.C.G.S. §58-
64. Furthermore, Regident is hereby notified that
he/she is not required to move into the apartment
described below prior to the expiration of the thirty

day period described herein.

Tn accordance with N.C.@.S. §58-64-25(a)(2), 1f a
regsident dies before occupying a living unit in the
facility, or if, omn account of illness, injury, or
incapacity, a zresident would Dbe precluded from
occupying a living unit in the facility, under the
terme of the contract for continuing care, the
contract 1s automatically canceled. All fees and
deposits will be fully refundable to the resident or
their Legal Representative within 30 days of
notification to the facility.

In accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-25(a) (3), 1if an
executed contract is rescinded or cancelled under the
terms of this contract, all unearned feeg and deposits
will be fully refundable to the Resident or their
Legal Representative within 30 days of notification to
the facility.

Tn accordance with N.C.G.S5. §58-64-25(b) (3), Owner
will follow the following procedure to  change
resident's accommodations, 1f necessary, for the

protection of the health or safety of the Resident or
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the general and economic welfare of the residents. All
decigsions regarding your permanent transfer from Oak
Creek will be made after consultation with you and,
when appropriate, with your family or designee. Oak
Creek's decision will be binding.

Tn accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-25(b) (8), Resident
is hereby informed that Owner has no religious or
charitable affiliation. Furthermore, there 1is no
affiliate organization that will be responsible for
the financial and/or contractual cbligations of the

Owner,

In accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-25(b) (9), Resident
has no property rights hereunder.

In accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-25(b) (10},

Cak Creek's policy, regarding adjusting fees and/or
rental sums hereunder, is that 1f the Resident is
voluntarily absent from the facility, no adjustment

will be made. In other words, all fees owed Owner
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25.

26,

hereunder, in the event of the voluntary absence of
the Resident from the premises, will nevertheless be
due and payable as otherwise provided for herein.

In accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-25(b} (11), there is
no requirement that the Resident apply for Medicaid,
public assistance, or any public benefit program. More
gspecifically, no such benefits are available to the
Resident under this Agreement or while living at Oak

Creek.

{1) In accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-40(b), "The
Board of Directors or other governing body of a facility
or its designated representative shall hold semiannual
meetings with the resgidents of the facility for free
discussions of subject including, but not limited to,
income, expenditures, and financial trends and problems
as they apply to the facility and discussiong of
proposed changes in policies, programs, and services.
Upon request of the most representative residents'
organization, a member of the governing body of the
provider, such as a board member, a general partner,
or a principal owner shall attend such wmeetings.
Residente shall be entitled to at least seven days
advance notice of each meeting. An agenda and any
materials that will be distributed by the governing
body at the meetings shall remain available upon request to

regidents."

APPLICABLE LAW. This Apartment Rental Agreement shall be

governed by and construed according to the laws of the
State of North Carolina,

BINDING EFFECT. This Apartment Rental Agreement and all

termg, covenants and conditions herein contained, shall

extend to and be binding upon the parties hereto and upon
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their respective heirs, administrators, successors,

executors, and assigns.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have hereunto set their

hands and seals as of the date and year first above written.

NHC HEALTHCARE/BURLINGTON, LLC

d/b/a OAK CREEK APARTMENTS

{Name and Title)

(SEAL)

{Resident)
RESIDENT ACKNOWLEDGES THAT HE/SHE HAS READ THIS AGREEMENT BEFORE
SIGNING, UNDERSTANDS ITS CONTENTS, AND AGREES TO ABIDE BY ALL OF
ITS TERMS AND PROVISICNS.
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STATE OF NCRTH CARCLINA APARTMENT RENTAL AGREEMENT
COUNTY CF ALAMANCE (WITH RETENTION SCHEDULE INCLUDED)

THIS ACREEMENT, made and entered into as of the
day of . 20 ' , by and

between NHC HealthCare/Burlington, ILLC, a limited liability comparny
doing business as 0Oak Creek Apartments hereinafter referred to
as

"Ownexr" and , a resident of the

State and County aforesaid, hereinafter referred to as
"Resident."
WILITNESSETH :

FOR VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, the receipt and sufficiency of
which the parties hereto acknowledge, and the full and faithful
performance of all terms, covenants and conditions herein
contained, the Owner hereby agrees to rent to the Resident, and
the Resident hereby agreeg to rent from the Owner, Apartment No.
______ , located at 0Oak Creek, Burlington, North Carclina
(hereinafter called the "premises," "complex," or "apartment
complex") for Regident's sole cccupancy, according toc the
following terms, covenants, and conditions:

1. TERM. The term-of this Agreement shall begin on the

day of 20 , and end

upon the first of the following to occur:

(a) The last day of the month following the Resident's
death, or at such time thereafter as the Resident's
belongings have been removed from the premises; or

(b) Resident's default as hereinafter defined; or

(c) Owner's having determined, and having given written
notification thereof, that the Regident:

(1) 1is socially incompatible with the owner's
employees, other residents, or guests;

(ii) has demonstrated possgible emotional instability;
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(d)

(e)

(iii)poses a rigk to the life and well-being of
him/herself or others;

(iv) has destroyed, or éttemptedito destroy, property
belonging to the Owner, him/herself or others; cor

(v) fails .to fully comply with all terms and
provisiong contained in this Agreement; or

(vi) has acted in any other unreascnable fashion or
poses for the Owner, its employees, residents or
guests, any other unreasonabkle risks; or

The last day of any month prior to which the Resident

has given to the Owner;

(1} In the event the Resident is to be transferred,
based upon written medical certification, to a
hospital or to White Oak Manor - Burlington
Nursing Center, at least ten (10) days prior
written notice; or

(i1} In the event the Resident is to be transferred,
based upon written medical certification,
anywhere else, at least thirty (30) days prior
written notice; or

(iid) In the event the Resident is to be
transferred anywhere else, without written
medical certification, at least (60) sixty
days prior written notice; ox

At guch time as, if ever, the apartment is destroyed

by fire or other calamity, or if the apartment, or a

gubstantial portion of the complex, is acquired

through condemnation proceedings, making it such,
under the circumstances, that the apartment is no

longer reasonably fit for its intended use.
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In the event the Resident is transferred as provided
in Paragraph (i)} above, to a hospital, he/she shall
have sgixty (60) days from date of transfer to return
to his/her apartment, and to have the within Agreement
remain in full force and effect, so long as all terms,
covenants and conditions herein contained, including
those pertaining to rental payments, have been (and
are then being) fully complied with.

In the event the Resident i1s transferred, as
provided in Paragraph (i) above, to White Oak Manor -
Burlington Nursing Center, the Resident shall have
thirty (30} days from date of transfer to return to
his apartment, and to have the within Agreement remain
in full force and effect, so long as all terms,
covenants and conditions herein contained, including
those pertaining to rental payments, have been (and
are then being) fully complied with.

In the event that the Resident, upon being
transferred elsewhere as provided above, wishes to
again become a tenant of the OCwner, after the within
Agreement has terminated, and is certified, in
writing, by a qualified physician, as being again able
to reside in the apartment complex, Owner agrees to
give the Resident, to the extent reasonable possible,
a priority as far as the next available apartment,
with Retention Deposits and rental rates to be those
then in effect, and a new Apartment Rental Agreement
to be entered intoc.

In the situations described in Paragraphs (i) and
(11} above, the Owner may, but shall have no legal

duty to, waive the requirement regarding written
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notification based upon terms and conditions mutually

agreeable to both Owner and Resident.

2. RETENTION DEPOSIT. At the time of executing this

Agreement, Resident has paid to the Owner a

Retenticn Deposit of . The purpose

of the Retention Deposit is to reduce the monthly
rent when compared to the Straight Rental payment
plan. Subject to the Retention Schedule herein
contained, all such monies paid by the Resident to
the Owner shall remain the property of the Resident.
However, periodically, as provided by the
Retention Schedule, the Owner shall be entitled to and
become the owner of portions of the Retention Deposit,
and eventually, according to the terms of the
Agreement, shall become the owner of the entire fee.
Notwithstanding ownership by the Resident of a portion
of the fee, as provided in the Retention Schedule,
throughout the entire term of this Agreement, the owner
shall have the absolute right to use the entire fee as
the owner may, 1in its sole judgment, determine and
shall be solely entitled to all benefits derived
therefrom, including all interest earned thereon.

The Retention 8chedule ig as follows:

LENGTH OF OCCUPANCY AMOUNT AMOUNT
RETAINED REFUNDED
Upon Occupancy 20% BO%
1 Year (prorated daily) 40% 60%
2 Years {(prorated daily) 60% 40%
3 Years (prorated dally} 80% 20%
4 Years (prorated daily) 100% 0%

In the event this Agreement shall terminate due to
Resident's death or default as provided in Paragraphs i{a)

or i(b) above, the balance of the Retention Deposit to
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which the Regident would otherwise be entitled shall
immediately become the property of the owner and neither
the Resident, nor anyone claiming in his/her behalf,
gshall have any further entitlement thereto. However,
should this Agreement terminate as provided in Paragraphs
i(e), (d), or (e} above, Resident or his legal
representative, as the case may be, shall be entitled to
such refund as the Resident may be due according to the
Retention Schedule described above. The amount of refund
will be calculated on a daily basis (365 days per year).
Refunds of this nature, calculated on a pro rata daily
basis, will be promptly made to the Resident or his/her
legal representative but under no circumstances later than
30 days after the termination date of the agreement.

If for any reascn, a resident would be precluded from
occupying a living unit in the facility under the terxrms of
the contract for continuing care, the contract is
automatically canceled and all monies will be prowmptly
refunded to the resident or their legal representative but
within 30 days after the termination date of the agreement.

TRANSFERS. A transfer fee may apply if you desire to

transfer from your current apartment to another. After 10
vears of residency in the same apartment, a transfer fee
may be waived. A 50% transfer fee will apply if transfer
occurs within 5-10 years of residency. If request is made
prior to 5 years, 100% of the transfer fee will apply. An
exception to ap lying the transfer fee may apply if a
prearranged admission agreement signed by both parties
stipulates a desire to transfer to another specific
apartment within one year. The transfer fee is not a preset

cost but is based on cost to refurbish current apartment.
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MARRIAGES. If a current regident(s) of Oak Creek becomes
married, the rent will increase based on the rent schedules
in effect at that time for two persons. No additional
deposit is required and the balance outstanding on any
deposit(s) will continue to amortize in accordance with
each Resident's original Rental Agreement. A new Rental
Agreement will be negotiated between Oak Creek and the
husband and wife as Residents. Other than for medical
reasons there are no qualifying requirements for a spouse
to meet as a condition for entry. In the event the spouse
does not medically qualify for admission, the agreement
will terminate and alternate placement will be required.
RENT. In addition to paying the Retention Deposit provided
for above, Resident also agrees to pay monthly rental to

the Owner in the amount of gaid rent to be

payable in advance on or before the first day of each month

for which due and owing, provided, however:

(a) The rent for a partial month at the beginning of the
term shall be prorated;

(b) Although the Owner will attempt to keep rental
increages to a minimum, during any calendar year
following the first full calendar year of this
Agreement, the Owner may, due to an increase in the
cost of operation, or for any other reason, upon
thirty (30) days prior written notice to the Resident,
increase the monthly rental payable hereunder sc long
as the sum of the increases in monthly rental during
any calendar year does not exceed the greater of:

(i) six (6%) percent of the average monthly rental
during the preceding calendar year; oOr
{ii) An amount equal to the average monthly rental

during the preceding calendar year multiplied by
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the percentage increase in the "Consumer Price
Index" figures for January and December of the
preceding calendar year, the Congumer Price Index
being the "Consumer Price Index - U.S. City
Average - All Items Figures for Urban Wage
Earners and Clerical Workers (Including Single
Workers), "which index is currently published in
the "Monthly Labor Review" of the Bureau of Labor
Statistics of the United States Department of
Labor, or its successor index.

(c¢) 21l rental payments shall be due and payable on or
before the first day of the month for which due and
owing, and if received on or after the tenth (10) day
of that particular month shall accrue a five (5%)
percent late charge {5% of the monthly payment) which
sum shall be immediately due and payable and
collectible asg additional rent.

USE OF APARTMENT; COMPLIANCE WITH RULES AND REGULATIONS;

SMOKING POLICY. Regident will make no unlawful or

offensive use of the apartment and the common areas
belonging to the Owner and will comply with all laws,
ordinances and regulaticns of duly constituted governmental
authorities. Resident will use the apartment only as a
private dwelling for him/hex and such other persons as may
be authorized. In addition, Resident agrees to abide by the
reasonable rules and regulations promulgated from time to
time by Owner generally applicable to all occupants and
designed for the general health, welfare, and comfort of
the other occupants. In addition to all such other rules
and regulations, Resident specifically acknowledges that
Owner has a policy prohibiting the use of all tobacco

products in the apartments as well as on the Oak Creek
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property, and Resident agrees to abide by said policy. Any
regsident who viclates this policy by using tobacco products
in his/her apartment or on the Oak Creek property or by
allowing anyone else to use tobacco products in his/her
apartment or on the property will be deemed to be in-
default under this agreement and subject to the provisions
of Paragraph 14 of this Agreement, including eviction and
reimbursement of Owner's costs, expenses and attorney's
fees. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Resident further
acknowledges that this tobacco policy does not apply to
other residents who signed their Apartment Rental
Agreements prior to the implementation of this policy in
September, 2008,

USE OF PREMISES. Resident shall have the use, possession

and enjoyment during the term of this Agreement of the
apartment above identified jointly with any other tenant,
but all common areas, including stairways, walkways and
grounds, shall be used and enjoyed with other residents,
and no portion of the same may or shall be permanently or
temporarily appropriated by Resident to Resident's
exclusive use, enjoyment or possession.

DESCRIPTION OF LIVING QUARTERS. Resident will reside in one

of the following units:

e One Bedroom - 745 square feet. Living room, 1 bedroom,

1 walk-in closget, 1 bathroom, kitchen, dining room,

SUNroorm

e Two Bedroom - 1072 sgquare feet. Living room, 2

bedroomg, 1 walk-in closet, 2 bathrooms, kitchen,

dining room, sunroom
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10,

11.

12.

CARI OF APARTMENT AND REPAIRS. Resident will take good

care of the apartment and common areas and will report
promptly to Owner any repairs which may be needed. Owner
shall keep and maintain the apartment in tenable condition
and shall have the right to make at reasonable times any
and all repairs, renovations and alterations as it shall
determine necessary or desirable. Resident shall reimburse
Owner for expenses incurred by Owner for repairs
attributable to Resident's abuse or mistreatment of the
apartment (including appliances) or the common areas.

ALTERATIONS BY RESTIDENT. Resident shall make no

alterations to the apartment without the prior written
congent of the Owner, which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld.

PETS. Resident may not keep any pets or animals of any
kind anywhere upon the premises without the prior written
consent of the Owner. Even after the Owner's consent has
been given, this consent may be reasonably withdrawn by the
Owner according to its sole judgment and discretion based
upon what it believes to be in the best interest of the
complex and the other residents. A $500 pet deposit is
required if a pet is maintained in the apartment. The
deposit may be refunded at the discretion of Management.

POSSESSION OF FIREARMS. No person, including residents,

friends of residents or family members, may posgsess or
carry, whether openly or concealed, any guns, rifles,
pistols or firearms of any type on the premises. Violation
of this policy shall be deemed a viclation of the Apartment
Rental Agreement and may constitute grounds for discharge

or cancellation of the Agreement.
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13.

14.

15.

16.

RIGHT OF ENTRY. Owner's representative may enter the

apartment at any reasonable time to examine same and/ocr
make such alterations and repairs as Owner may determine.

SURRENDER OF PREMISES. Upon the expiration or termination

of this Apartment Rental Agreement, Resident shall
gurrender the apartment to the owner in the same condition
as at the beginning of the term, ordinary wear and tear
excepted.

INSURANCE, RISK CF I.OSS AND RENTAL ABATEMENT . Resident

shall be solely responsgible for insuring Resident's
personal belongings. If the apartment is damaged by fire,
casualty, or act of God, regarding which the Resident was
neither negligent nor at fault, the Owner shall promptly
repair the damages and the rental provided for herein shall
be abated on a daily basis so long as the Resident is
tnable to occupy the premises while repairs are being made.
However, at such time as the premises are again tenable,
the obligation to pay rent shall resume. In the event that
the damages involved are caused by negligence or fault on
the part of the Resident, the rental provided for herein
shall not abate, but shall be paid, as agreed, in timely
fashion, and the Resident shall be further responsible for
paying any sums deductible under the Owner's insurance
coverage, which the owner would otherwise be required to
pay.

LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION. The Owner shall not be

liable for any damages or injuries to person or property
occasioned anyone whatscever, including other residents,
employees, guests, or the like, by reason of Resident's use
or occupancy of the apartment or the common areas, and
Regident shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless owner

from and against any and all claims for damages or
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17.

18,

liability arising from injury to person or property
regardless of how occurring. Furthermore, Owner shall not
be liable to Resident, his family, employees or guests, for
any injuries or damages caused by acts or omissions of
other residents or occupants, whether caused on or off the
property owned by the Owner. Finally, the Owner gshall not
be liable for any loss or damage resulting from failure,
interruption or malfunction in the utilities provided
Regident in connection with his/her occupancy of the
apartment.

CONDEMNATION. If the apartment or all or any part of the

premises shall be at any time taken for any public or

quasi-public use under any statute or by right of eminent

domain, Owner shall be entitled to and shall receive the
award or payment therefore (hereinafter called the

"Award"), and Resident shall assign, and does hereby assign

and transfer, such Award to the Cwner free and clear of

every claim of every kind whatscever by or on the part of
the Resident.

DEFAULT. This Apartment Rental Agreement is made upon the

condition that the Resident shall faithfully perform all of

the terms, covenants and conditions herein contained by
him/her to be performed as herein set forth or in other
agreements heretofore or hereafter entered into between the
owner and the Resident, and Resident shall be in default
if:

(a) Any rental payment due hereunder shall at any time be
in arrears and unpaid for fifteen (15) days after
receipt by Resident of written notice making demand
therefore; or

(b) Resident shall fail to observe or perform any of the

covenants, agreements, or conditicneg set forth herein
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19,

20.

and said failure shall continue for a period of

fifteen (15) days after receipt by Resident of written

notice of such failure from Owner.
In the event of ,a default, Owner may at its option, declare
the term of this Agreement ended and repossess the
Apartment, and shall further be entitled to all other
rights and remedies set forth herein. A waiver of any
default by Owner shall not constitute a waiver of any other
or subsequent default. The Owner shall be entitled to be
fully reimbursed for all costs and expenses incurred in
enforcing its rights hereunder, including a reasonable
attorney's fee, and shall be entitled to have accrued
monthly interest, at the maximum rate allowed by law, as to
any payments due and owing hereunder.

ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING. Should the apartment complex be

sold or leased to another party, owner shall have the right
to assign this lease to the new owner. However, Resident
may not assign or transfer this lease or sublet the
apartment or any part thereof without the prior written
congent of the Owner, which consent the Owner may withhold.

SUBORDINATION. Thig Apartment Rental Agreement is subject

and subordinate to all ground or underlying leaseg and to
all mortgages or deeds of trust which may now or hereafter
affect such leases or the real property on which the
apartment is located. In the event of foreclosure, any
Retention Deposits or security deposits will be refunded to
the Regident on the basis of the applicable retention
schedule. Furthermore, every effort will be made to have
the mortgagee honor all agreements between the Owner and
Resident and continue the apartment complex as an operating

entity.
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Z21.

22.

23,

NOTICES. Any notice required or provided for herein shall
be deemed to have been served sufficiently or receilved if
the same shall be in writing and either hand delivered or
mailed, postage prepaid, to a party's present address, or
to such other address as that party may subsequently
provide.

DISPOSITION OF PERSONAL PROPERTY. Upon the explration or

termination of this Agreement, owner shall have the right,
after ten {(10) days written notice, to remove, at the
Regident's sole -cost and expense, from the premises, all of
the Resident's personal belongings and other property
remaining therein, and to disposge of same as the owner in
its sole judgment shall determine, with no liability
therefore. In addition, as to any expenses thereby
incurred, or incurred by the owner in cleaning Resident's
apartment, Resident shall reimburse Owner therefore.

SERVICES OFFERED,

(a) Meals. Owner will provide Resident with one meal per
day, the meal to be determined by Owner, and to be
gserved in the common dining area.

(b) Quest Meals. Are available at $8.00 per meal.

{(c) Utilities. All utilities, except telephone expenses,
will be paid for by the Owner. However, the cost of
telephone installation and removal shall be paid by
Regident.

(d) Janitorial .Services. Owner will provide services in

all gervice areas, halls and community areas.

(e} Maid Service. Owner will provide maid service twice a

month, on a regularly scheduled basig, to clean

Resident's apartment if so desired by Resident.
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(h)

(1)

(m)

(n)

Laundry. Twice each week, Resident's flat laundry
will be picked up outside the door of Resident's
apartment, c¢leaned and returned.

Laundromat. Laundry facilities are available free of

charge at the apartment complex for Resident's use
(Resident must provide detergent).

Transportation. Transportation will be available at

certain scheduled times, to be determined by the Owner
in view of the needs of the Resident and the other
occupants of apartments.

Nursing Center. A bed in the adjoining nursing center

will be made available, on a priority basis, whenever
Resident's health, as determined by Resident's
physician, so requires.

Nurse Call System. Is located in the master bedroom

and bath of each apartment and is connected to the
nurse's station at the adjacent nursing facility. If
activated, a trained member of the Nursing Department
will regpond to the apartment.

Health Services Available. Skilled and Intermediate

Nursing Ca e (Medicare and Medicaid Certified) .

Storage Facilities. Owner shall provide, at

Regident's gole risgk, reasonable storage space for
Resident's belongings other than furniture and other
household furni=shings.

Recreational Facilities. Recreational facilities are

available for Resident's use on first come/ first
served basis.

Bagic Cable TV Service. Basic Cable TV service is

provided by the Owner. Additional services can e

purchased by the Resident.
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24 .

25.

(o) personal Services. The following are avallable at the
resident's expense:
Reauty/ Barber Shop
Accommodations for overnight guests
Dry cleaning pick-up and delivery
Daily delivery of local and national newspapers

ENTIRE AGREEMENT AND AMENDMENT. This Apartment Rental

Agreement contains the entire agreement between the parties
hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and sets
forth all representations and warranties and supersedes any
and all prior or contemporaneous cral or written
agreements, representations, warranties or understandings
with respect to the gubject matter hereof. No amendment or
modification of -this Agreement shall be binding unless
evidenced by an agreement in writing signed by both the
Resident (or his/her legal representative)} and the Owner.

NORTH CAROLINA LAW. Notwithstanding anything else herein

contained to the contrary, the following rights afforded by

North Carolina law shall apply. Specifically:

{a) In accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-25(a) (1), Resident
may rescind this Agreement within thirty (30} days
following the later of the execution of the contract
ag set forth below or the receipt of a disclosure
gtatement that meets the requirements of N.C.G.S5. §58-
64 . Furthermore, Resident is hereby notified that
he/she is not required to move into the apartment
described below prior to the expiration of the thirty
day period described herein.

(b) In accordance with N.C.G.S8. §58-64-25(a) (2), if a
resident dies before occupying a living unit in the
facility, or if, on account of illness, injury, or
incapacity, a resident would be precluded from
occupying a living unit in the facility, under the
termg of the contract for continuing care, the

contract is automatically canceled. All fees and
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{c)

(&)

{e)

deposits will be fully refundable to the resident or
their Legal Representative within 30 days of

notification to the facility.

In accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-25(a) (3), if an
executed contract ig rescinded or cancelled under the
terms of this contract, all unearned fees and deposits
will be fully refundable to the Resident or their
Legal Representative within 30 days of notification to
the facility. The amount of refund will be calculated
on a daily basis (365 days per year).

In accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-25(b) (3), Owner
will Ffollow the following procedure to change
regsident's accommodations, if necessary, for the
protection of the health or safety of the Resident or
the general and economic welfare of the residents. All
decigions regarding your permanent transfer from Oak
Creek will be made after consultation with you and,
when appropriate, with your family or designee. Oak
Creek's decisgion will be binding.

In accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-25(Db) (8), Resident
is hereby informed that Owner has no religious or
charitable affiliation. Furthermore, there is no
affiliate organization that will be responsible for
the financial and/or contractual obligations of the
Owner.

In accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-25(k) (9), Resident
has no property rights hereunder.

In accordance with N.C.G.8. §58-64-25(b) (10}, OCak
Creek's policy, regarding adjusting fees and/or rental
gums hereunder, is that if the Resident is voluntarily
absent from the facility, no adjustment will be made.
In other words, all fees owed Owner hereunder, in the
event of the voluntary absence of the Resident from

the premises, will nevertheless be due and payable as
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26.

27.

otherwise provided for herein.

(h) In accordance with N.C.G.&. §58-64-25(b) (11), there is
no requirement that the Resident apply for Medicaid,
public assistance, or any public benefit program. More
specifically, no such benefits are available to the
Resident under this Agreement or while living at Oak
Creek.

(1) In accordance with N.C.G.8. §58-64-40(b), "The Board
of Directors or other governing body of a facility or
itg designated repregentative shall hold semiannual
meetings with the residents of the facility for free
discussions of subject including, but not limited to,
income, expenditures, and financial trends and
problems as they apply to the facility and discussions
of proposed changes in policies, programs, and
services. Upon reqguest of the most representative
residents' organization, a member of the governing
body of the provider, such as a board member, a
general partner, or a principal owner shall attend
guch meetings. Residents shall be entitled to at least
seven days advance notice of each meeting. An agenda
and any materials that will be distributed by the
governing body at the meetings shall remain available
upon request to residents.®

APPLICARBLE LAW. This Apartment Rental Agreement ghall be

governed by and construed according to the laws of the
State of Noxth Carolina.

BINDING EFFECT. This Apartment Rental Agreement and all
terms, covenants and conditions herein contained, shall
extend to and be binding upon the parties hereto and upon
their respective heirs, administrators, successors,

executors, and assigns.
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TN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have hereunto set their

hands and seals as of the date and year first above written.

NHC HEALTHCARE/BURLINGTON, LLC

d/b/a OAK CREEK APARTMENTS

By:

(Name and Title)

(SEAL)

{Resident)
RESIDENT ACKNOWLEDGES THAT HE/SHE BAS READ THIS AGREEMENT RBEFORE
SIGNING, UNDERSTANDS ITS CCNTENTS, AND AGREES TO ARIDE BY ALL OF

IT8 TERMS AND PROVISIONS.
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Facility Use Only;
Apt. & Bldg.

Qak Creek

INDEPENDENT LIVING RETIREMENT COMMUNITY
WELLNESS EVALUATTION FORM

(This physical examination must be completed by patient(s) primary edre physiclan)

PLEASE PRINT NEATLY
Name! Birthdate: / /

© Social Security Number: Male Female

Address:

How long has this individual been a patient of yours or seen af this practice?

Reason for Review: Pre-Residency
Change in Condition
Other
MEDICAL REVIEW. FINDINGS: Date of Exam:
Wt Ht: BP: Pulse: Rhythms:
Respi Temp, .
Genefal Appsarance:
Sldn:
Bauilibrivm; Tremor: Reflexes:
Vision, A : Does patient require the use of glasses, readers or contacts?
Hearing:; Does patient require the use of hearing aids?

Do you recommend an audiclogy consult?

Cral Health: Does patient require the use of dentures or partials?
Lungs: Does patient require the use of oxygen?

Heart: Extremities:

Tuberculin Test: Negative: Positive: (x-ray if pos;‘ﬁ’ve)

343 Baldwin Rd. * Butlington, NG 27217-2775 * 3368-226-5739 * 338-226-5072 (fax)
! ® APT 002 (0C)




Date of last Balance Test: (if not in last 6 months, please administer)

Results:

Is patient ambulatory?

No

Does patient require use of the following?

Walker
Cane
Rollator
Motorized Chair
Wheelchair
Scooter
MEDICAT HISTORY:
Primary Diagnoses(s):
Secondary Diagnoses(s):

(Please check any of the following illnesses or diseases which apply currently or in the past)

Date of Onset

Resolved?
YorN

Congrolled with |
Medications?
" YorN

High Blood Pressure

Diabetes

Congestive Heart Failure

Asthina

Ulcers

Anemia

Depression

Mental lness

Intellectual Disability

Muscular Dystrophy

Cancer

Stroke ‘

Heart Attack

Axteriosclerosis

Chronic Lung Disense

Reotal Bleeding

Memory Loss

Cataracts

Arthritis

Macular Degeneration

Significant Vision Loss

Present Ilnesses not listed above and date of onset:

343 Baldwin Rd. * Burlington, NC 27217-2775 * 336-226-5739 * 336-226-5072 {fax)

2

B APT 002 (0C)



Past Inesses not listed above and dates:

Mental / Bmotional Illnesses: Please provide history, if any (Jf ever institutionalized, please provide dates
and location(s)

Operation(s) and date(s):

Allergies;

Medications:
Food Aliergies:
Seasonal;
Anaphylactic;
Diet:

Alcohol Use:  _____ Socially
Weeldy
Daily

Is patient on any medication that contraindicates use of aleohol? (If yes, please list)

Is patient a tobacco user (any form of tobacco)?  Yes  No
{White Oak Is a tobacco-free campus)

Does patient require any orders for: . Physical Therapy:
' ' Occupational Therapy:
Speech Therapy:;
Does patient have any cognitive impairment? Yes No Ifyes, Minor Moderate Severe
Does Patient have memory loss? Yes No Hyes, Minor Moderate Severs

Is patient capable of correctly administering, filling and refilling their own medications?
Yes No (Please attach current medication ist)

Is patient physically and mentally capable of living in an independent living environment, without
supervision? Yes No

{If no, please explain):

Is there any other diagnosis that would prevent patient ftrom living independently?

343 Baldwin Rd. * Burlington, NG 27217-2776 * 336-226-5738 * 336-2268-5072 (fax)
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White Oak is a fraditional, free-standing apariment comnunily thot requives residenis to axit thelr
builting and walk outside to our dining room, Residents must also be able to shop for groceries.

. Is patient able, without assistance, to attend daily noon meals served in the Campus Comumunity Dining

Room or able to prepare meals? Yes  No

In the event of fire, flood or any emergency situation, would you consider this patient able to exit:  With
Assistance Without Assistance

Do you consider this patient more appropriate for: Independent iving
Assisted Living

Any additional information: .

Icertify that Thave physically examined this patient and have accurately deseribed the individual’s
medical state, cognitive status, and medication regimet,

Date: Signature of Physicien

Printed Name of Physician:

Physician Phone Number: Fex Number:

Examining Physician — Relurn this form via:
MAIL:

OAXK CREEK.
INDEPENDENT LIVING APARTMENTS
ATTN:; KELLY RIVERS

343 BALDWIN RD,

BURLINGTON, NC 27217-2775

FAX: 336-226-5072
ATTN: KELLY RIVERS

1 hereby give permission for my physician to release my medical information to:
OAK CREEK APARTMENTS

Patient’s Signature:

Patient’s Printed Name:

Date;

343 Baldwin Rd. * Burlington, NC 27217-2775 * 336-226-5730 * 36-226-6072 (fax)
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Facility Use Only:

Apt, & Bldg, #

¥+Oak Creek

APPLICATION FOR ADMISSION

Please Print or Type — (Each person must submit separate applications even if married)

10.
.
12

Full Name:

Spouse;

Present Address: (If you maintain more than one home, please indicate):

Present Phone Number;

Social Security #: Medicare #;

Health Insurance Co.: Policy #:

Financial/ Legal Representative(s):

Name: Namea:

Address: . Address:

Phone; Phone; -

Marital Status; O Single [ Married 1) Widow/Widower
Veteran; [J Yes {1 No If yes, branch of service:

Birthdate: - Place of Birth:

Former Qceupation(s):

Hobbies, special talents or interests:

1
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13.

14.

15.

6.

17.

18,

Church Affiliation:

How long affiliated?
Name of Minister, Priest or Rabbi;
Address:

Special Needs (or Handicaps);

Names of Living Children (or next closest relative):

Names Addresses Telephone #

Medical History: (Please check any of the following ilinesses or diseases which applies
cirrently or in the past)

7 HighBlood Pressure ] Stroke O Depression

1 Diabetes ] Heart Attack 1 Mental lilness

7 Congestive Heart Failure [] Arteriosclerasis 1 Mental Retardation
0 Astama 7 Chronic Lung Disease 1 Muscular Dystrophy
O Uleers. O Rectal Bleeding 1 Cancer

1 Anemia [ Surgeries in the last five years

Oal: Creek is a tobacco-free campus.
Will anyone residing in your apartment use tobacco produets? OYes [No

Physiclan who will prepare your medical evaluation form certificate:

Physician’s Name;

Telephone #;
Office Address:

Do you authorize OAK CREEK to discuss your health with the above physician?
YES O No O

List ail currently preseribed medications:
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£9.

20,

21

Rev.3/19

List all hospitalizations/institutions in past five years: (Specify reason and date{s})
Hospital/Institution Datg Reason

Have you ever been denied adinission to another retirement community?
YES (O No

¢If your answer is Yes, explain)

Emergency Contact Person:

Address:

Telephone #: Email Address:

List one person (not a relative) whom you have known at least five years, whom you wish to
use as a personal reference;

A complete application will also include a comnpleted Medical Evaluation Form,

[ 'malce this application for admission to OAK CREEK APARTMENTS of my own free will and
accord, with the knowledge that I may atways change my mind. [ declare the answers to be true,
full and complete. To the best of my knowledge and belief, ¥ am capable of living at Oak Creck
Aparlments without extraordinary care and that the facilities, setvices, fees, costs, refunds and
pelicies have been explained to me and are acceptable as presented, | hereby give Oak Creek
Apartments, Inc. the right to seek out any necessary information and/or reference, including those
references set forth in this Application, in processing the Application,

Signature of Applicant

Date
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